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1.

SUMMARY

This summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus and is qualified in its entirety by
the more detailed information and the appendices appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus.
1.1

General

Siem Industries Inc. is a diversified industrial holding company that operates through autonomous
affiliates. The Company currently hold interests in several industrial areas including the oil and gas
services industry, ocean transport of refrigerated cargoes, ocean transport of automobiles, Swedish
industrial holdings in land-based industries and salt mining.
The Company’s major holdings are in the oil and gas service industry Subsea 7 Inc. (OSE Symbol:
SUB) and Siem Offshore Inc. (OSE Symbol: SIOFF), in the shipping industry STAR Reefers Inc.
(OSE Symbol: SRI) and Siem Car Carriers Inc. and in the financial investment area Siem
Investments Inc., Deep Seas Insurance Ltd. and Siem Capital AB.
The Company’s strategy is to focus on long-term growth rather than on short-term results. Siem
Industries Inc. has a history of active participation in the consolidation and restructuring of
different industries.
1.2

History in brief

The Company was incorporated in October 1980 under the laws of the Cayman Islands under the
name Bahama Cruise Line Inc. The name was changed to Bermuda Star Line Inc. in 1986, to Norex
America Inc. in 1989, further to Norex Industries Inc. in 1996 and finally to Siem Industries Inc. in
1998.
1.3

Board of directors, Management and Auditor

The Company’s Directors are Kristian Siem (Chairman), Ivar Siem, Manfred D. Moross and Barry
Ridings.
Siem Industries Inc.’s president and secretary is Michael Delouche.
Siem Industries Inc.’s auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, independent state authorised public
accountants with address at P.O. Box 447, 4664 Kristiansand, Norway and members of the
Norwegian association of auditors (“Norsk Revisorforening”).
1.4

Advisors

Lehman Brothers International (Europe) has acted as sole bookrunner and underwriter for Siem
Industries Inc. in connection with the issue of the Bonds and their subsequent listing on Oslo Børs.
Wiersholm, Mellbye & Bech, advokatfirma AS has acted as the Company’s Norwegian legal advisors
and Linklaters has acted as English legal advisors to Lehman Brothers International (Europe) and
The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.
1.5

Share Capital

As at the date of this Prospectus, the authorised share capital of the Company is U.S.$ 30,500,000
divided into 100,000,000 Common Shares of a nominal value of U.S.$0.25 each, 5,000,000
Preference Shares of U.S.$1.00 nominal value and 50,000,000 Redeemable Preferred Shares of US
U.S.$ 0.01 par value. The issued share capital is U.S.$3,882,481.75 divided into 15,529,927
Common Shares shares, each with a nominal value of U.S.$ 0.25. No Preference Shares or
Redeemable Preferred Shares are currently issued.
The largest shareholder is Elderberry Holdings Ltd., which holds in aggregate 56.4% per cent. of
the issued and outstanding shares in the Company.
1.6

Documents on Display

Siem Industries Inc.’s annual accounts for the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2006, may for
the life of this Prospectus and upon prior appointment, be physically inspected at the principal
office of the Company, P.O. Box 10718, Harbour Place - 5th Floor, 103 South Church Street,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1006, CAYMAN ISLANDS (telephone number + 1 345 949
1030).
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The documents are also available for downloading from the Company’s web page www.siemindustries.com for the life of this Prospectus.
1.7

Use of Proceeds

The proceeds of the issue of the Bonds will be utilised for future investments, investments in
affiliates, working capital and general corporate purposes.
1.8

Selected Financial Information

The following table sets out certain selected financial information of the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2006 and 2005. The figures below have been extracted from the consolidated
annual reports of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2005 respectively.
These annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.
31 Dec 2006
(Audited)

31 Dec 2005
(Audited)

Revenue from continuing operations

286,958

205,522

Profit from continuing operations

100,592

36,156

In U.S.$ thousands (unless otherwise stated)
Income Statement data

Loss from discontinued operations
Profit attributable to equity shareholders

-

-

89,031

26,837

853,682

675,730

85,309

103,079

938,991

778,809

Balance Sheet data
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity, includes shareholders’ equity and minority interests

613,855

489,879

Non-current liabilities

259,330

227,955

65,806

60,975

938,991

778,809

Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Per share data
Average number of shares issued (‘000)

15,053

16,407

Earnings per share (U.S.$)

5.91

1.64

Earnings per share, from continuing operations (U.S.$)

5.91

1.64

Average number of shares issued, diluted (‘000)

15,053

16,407

Earnings per share, diluted (U.S.$)

5.91

1.64

Earnings per share, diluted, from continuing operations (U.S.$)

5.91

1.64

Siem Industries is not aware of any significant changes in its financial or trading position or any
material adverse change in its prospects that has occurred after the financial statements of the
annual report of the period ending 31 December 2006.
1.9

Summary of Risk Factors

Investors in the Bonds should consider the following risk factors:
y

Recourse to Siem Industries Inc. is limited to the value of the security rendered for the
Bonds, there can be no assurance that the security will give sufficient cover to secure full
repayment of the Bonds upon maturity;

y

A significant share of the security rendered for the Bonds consists of shares in Subsea 7. The
value of the security in the future will therefore be closely linked to the financial and
operational performance of Subsea 7 and the development of the Subsea 7 share price. A
substantial fall in the price of the Subsea 7 shares may result in the Bondholders not
receiving full repayment at maturity of the Bonds;

y

The Shares and the Bonds will typically be subject to price fluctuations as a result of
conditions in the capital markets and the level of liquidity in secondary trading;
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y

There is a significant risk associated with a possible long-term drop in the oil price, affecting
the profitability of the development of new offshore fields, which very likely would reduce the
market for the products and services offered by Subsea 7;

y

Subsea 7 may not be able to develop and commercialise the new products and solutions
required to maintain its current competitive position in respect of products and services for
subsea constructions;

y

Subsea 7 has operations in several countries and its operations include projects and
investments in countries that may be unsafe and politically unstable;

y

Subsea 7’s operations involve the use and handling of materials that can be environmentally
hazardous.

y

A significant share of Subsea 7’s revenue is derived from lump sum EPIC (Engineering,
Procurement, Installation and Commissioning) contracts, mainly due to the increasing
importance of the African and Brazilian markets. Lump sum EPIC contracts increase the risk
exposure for Subsea 7;

y

Suppliers in project-oriented operations that involve large sums and stretch out in time, have
significant economic exposure to their customers. Subsea 7 may be negatively affected if a
customer becomes insolvent or is declared bankrupt;

y

Subsea 7 is exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in exchange rates and of risks
associated with debt financing;

y

An investor in the Bonds risks that there may be no active trading market for the Bonds;

y

The Bonds may be redeemed prior to maturity, and this may have negative effects for the
Bondholders;

1.10

Overview of the Offering

The following overview refers to certain provisions of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds, and the
Trust Deed and is qualified by the more detailed information contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.
Terms which are defined in Section 5 "Terms and Conditions of the Bonds" have the same meaning
when used in this overview.
Issuer

Siem Industries Inc.

Bonds

U.S.$275,000,000 Zero Coupon Secured
Recourse Exchangeble Bonds due 2017.

Offering

None of the Bonds or Subsea Shares to be delivered
upon exchange of the Bonds has been or will be
registered under the Securities Act or with any
securities regulatory authority of any other jurisdiction.
The Bonds are being offered and sold in offshore
transactions outside the United States in reliance on
Regulation S under the Securities Act and, except in a
transaction exempt from the registration requirements
of the Securities Act, may not be offered, sold or
delivered within the United States or to or for the
benefit of U.S. persons.

Closing Date/Issue Date

12 July 2007.

Issue Price

100.00 per cent. of the principal amount.

Final Maturity

Unless previously purchased and cancelled, redeemed
or converted, the Bonds will be redeemed on 12 July
2017 (the “Final Maturity Date”) at 109.9 per cent. of
their principal amount.
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Form and Denomination

The Bonds will be in registered form and issued in
denominations of U.S.$100,000 in electronic form in
the VPS register.

Interest

The Bonds will not bear interest.

Status of the Bonds

The Bonds constitute unconditional and unsubordinated
obligations of the Company, secured to the extent and
in the manner provided in the Conditions, recourse of
which is limited to the Secured Property and shall at all
times rank pari passu without preference among
themselves.

Secured Property

The Bonds will be secured by, inter alia, the following
(in summary):
(i) a first priority security by way of pledge in respect of
the EB Pledged Property, the Siem Additional Pledged
Property and the CB Pledged Property, together with all
monies paid or payable in respect of the EB Pledged
Property, the Siem Additional Pledged Property and the
CB Pledged Property;
(ii) assignments by way of security of the Issuer’s
rights, title and interest in and to the Securities Lending
Agreements, the Agency Agreement;
(iii) a first priority security by way of pledge of all
amounts standing to the credit of the Cash Account
from time to time; and
(iv) by a security agreement granting a security
interest in the U.S. Treasury Securities together with,
inter alia, all financial assets, cash and any other
property held in or credited to the securities account
referred to therein.
The property which is from time to time the subject of
the security above is referred to as the “Secured
Property”.

Adjustments to the Secured Property

Substitution and Withdrawal of the
Secured Property

Limited Recourse
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If there is an adjustment to the Exchange Price, the
Issuer will deliver a corresponding number of additional
Subsea Shares to the Secured Property, and in the case
of an adjustment to the Exchange Price due to payment
of Dividends, the Dividends received in respect of the
Secured Property will be released to the Issuer upon
delivery of the Subsea Shares.
The Issuer shall be entitled to substitute Subsea Shares
comprised in the Secured Property for an equivalent
cash amount or withdraw Subsea Shares or cash from
the Secured Property in the limited circumstances set
out in the Conditions, see Condition 2(b) (“Security and
other Covenants – Substitution and Withdrawal”).
The Trustee and the Bondholders shall have recourse
only to the Secured Property and if the net proceeds of
realization or enforcement of the Secured Property are
insufficient to meet all obligations under the Bonds and
any payments due to the Trustee and the Bondholders,
the obligations of the Issuer will be limited to such net
proceeds, no debt shall be owed by the Issuer in
respect thereof and the Trustee and the Bondholders
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shall have no further claim against the Issuer in respect
of unpaid amounts and will not be able to petition for
the winding-up of the Issuer or take any other action to
recover any such shortfall.
Yield to Maturity /Yield to Put

0.95 per cent of principal amount.

Cross Default

The Bonds will contain a cross default provision as
further described in Condition 10 "Events of Default".

Other Events of Default

For a description of certain other events that will cause
the Bonds to become immediately due and payable at
their principal amount, together with accrued interest,
see Condition 10 "Events of Default".

Redemption at the Option of
the Company

The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the
Company in whole (but not in part only) at their
Accreted Principal Amount (i) at any time on or after
26th July 2012 or (ii) if exchanges and/or purchases
and cancellations and/or redemptions have occurred in
respect of 90 per cent. or more in principal amount of
Bonds originally issued (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, any further Bonds consolidated and forming a
single series with the Bonds at such date. See Condition
7(b), c “Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the
Option of the Issuer”,

Taxation

All payments in respect of the Bonds by or on behalf of
the Company shall be made free and clear of, and
without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatsoever
nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed
in the Cayman Islands or any authority therein or
thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or
deduction is required by law. In that event, the
appropriate withholding or deduction shall be made and
the Company shall pay any additional amounts to
Bondholders to compensate for such withholding or
deduction, subject in the case of payments of interest
to certain customary exceptions.

Tax Redemption

The Bonds may be redeemed in whole (but not in part
only) at their principal amount together with accrued
interest to the date fixed for redemption in the event of
certain changes in Cayman Islands taxation affecting
the Bonds. However, in such circumstances, each
Bondholder will have the right to elect that their
Bond(s) shall not be redeemed in such circumstances
and, to the extent that such election is made, the
Company shall not be obliged to pay additional
amounts in respect of payments of interest under the
Bonds under Condition 9 (“Taxation”).

Redemption at the Option of
Bondholders

Instalment Amounts
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The holder of each Bond shall have the right to require
the Company to redeem such Bond at its Accreted
Principal Amount (i) on each of 12th July 2010, 12th
July 2012 or 12th July 2014 and (ii) following a Change
of Control, on the Change of Control Put Date.
Upon a redemption of the Bonds, whether on the Final
Maturity Date or otherwise, the Bonds will be redeemed
at their Accreted Principal Amount as at the relevant
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due date for redemption by payment of an amount
equivalent to the relevant Accreted Principal Amount
divided by 35 (the “Instalment Amount”) on each of
the consecutive 35 dealing days commencing on the
relevant due date for redemption (“Instalment
Date”).
Share Settlement Option

The Issuer may elect, in lieu of redeeming the relevant
Bonds in cash by payment of the Instalment Amount on
each Instalment Date, to effect redemption by
delivering such number of Subsea Shares as is
determined by dividing such Instalment Amount by the
Volume Weighted Average Price of a Subsea Share on
the relevant Instalment Date. The procedure will be
applied in respect of successive Instalment Amounts to
the extent that the total number of Subsea Shares
delivered or to be delivered shall not exceed the total
number of Subsea Shares comprised in the Secured
Property at the relevant time, and to the extent that an
Instalment Amount shall exceed the product of the
number of Subsea Shares available to be delivered
multiplied by the Volume Weighted Average Price of a
Subsea Share on the relevant Instalment Date, then
the Issuer shall in addition pay to the relevant
Bondholder an amount in cash equal to the amount by
which the relevant Instalment Amount exceeds the
product of the number of Subsea Shares available to be
delivered multiplied by the Volume Weighted Average
Price of a Subsea Share on the relevant Instalment
Date, and each (if any) subsequent Instalment Amount
shall be paid in full in cash, provided always that any
cash amount to be paid in cash shall be limited to the
amounts standing to the credit of the Cash Account and
realisation proceeds of U.S. Government Treasuries
then forming part of the Secured Property and if there
is insufficient cash in the Cash Account and/or
insufficient realisation proceeds to satisfy any Cash
Settlement Amount or Instalment Amount, the Issuer
shall be under no obligation to pay any shortfall (if any)
arising therefrom.

Exchange Right

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and
exchanged, each Bond will be exchanged, at the option
of the holder, into Subsea Shares during the Exchange
Period as further described in Condition 6 (“Exchange of
Bonds”).

Exchange Period

The period beginning on and including 22 August 2007
and ending on and including the earlier to occur of:

Exchange Price
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(1)

the close of business on the date falling seven
days prior to the Final Maturity Date; and

(2)

if the Bonds shall have been called for
redemption by the Issuer before the Final
Maturity Date, the close of business on the day
which is seven days before the date fixed for
redemption.

U.S.$ 28.1772 per Subsea Share, subject to adjustment
in certain circumstances (including in the event of a
Change of Control prior to 26 July 2012) in accordance
with Condition 6 (“Exchange of Bonds”).

9

Cash Alternative Election

The Issuer is entitled to specify, upon prior notice to
Bondholders and the Trustee, that it will, on exercise of
Exchange Rights, in lieu of some or all of the Subsea
Shares that it would otherwise be required to be
delivered upon exercise of an Exchange Right, a cash
amount to the relevant Bondholder by reference to
average of the Volume Weighted Average Price of a
Subsea Share during the Cash Alternative Calculation
Period. See Condition 6(i) (“Exchange of Bonds – Cash
Alternative Election”).

Lock Up

The Issuer has ( subject to certain exceptions), agreed
not to sell Subsea Shares or issue or sell certain related
securities for a period of 90 days after 12 July 2007.

Trustee

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.

Paying and
Conversion Agent and
Registrar

Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Verdipapirservice.

Governing Law

The Bonds, the Trust Deed and the Securities Lending
Agreements will be governed by and shall be construed
in accordance with English law. The Paying and
Conversion Agency Agreement will be governed by and
construed in accordance with Norwegian law. The
Security Documents will be governed by and construed
in accordance with the laws of the relevant jurisdictions
as described in the Conditions.

Listing and Trading

Applications have been made for the Bonds to be listed
on Oslo Børs. There can be no assurance that the
application for listing of the Bonds will be approved.

ISIN

The Bonds will be issued with the following ISIN:
NO0010372766.

Common Code

030435958.

Prospekt KML-70733.doc

10

2.
2.1

RISK FACTORS
General

Siem Industries, Subsea 7 and each of their subsidiaries operate in a freely-competitive market
characterised by a number of factors outside their respective control.
In addition, the Bonds and the Subsea 7 shares will typically be subject to price fluctuations as a
result of conditions in the capital markets and the level of liquidity in secondary trading.
Below is given a presentation of risks in relation to the Bonds, the Company and to the shares of
Subsea 7. Before investing in the Bonds, investors should carefully consider all of the information
contained in this Prospectus, and in particular the following risk factors, which may affect some or
all of the Company’s or Subsea 7’s activities, the industry in which they operate and the Bonds
being offered. The risk factors described below are not the only ones that will be faced by the
Company. Other risks and uncertainties, including those not currently considered material by the
Company’s management, may impair the Company’s business. The risk factors discussed below
may materially adversely affect the business, financial condition, operating results or cash flow of
the Company. The order in which risk factors appear is not intended as an indication of the relative
weight or importance thereof. Such information is presented as of the date hereof and is subject to
change without notice.
An investment in the Bonds is suitable only for investors who understand the risk factors associated
with this type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or a part of the investment.
2.2
2.2.1

Risks related to the Bonds
Recourse to the Company is limited to the value of the Secured Property

Recourse to the Company is limited to the value of the security rendered for the Bonds. There can
be no assurance that the value of the security will be sufficient to cover the amount outstanding
under the Bonds.
A significant share of the security consists of Subsea Shares. The value of the security is therefore
closely linked to the financial and operational performance of Subsea 7 and the development of the
Subsea 7 share price. A substantial fall in the price of the Subsea 7 shares may result in the
Bondholders not receiving full repayment at maturity of the Bonds.
2.2.2

Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:
(i)

have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the
merits and risks of investing in the Bonds and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(ii)

have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of
its particular financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact such investment
will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii)

understand thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and be familiar with the behaviour of financial
markets in which they participate; and

(iv)

be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to
bear the applicable risks.

2.2.3

There is no active trading market for the Bonds

The Bonds are new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there is currently
no active trading market. If the Bonds are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a
discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for
similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition of the Company.
Although an application has been made for the Bonds to be admitted to listing and to trading on
Oslo Børs, there is no assurance that such application will be accepted or that an active trading
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market will develop. Accordingly, there is no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any
trading market for the Bonds.
2.2.4

The Bonds may be redeemed prior to maturity

In the event that the Company would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any
Bonds due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or
assessed by or on behalf of the Cayman Islands or any political subdivision thereof or any authority
therein or thereof having power to tax, the Company may redeem all outstanding Bonds in
accordance with the Conditions, unless the Bondholders' tax option under Condition 7(c) of this
Prospectus’ section 5 is exercised.
In addition the Conditions provide that the Bonds are redeemable at the Company’s option at any
time after 26 July 2012 and in certain other limited circumstances and accordingly the Company
may choose to redeem the outstanding Bonds at times when prevailing interest rates may be
relatively low. In such circumstances an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the Bonds.
2.2.5

Bondholders will bear the risk of fluctuation in the price of Subsea 7’s shares

The market price of the Bonds is expected to be affected by fluctuations in the market price of
Subsea 7’s shares and it is impossible to predict whether the price of Subsea 7’s shares will rise or
fall. Trading prices of Subsea 7’s shares will be influenced by, among other things, the financial
position of Subsea 7, the results of operations and political, economic, financial and other factors.
Any decline in the price of Subsea 7’s shares may have an adverse effect on the market price of
the Bonds.
Future issues or sales of Subsea 7’s shares may significantly affect the trading price of the Bonds
or Subsea 7’s shares. The future issue of Subsea 7 shares by Subsea 7 or the disposal of Subsea 7
shares by any of the major shareholders of Subsea 7 or the perception that such issues or sales
may occur may significantly affect the trading price of the Bonds and Subsea 7 shares. The
Company and Subsea 7 have each agreed to certain restrictions on their ability to issue or dispose
of Subsea 7 shares or related securities between the date of the Subscription Agreement and the
date which is 90 days after the Closing Date. Except for such restrictions and the undertakings of
the Company described in Condition 11 of this Prospectus’ section 5 below (see “Terms and
Conditions of the Bonds - Undertakings”), there is no restriction on Subsea 7’s ability to issue new
shares, and there can be no assurance that Subsea 7 will not issue new shares or that any
substantial shareholder in Subsea 7 will not dispose of, encumber, or pledge its Subsea 7 shares or
related securities.
2.2.6

As the Bonds are cleared through VPS, investors will have to rely on VPS’ procedures for
transfers, payments and conversion of Bonds

The Bonds will be cleared through VPS. Pursuant to the rules and procedures of VPS, investors will
not be entitled to receive Bonds in definitive form. VPS will maintain a register in which it will
record details of the holders of the Bonds. Investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests
only through VPS.
The Company will discharge its payment obligations under the Bonds by making payments through
VPS for distribution to its account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Bond must rely on
the procedures of VPS to receive payments under the Bonds and to receive delivery of Subsea
Shares upon conversion of Bonds. The Company has no responsibility or liability for the records
relating to beneficial interests in the Bonds.
2.3

Risks in relation to Subsea 7

2.3.1

General

The Bonds issued by the Company is, subject to the terms and conditions in section 5 of this
Prospectus, exchangeable for Subsea 7 shares.
The share price of Subsea 7’s shares is subject to a number of risks both in relation to Subsea 7’s
operation and in relation to the more general conditions in the capital markets, including the level
of liquidity in secondary trading of Subsea 7’s shares.
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Below is given an overview of risk factors which may affect Subsea 7’s activities or the share price
of Subsea 7’s shares. The risk factors described below are not the only ones facing Subsea 7. Other
risks and uncertainties, including those not currently considered material by Subsea 7’s
management, may impair Subsea 7’s business. The risk factors below may materially adversely
affect the business, financial condition, operating results or cash flows of the Company.
2.3.2
2.3.2.1

Risks related to the operations of Subsea 7
Dependence on the level of demand from oil companies for subsea services

Changes in the international oil price have historically had a significant effect on the level of
demand for subsea services and hence the level of Subsea 7’s earnings.
Oil and gas prices have historically been very volatile depending on the actual and expected
changes in the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, changes in economic growth in the
USA and globally and political uncertainty in oil producing countries. There is a significant risk
associated with a possible long-term drop in the oil price, affecting the profitability of the
development of new offshore fields, which very likely would reduce the market for the products and
services offered by Subsea 7.
2.3.2.2

The risk of new technological developments

The market for oil and gas technologies has developed towards a single competitive market for
concepts and technological solutions. Companies with the best solutions will therefore achieve a
strong competitive position in both markets. Oil and gas operations offshore, both in the North Sea
and internationally, are moving towards deeper water depths, and will require new technologies for
exploration and production. In the long run, a competitive advantage in products and services for
subsea constructions will be achieved through continuous development and commercialisation of
new technical solutions. There can be no assurance that Subsea 7 will be able to maintain its
current competitive position in this respect.
Subsea 7’s ability to secure its intangible rights legally is important since the development of the
company will largely depend on its technological advances. Third parties might act in violation of
these rights and it is not possible to achieve protection of intangible rights in certain countries.
There can be no assurance that Subsea 7 will be able sufficiently to secure its intellectual property
and other intangible rights.
2.3.2.3

Political risk

Subsea 7 has operations in several countries and its operations include projects and investments in
countries that are unsafe and politically unstable. Activities in these countries will often involve
greater risk, including unfavourable changes in tax laws and other laws, partial or full
expropriation, currency volatility and restrictions on currency transfer, disruption of operations
because of labour disputes or political riots or wars, and some individual countries’ requirements
for some local ownership interests.
Subsea 7’s operations are subject to laws, regulations and supervisory rules in the country where
the activity is performed. The operations of Subsea 7 can therefore be affected by changes in
environmental laws and other regulations that can result in large expenses in, for example,
modification of vessels and changes in the operation of vessels.
2.3.2.4

Environmental issues

Subsea 7’s operations involve the use and handling of materials that can be environmentally
hazardous. Environmental legislation has in general become stricter in the countries in which
Subsea 7 operates. These laws and regulations might expose Subsea 7 to liability due to events
caused by others or by it, even though the actions were consistent with existing laws at the time.
In the event of liability arising due to the action of a customer, Subsea 7 would expect to get some
contractual compensation from that customer through contractual regulations for events such as
pollution and other environmental damage. However, there can be no assurance that the
compensation achieved in such events, if achieved at all, will cover the losses suffered.
2.3.2.5

Project risk in terms of delays or cost over-runs

It is customary for suppliers of technology and services to the oil and gas industry to take on price
and schedule related risks in their contracts with oil and gas companies. Such risks could be
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substantial, and can be due to a number of risk factors, e.g. lack of materials or skilled labour,
dependency on sub-suppliers, unforeseen technical problems, latent damages on existing
equipment, stoppage of work, disruptions because of bad weather, unforeseen cost increases, lack
of necessary permits or approvals, and exposure to damages if the project is not executed and/or
completed in accordance with the agreed schedule. Experience shows that projects involve
significant risks, and various contractors (including Subsea 7) have from time to time incurred
significant losses on single projects. Such losses could potentially impact the profitability and
financial solidity of Subsea 7.
A significant share of Subsea 7’s revenue is derived from lump sum EPIC (Engineering,
Procurement, Installation and Commissioning) contracts, mainly due to the increasing importance
of the African and Brazilian markets. Lump sum EPIC contracts increase the risk exposure for
Subsea 7.
It is possible that Subsea 7 will accept larger liabilities than its sub-suppliers. Subsea 7’s results
may therefore be negatively affected if it fails to deliver in accordance with the contract with its
customer due to a sub-supplier.
2.3.2.6

Operational and insurance risks in respect of vessel operations

Subsea 7 owns vessels that are exposed to the risks associated with shipping, including bad
weather, capsizing, groundings, collision, engine problems, technical problems, navigation errors
etc. These risks can individually result in (i) damage or destruction of vessel or equipment, (ii)
personal injury, (iii) operating disruption, and/or (iv) environmental damages. Such risks can also
result in the termination of the charter for the vessel.
The vessels are insured if possible and when commercially practical. There can be no assurance
that such insurances will be available in the future or at an acceptable price. Also, insurance will
not cover all risks or geographical areas.
2.3.2.7

Dependency on key persons

The development of Subsea 7 is dependent on the ability of the senior management to manage the
current project portfolio and obtain new and profitable orders. Although no single person is solely
instrumental in fulfilling either of these business objectives, there is no guarantee that they will be
achieved to the degree expected.
2.3.2.8

Lack of qualified engineers

Although there can be no assurance in this regard, Subsea 7 foresees growth in the contract
portfolio during the next few years, but the ability to execute the growing number of large projects
with the high quality standards required is heavily dependent on the number of qualified engineers
available. There is a risk that the anticipated future expansion may not be achieved as planned.
2.3.2.9

Credit risk

Suppliers in project-oriented operations that involve large sums and stretch out in time, have
significant economic exposure to their customers. Subsea 7 will be negatively affected if a
customer becomes insolvent or goes bankrupt.
2.3.2.10

Foreign exchange risk

For Subsea 7, U.S. dollars is the functional and reporting currency. Purchases from sub-contractors
and deliveries to the customer are to some extent performed in currencies other than U.S. dollars.
Subsea 7 is exposed to foreign exchange risk of its subsidiaries including the development of the
Brazilian real.
Subsea 7 is exposed to foreign exchange risk in respect of its contracts for the construction of new
pipelay and flexlay vessels, which are denominated in EUR.
The shares listed on Oslo Børs are quoted in NOK. There is a foreign exchange risk associated with
the conversion from the reporting currency to NOK.
2.3.2.11

Financing

Subsea 7 is financed by equity and debt. The company is therefore exposed to the risks associated
with debt financing. Payments associated with servicing debt could adversely affect the company
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including by reducing or postponing investments and/or at unforeseen times and/or at unattractive
conditions force Subsea 7 to sell assets and activities, issue equity or restructure debt. There is no
guarantee that such initiatives will (i) succeed, (ii) be enough to refinance or restructure debt and
other commitments as they fall due, or (iii) not affect the competitive ability of Subsea 7.
2.3.2.12

Taxes

Subsea 7 has subsidiaries in Norway, UK, USA, Brazil, Singapore, Australia, Luxembourg, Ireland,
the Netherlands, Mexico, the Cayman Islands and Nigeria. The overall tax charge will depend on
where profits are accumulated and taxed since these countries have different tax systems and tax
rates.
2.3.3
2.3.3.1

Risks relating to Subsea 7’s shares
Volatility of the share price

The trading price of the Subsea Shares could fluctuate significantly in response to quarterly
variations in operating results, adverse business developments, interest rate, changes in financial
estimates by securities analysts, matters announced in respect of major customers or competitors,
or changes to the regulatory environment in which Subsea 7 operates.
The market price of the Subsea Shares could decline due to sales of large number of shares in the
market or the perception that such sales could occur. Such sales could also make it more difficult
for Subsea 7 to offer equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that are deemed
appropriate.
In recent years, the securities markets in Norway and elsewhere in Europe, have experienced a
high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many companies have
experienced wide fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the operating
performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. There can be no assurance
that continual fluctuations in price will not occur. It is likely that the quoted market price for the
Subsea Shares will be subject to market trends generally, notwithstanding the financial and
operational performance of Subsea 7.
2.3.3.2

Difficulties for foreign investors to enforce civil liabilities in Cayman Islands

Subsea 7 is organized under the laws of Cayman Islands. The rights of holders of Shares are
governed by Cayman Islands law and by the Articles of Association. These rights may differ from
the rights of shareholders in other jurisdictions, including Norway. As a result, it may, inter alia, be
difficult for shareholder to take legal action against Subsea 7 and/or its directors in the investor’s
own jurisdiction, or to enforce against them judgments obtained in non-Cayman Islands courts.
2.3.3.3

Restrictions on ability to transfer or resell the Subsea Shares without registration
under applicable securities laws

The Subsea Shares are being offered and sold pursuant to an exemption from registration under
the U.S. and applicable state securities laws. Therefore, the Subsea Shares may only be transferred
or resold in the U.S. in a transaction registered under or exempt from the registration requirements
of the applicable securities laws, and U.S. shareholders may be required to bear the risk of their
investment for an indefinite period of time. Subsea 7 does not currently anticipate registering any
resale transaction under applicable US securities laws.
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3.
3.1

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS
Siem Industries Inc.

The Board of Directors of Siem Industries Inc. has been responsible for preparing this prospectus.
Siem Industries Inc. confirms that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case, the information contained in the Prospectus, to the best of its knowledge, is in accordance
with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect the import of the Prospectus.
Cayman Islands, 11 July 2007
Siem Industries Inc.
Kristian Siem
Chairman
3.2

Manager

Lehman Brothers International (Europe) has acted as sole bookrunner and underwriter for Siem
Industries Inc. in connection with the issue of the Bonds and their subsequent listing on Oslo Børs.
The Board of Directors and Management of Siem Industries Inc. have prepared this Prospectus,
and Lehman Brothers International (Europe) makes no guarantees and disclaims any responsibility
for the accuracy and the completeness of the information contained in the Prospectus or any other
information provided in connection with the listing of the Bonds on Oslo Børs.
London, 11 July 2007
Lehman Brothers International (Europe)
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4.

IMPORTANT NOTICES

This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the listing on Oslo Børs of the
U.S.$ 275,000,000 Zero Coupon Secured Limited Recourse Exchangeable Bonds to be issued by
Siem Industries Inc.
It is expected that the Bonds will be issued on or about 12 July 2007 at an issue price of 100 per
cent.of their principal amount. Unless previously exchanged or redeemed, the Bonds will be
redeemed by Siem Industries Inc. on or about 12 July 2017 at their Accreted Principal Amount as
defined in the Conditions.
This Prospectus does not contain any offer to subscribe and/or purchase the Bonds. This
Prospectus has been reviewed and approved by Oslo Børs as an EEA Prospectus pursuant to
Section 5-3 cfr. Sections 5-7 and 5-8 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act.
The delivery of this Prospectus shall under no circumstances create any implication that the
information about Siem Industries or Subsea 7 contained in this Prospectus is correct as of any
time subsequent to its date. Any new material information arising after the publication of this
Prospectus and before the completion of the listing of the Bonds will be published as a supplement
to this Prospectus in accordance with Section 5-15 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act.
Application has been made to list the Bonds on the Oslo Børs. The listing of the Bonds and this
Prospectus are subject to Norwegian law. Any dispute arising out of the listing or this Prospectus is
subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts.
Forward-looking Statements
This Prospectus includes “forward-looking statements”. All statements other than statements of
historical facts included in this Prospectus, including, without limitation, those regarding Siem
Industries’ and Subsea 7’s financial positions, business strategies, plans and objectives of
management for future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to Subsea
7’s products), are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results to be materially
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions
regarding the Company’s and Subsea 7’s present and future business strategies and the
environment in which the Company or Subsea 7 will operate in the future. Among the important
factors that could cause the Company or Subsea 7’s actual results, performance and achievements
to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to,
those discussed under “Risk Factors”. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date
of this Prospectus. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release
publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any
change in the Company’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or
circumstances on which any statement is based.
All inquiries relating to this Prospectus or the matters addressed herein should be directed to Siem
Industries. No persons other than those described in this Prospectus have been authorised to
disclose or disseminate information about this Prospectus or about the matters addressed in this
Prospectus. If given, such information may not be relied upon as having been authorised by Siem
Industries.
None of Siem Industries or Lehman Brothers International (Europe) (“Lehman Brothers” or the
“Manager”) is providing any advice or recommendation in this Prospectus on the merits of the
purchase, subscription for, or investment in, the Bonds or the Subsea Shares or the exercise of any
rights conferred by the Bonds or the Subsea Shares.
Neither Lehman Brothers nor the Trustee has separately verified the information contained in this
Prospectus. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made
and no responsibility or liability is accepted, by Lehman Brothers or the Trustee, as to the accuracy
or completeness of the information contained in this Prospectus or any other information supplied
in connection with the Bonds or the Subsea Shares. Each person receiving this Prospectus
acknowledges that such person has not relied on Lehman Brothers or the Trustee nor on any
person affiliated with Lehman Brothers or the Trustee in connection with its investigation of the
accuracy of such information or its investment decision, and each such person must rely on its own
examination of the Company and the merits and risks involved in investing in the Bonds.
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None of the Bonds or Subsea Shares to be delivered upon conversion of the Bonds has been or will
be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or
with any securities regulatory authority of any other jurisdiction. The Bonds are being offered and
sold in offshore transactions outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S (“Regulation S”)
under the Securities Act and, except in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act, may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to or for the
benefit of U.S. persons.
This Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that all offers of Bonds will be made pursuant to an
exemption under Article 3.2 c) of the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in member states of
the European Economic Area (the “EEA”), from the requirement to produce a prospectus for offers
of Bonds. Accordingly any person making or intending to make any offer within the EEA of Bonds
which is the subject of the placement contemplated in this Prospectus should only do so in
circumstances in which no obligation arises for Siem Industries Inc. or Lehman Brothers to produce
a prospectus for such offer. Neither Siem Industries Inc. nor Lehman Brothers have authorised, nor
do they authorise, the making of any offer of Bonds through any financial intermediary, other than
offers made by Lehman Brothers which constitute the final placement of Bonds contemplated in
this Prospectus.
General
The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be
restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by Siem
Industries Inc. and Lehman Brothers to inform themselves about and to observe any such
restrictions. For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Bonds and the
Subsea Shares and distribution of this Prospectus, see “Subscription and Sale”.
Each prospective purchaser and subscriber to the Bonds must comply with all applicable laws and
regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, subscribes, offers or sells the Bonds or
possesses or distributes this Prospectus and must obtain any consent, approval or permission
required by it for acquiring the Bonds.
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5.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS
The following, subject to completion and amendment, and save for the paragraphs in italics, is
the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.
The issue of the U.S.$275,000,000 Zero Coupon Secured Limited Recourse Exchangeable
Bonds due 2017 (the “Bonds”, which expression shall, unless otherwise indicated, include
any further bonds issued pursuant to Condition 17 and consolidated and forming a single
series with the Bonds) was (save in respect of any such further bonds) authorised by a
resolution of the Board of Directors of Siem Industries Inc. (the “Issuer”) passed on 10 July
2007. The Bonds are constituted and secured by a trust deed dated 12 July 2007 (the “Trust
Deed”) between the Issuer and The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. (the “Trustee”,
which expression shall include all persons for the time being appointed as the trustee or
trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the holders (as defined below) of the Bonds. The
statements set out in these Terms and Conditions (the “Conditions”) are summaries of, and
are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed. The Bondholders (as defined below)
are entitled to the benefit of, and are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the
provisions of the Trust Deed and those provisions applicable to them which are contained in
the Paying and Exchange Agency Agreement dated 12 July 2007 (the “Agency Agreement”)
relating to the Bonds between the Issuer, the Trustee, Nordea Bank Norge ASA,
Verdipapirservice in its capacity as paying and exchange agent (the “Paying and Exchange
Agent”, which expression shall include any successor as paying and exchange agent under the
Agency Agreement) and Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Verdipapirservice in its capacity as registrar
(the “Registrar”, which expression shall include any successor as registrar under the Agency
Agreement) and the Calculation Agency Agreement dated 12 July 2007 (the “Calculation
Agency Agreement”) relating to the Bonds between the Issuer and Lehman Brothers
International (Europe) (the “Calculation Agent”, which expression shall include any
successor as calculation agent under the Calculation Agency Agreement). Copies of the Trust
Deed and the Agency Agreement are available for inspection at the office of the Trustee at
Fifth Floor, 100 Wood Street, London EC2V 7EX, United Kingdom and at the specified offices of
the Paying and Exchange Agent and the Registrar. Capitalised terms used but not defined in
these Conditions shall have the meanings attributed to them in the Trust Deed unless the
context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated.

1

Form, Denomination, Title and Status
(a)

Form and Denomination
The Bonds are issued in registered, dematerialised form in the Norwegian Securities
Depository System (“Verdipapirsentralen”) (the “VPS”) in principal amounts of
U.S.$100,000 and integral multiples thereof (“authorised denominations”).

(b)

Title
Title to the Bonds will pass by transfer and registration as described in Condition 4. The
registered holder of any Bond will (except as otherwise required by law or as ordered by
a court of competent jurisdiction) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes
(whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any
interest in it) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

(c)

Status of the Bonds
The Bonds constitute unconditional and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer,
secured to the extent and in the manner described in Condition 2(a), recourse in respect
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of which is limited in the manner described in Condition 14 and shall at all times rank
pari passu without preference or priority among themselves.
2

Security and other Covenants
(a)

Security
The Issuer’s obligations under the Bonds and the Trust Deed are secured in favour of
the Trustee for the benefit of itself and the Bondholders (subject as provided in these
Conditions and the Transaction Documents) as follows:
(1)

by a first priority security by way of pledge in respect of the EB Pledged Property,
the Siem Additional Pledged Property and the CB Pledged Property, together with
all monies paid or payable in respect of the EB Pledged Property, the Siem
Additional Pledged Property and the CB Pledged Property pursuant to a pledge
agreement (governed by Norwegian law) dated 12 July 2007 between the Issuer
and the Trustee (the “Share Pledge Agreement”);

(2)

by an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer’s rights, title and interest in
and to the EB Securities Lending Agreement, including the right to receive all
securities, including Subsea Shares, and other property deliverable, and all
amounts payable, by the Stock Borrower to the Issuer thereunder (other than
stock lending fees);

(3)

by an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer’s rights, title and interest in
and to the CB Securities Lending Agreement, including the right to receive all
securities, including Subsea Shares, and other property deliverable, and all
amounts payable, by the Stock Borrower to the Issuer thereunder (other than
stock lending fees);

(4)

by an assignment by way of security of all the Issuer’s rights, title and interest in
and to any sums held by the Principal Paying and Exchange Agent under or
pursuant to the Agency Agreement, including in respect of all moneys held by the
Principal Paying and Exchange Agent to meet payments due in respect of the
Bonds;

(5)

by way of a first priority security by way of pledge in respect of all amounts
standing to the credit of the Cash Account from time to time pursuant to an
account pledge (governed by Norwegian law) dated 12 July 2007 between the
Issuer and the Trustee (the “Cash Account Pledge”); and

(6)

by a security agreement (governed by New York law) dated 12 July 2007 between
the Issuer and the Trustee (the “U.S. Security Agreement”) granting a security
interest in the U.S. Treasury Securities together with, inter alia, all financial
assets, cash (including any interest received in respect of U.S. Treasury
Securities) and any other property held in or credited to the securities account
referred to therein (the “U.S. Securities Account”), which security interest will
be perfected by the terms of a Control Agreement.

“Control Agreement” means the agreement dated 12 July 2007 between DnB NOR
Bank ASA, the Issuer and the Trustee pursuant to which DnB NOR Bank ASA agrees to
follow the instructions of the Trustee with respect to the U.S. Treasury Securities.
“EB Pledged Property” means:
(i)

the EB VPS Account;

(ii)

the Subsea Shares registered on the EB VPS Account;
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(iii)

all other securities which are registered on the EB VPS Account from time to time;
and

(iv)

any and all rights derived from the securities registered on the VPS account from
time to time (including without limitation any dividend shares and any
subscription rights).

“EB VPS Account” means the account number 050050107130 in the name of the
Custodian with the VPS.
“CB Pledged Property” means:
(i)

the CB VPS Account;

(ii)

the Subsea Shares registered on the CB VPS Account;

(iii)

all other securities which are registered on the CB VPS Account from time to time;
and

(iv)

any and all rights derived from the securities registered on the CB VPS Account
from time to time (including without limitation any dividend shares and any
subscription rights).

“CB VPS Account” means the account number 050050114862 in the name of the
Custodian with the VPS.
“Siem Additional Pledged Property” means:
(i)

the Siem VPS Account;

(ii)

the Subsea Shares registered on Siem VPS Account;

(iii)

all other securities which are registered on the Siem VPS Account from time to
time; and

(iv)

any and all rights derived from the securities registered on the Siem VPS Account
from time to time (including without limitation any dividend shares and any
subscription rights).

“Siem VPS Account” means the Issuer’s account number 079091227136 with the VPS.
“U.S. Treasury Securities” means the U.S.$ 140,913,000 aggregate principal amount
of Treasury Bill due January 2008 (Cusip 912795C25) and/or any other U.S.
Government obligations the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and Control
Agreement or like or similar agreements as approved by the Trustee.
(b)

Substitution and Withdrawal
Provided that an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default shall not have occurred
and be continuing and provided that the number of Retained Subsea Shares shall
thereafter be not less than 100 per cent of the number of Subsea Shares that would be
required to be delivered on exercise of Exchange Rights in respect of all outstanding
Bonds (disregarding for this purpose any right of the Issuer to make a Cash Alternative
Election in respect thereof) (the “Minimum Threshold”), the Issuer shall at any time
be entitled to:
(i)

substitute Subsea Shares the subject of the Share Pledge Agreement and credited
to the Siem VPS Account for an amount in cash in U.S. dollars equal to the Fair
Market Value of the number of Subsea Shares to be substituted as at the third
dealing day prior to the date of the proposed substitution (the “Determination
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Date”), as determined by the Calculation Agent and certified to the Trustee by
the Calculation Agent (a “Permitted Substitution”) provided that:
(1)

the Fair Market Value, as at the Determination Date, of the number of
Retained Subsea Shares immediately after such substitution and of the U.S.
Treasury Securities the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and the
Control Agreement in each case (as determined as provided in subparagraph (i) above), translated, where appropriate, into U.S. Dollars at the
Prevailing Rate on the Determination Date, together with any amounts
standing to the credit of the Cash Account, shall be not less than the
Accreted Principal Amount as at the Final Maturity Date of the aggregate
principal amount of the Bonds outstanding on the Determination Date; and

(2)

such cash amount is credited to the Cash Account prior to or simultaneously
with the release of such Subsea Shares from the security constituted
pursuant to the Share Pledge Agreement; and/or

(ii)

withdraw from the Siem VPS Account at any time, any number of Subsea Shares
in excess of the Minimum Threshold at such time, provided that the Fair Market
Value of the U.S. Treasury Securities the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement
and the Control Agreement as at the third dealing day prior to the date of the
proposed withdrawal, as determined by the Calculation Agent and certified to the
Trustee by the Calculation Agent, together with any amounts standing to the
credit of the Cash Account immediately following such withdrawal is equal to or
greater than the Accreted Principal Amount as at the Final Maturity Date of the
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding at the time of such
withdrawal (a “Permitted Share Withdrawal”); and/or

(iii)

withdraw from the Cash Account any amount standing to the credit of the Cash
Account provided that the Fair Market Value of the U.S. Treasury Securities the
subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and the Control Agreement as at the third
dealing day prior to the date of the proposed withdrawal, as determined by the
Calculation Agent and certified by the Trustee to the Calculation Agent, together
with the balance of the amounts standing to the credit of the Cash Account
immediately following such withdrawal is equal to or greater than the Accreted
Principal Amount as at the Final Maturity Date of the aggregate principal amount
of the Bonds outstanding at the time of such withdrawal (a “Permitted Cash
Withdrawal”); and/or

(iv)

withdraw U.S. Treasury Securities the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and
the Control Agreement provided that the Fair Market Value of the U.S. Treasury
Securities the subject of the US Security Agreement and the Control Agreement
immediately after such withdrawal, with such Fair Market Value being determined
as at the third dealing day prior to the date of the proposed withdrawal by the
Calculation Agent and certified to the Trustee by the Calculation Agent, together
with any amount standing to the credit of the Cash Account immediately following
such withdrawal is equal to or greater than the Accreted Principal Amount as at
the Final Maturity Date of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds
outstanding at the time of such withdrawal (a “Permitted U.S. Treasury
Securities Withdrawal”); and/or

(v)

withdraw cash the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and the Control
Agreement representing interest received in respect of U.S. Treasury Securities
provided that the Fair Market Value of the U.S. Treasury Securities the subject of
the U.S. Security Agreement and the Control Agreement as at the third dealing
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day prior to the date of the proposed withdrawal, as determined by the
Calculation Agent and certified to the Trustee by the Calculation Agent, together
with any cash amount standing to the credit of the U.S. Securities Account
immediately following such withdrawal is equal to or greater than 50 per cent. of
the Accreted Principal Amount as at the Final Maturity Date of the aggregate
principal amount of the Bonds outstanding at the time of such withdrawal (a
“Permitted Coupon Withdrawal”).
In order to effect a Permitted Substitution, a Permitted Share Withdrawal, a Permitted
Cash Withdrawal, a Permitted U.S. Treasury Securities Withdrawal or a Permitted
Coupon Withdrawal as provided above, the Issuer shall give not more than 30 nor less
than 15 days notice thereof to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 and to
the Trustee and the Calculation Agent, specifying the date of the proposed substitution
or withdrawal, and such other information in relation thereto as the Trustee may
require.
If the Exchange Price is adjusted pursuant to Condition 6(b) (other than Condition
6(b)(i)), and in relation thereto the facility amount under the EB Securities Lending
Agreement is or is to be increased, the Issuer will, not later than 3 dealing days after
the relevant adjustment, deposit or procure to be deposited into the EB VPS Account
such additional number of Subsea Shares as is equal to the increase in such facility
amount and shall deposit or procure to be deposited into the Siem VPS Account such
additional number of Subsea Shares as would be required, together with the number of
Subsea Shares to be delivered on exchange of the Bonds at the Exchange Price
applicable prior to such adjustment, to satisfy the exercise of Exchange Rights in respect
of all the outstanding Bonds based on the adjusted Exchange Price, less the number of
additional Subsea Shares to be deposited into the EB VPS Account.
If the Exchange Price is adjusted pursuant to Condition 6(b) (other than Condition
6(b)(i)) in circumstances where the facility amount under the EB Securities Lending
Agreement is not increased, the Issuer will not later than 3 dealing days after the
relevant adjustment, deposit or procure to be deposited into the Siem VPS Account such
additional number of Subsea Shares as would be required, together with the number of
Subsea Shares to be delivered on exchange of the Bonds at the Exchange Price
applicable prior to such adjustment, to satisfy the exercise of Exchange Rights in respect
of all the outstanding Bonds based on the adjusted Exchange Price.
In addition, in the case of an adjustment of the Exchange Price pursuant to Condition
6(b)(iii) resulting from the payment of any Dividend to Shareholders, the Trustee shall,
upon deposit by the Issuer of the relevant number of additional Subsea Shares into the
EB VPS Account and/or, the Siem VPS Account, as the case may be, release from the
Secured Property the relevant Dividend to the Issuer.
Forthwith following any changes or composition of the Secured Property and/or any
other property that is subject of the security arrangements described above (other than
the release, substitution or withdrawal of any Secured Property from such security
arrangements as provided in these Conditions), the Issuer will procure that security
interests in a form satisfactory to the Trustee are created over any such property which
is not already the subject of security arrangements described above, in each case in
favour of the Trustee for the benefit of itself and the Bondholders as security for the
obligations described above.
If the U.S. Treasury Securities the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and the
Control Agreement are redeemed or repaid whilst any of the Bonds remain outstanding,
the proceeds thereof (together with any cash amounts standing to the credit of the U.S.
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Securities Account) shall be used to acquire additional or further U.S. Government
obligations maturing on, or about, the next following Put Date (or, if none, the Final
Maturity Date) as shall be determined by the Calculation Agent, and the Issuer shall
enter into an amendment and/or restatement of the U.S. Security Agreement and
Control Agreement and/or such other agreements as the Trustee may determine to be
necessary or desirable to create a perfected security interest in respect of such U.S.
Government obligations in favour of the Trustee for the benefit of itself and the
Bondholders as security for the obligations described above and references to “U.S.
Treasury Securities” shall be deemed to include such U.S. Government obligations.
The property which is from time to time the subject of the security described in this
Condition 2 (a) is referred to herein as the “Secured Property”.
(c)

General provisions relating to security
The Trust Deed provides that the Trustee shall not be bound or concerned to make any
investigation into, or be responsible for:
(i)

the value of the Secured Property or the creditworthiness of any person which is a
party to any other agreement or document constituting or evidencing any of the
Secured Property; or

(ii)

the validity or enforceability of the obligations of any such person as is referred to
in sub-paragraph (i) above or of the security constituted by or pursuant to the
Trust Deed or any of the Transaction Documents; or

(iii)

the determination of the Fair Market Value of the Subsea Shares or the U.S.
Treasury Securities in connection with a Permitted Substitution, a Permitted Share
Withdrawal, a Permitted Cash Withdrawal, a Permitted U.S. Treasury Securities
Withdrawal or a Permitted Coupon Withdrawal; or

(iv)

the amount of any Dividend released from the Secured Property after the deposit
by the Issuer of the relevant number of additional Subsea Shares into the EB VPS
Account as provided in Condition 2(a).

Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee will have any responsibility for the performance by
any clearing system (or its participants or indirect participants) of any of their respective
obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.
(d)

Subsea Shares
As at the Issue Date, the Secured Property includes 18,100,000 Subsea Shares, of
which:
(i)

2,100,000 Subsea Shares have been credited to the Siem VPS Account and
pledged in favour of the Trustee pursuant to the Share Pledge Agreement;

(ii)

5,700,000 Subsea Shares which have been credited to the EB VPS Account and/or
borrowed by the Stock Borrower pursuant to the EB Securities Lending
Agreement; and

(iii)

10,300,000 Subsea Shares which have been credited to the CB VPS Account
and/or borrowed by the Stock Borrower pursuant to the CB Securities Lending
Agreement.

Subsea Shares which are able to be borrowed by the Stock Borrower pursuant to the EB
Securities Lending Agreement or the CB Securities Lending Agreement but which have
not at the relevant time been borrowed or which have been repaid, will be credited to
the EB VPS Account or the CB VPS Account, as the case may be.
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Prospective investors in the Bonds are advised that to the extent that Subsea Shares
have been lent to the Stock Borrower pursuant to the EB Securities Lending Agreement
or the CB Securities Lending Agreement, the voting rights in respect thereof will also be
transferred to the Stock Borrower or (as the case may be) to other parties to whom the
Stock Borrower lends or otherwise transfers the Subsea Shares. It is possible that in
exercising such rights the Stock Borrower or such other parties (as the case may be)
may not, and are not required to, act in accordance with the best interests of the
Bondholders.
The Issuer and the Stock Borrower have entered into the EB Securities Lending
Agreement and the CB Securities Lending Agreement pursuant to which the Stock
Borrower, may from time to time borrow up to 5,700,000 Subsea Shares and
10,300,000 Subsea Shares, respectively, subject to any adjustment pursuant to the
terms thereof. The Issuer (subject as provided in Condition 14(c)) shall have the right at
any time upon giving notice as provided in the EB Securities Lending Agreement to
require re-delivery of all or any of the Subsea Shares borrowed by the Stock Borrower
pursuant to the EB Securities Lending Agreement, provided that the Issuer shall only be
entitled to require re-delivery of Subsea Shares as aforesaid if necessary for the
purposes of enabling it to comply with its obligations with respect to any exercise of an
Exchange Right or redemption pursuant to which it has exercised a Share Settlement
Option.
If at any time the number of Subsea Shares credited to the EB VPS Account or the CB
VPS Account exceeds the then maximum number of Subsea Shares remaining available
to be borrowed under the EB Securities Lending Agreement or the CB Securities Lending
Agreement, as the case may be, then the Issuer shall be entitled to transfer all or part
or any such excess Subsea Shares to the Siem VPS Account.
The CB Securities Lending Agreement permits the Issuer to require re-delivery of
Subsea Shares borrowed pursuant to the CB Securities Lending Agreement, inter alia, to
the extent that there are insufficient Subsea Shares standing to the credit of the
Pledged VPS Accounts and/or borrowed under the EB Securities Lending Agreement in
order to enable the Issuer to comply with its obligations to deliver Subsea Shares upon
an exercise of an Exchange Right or exercise of a Share Settlement Option.
If the Stock Borrower borrows Subsea Shares as aforesaid, the Trust Deed contains
provisions enabling the relevant number of Subsea Shares so borrowed to be released
automatically from the EB VPS Account or the CB VPS Account, as the case may be, and
to be delivered to, or to the order of, the Stock Borrower in accordance with the terms
of the relevant Securities Lending Agreement.
Any Subsea Shares redelivered to the Issuer by the Stock Borrower from time to time
pursuant to the EB Securities Lending Agreement or the CB Securities Lending
Agreement shall initially be credited to the EB VPS Account or as the case may be, the
CB VPS Account and shall become part of the Secured Property in accordance with the
terms of the Share Pledge Agreement and thereafter may be dealt with as provided in
these Conditions and the Transaction Documents.
Under the terms of the Securities Lending Agreements, where dividends and any other
cash distributions are paid on Subsea Shares which have been borrowed by the Stock
Borrower from the Issuer, the Stock Borrower has agreed to pay to the Issuer a sum
equal to that which the Issuer would have been entitled to receive had such Subsea
Shares not been loaned by the Issuer and had been retained by the Issuer and such
sum shall be deposited into the Cash Account and form part of the Secured Property.
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(e)

Other Covenants
So long as any Bond remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), save with the
prior written consent of the Trustee or as approved by any Extraordinary Resolution (as
defined in the Trust Deed) of the Bondholders or as expressly permitted in any of the
Transaction Documents, the Issuer:
(i)

will not create or permit to subsist any mortgage, pledge, lien, security interest,
charge or encumbrance or any arrangement having a like or similar effect upon all
or any of the Secured Property;

(ii)

will not transfer, sell, lend, part with or otherwise dispose of, or deal with, or
grant any option or present or future right to acquire any of the Secured Property;

(iii)

will not permit any of the Transaction Documents to be amended, terminated,
postponed or discharged, or consent to any variation of, or exercise of any powers
of consent or waiver pursuant to any of the Transaction Documents, or permit any
party to any of the Transaction Documents or any other person whose obligations
form part of the security to be released from such obligations; and

(iv)

shall procure that all amounts received by the Issuer or to which the Issuer is
entitled in respect of dividends and other cash distributions in respect of the
Subsea Shares comprising the Secured Property, including all amounts in respect
thereof received by the Issuer in respect of Subsea Shares standing to the credit
of the EB VPS Account, the CB VPS Account or the Siem VPS Account and all cash
amounts (other than stock lending fees) received by the Issuer pursuant to the
CB Securities Lending Agreement or the EB Securities Lending Agreement are paid
into the Cash Account.

In giving any consent to the foregoing, the Trustee may require the Issuer to make such
modifications or additions to the provisions of any of the Transaction Documents or may
impose such other conditions or requirements as the Trustee may deem expedient (in
its absolute discretion) in the interests of the Bondholders.
3

Definitions
In these Conditions, unless otherwise provided:
“Accreted Principal Amount” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(g).
“Additional Cash Amount” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c).
“Additional Subsea Shares” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c).
“Bondholder” and “holder” mean the person in whose name a Bond is registered in the
Register (as defined in Condition 4(a)).
“business day” means, in relation to any place, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in that place.
“Cash Account” means the account (Account number 5079.06.21082) in the name of the
Issuer with DnBNOR Bank ASA into which shall be deposited all dividends and cash
distributions in respect of Subsea Shares credited to the Pledged VPS Accounts and Subsea
Shares borrowed pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreements and any other cash amounts
forming part of the Secured Property received by the Issuer in respect thereof, but excluding
stock lending fees, which shall be retained by the Issuer.
“Cash Alternative Amount” means an amount calculated in accordance with the following
formula and which shall be payable to a Bondholder in respect of an exercise of an Exchange
Right, if a Cash Alternative Election is made in respect of such exercise:
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where:
CAA

=

the Cash Alternative Amount;

S

=

the number of Subsea Shares (including, for this purpose, any fraction of
a Subsea Share) to which the relevant Bondholder would have been
entitled to upon exercise of such Exchange Right had a Cash Alternative
Election not been made in respect of the relevant exercise or, such
lesser number of Subsea Shares, as specified in the relevant Cash
Alternative Election Notice;

Pn

=

the Volume Weighted Average Price of a Subsea Share on the nth
dealing day of the Cash Alternative Calculation Period; and

N

=

20, being the number of dealing days in the Cash Alternative Calculation
Period,

provided that if any Dividend or other entitlement in respect of the Subsea Shares is
announced on or prior to the relevant Exchange Date in circumstances where the record date
or other due date for the establishment of entitlement in respect of such Dividend or other
entitlement shall be on or after the relevant Exchange Date and if on any dealing day in the
Cash Alternative Calculation Period, the Volume Weighted Average Price of a Subsea Share is
based on a price ex-Dividend or ex-any other entitlement, then such price shall be increased
by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of such Dividend or entitlement per Subsea
Share as at the date of first public announcement of such Dividend or entitlement.
“Cash Alternative Calculation Period” means:
(i)

in the case of Bonds in respect of which Exchange Rights are exercised and where the
relevant Exchange Date falls after the 17th Oslo business day prior to the Final Maturity
Date, the period of 20 consecutive dealing days commencing on the Final Maturity Date;

(ii)

in the case of Bonds in respect of which Exchange Rights are exercised after the giving
of an Optional Redemption Notice or a Tax Redemption Notice by the Issuer and where
the Exchange Date falls on or prior to the 7th Oslo business day prior to the relevant
Optional Redemption Date or Tax Redemption Date, as the case may be, the 20
consecutive dealing days commencing on the relevant due date for redemption;

(iii)

in the case of Bonds in respect of which Exchange Rights are exercised after the giving
of a Change of Control Notice by the Issuer and where the Exchange Date falls on or
prior to the last day of the Change of Control Period, the period of 20 consecutive
dealing days commencing on the 3rd dealing day following the last day of the Change of
Control Period;

(iv)

in respect of any other exercise of Exchange Rights in respect of the Bonds, the period
of 20 consecutive dealing days commencing on the 3rd dealing day after the relevant
Exchange Date;

“Cash Alternative Election Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(i).
“Cash Dividend” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(iii).
“Cash Account Pledge” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
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“CB Pledged Property” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
“CB Securities Lending Agreement” means the Securities Lending Agreement dated 1 June
2007 between the Stock Borrower and the Issuer pursuant to which the Issuer has agreed to
lend the Stock Borrower up to 10,300,000 Subsea Shares.
“CB VPS Account” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
a “Change of Control” occurs when any person or persons, acting together, acquires control
of Subsea (other than as a result of an Exempt Newco Scheme).
“Change of Control Exchange Price” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(x).
“Change of Control Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(g).
“Change of Control Period” means the period commencing on the date on which a Change
of Control occurs and ending 60 calendar days following such date or, if later, 60 days
following the date on which a Change of Control Notice is given as required by Condition 6(g).
“Change of Control Put Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(e).
“Closing Date” means 12 July 2007.
“control” means (a) other than where the person or persons acquiring control is the Excepted
Person or a person or persons acting together with the Excepted Person, (i) the acquisition or
control of more than 50 per cent. of the Voting Rights of Subsea or (ii) the right to appoint
and/or remove all or the majority of the members of the Subsea’s Board of Directors or other
governing body, whether obtained directly or indirectly, and whether obtained by ownership of
share capital, the possession of Voting Rights, contract or otherwise or (b) where the person
acquiring control is the Excepted Person or a person or persons acting together with the
Excepted Person, the acquisition or control of more than 75 per cent. of the Voting Rights of
Subsea and “controlled” shall be construed accordingly.
“Control Agreement” has the meaning provided in Condition 2.
“Current Market Price” means, in respect of a Subsea Share at a particular date, the
average of the Volume Weighted Average Price of a Subsea Share for the five consecutive
dealing days ending on the dealing day immediately preceding such date; provided that if at
any time during the said five-dealing-day period the Volume Weighted Average Price shall
have been based on a price ex-Dividend (or ex- any other entitlement) and during some other
part of that period the Volume Weighted Average Price shall have been based on a price cumDividend (or cum- any other entitlement), then:
(a)

if the Subsea Shares to be delivered do not rank for the Dividend (or entitlement) in
question, the Volume Weighted Average Price on the dates on which the Subsea Shares
shall have been based on a price cum-Dividend (or cum- any other entitlement) shall for
the purpose of this definition be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an
amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any such Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary
Share as at the date of first public announcement of such Dividend (or entitlement); or

(b)

if the Subsea Shares to be delivered do rank for the Dividend (or entitlement) in
question, the Volume Weighted Average Price on the dates on which the Subsea Shares
shall have been based on a price ex-Dividend (or ex- any other entitlement) shall for the
purpose of this definition be deemed to be the amount thereof increased by an amount
equal to the Fair Market Value of any such Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share
as at the date of first public announcement of such Dividend (or entitlement),

and provided further that if on each of the said five dealing days the Volume Weighted
Average Price shall have been based on a price cum-Dividend (or cum- any other entitlement)
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in respect of a Dividend (or other entitlement) which has been declared or announced but the
Subsea Shares to be delivered do not rank for that Dividend (or other entitlement) the Volume
Weighted Average Price on each of such dates shall for the purposes of this definition be
deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any
such Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the date of the first public
announcement of such Dividend or entitlement,
and provided further that, if the Volume Weighted Average Price of a Subsea Share is not
available on one or more of the said five dealing days, then the average of such Volume
Weighted Average Prices which are available in that five-dealing-day period shall be used
(subject to a minimum of two such prices) and if only one, or no, such Volume Weighted
Average Price is available in the relevant period the Current Market Price shall be determined
in good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser.
“Custodian” means DnBNOR Bank ASA.
“dealing day” means a day on which the Relevant Stock Exchange or relevant stock
exchange or securities market is open for business, (other than a day on which the Relevant
Stock Exchange or relevant stock exchange or securities market is scheduled to or does close
prior to its regular weekday closing time).
“Delivery Date” means the third dealing day following the relevant Exchange Date or
Reference Date or, if such day is not an Oslo business day, the first Oslo business day
thereafter.
“Dividend” means any dividend or any form of distribution to Shareholders (including a SpinOff) whether of cash, assets or other property, and whenever paid or made and however
described (and for these purposes a distribution of assets includes without limitation an issue
of Subsea Shares, or other Securities credited as fully or partly paid up by way of
capitalisation of profits or reserves) provided that:
(a)

where a Dividend in cash is announced which is to be, or may at the election of a
Shareholder or Shareholders be, satisfied by the issue or delivery of Subsea Shares or
other property or assets, or where a capitalisation of profits or reserves is announced
which is to be, or may at the election of a Shareholder or Shareholders be, satisfied by
the payment of the Dividend in cash, then for the purposes of this definition the
Dividend in question shall be treated as a Cash Dividend of the greater of (i) such cash
amount and (ii) the Fair Market Value (on the date of the first public announcement of
such Dividend or capitalisation (as the case may be) or if later, the date on which the
number of Subsea Shares (or amount of property or assets, as the case may be) which
may be delivered is determined), of such Subsea Shares or other property or assets;

(b)

any issue of Subsea Shares falling within Condition 6(b)(ii) shall be disregarded;

(c)

a purchase or redemption or buy back of share capital of Subsea by Subsea or any
Subsidiary of Subsea shall not constitute a Dividend unless, in the case of purchases,
redemptions or buy backs of Subsea Shares by or on behalf of Subsea or any of its
Subsidiaries, the weighted average price per Ordinary Share (before expenses) on any
one day (a “Specified Share Day”) in respect of such purchases, redemptions or buy
backs (translated, if not in Norwegian Kroner, into Norwegian Kroner at the spot rate
ruling at the close of business on such day as determined in good faith by an
Independent Financial Adviser (or if no such rate is available on that date, the
equivalent rate on the immediately preceding date on which such rate is available)),
exceeds by more than 5 per cent. the average of the closing prices of the Subsea
Shares on the Relevant Stock Exchange (as published by or derived from the Relevant
Stock Exchange) on the five dealing days immediately preceding the Specified Share
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Day or, where an announcement (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt for these
purposes, any general authority for such purchases approved by a general meeting of
Shareholders or any notice convening such a meeting of Shareholders) has been made
of the intention to purchase Subsea Shares at some future date at a specified price, on
the five dealing days immediately preceding the date of such announcement, in which
case such purchase shall be deemed to constitute a cash Dividend in Norwegian Kroner
to the extent that the aggregate price paid (before expenses) in respect of such Subsea
Shares purchased by the Issuer or, as the case may be, any of its Subsidiaries
(translated where appropriate into Norwegian Kroner as provided above) exceeds the
product of (i) 105 per cent. of the average closing price of the Subsea Shares
determined as aforesaid and (ii) the number of Subsea Shares so purchased; and
(d)

if Subsea or any of its Subsidiaries shall purchase any receipts or certificates
representing Subsea Shares, the provisions of paragraph (c) shall be applied in respect
thereof in such manner and with such modifications (if any) as shall be determined in
good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser.

“EB Pledged Property” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
“EB Securities Lending Agreement” means the Securities Lending Agreement dated 1 June
2007 between the Stock Borrower and the Issuer pursuant to which the Issuer has agreed to
lend to the Stock Borrower up to 5,700,000 Subsea Shares.
“EB VPS Account” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
“equity share capital” means, in relation to a company, its issued share capital excluding
any part thereof which, neither as regards dividends, nor as regards capital, carries any right
to participate beyond a specified amount in a distribution.
“Excepted Person” means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries from time to time.
“Exempt Newco Scheme” means a Newco Scheme where immediately after completion of
the relevant scheme of arrangement the ordinary shares or units (or equivalent) of Newco are
(1) admitted to listing and to trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange or (2) admitted to listing and
to trading on such other regulated, regularly operating, recognised stock exchange or
securities market as Subsea or Newco may determine.
“Exchange Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(h).
“Exchange Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(h).
“Exchange Period” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).
“Exchange Price” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).
“Exchange Right” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).
“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to any property on any date, the fair market value
of that property as determined in good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser (or, as the
case may be, the Calculation Agent) provided, that (i) the Fair Market Value of a Cash
Dividend paid or to be paid shall be the amount of such Cash Dividend; (ii) the Fair Market
Value of any other cash amount shall be the amount of such cash; (iii) where Securities, SpinOff Securities, options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded in a market of adequate
liquidity (as determined by an Independent Financial Adviser (or, as the case may be, the
Calculation Agent)), the fair market value (a) of such Securities or Spin-Off Securities shall
equal the arithmetic mean of the daily Volume Weighted Average Prices of such Securities or
Spin-Off Securities and (b) of such options, warrants or other rights shall equal the arithmetic
mean of the daily closing prices of such options, warrants or other rights, in the case of both
(a) and (b) during the period of five trading days on the relevant market commencing on such
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date (or, if later, the first such trading day such Securities or Spin-Off Securities, options,
warrants or other rights are publicly traded); and (iv) in the case of (i) converted into
Norwegian Kroner (if declared or paid in a currency other than Norwegian Kroner) at the rate
of exchange used to determine the amount payable to Shareholders who were paid or are to
be paid or are entitled to be paid the Cash Dividend in Norwegian Kroner; and in any other
case, converted into Norwegian Kroner (if expressed in a currency other than Norwegian
Kroner) at such rate of exchange as may be determined in good faith by an Independent
Financial Adviser to be the spot rate ruling at the close of business on that date (or if no such
rate is available on that date the equivalent rate on the immediately preceding date on which
such a rate is available).
“Final Maturity Date” means 12 July 2017.
“indebtedness for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised” means any present or
future indebtedness (whether being principal, interest or other amounts) for or in respect of (i)
money borrowed, (ii) liabilities under or in respect of any acceptance or acceptance credit or
(iii) any notes, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock or other securities offered,
issued or distributed whether by way of public offer, private placing, acquisition consideration
or otherwise and whether issued for cash or in whole or in part for a consideration other than
cash.
“Independent Financial Adviser” means at the option of the Issuer, either (i) the
Calculation Agent or (ii) an independent investment bank of international repute appointed by
the Issuer and approved in writing by the Trustee or, if the Issuer fails to make such
appointment and such failure continues for a reasonable period (as determined by the
Trustee) and the Trustee is indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction against the costs,
fees and expenses of such adviser, appointed by the Trustee following notification to the
Issuer.
“Instalment Amount” means in relation to a redemption of a Bond pursuant to Condition 7,
the amount determined by dividing the Accreted Principal Amount thereof as at the relevant
Redemption Date by 35 and rounded up, if necessary, to the nearest U.S.$ 0.01, with U.S.$
0.005 being rounded upwards.
“Instalment Date” means in relation to the redemption of a Bond pursuant to Condition 7,
each of the 35 consecutive dealing days commencing on the relevant Redemption Date or, if
that is not an dealing day, commencing on the next following dealing day.
“Instalment Delivery Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(h).
“Newco Scheme” means a scheme of arrangement or analogous proceeding which effects the
interposition of a limited liability company (“Newco”) between the Shareholders of Subsea
immediately prior to the scheme of arrangement or analogous proceeding (the “Existing
Shareholders”) and Subsea; provided that only ordinary shares of Newco are issued to
Existing Shareholders and that immediately after completion of the scheme of arrangement
the only shareholders of Newco are the Existing Shareholders and that all Subsidiaries of
Subsea immediately prior to the scheme of arrangement (other than Newco, if Newco is then a
Subsidiary of Subsea) are Subsidiaries of Subsea immediately after the scheme of
arrangement.
“Norwegian Kroner” means the lawful currency of the Kingdom of Norway.
“Optional Redemption Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(b).
“Optional Redemption Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(b).
“Oslo business day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in Oslo.
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“Oslo Stock Exchange” means Oslo Børs ASA.
“Permitted Cash Withdrawal” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(b).
“Permitted Coupon Withdrawal” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(b).
“Permitted Share Withdrawal” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(b).
“Permitted U.S. Treasury Securities Withdrawal” has the meaning provided in Condition
2(b).
“Permitted Substitution” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(b).
a “person” includes any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture,
undertaking, association, organisation, trust, state or agency of a state (in each case whether
or not being a separate legal entity).
“Pledge Agreements” means the Share Pledge Agreement and the Cash Account Pledge.
“Pledged VPS Accounts” means the CB VPS Account, the EB VPS Account and the Siem VPS
Account.
“Prevailing Rate” means, in respect of any dealing day, the noon buying rate on that day for
cable transfers of Norwegian Kroner as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York or if on such dealing day such rate is not available, such rate prevailing on
the immediately preceding day on which such rate is so available.
“Principal Subsidiary” means at any relevant time a Subsidiary of Subsea:
(i)

whose total assets or gross revenues (or, where the Subsidiary in question prepares
consolidated accounts, whose total consolidated assets or gross consolidated revenues,
as the case may be) represent not less than (a) 5 per cent. of the total consolidated
assets or (b) 10 per cent. of the gross consolidated revenues (as the case may be) of
Subsea and its consolidated Subsidiaries, all as calculated by reference to the then
latest audited accounts (or consolidated accounts as the case may be) of such
Subsidiary and the then latest audited consolidated accounts of Subsea and its
consolidated Subsidiaries; or

(ii)

to which is transferred all or substantially all of the assets and undertaking of a
Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer is a Principal Subsidiary.

A certificate from a Director or duly appointed attorney of the Issuer that, in their opinion, a
Subsidiary of Subsea is or is not or was or was not at any particular time a Principal Subsidiary
shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on the Trustee and the
Bondholders.
“Put Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(f).
“Put Exercise Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(f).
“Record Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 8(b).
“Redemption Date” means the Maturity Date, Optional Redemption Date, Tax Redemption
Date, Put Date or, as the case may be, Change of Control Put Date.
“Reference Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c) (ii).
“Register” has the meaning provided in Condition 4(a).
“Relevant Date” means, in respect of any Bond, whichever is the later of (i) the date on
which payment in respect of it first becomes due and (ii) if any amount of the money payable
is improperly withheld or refused the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding
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is made or (if earlier) the date on which notice is duly given by the Issuer or to the
Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 that such payment will be made, provided that
such payment is in fact made as provided in these Conditions.
“Relevant Indebtedness” means any present or future indebtedness (whether being
principal, interest or other amounts), in the form of or evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures
or other similar debt instruments, whether issued for cash or in whole or in part for a
consideration other than cash, and which are, or are capable of being, quoted, listed or
ordinarily dealt in or traded on any recognised stock exchange, over-the-counter or other
securities market.
“Relevant Stock Exchange” means the Oslo Stock Exchange or if at the relevant time the
Subsea Shares are not at that time listed and admitted to trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange,
the principal stock exchange or securities market on which the Subsea Shares are then listed
or quoted or dealt in.
“Retained Subsea Shares” means Subsea Shares standing to the credit of the Pledged VPS
Accounts and Subsea Shares borrowed and outstanding pursuant to the Securities Lending
Agreements.
“Retroactive Adjustment” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c).
“Secured Property” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(b).
“Securities” means any securities including, without limitation, Subsea Shares, or options,
warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase or acquire Subsea Shares (but shall
exclude any U.S. Treasury Securities).
“Securities Lending Agreements” means the CB Securities Lending Agreement and the EB
Securities Lending Agreement.
“Siem Additional Pledged Property” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
“Siem VPS Account” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
“Share Pledge Agreement” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).
“Share Settlement Market Price” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(h).
“Share Settlement Option” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(h).
“Shareholders” means the holders of Subsea Shares.
“Specified Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(vii), (viii), as the case may be.
“Spin-Off” means:
(a)

a distribution of Spin-Off Securities by Subsea to Shareholders as a class; or

(b)

any issue, transfer or delivery of any property or assets (including cash or shares or
securities of or in or issued or allotted by any entity) by any entity (other than Subsea)
to Shareholders as a class or, in the case of or in connection with a Newco Scheme,
Existing Shareholders, as a class (but excluding the issue and allotment of shares by
Newco to Existing Shareholders), pursuant in each case to any arrangements with
Subsea or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Spin-Off Securities” means equity share capital of an entity other than Subsea or options,
warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase equity share capital of an entity other
than Subsea.
“Stock Borrower” means Lehman Brothers International (Europe).
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“Subsea” means Subsea 7 Inc.
“Subsea Shares” means fully paid common shares in the capital of Subsea currently with a
par value of U.S.$0.01 each.
“Subsidiary” of any person means (i) a company more than 50 per cent. of the Voting Rights
of which is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such person or by one or more other
Subsidiaries of such person or by such person and one or more Subsidiaries thereof or (ii) any
other person (other than a company) in which such person, or one or more other Subsidiaries
of such person or such person and one or more other Subsidiaries thereof, directly or
indirectly, has at least a majority ownership and power to direct the policies, management and
affairs thereof.
“Tax Redemption Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(c).
“Tax Redemption Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(c).
“Transaction Documents” means the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Calculation
Agency Agreement, the EB Securities Lending Agreement, the CB Securities Lending
Agreement, the Pledge Agreements, the U.S. Security Agreement and the Control Agreement.
“U.S. Securities Account” has the meaning provided in Condition 2.
“U.S. Treasury Securities” has the meaning provided in Condition 2.
“U.S. Security Agreement” has the meaning provided in Condition 2.
“Volume Weighted Average Price” means, in respect of a Subsea Share, Security or, as the
case may be, a Spin-Off Security on any dealing day, the volume-weighted average price of a
Subsea Share, Security or, as the case may be, a Spin-Off Security published by or derived (in
the case of a Subsea Share) from the Relevant Stock Exchange or (in the case of a Security or
Spin-Off Security) from the principal stock exchange or securities market on which such
Securities or Spin-Off Securities are then listed or quoted or dealt in, if any or, in any such
case, such other source as shall be determined to be appropriate by an Independent Financial
Adviser on such dealing day, provided that if on any such dealing day where such price is not
available or cannot otherwise be determined as provided above, the Volume Weighted Average
Price of a Subsea Share, Security or a Spin-Off Security, as the case may be, in respect of
such dealing day shall be the Volume Weighted Average Price, determined as provided above,
on the immediately preceding dealing day on which the same can be so determined.
“Voting Rights” means the right generally to vote at a general meeting of shareholders of the
relevant entity (irrespective of whether or not, at the time, stock of any other class or classes
shall have, or might have, voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency).
“VPS” has the meaning provided in Condition 1(a).
“VPS Account” means an investor account in VPS.
References to any provision of any statute shall be deemed also to refer to any statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof or any statutory instrument, order or regulation made
thereunder or under such modification or re-enactment.
References to any issue or offer or grant to Shareholders or Existing Shareholders “as a class”
or “by way of rights” shall be taken to be references to an issue or offer or grant to all or
substantially all Shareholders or Existing Shareholders, as the case may be, other than
Shareholders or Existing Shareholders, as the case may be, to whom, by reason of the laws of
any territory or requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any other stock exchange
or securities market in any territory or in connection with fractional entitlements, it is
determined not to make such issue or offer or grant.
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In making any calculation or determination of Current Market Price or Volume Weighted
Average Price, such adjustments (if any) shall be made as an Independent Financial Adviser
considers appropriate to reflect any consolidation or sub-division of the Subsea Shares or any
issue of Subsea Shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, or any like or similar
event.
For the purposes of Conditions 6(b), (c), (h) and (i) and Condition 11 only, Ordinary Shares
held by or on behalf of Subsea or any of its Subsidiaries (and which, in the case of Conditions
6(b)(iv) and (vi), do not rank for the relevant right or other entitlement) shall not be
considered as or treated as “in issue”.
4

Registration and Transfer of Bonds
(a)

Registration
The Issuer will cause the Bonds to be registered in the VPS in a register (the
“Register”) to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with relevant legislation
governing the VPS. The names and addresses of the holders of the Bonds, the
particulars of the Bonds held by them, all transfers, redemptions and exchanges of
Bonds and such other information as is required to be registered in the VPS will be
entered on the Register.

(b)

Transfer
Bonds may, subject to the terms of the Agency Agreement and to Conditions 4(c) and
4(d), be transferred in whole or in part in an authorised denomination by way of a
transfer between individual VPS Accounts in accordance with the procedures from time
to time of the VPS therefor.
No transfer of a Bond will be valid unless and until entered on the Register. A Bond may
be registered only in the name of, and transferred only to, a person holding a VPS
Account.

(c)

Formalities Free of Charge
Such transfer will be effected without charge subject to (i) the person making such
application for transfer paying or procuring the payment of any taxes, duties and other
governmental charges in connection therewith and (ii) the Registrar being satisfied with
the documents of title and/or identity of the person making the application.

(d)

Closed Periods
Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar will be required to register the transfer of any Bond
(or part thereof) (i) during the period of 15 days ending on and including the day
immediately prior to the Final Maturity Date or any earlier date fixed for redemption of
the Bonds pursuant to Condition 7(b) or 7(c); (ii) in respect of which an Exchange
Notice has been delivered in accordance with Condition 6(h); or (iii) in respect of which
a holder has exercised its right to require redemption pursuant to Condition 7(e).

5

Interest
The Bonds will not bear interest, save as provided in Condition 7(g).

6

Exchange of Bonds
(a)

Exchange Period and Exchange Price
Subject as provided below and to the right of the Issuer to make a Cash Alternative
Election under Condition 6(i), each Bond shall entitle the holder (an “Exchange Right”)
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to exchange (“Exchange”) such Bond for Subsea Shares, credited as fully paid, subject
to and as provided in these Conditions.
Subject as provided in Condition 6(i), the number of Subsea Shares to be delivered on
exercise of an Exchange Right shall be determined by dividing the principal amount of
the relevant Bond by the exchange price (the “Exchange Price”) in effect on the
relevant Exchange Date.
The initial Exchange Price is U.S.$28.1772 per Subsea Share. On the basis of the initial
Exchange Price, each U.S.$100,000 principal amount of Bonds would entitle the holder
to receive (subject as provided in these Conditions) 3,548.969 Subsea Shares. The
Exchange Price is subject to adjustment in the circumstances described in Condition
6(b).
Subject to, and as provided in these Conditions, the Exchange Right in respect of a Bond
may be exercised, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time (subject to any
applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations and as hereinafter provided) from 22
August 2007, provided that the Exchange Date in respect of such exercise shall be on or
prior to the 7th Oslo business day prior to the Final Maturity Date (both days inclusive)
or, if the Bonds shall have been called for redemption pursuant to Condition 7(b) or 7(c)
prior to the Final Maturity Date, then provided that the Exchange Date in respect of such
exercise shall be on or prior to the 7th Oslo business day prior to the date fixed for
redemption thereof pursuant to Condition 7(b) or 7(c).
Exchange Rights may not be exercised (i) following the giving of notice by the Trustee
pursuant to Condition 10 or (ii) in respect of a Bond in respect of which the relevant
holder has exercised its right to require the Issuer to redeem pursuant to Condition 7(e)
or Condition 7(f).
The period during which Exchange Rights may (subject as provided below) be exercised
by a Bondholder is referred to as the “Exchange Period”.
Exchange Rights may only be exercised in respect of an authorised denomination
Fractions of Subsea Shares will not be delivered on exercise of Exchange Rights or
pursuant to Condition 6(c) and no cash payment will be made in lieu thereof. If the
Exchange Right in respect of more than one Bond is exercised at any one time such that
Subsea Shares to be delivered on exchange or pursuant to Condition 6(c) are to be
registered in the same name, the number of such Subsea Shares to be delivered in
respect thereof shall be calculated on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of
such Bonds being so converted and rounded down to the nearest whole number of
Subsea Shares.
The Issuer will procure that Subsea Shares to be delivered or transferred on exchange
will be delivered or transferred to the holder of the Bonds completing the relevant
Exchange Notice or his nominee. Such Subsea Shares will be delivered on or prior to the
Delivery Date. Any Additional Subsea Shares to be delivered pursuant to Condition 6(c)
will be deemed to be delivered as of the date the relevant Retroactive Adjustment takes
effect or as at the date of issue of Subsea Shares if the adjustment results from the
issue of Subsea Shares (each such date, the “Reference Date”).
(b)

Adjustment of Exchange Price
Upon the happening of any of the events described below, the Exchange Price shall be
adjusted as follows:
(i)

If and whenever there shall be a consolidation, reclassification or subdivision, the
Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force
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immediately prior to such consolidation, reclassification or subdivision by the
following fraction:

A
B
where:
A

is the aggregate number of Subsea Shares in issue immediately before
such consolidation, reclassification or subdivision, as the case may be; and

B

is the aggregate number of Subsea Shares in issue immediately after, and
as a result of, such consolidation, reclassification or subdivision, as the
case may be.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date the
reclassification or subdivision, as the case may be, takes effect.
(ii)

consolidation,

If and whenever Subsea shall issue any Subsea Shares credited as fully paid to
the Shareholders by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves (including any
share premium account or capital redemption reserve) other than (1) where any
such Subsea Shares issued instead of the whole or part of a Dividend in cash
which the Shareholders would or could otherwise have received or (2) where the
Shareholders may elect to receive a Dividend in cash in lieu of such Subsea
Shares, the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in
force immediately prior to such issue by the following fraction:

A
B
where:
A

is the aggregate nominal amount
immediately before such issue; and

of

the

issued

Subsea

Shares

B

is the aggregate nominal amount
immediately after such issue.

of

the

issued

Subsea

Shares

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Subsea
Shares.
(iii)

If and whenever Subsea shall pay or make any Dividend to Shareholders, the
Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force
immediately prior to the relevant Dividend by the following fraction:

A-B
A
where:
A
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is the Current Market Price of one Subsea Share on the dealing day
immediately preceding the date of the first public announcement of the
relevant Dividend or, in the case of a purchase of Subsea Shares or any
receipts or certificates representing shares by or on behalf of Subsea or
any Subsidiary of Subsea, on which such Subsea Shares are purchased or,
in the case of a Spin-Off, is the mean of the Volume Weighted Average
Prices of a Subsea Share for the five consecutive dealing days ending on
the dealing day immediately preceding the first date on which the Subsea
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Shares are traded ex- the relevant Spin-Off; and
B

is the portion of the Fair Market Value, with such portion being determined
by dividing the Fair Market Value of the aggregate Dividend by the
number of Subsea Shares entitled to receive the relevant Dividend (or, in
the case of a purchase of Subsea Shares or any receipts or certificates
representing shares by or on behalf of Subsea or any Subsidiary of
Subsea, by the number of Subsea Shares in issue immediately prior to
such purchase), of the Dividend attributable to one Ordinary Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date on which the relevant
Dividend is paid or made or, in the case of a purchase of Subsea Shares or any
receipts or certificates representing Subsea Shares, on the date such purchase is
made or, in any such case if later, the first date upon which the Fair Market Value
of the relevant Dividend is capable of being determined as provided herein.
For the purposes of the above, the Fair Market Value of a Cash Dividend shall
(subject as provided in paragraph (a) of the definition of “Dividend” and in the
definition of “Fair Market Value”) be determined as at the date of the first public
announcement of the relevant Dividend, and in the case of a Non-Cash Dividend,
the Fair Market Value of the relevant Dividend shall be the Fair Market Value of
the relevant Spin-Off Securities or, as the case may be, the relevant property or
assets.
“Non-Cash Dividend” means any Dividend which is not a Cash Dividend, and
shall include a Spin-Off.
“Cash Dividend” means (i) any Dividend which is to be paid or made in cash (in
whatever currency), but other than falling within paragraph (b) of the definition of
“Spin-Off” and (ii) any Dividend determined to be a Cash Dividend pursuant to
paragraph (a) of the definition of “Dividend”, and for the avoidance of doubt, a
Dividend falling within paragraph (c) or (d) of the definition of “Dividend” shall be
treated as being a Non-Cash Dividend.
(iv)

If and whenever Subsea shall issue Subsea Shares to Shareholders as a class by
way of rights, or issue or grant to Shareholders as a class by way of rights,
options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase any Subsea Shares,
in each case at a price per Ordinary Share which is less than 90 per cent. of the
Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately
preceding the date of the first public announcement of the terms of the issue or
grant of such Subsea Shares, options, warrants or other rights, the Exchange
Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force immediately
prior to such issue or grant by the following fraction:

A+B
A+C
where:
A

is the number of Subsea Shares in issue immediately before such
announcement;

B

is the number of Subsea Shares which the aggregate amount (if any)
payable for the Subsea Shares issued by way of rights, or for the options
or warrants or other rights issued by way of rights and for the total
number of Subsea Shares deliverable on the exercise thereof, would
purchase at such Current Market Price per Subsea Share; and
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C

is the number of Subsea Shares issued or, as the case may be, the
maximum number of Subsea Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of such options, warrants or rights calculated as at the date of issue of
such options, warrants or rights.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the first date on which the Subsea
Shares are traded ex-rights, ex-options or ex-warrants on the Relevant Stock
Exchange.
(v)

If and whenever Subsea shall issue any Securities (other than a Subsea Shares or
options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase any Subsea Shares)
to Shareholders as a class by way of rights or grant to Shareholders as a class by
way of rights any options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase
any Securities (other than Subsea Shares or options, warrants or other rights to
subscribe for or purchase Subsea Shares), the Exchange Price shall be adjusted
by multiplying the Exchange Price in force immediately prior to such issue or grant
by the following fraction:

A-B
A
where:
A

is the Current Market Price of one Subsea Share on the dealing day
immediately preceding the first date on which the terms of such issue or
grant are publicly announced; and

B

is the Fair Market Value on the date of such announcement of the portion
of the rights attributable to one Subsea Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the first date on which the Subsea
Shares are traded ex-rights, ex-options or ex-warrants on the Relevant Stock
Exchange.
(vi)

If and whenever Subsea shall issue (otherwise than as mentioned in subparagraph (b)(iv) above) wholly for cash or for no consideration any Subsea
Shares (other than Subsea Shares delivered on exchange of the Bonds or on the
exercise of any rights of conversion into, or exchange or subscription for or
purchase of, Subsea Shares) or issue or grant (otherwise than as mentioned in
sub-paragraph (b)(iv) above) wholly for cash or for no consideration any options,
warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase any Subsea Shares (other
than the Bonds, which term shall for this purpose include any further bonds issued
pursuant to Condition 17 and forming a single series with the Bonds), in each
case at a price per Subsea Share which is less than 90 per cent. of the Current
Market Price per Subsea Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the date
of the first public announcement of the terms of such issue or grant, the Exchange
Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force immediately
prior to such issue or grant by the following fraction:

A+B
A+C
where:
A

is the number of Subsea Shares in issue immediately before the issue of
such Subsea Shares or the grant of such options, warrants or rights;

B

is the number of Subsea Shares which the aggregate consideration (if
any) receivable for the issue of such Subsea Shares or, as the case may
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be, for the Subsea Shares to be issued or otherwise made available upon
the exercise of any such options, warrants or rights, would purchase at
such Current Market Price per Ordinary Share; and
C

is the number of Subsea Shares to be issued pursuant to such issue of
such Subsea Shares or, as the case may be, the maximum number of
Subsea Shares which may be issued upon exercise of such options,
warrants or rights calculated as at the date of issue of such options,
warrants or rights.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Subsea
Shares or, as the case may be, the grant of such options, warrants or rights.
(vii)

If and whenever the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or (at the direction or
request of or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any Subsidiary of
the Issuer) any other company, person or entity (otherwise than as mentioned in
sub-paragraphs (b)(iv), (b)(v) or (b)(vi) above) shall issue wholly for cash or for
no consideration any Securities (other than the Bonds, which term shall for this
purpose exclude any further bonds issued pursuant to Condition 17 and forming a
single series with the Bonds), which by their terms of issue carry (directly or
indirectly) rights of conversion into, or exchange or subscription for, Subsea
Shares (or shall grant any such rights in respect of existing Securities so issued)
or Securities which by their terms might be redesignated as Subsea Shares, and
the consideration per Ordinary Share receivable upon conversion, exchange,
subscription or redesignation is less than 90 per cent. of the Current Market Price
per Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of the first
public announcement of the terms of issue of such Securities (or the terms of
such grant), the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange
Price in force immediately prior to such issue (or grant) by the following fraction:

A+B
A+C
where:
A

is the number of Subsea Shares in issue immediately before such issue or
grant (but where the relevant Securities carry rights of conversion into or
rights of exchange or subscription for Subsea Shares which have been
issued by the Issuer for the purposes of or in connection with such issue,
less the number of such Subsea Shares so issued);

B

is the number of Subsea Shares which the aggregate consideration (if
any) receivable for the Subsea Shares to be issued or otherwise made
available upon conversion or exchange or upon exercise of the right of
subscription attached to such Securities or, as the case may be, for the
Subsea Shares to be issued or to arise from any such redesignation would
purchase at such Current Market Price per Subsea Share; and

C

is the maximum number of Subsea Shares to be issued or otherwise made
available upon conversion or exchange of such Securities or upon the
exercise of such right of subscription attached thereto at the initial
conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate or, as the case may be,
the maximum number of Subsea Shares which may be issued or arise
from any such redesignation.

Provided that if at the time of issue of the relevant Securities or date of grant of
such rights (as used in this sub-paragraph (b)(vii) the “Specified Date”) such
number of Subsea Shares is to be determined by reference to the application of a
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formula or other variable feature or the occurrence of any event at some
subsequent time (which may be when such Securities are converted or exchanged
or rights of subscription are exercised or, as the case may be, such Securities are
redesignated or at such other time as may be provided) then for the purposes of
this sub-paragraph (b)(vii), “C” shall be determined by the application of such
formula or variable feature or as if the relevant event occurs or had occurred as at
the Specified Date and as if such conversion, exchange, subscription, purchase or
acquisition or, as the case may be, redesignation had taken place on the Specified
Date.
Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Securities or,
as the case may be, the grant of such rights.
(viii) If and whenever there shall be any modification of the rights of conversion,
exchange or subscription attaching to any such Securities (other than the Bonds,
which term shall for this purpose include any further bonds issued pursuant to
Condition 17 and forming a single series with the Bonds) as are mentioned in subparagraph (b)(vii) above (other than in accordance with the terms (including
terms as to adjustment) applicable to such Securities upon issue) so that
following such modification the consideration per Subsea Share receivable has
been reduced and is less than 90 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Subsea
Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of the first public
announcement of the proposals for such modification, the Exchange Price shall be
adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force immediately prior to such
modification by the following fraction:

A+B
A+C
where:
A

is the number of Subsea Shares in issue immediately before such
modification (but where the relevant Securities carry rights of conversion
into or rights of exchange or subscription for Subsea Shares which have
been issued, purchased or acquired by Subsea or any Subsidiary of
Subsea (or at the direction or request or pursuant to any arrangements
with Subsea or any Subsidiary of Subsea) for the purposes of or in
connection with such issue, less the number of such Subsea Shares so
issued, purchased or acquired);

B

is the number of Subsea Shares which the aggregate consideration (if
any) receivable for the Subsea Shares to be issued or otherwise made
available upon conversion or exchange or upon exercise of the right of
subscription attached to the Securities so modified would purchase at such
Current Market Price per Subsea Share or, if lower, the existing
conversion, exchange or subscription price of such Securities; and

C

is the maximum number of Subsea Shares which may be issued or
otherwise made available upon conversion or exchange of such Securities
or upon the exercise of such rights of subscription attached thereto at the
modified conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate but giving
credit in such manner as an Independent Financial Adviser shall consider
appropriate for any previous adjustment under this sub-paragraph (b)(viii)
or sub-paragraph (b)(vii) above.

Provided that if at the time of such modification (as used in this sub-paragraph
(b)(viii) the “Specified Date”) such number of Subsea Shares is to be
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determined by reference to the application of a formula or other variable feature
or the occurrence of any event at some subsequent time (which may be when
such Securities are converted or exchanged or rights of subscription are exercised
or at such other time as may be provided) then for the purposes of this subparagraph (b)(viii), “C” shall be determined by the application of such formula or
variable feature or as if the relevant event occurs or had occurred as at the
Specified Date and as if such conversion, exchange or subscription had taken
place on the Specified Date.
Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of modification of the rights
of conversion, exchange or subscription attaching to such Securities.
(ix)

If and whenever Subsea or any Subsidiary of Subsea or (at the direction or
request of or pursuant to any arrangements with Subsea or any Subsidiary of
Subsea) any other company, person or entity shall offer any Securities in
connection with which offer Shareholders as a class are entitled to participate in
arrangements whereby such Securities may be acquired by them (except where
the Exchange Price falls to be adjusted under sub-paragraphs (b)(ii), (iii), (iv),
(vi) or (vii) above or (x) below (or would fall to be so adjusted if the relevant
issue or grant was at less than 90 per cent. of the Current Market Price per
Subsea Share on the relevant dealing day) or under sub-paragraph (b)(v) above)
the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force
immediately before the making of such offer by the following fraction:

A-B
A
where:
A

is the Current Market Price of one Subsea Share on the dealing day
immediately preceding the date on which the terms of such offer are first
publicly announced; and

B

is the Fair Market Value on the date of such announcement of the portion
of the relevant offer attributable to one Subsea Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the first date on which the Subsea
Shares are traded ex-rights on the Relevant Stock Exchange.
(x)

If a Change of Control shall occur prior to 26 July 2012, then upon any exercise of
Exchange Rights where the Exchange Date falls during the Change of Control
Period, the Exchange Price (the “Change of Control Exchange Price”) shall be
determined as set out below, but in each case adjusted, if appropriate, under this
Condition 6(b).
COCEP = OEP/(1+ (EP x C/T))
where:
COCEP

=

means the Change of Control Exchange Price

OEP

=

means the Exchange Price in effect immediately prior to the
Change of Control

EP

=

means 35 per cent. (expressed as fraction)

C

=

means the number of days from and including the date the
Change of Control occurs to but excluding 26 July 2012

T

=

means the number of days from and including the Closing Date to
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but excluding 26 July 2012
(xi)

If the Issuer determines that an adjustment should be made to the Exchange
Price as a result of one or more circumstances not referred to above in this
Condition 6(b) (even if the relevant circumstance is specifically excluded from the
operation of sub-paragraphs (b)(i) to (x) above), the Issuer shall, at its own
expense and acting reasonably, request an Independent Financial Adviser to
determine as soon as practicable what adjustment (if any) to the Exchange Price
is fair and reasonable to take account thereof and the date on which such
adjustment should take effect and upon such determination such adjustment (if
any) shall be made and shall take effect in accordance with such determination,
provided that an adjustment shall only be made pursuant to this sub-paragraph
(b)(xi) if such Independent Financial Adviser is so requested to make such a
determination not more than 21 days after the date on which the relevant
circumstance arises and if the adjustment would result in a reduction to the
Exchange Price.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, where the events or circumstances giving rise
to any adjustment pursuant to this Condition 6(b) have already resulted or will result in
an adjustment to the Exchange Price or where the events or circumstances giving rise to
any adjustment arise by virtue of any other events or circumstances which have already
given or will give rise to an adjustment to the Exchange Price or where more than one
event which gives rise to an adjustment to the Exchange Price occurs within such a
short period of time that, in the opinion of the Issuer, a modification to the operation of
the adjustment provisions is required to give the intended result, such modification shall
be made to the operation of the adjustment provisions as may be advised by an
Independent Financial Adviser to be in its opinion appropriate to give the intended result
and provided further that, for the avoidance of doubt, the issue of Subsea Shares
pursuant to the exercise of Warrants or Exchange Rights shall not result in an
adjustment to the Exchange Price.
For the purpose of any calculation of the consideration receivable or price pursuant to
sub-paragraphs (b)(iv), (vi), (vii) and (viii), the following provisions shall apply:
(a)

the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Subsea Shares issued for cash
shall be the amount of such cash;

(b)

(x) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Subsea Shares to be issued
or otherwise made available upon the conversion or exchange of any Securities
shall be deemed to be the consideration or price received or receivable for any
such Securities and (y) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Subsea
Shares to be issued or otherwise made available upon the exercise of rights of
subscription attached to any Securities or upon the exercise of any options,
warrants or rights shall be deemed to be that part (which may be the whole) of
the consideration or price received or receivable for such Securities or, as the case
may be, for such options, warrants or rights which are attributed by the Issuer to
such rights of subscription or, as the case may be, such options, warrants or
rights or, if no part of such consideration or price is so attributed, the Fair Market
Value of such rights of subscription or, as the case may be, such options,
warrants or rights as at the date of the first public announcement of the terms of
issue of such Securities or, as the case may be, such options, warrants or rights,
plus in the case of each of (x) and (y) above, the additional minimum
consideration receivable or price (if any) upon the conversion or exchange of such
Securities, or upon the exercise of such rights or subscription attached thereto or,
as the case may be, upon exercise of such options, warrants or rights and (z) the
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consideration receivable or price per Subsea Share upon the conversion or
exchange of, or upon the exercise of such rights of subscription attached to, such
Securities or, as the case may be, upon the exercise of such options, warrants or
rights shall be the aggregate consideration or price referred to in (x) or (y) above
(as the case may be) divided by the number of Subsea Shares to be issued upon
such conversion or exchange or exercise at the initial conversion, exchange or
subscription price or rate;

(c)

(c)

if the consideration or price determined pursuant to (a) or (b) above (or any
component thereof) shall be expressed in a currency other than Norwegian Kroner
it shall be converted into Norwegian Kroner at such rate of exchange as may be
determined in good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser to be the spot rate
ruling at the close of business on the date of the first public announcement of the
terms of issue of such Securities (or if no such rate is available on that date, the
equivalent rate on the immediately preceding date on which such rate is
available); and

(d)

in determining consideration or price pursuant to the above, no deduction shall be
made for any commissions or fees (howsoever described) or any expenses paid or
incurred for any underwriting, placing or management of the issue of the relevant
Subsea Shares or Securities or otherwise in connection therewith.

Retroactive Adjustments
(i)

Subject as provided in sub-paragraph (ii) below, if the Delivery Date or, as the
case may be, Instalment Delivery Date in relation to any Subsea Shares to be
delivered on exchange of any Bond or otherwise pursuant to these Conditions
shall be after any consolidation, reclassification or sub-division as is mentioned in
Condition 6(b)(i), or after the record date or other due date for the establishment
of entitlement for any such issue, distribution, grant or offer (as the case may be)
as is mentioned in Condition 6(b)(ii), (iii) comprising a cash Dividend, (iv), (v) or
(ix), or after any such issue or grant as is mentioned in Conditions 6(b)(vi) and
(vii), in any case in circumstances where the relevant Exchange Date falls before
the relevant adjustment becomes effective under Condition 6(b) (such
adjustment, a “Retroactive Adjustment”), then the Issuer shall (conditional
upon the relevant adjustment becoming effective) procure that there shall be
delivered to the exchanging Bondholder, in accordance with the instructions
contained in the Exchange Notice, such additional number of Subsea Shares (if
any) (the “Additional Subsea Shares”) as, together with the Subsea Shares
delivered on exchange of the relevant Bond (together with any fraction of a
Subsea Share not so delivered), is equal to the number of Subsea Shares which
would have been required to be delivered on exchange of such Bond if the
relevant adjustment (more particularly referred to in the said provisions of
Condition 6(b)) to the Exchange Price had in fact been made and become effective
immediately prior to the relevant Exchange Date.

(ii)

If a Cash Alternative Election shall have been made in respect of the relevant
exercise of Exchange Rights, then the exchanging Bondholder shall not be entitled
to receive such Additional Subsea Shares but shall instead be paid an additional
amount (the “Additional Cash Amount”) equal to the Cash Alternative Market
Price on the date the relevant Retroactive Adjustment takes effect (or, if that is
not a dealing day, on the next following dealing day)(the “Reference Date”) of
the Additional Subsea Shares (including, for this purpose, any fraction of a Subsea
Share).

“Cash Alternative Market Price” means the Volume Weighted Average Price of a
Subsea Share on the Reference Date, provided that if any Dividend or other entitlement
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in respect of the Subsea Shares is announced on or prior to the relevant Exchange Date
in circumstances where the record date or other due date for the establishment of
entitlement in respect of such Dividend or other entitlement shall be on or after the
relevant Exchange Date and if on the Reference Date the Volume Weighted Average
Price of a Subsea Shares is based on a price ex-Dividend or ex-any other entitlement,
then such price shall be increased by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of such
Dividend or entitlement per Subsea Share as at the date of first public announcement of
such Dividend or entitlement.
(d)

Decision of an Independent Financial Adviser
If any doubt shall arise as to the appropriate adjustment to the Exchange Price, and
following consultation between the Issuer and an Independent Financial Adviser, a
written opinion of such Independent Financial Adviser in respect of such adjustment to
the Exchange Price shall be conclusive and binding on all concerned, save in the case of
manifest error.

(e)

Employees’ Share Schemes
No adjustment will be made to the Exchange Price where Subsea Shares or other
Securities (including rights, warrants and options) are issued, offered, exercised,
allotted, appropriated, modified or granted to, or for the benefit of, employees or former
employees (including Directors holding or formerly holding executive office or the
personal service company of any such person) or their spouses or relatives, in each
case, of Subsea or any of its Subsidiaries or any associated company or to trustees to
be held for the benefit of any such person, in any such case pursuant to any employees’
share or option scheme.

(f)

Rounding Down and Notice of Adjustment to the Exchange Price
On any adjustment, the resultant Exchange Price, if not an integral multiple of
U.S.$0.01, shall be rounded down to the nearest whole multiple of U.S.$0.01. No
adjustment shall be made to the Exchange Price where such adjustment (rounded down
if applicable) would be less than one per cent. of the Exchange Price then in effect. Any
adjustment not required to be made, and/or any amount by which the Exchange Price
has been rounded down, shall be carried forward and taken into account in any
subsequent adjustment, and such subsequent adjustment shall be made on the basis
that the adjustment not required to be made had been made at the relevant time.
Notice of any adjustments to the Exchange Price shall be given by the Issuer to
Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 and the Trustee promptly after the
determination thereof.
The Exchange Price shall not in any event be reduced to below the nominal value of the
Subsea Shares and the Issuer undertakes that it shall not take any action, and shall
procure that no action is taken, that would otherwise result in an adjustment to the
Exchange Price to below such nominal value.

(g)

Change of Control
Within 14 calendar days following the occurrence of a Change of Control, the Issuer
shall give notice thereof to the Trustee and to the Bondholders in accordance with
Condition 16 (a “Change of Control Notice”). Such notice shall contain a statement
informing Bondholders of their entitlement to exercise their Exchange Rights as provided
in these Conditions, or to exercise their rights to require redemption of their Bonds
pursuant to Condition 7(e).
The Change of Control Notice shall also specify:
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(i)

all information material to Bondholders concerning the Change of Control;

(ii)

the Exchange Price immediately prior to the occurrence of the Change of Control
and the Change of Control Exchange Price applicable pursuant to Condition
6(b)(x) during the Change of Control Period;

(iii)

the closing price of the Subsea Shares as derived from the Relevant Stock
Exchange as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication of such notice;

(iv)

the last day of the Change of Control Period;

(v)

the Change of Control Put Date (as defined in Condition 7(e)); and

(vi)

such other information relating to the Change of Control as the Trustee may
require.

The Trustee shall not be required to take any steps to ascertain whether a Change of
Control or any event which could lead to a Change of Control has occurred or may
occur.
(h)

Procedure for exercise of Exchange Rights
The Exchange Right may be exercised by a Bondholder during the Exchange Period by
delivering the relevant Bond together with a duly completed and signed notice of
exchange (a “Exchange Notice”) in the form (for the time being current) obtainable
from the Paying and Exchange Agent through VPS in accordance with its rules and
regulations during its usual business hours. Exchange Rights shall be exercised subject
in each case to any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations applicable in the
jurisdiction in which the specified office of the Paying and Exchange Agent is located. If
such delivery is made after the end of normal business hours or on a day which is not a
business day in the place of the specified office of the relevant Paying and Exchange
Agent, such delivery shall be deemed for all purposes of these Conditions to have been
made on the next following such business day.
A Exchange Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable.
The exchange date in respect of a Bond (the “Exchange Date”) shall be the Oslo
business day immediately following the date of the delivery of the relevant Bonds and
the Exchange Notice and, if applicable, the making of any payment to be made as
provided below.
A Bondholder exercising a Exchange Right must pay directly to the relevant authorities
any taxes and capital, stamp, issue and registration duties arising on exchange (other
than any taxes or capital duties or stamp duties payable in Norway, the Cayman
Islands, the United Kingdom, Luxembourg or Belgium in respect of the transfer and
delivery of any Subsea Shares on such exchange (including any Additional Subsea
Shares), which shall be paid by the Issuer) and such Bondholder must pay all, if any,
taxes arising by reference to any disposal or deemed disposal of a Bond or interest
therein in connection with such exchange. For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall
not be responsible for determining whether such taxes or capital, stamp, issue or
registration duties are payable or the amount of such taxes or capital, stamp, issue or
registration duties and it shall not be responsible or liable for any failure by the Issuer to
pay such taxes or capital, stamp, issue or registration duties.
Any Subsea Shares to be delivered on exercise of Exchange Rights will be delivered in
electronic form through the facilities of the VPS to such VPS Account as specified by the
Bondholder in the relevant Exchange Notice.
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The Issuer will take all necessary steps to procure that any Subsea Shares to be
delivered on exercise of Exchange Rights are delivered by no later than the Delivery
Date.
(i)

Cash Alternative Election
Upon exercise of an Exchange Right, the Issuer may make a cash election (a “Cash
Alternative Election”) by giving notice (a “Cash Alternative Election Notice”) by
not later than the date falling two dealing days following the relevant Exchange Date to
the person specified for that purpose in the relevant Exchange Notice. The Cash
Alternative Election Notice shall specify whether the Cash Alternative Election is being
made in respect of all the Subsea Shares that would otherwise be required to be
delivered upon exercise of such Exchange Right or in respect of a lesser, specified
number of Subsea Shares, and in the absence thereof the Cash Alternative Election shall
be deemed to have been made in respect of all the Subsea Shares that otherwise would
have been deliverable upon exercise of such Exchange Right.
If a Cash Alternative Election Notice shall specify that the Cash Alternative Election is
being made in respect of less than all the Subsea Shares that would otherwise be
required to be delivered upon exercise of the relevant Exchange Right (the “Original
Number of Subsea Shares”), references to the number of Subsea Shares to be
delivered on such exercise (or the like) shall be construed as a reference to the Original
Number of Subsea Shares less the number of Subsea Shares specified in the relevant
Cash Alternative Election Notice.

(j)

Payment of Cash Alternative Amount and Additional Cash Amount
The Issuer shall pay any Cash Alternative Amount through VPS in accordance with its
rules and regulations by not later than 3 Oslo business days following the end of the
Cash Alternative Calculation Period.
The Issuer shall pay any Additional Cash Amount through VPS in accordance with its
rules and regulations by not later than three Oslo business days following the relevant
Reference Date.

(k)

Subsea Shares
Subsea Shares delivered upon exercise of Exchange Rights or otherwise pursuant to
these Conditions will be fully paid and will in all respects rank pari passu with the fully
paid Subsea Shares in issue on the relevant Delivery Date, or, as the case may be, the
relevant Instalment Date or Reference Date. The relevant Bondholder shall be entitled to
receive as against the Issuer all Dividends and other entitlements in respect of such
Subsea Shares where the relevant record date or other due date for establishment of
entitlement falls on or after the relevant Delivery Date or, as the case may be,
Instalment Date or Reference Date, but shall not be entitled to receive any Dividend or
other entitlement in respect of such Subsea Shares where the relevant record date or
other due date for establishment of entitlement falls prior to the relevant Delivery Date
or, as the case may be, Instalment Date or Reference Date

(l)

No duty to Monitor
The Trustee shall not be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance
has happened or exists which may require an adjustment to be made to the Exchange
Price and will not be responsible to the Bondholders for any loss arising from any failure
by it to do so.
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(m)

Consolidation, Amalgamation or Merger
Without prejudice to Condition 6(b)(x), in the case of any consolidation, amalgamation
or merger of Subsea with any other corporation (other than a consolidation,
amalgamation or merger in which the Issuer is the continuing corporation), or in the
case of any sale or transfer of all, or substantially all, of the assets of Subsea, the Issuer
will forthwith notify the Trustee and the Bondholders of such event and take such steps
as shall be required by the Trustee (including the execution of a deed supplemental to
or amending the Trust Deed) to ensure that each Bond then outstanding will (during the
period in which Exchange Rights may be exercised) be exchanged for the class and
amount of shares and other securities and property receivable upon such consolidation,
amalgamation, merger, sale or transfer by a holder of the number of Subsea Shares
which would have become liable to be delivered upon exercise of Exchange Rights
immediately prior to such consolidation, amalgamation, merger, sale or transfer. Such
supplemental deed supplement or amendment will provide for adjustments which will be
as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustments provided for in this
Condition 6. The above provisions of this Condition 6(m) will apply, mutatis mutandis to
any subsequent consolidations, amalgamations, mergers, sales or transfers.

7

Redemption, Purchase and Cancellation
(a)

Final Redemption
Unless previously purchased and cancelled, redeemed or converted as herein provided,
the Bonds will be redeemed at their Accreted Principal Amount as at the Final Maturity
Date by payment of the Instalment Amount on each Instalment Date. The Bonds may
be redeemed at the option of the Issuer prior to the Final Maturity Date only in
accordance with Condition 7(b) or 7(c).
The Issuer may elect to satisfy its obligation to redeem the Bonds under this Condition
7(a) by exercising its Share Settlement Option with respect to all, but not some only, of
the Bonds as described in Condition 7(h). To exercise its Share Settlement Option, the
Issuer shall give a notice to such effect (the “Share Settlement Option Notice”) to
the Trustee and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 not less than five
Oslo business days prior to the Final Maturity Date.

(b)

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer
On giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice (an “Optional Redemption
Notice”) to the Trustee and to the Bondholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) in
accordance with Condition 16, the Issuer may redeem all, but not some only, of the
Bonds at their Accreted Principal Amount as at the date (the “Optional Redemption
Date”) specified in the Optional Redemption Notice by payment of the Instalment
Amount on each Instalment Date.
An Optional Redemption Notice may be given:
(i)

specifying an Optional Redemption Date falling at any time on or after 26 July
2012; or

(ii)

at any time if, prior to the date on which the relevant Optional Redemption Notice
is given, Exchange Rights shall have been exercised and/or purchases (and
corresponding cancellations) and/or redemptions effected in respect of 90 per
cent. or more in principal amount of the Bonds originally issued.

For the purposes of Condition 7(b)(ii), the principal amount of the Bonds originally
issued shall be the aggregate of the principal amount of the Bonds, including any further
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bonds issued pursuant to Condition 17 and consolidated and forming a single series with
the Bonds.
The Issuer may elect to satisfy its obligation to redeem the Bonds under Condition 7(b)
by exercising its Share Settlement Option with respect to all, but not some only, of the
Bonds as described in Condition 7(h). To exercise its Share Settlement Option, the
Issuer shall give a Share Settlement Option Notice to the Trustee and to the
Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 not less than five Oslo business days prior
to the Optional Redemption Date.
(c)

Redemption for Taxation Reasons
At any time the Issuer may, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’
notice (a “Tax Redemption Notice”) to the Bondholders (which notice shall be
irrevocable), redeem (subject to the second following paragraph) all, and not some only,
of the Bonds at their Accreted Principal Amount as at the date (the “Tax Redemption
Date”) specified in the Tax Redemption Notice by payment of the Instalment Amount on
each Instalment Date if (i) the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the
giving of such notice that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional
amounts in respect of principal pursuant to Condition 9 as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Cayman Islands or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the
general application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or
amendment becomes effective on or after the Closing Date, and (ii) such obligation
cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided
that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the
earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were
a payment in respect of the Bonds then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of
redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (a) a
certificate signed by a Director or duly appointed attorney of the Issuer stating that the
obligation referred to in (i) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer (taking reasonable
measures available to it) and (b) an opinion of independent legal or tax advisers of
recognised international standing to the effect that such change or amendment has
occurred and that the Issuer is or will be obliged to pay such additional amounts as a
result thereof (irrespective of whether such amendment or change is then effective) and
the Trustee shall accept such certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the
matters set out in (i) and (ii) above in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on
the Bondholders.
The Issuer may elect to satisfy its obligation to redeem the Bonds under Condition 7(c)
by exercising its Share Settlement Option with respect to all, but not some only, of the
Bonds as described in Condition 7(h). To exercise its Share Settlement Option, the
Issuer shall give a Share Settlement Option Notice to the Trustee and to the
Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 not less five Oslo business days prior to
the Tax Redemption Date.
If the Issuer gives a Tax Redemption Notice pursuant to this Condition 7(c), each
Bondholder will have the right to elect that his Bond(s) shall not be redeemed
whereupon payment of all amounts shall be made subject to the deduction or
withholding of the taxation required to be withheld or deducted by the Cayman Islands
or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax. To
exercise such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must complete, sign and deposit at
the specified office of any Paying and Exchange Agent a duly completed and signed
notice of election, in the form for the time being current, obtainable from the specified
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office of the Paying and Exchange Agent on or before the day falling 10 days prior to the
Tax Redemption Date.
(d)

Optional and Tax Redemption Notices
Any Optional Redemption or Tax Redemption Notice shall be irrevocable. Any such
notice shall specify (i) the Optional Redemption Date or, as the case may be, the Tax
Redemption Date, (ii) the Accreted Principal Amount as at the Optional Redemption Date
or, as the case may be, the Tax Redemption Date, the amount of each Instalment
Amount and the first Instalment Date, (iii) the Exchange Price, the aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds outstanding and the closing price of the Subsea Shares as derived
from the Relevant Stock Exchange, in each case as at the latest practicable date prior to
the publication of the Optional Redemption Notice or, as the case may be, the Tax
Redemption Notice and (iv) the last day on which Exchange Rights may be exercised by
Bondholders.

(e)

Redemption at the option of Bondholders upon Change of Control
Following the occurrence of a Change of Control, the holder of each Bond will have the
right to require the Issuer to redeem that Bond at its Accreted Principal Amount as at
the Change of Control Put Date by payment of the Instalment Amount on each
Instalment Date. To exercise such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must, at any
time in the Change of Control Period, deliver a duly completed and signed notice of
exercise, in the form for the time being current, obtainable from the specified office of
the Paying and Exchange Agent (a “Change of Control Put Exercise Notice”) at the
specified office of the Paying and Exchange Agent. The “Change of Control Put Date”
shall be the fourteenth calendar day after the expiry of the Change of Control Period.
Payment in respect of any such Bond shall be made by transfer to a bank in New York
specified by the relevant Bondholder in the applicable Change of Control Put Exercise
Notice.
A Change of Control Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the
Issuer shall redeem all Bonds the subject of Change of Control Put Exercise Notices
delivered as aforesaid by payment of the Instalment Amount on each Instalment Date.
The Issuer may elect to satisfy its obligation to redeem all the Bonds the subject of
Change of Control Put Exercise Notices by exercising its Share Settlement Option with
respect to all, but not some only, of the Bonds as described in Condition 7(h). To
exercise its Share Settlement Option, the Issuer shall give a Share Settlement Option
Notice to the Trustee and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 not less
than five Oslo business days prior to the Change of Control Put Date.

(f)

Redemption at the option of the Bondholders on Put Dates
The holder of each Bond shall have the right to require the Issuer to redeem such Bond
at its Accreted Principal Amount as of 12 July 2010, 12 July 2012 or 12 July 2014 (each
a “Put Date”), by payment of the Instalment Amount on each Instalment Date. To
exercise such right, the holder of the Bond must, not less than 30 nor more than 60
days prior to the Put Date, deliver a duly completed and signed notice of exercise, in the
form for the time being current, obtainable from the specified office of the Paying and
Exchange Agent (a “Put Exercise Notice”) at the specified office of the Paying and
Exchange Agent.
Payment in respect of any such Bond shall be made by transfer to a bank in New York
specified by the relevant Bondholder in the applicable Put Exercise Notice.
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A Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and the Issuer shall redeem
all Bonds the subject of Put Exercise Notices delivered as aforesaid by payment of the
Instalment Amount on each Instalment Date.
The Issuer may elect to satisfy its obligation to redeem all Bonds the subject of Put
Exercise Notices by exercising its Share Settlement Option with respect to all, but not
some only, of such Bonds as described in Condition 7(h). To exercise its Share
Settlement Option, the Issuer shall give a Share Settlement Option Notice to the Trustee
and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16 not less than five Oslo business
days prior to the relevant Put Date.
(g)

Accreted Principal Amount
In these Conditions, the “Accreted Principal Amount” in respect of each
U.S.$100,000 principal amount of Bonds shall mean (i) in the case of a redemption of
Bonds on the Final Maturity Date, U.S.$109,941.16 and (ii) in the case of a redemption
of the Bonds pursuant to Condition 7(b), 7(c), 7(e) or 7(f) or if the Bonds become due
and payable pursuant to Condition 10, the amount which is determined to be the
amount which represents for the Bondholder a gross yield to maturity of 0.95 per cent.
per annum (calculated on a semi-annual basis) and shall be calculated in accordance
with the following formula, rounded (if necessary) to two decimal places, with 0.005
being rounded upwards (provided that if the date fixed for redemption is a Semi-Annual
Date (as set out below), such Accreted Principal Amount shall be as set out in the table
below in respect of such Semi-Annual Date):
Accreted Principal Amount = Previous Accreted Principal Amount x (1 + r/2)d/p
where
Previous Accreted Principal Amount = The Accreted Principal Amount for each
U.S.$100,000 principal amount of Bonds on the
Semi-Annual Date immediately preceding the
date fixed for redemption as set out below or the
date on which the Bonds become due and payable
as provided in Condition 10 (as the case may be)
as set out below (or, if the Bonds are to be
redeemed or become due and payable prior to 12
January 2008, U.S.$100,000).

Semi-Annual Date

Accreted Principal
Amount (U.S.$)

12 January 2008

100,475.00

12 July 2008

100,952.26

12 January 2009

101,431.78

12 July 2009

101,913.58

12 January 2010

102,397.67

12 July 2010

102,884.06

12 January 2011

103,372.76

12 July 2011

103,863.78

12 January 2012

104,357.13

12 July 2012

104,852.83

12 January 2013

105,350.88
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Semi-Annual Date

Accreted Principal
Amount (U.S.$)

12 July 2013

105,851.30

12 January 2014

106,354.09

12 July 2014

106,859.27

12 January 2015

107,366.85

12 July 2015

107,876.85

12 January 2016

108,389.26

12 July 2016

108,904.11

12 January 2017

109,421.40

and where:
r

means 0.95 per cent. expressed as a fraction.

d

means the number of days from and including the immediately preceding SemiAnnual Date (or, if the Bonds are to be redeemed or become due and payable on or
before 12 January 2008, from and including the Closing Date) to, but excluding,
the date fixed for redemption, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting
of 12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the number
of days elapsed.

p

means 180

If the Accreted Principal Amount payable in respect of any Bond upon its redemption on
the Final Maturity Date or pursuant to Condition 7(b), (c), (e) or (f) or upon it becoming
due and payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Accreted Principal
Amount due and payable in respect of such Bond shall be the Accreted Principal Amount
of such Bond as described above, as though references to the date fixed for redemption
of the Bond or, as the case may be, the date on which the Bond becomes due and
payable had been replaced by references to the Relevant Date. The calculation of the
Accreted Principal Amount in accordance with this Condition will continue to be made (as
well after as before judgement) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on
or after the Final Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be
109.9 per cent. of the principal amount of the Bonds together with interest thereon at the
rate of 0.95 per cent. per annum from and including the Final Maturity Date to but
excluding the Relevant Date.
(h)

Share Settlement Option
The Issuer may elect (the “Share Settlement Option”), in the manner described in
Condition 7(a), (b), (c), (e) and (f), in lieu of redeeming the relevant Bonds in cash by
payment of the Instalment Amount on each Instalment Date, to effect redemption in
respect of each relevant Bond by delivering to the relevant Bondholder in respect of
each Instalment Amount such number of Subsea Shares as is determined by dividing
such Instalment Amount by the Share Settlement Market Price of a Subsea Share on the
relevant Instalment Date, and so that this procedure shall be applied to Instalment
Amounts on a successive basis by reference to successive Instalment Dates, provided
that:
(i)

fractions of a Subsea Share will not be delivered and no cash payment shall be
made in respect thereof;
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(ii)

if the product of any such calculation would produce a fraction of a Subsea Share,
then the number of Retained Subsea Shares to be delivered in respect of the
relevant Instalment Amount shall be rounded down to the nearest whole Subsea
Share, and an amount equal to the amount by which such Instalment Amount
exceeds the product of the number of Subsea Shares to be delivered in respect of
such Instalment Amount multiplied by the Share Settlement Market Price of a
Subsea Share on the relevant Instalment Date shall be added to the next (if any)
Instalment Amount and if there shall be no such further Instalment Amount then
no additional or further payment shall be made in respect thereof;

(iii)

the procedure described above shall be applied in respect of successive
Instalment Amounts to the extent that the total number of Subsea Shares
delivered or to be delivered shall not exceed the total number of Subsea Shares
comprised in the Secured Property at the relevant time, and if and to the extent
that an Instalment Amount shall exceed the product of the number of Subsea
Shares available to be delivered multiplied by the Share Settlement Market Price
of a Subsea Share on the relevant Instalment Date, then the Issuer shall in
addition pay to the relevant Bondholder an amount (the “Cash Settlement
Amount”) equal to the amount by which the relevant Instalment Amount exceeds
the product of the number of Subsea Shares available to be delivered multiplied
by the Share Settlement Market Price of a Subsea Share on the relevant
Instalment Date, and each (if any) subsequent Instalment Amount shall be paid in
full in cash, provided always that any Cash Settlement Amounts or Instalment
Amounts to be paid in cash shall be limited to the amounts standing to the credit
of the Cash Account and thereafter to the proceeds of realisation of any U.S.
Treasury Securities comprised in the Secured Property and any cash in the U.S.
Securities Account, and if there is insufficient cash in the Cash Account or
insufficient proceeds of realisation of any such U.S. Treasury Securities to satisfy
any Cash Settlement Amount or Instalment Amount, the Issuer shall be under no
obligation to pay any shortfall (if any) arising therefrom;

(iv)

in applying the provisions of this Condition, any determination of the number of
Subsea Shares to be delivered and/or any determination of any Cash Settlement
Amount to be made in respect of any Instalment Amount shall be determined on a
pro rata basis by reference to the aggregate of all Instalment Amounts in respect
of the same Instalment Date.

“Share Settlement Market Price” means the Volume Weighted Average Price of a
Subsea Share on the relevant Instalment Date or, if that is not a dealing day, on the
next following dealing day provided that if on the relevant Instalment Date the Volume
Weighted Average Price of a Subsea Share is based on a price cum-Dividend or any
other entitlement, then such price shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Fair
Market Value of such Dividend or entitlement per Subsea Share as at the date of first
public announcement of such Dividend or entitlement (translated, if not in U.S. dollars,
into U.S. dollars at the Prevailing Rate on such Reference Date (or as the case may be,
the relevant dealing day)).
“Instalment Delivery Date” means in respect of an Instalment Date, the date falling
three dealing days after such Instalment Date.
Subsea Shares to be delivered in the manner contemplated in this Condition upon
exercise of a Share Settlement Option are referred to as “Redemption Settlement
Shares”.
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If the Issuer does not exercise its Share Settlement Option in the manner and by the
time set out in this Condition 7(h), the relevant Bonds shall be redeemed for cash in
accordance with the provisions of Condition 7(a), 7(b), 7(c), 7(e) or 7(f) as appropriate
and payment in respect thereof shall be made in accordance with Condition 8.
If the Issuer exercises its Share Settlement Option with respect to Bonds, the following
provisions shall apply:

(i)

(i)

Subject as provided herein, the relevant Redemption Settlement Shares in respect
of any Instalment Amount will be delivered to the VPS account of the relevant
Bondholders by not later than the relevant Instalment Delivery Date and the Cash
Settlement Amount (if any) in respect of any Instalment Amount will be paid
through VPS in accordance with its rules and regulations on the Instalment
Delivery Date in respect of such Instalment Amount.

(ii)

A Share Settlement Option Notice shall be irrevocable.

(iii)

Any taxes or capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes and duties
payable in Norway, the Cayman Islands, the United Kingdom, Luxembourg or
Belgium in respect of the transfer of any Redemption Settlement Shares pursuant
to this Condition 7(h) shall be paid by the Issuer.

Purchase
Subject to the requirements (if any) of any stock exchange on which the Bonds may be
admitted to listing and trading at the relevant time and subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer may at any time purchase Bonds in the open
market or otherwise at any price. Any purchase by tender shall be made available to all
Bondholders alike. The Bonds so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer,
shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be
deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the
Bondholders or for the purposes of Conditions 13(a) and 14.

(j)

Cancellation
All Bonds which are redeemed or in respect of which Exchange Rights are exercised will
be cancelled and may not be reissued or resold. Subject to the requirements (if any) of
any stock exchange on which the Bonds may be admitted to listing and trading at the
relevant time and subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, Bonds
purchased by the Issuer may be re-sold by the Issuer at the Issuer’s discretion.

(k)

Multiple Notices
If more than one notice of redemption is given pursuant to this Condition 7, the first of
such notices to be given shall prevail.

8

Payments
(a)

Accreted Principal Amount and other amounts
Payment of the Accreted Principal Amount in respect of the Bonds will be made through
VPS in accordance with its rules and regulations to the persons shown in the Register at
the close of business on the Record Date.
Payments of all other amounts will be made as provided in these Conditions.

(b)

Record Date
“Record Date” means the seventh business day, in the place of the specified office of
the Registrar, before the due date for the relevant payment (or, in the case of any
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Instalment Amount, shall mean the seventh such business day before the relevant
Redemption Date).
(c)

Payments subject to fiscal laws
All payments in respect of the Bonds are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or
other laws and regulations. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the
Bondholders in respect of such payments.

(d)

Delay in payment
Bondholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay after the
due date in receiving the amount due (i) as a result of the due date not being a business
day, or (ii) if a cheque mailed in accordance with this Condition arrives after the date for
payment.

(e)

Business Days
In this Condition, “business day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on
which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business, in New York City and
in the place of the specified office of the Registrar.

(f)

Paying and Exchange Agent, Registrar, etc.
The initial Paying and Exchange Agent and Registrar and their initial specified offices are
listed below. The Issuer reserves the right under the Agency Agreement at any time,
with the prior written approval of the Trustee, to vary or terminate the appointment of
the Paying and Exchange Agent or the Registrar and appoint an additional Paying and
Exchange Agent or other Paying and Exchange Agents, provided that it will (i) maintain
a Paying and Exchange Agent or another Registrar, (ii) maintain a Paying and Exchange
Agent with a specified office in a jurisdiction that will not be obliged to withhold or
deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other European
Union Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN council meeting of 26-27
November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or
complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive and (iii) maintain a
Registrar with a specified office outside the United Kingdom. Notice of any change in the
Paying and Exchange Agents or the Registrar or their specified offices will promptly be
given by the Issuer to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 16.

(g)

Fractions
When making payments to Bondholders, if the relevant payment is not of an amount
which is a whole multiple of the smallest unit of the relevant currency in which such
payment is to be made, such payment will be rounded down to the nearest unit.

9

Taxation
All payments made by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Bonds will be made free
from any restriction or condition and be made without deduction or withholding for or on
account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of
whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Cayman Islands or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless deduction or
withholding of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges is compelled by law.
In the event that any such withholding or deduction is required to be made, the Issuer will pay
such additional amounts as will result in the receipt by the Bondholders of the amounts which
would otherwise have been receivable had no such withholding or deduction been required,
except that no such additional amount shall be payable in respect of any Bond:
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(a)

to a holder (or to a third party on behalf of a holder) who is subject to such taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Bond by reason of his
having some connection with the Cayman Islands other than merely by holding the
Bond or by receipt of amounts in respect of the Bond or where the withholding or
deduction could be avoided by the holder making a declaration of non-residence or other
similar claim for exemption to the appropriate authority which such holder is legally
capable and competent of making but fails to do so; or

(b)

where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is
required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other
Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27
November 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or
complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.
References in these Conditions to principal shall be deemed also to refer to any
additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition or any undertaking or
covenant given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the Trust
Deed.

10 Events of Default
The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least onequarter in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary
Resolution of the Bondholders shall (subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured
to its satisfaction), give notice in writing to the Issuer that the Bonds are, and they shall
accordingly thereby immediately become, due and repayable at their Accreted Principal
Amount if any of the following events (each an “Event of Default”) shall have occurred:
(a)

default is made for more than five Oslo business days in the payment on the due date
any amount in respect of any of the Bonds; or

(b)

the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other obligations in
respect of the Bonds or any Transaction Document, which default is (in the opinion of
the Trustee) incapable of remedy or, if capable of remedy, is not (in the opinion of the
Trustee) remedied within 30 days after the Issuer receiving from the Trustee written
notice of such default or such longer period as the Trustee may permit in its absolute
discretion; or

(c)
(i)

any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer, Subsea or any Principal
Subsidiary of Subsea for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes due
and payable prior to its stated maturity otherwise than at the option of the Issuer,
Subsea or the relevant Principal Subsidiary; or

(ii)

any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any
applicable grace period (as initially agreed);

provided that the aggregate amount of such indebtedness in respect of which one or
more of the events mentioned above in this paragraph (c) have occurred equals or
exceeds U.S.$10,000,000 or its equivalent; or
(d)

a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced or sued out
on or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer and is not
discharged or stayed within 30 days or such longer period as may be permitted by the
Trustee; or
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(e)

any step is taken to enforce any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance,
present or future, created or assumed by the Issuer, Subsea or any Principal Subsidiary
of Subsea (including the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver,
administrative receiver, administrator manager or other similar person); or

(f)

the Issuer, Subsea or any Principal Subsidiary of Subsea is insolvent or bankrupt or
unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all
or a material part of (or of a particular type of) its debts, proposes or makes any
agreement for the deferral, rescheduling or other readjustment of all of (or all of a
particular type of) its debts (or of any part which it will or might otherwise be unable to
pay when due), proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or
composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of such
debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared or comes into effect in respect of or
affecting all or any part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer, Subsea or
any Principal Subsidiary of Subsea; or

(g)

an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution of
the Issuer, Subsea or any Principal Subsidiary of Subsea, or the Issuer, Subsea or any
Principal Subsidiary of Subsea ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or (in the
opinion of the Trustee) a material part of its business or operations, except for the
purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or
consolidation on terms approved by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Bondholders; or

(h)

any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any necessary
consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or
registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable the
Issuer lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights and perform and comply with its
obligations under the Bonds, or the Trust Deed, (ii) to ensure that those obligations are
legally binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Bonds or the Trust Deed admissible
in evidence is not taken, fulfilled or done; or

(i)

any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an analogous
effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs; or

(j)

it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any of its
obligations under or in respect of the Bonds or any Transaction Document.

11 Undertakings
Whilst any Exchange Right remains exercisable, the Issuer will, save with the approval of an
Extraordinary Resolution or with the prior written approval of the Trustee where, in its opinion,
it is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders to give such approval:
(a)

if any offer is made to all (or as nearly as may be practicable all) Shareholders (or all
(or as nearly as may be practicable all) Shareholders other than the offeror and/or any
associate (or affiliate) of the offeror) to acquire the whole or any part of the issued
Subsea Shares, or if any person proposes a scheme with regard to such acquisition, give
notice of such offer or scheme to the Bondholders at the same time as any notice
thereof is sent to the Shareholders (or as soon as practicable thereafter) that details
concerning such offer or scheme may be obtained from the specified offices of the
Paying and Exchange Agent and, where such an offer or scheme has been
recommended by the Board of Directors of the Issuer and/or Subsea, or where such an
offer has become or been declared unconditional in all respects, use all reasonable
endeavours to procure that a like offer or scheme is extended to the holders of any
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Subsea Shares issued during the period of the offer or scheme arising out of the
exercise of the Exchange Rights by the Bondholders;
(b)

procure that it shall not become domiciled or resident in or subject generally to the
taxing authority of any jurisdiction (other than the Cayman Islands) unless it would not
thereafter be required pursuant to then current laws and regulations to withhold or
deduct for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of such
jurisdiction or any political subdivision thereof or therein having power to tax in respect
of any payment on or in respect of the Bonds; and

(c)

for so long as any Bond is outstanding, use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the
Bonds are admitted to listing and trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange by not later than
45 days after the Closing Date and to maintain such admission.

12 Prescription
Claims against the Issuer for any payment in respect of the Bonds shall be prescribed and
become void unless made within 10 years from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of
such payment and thereafter any such amounts shall be forfeited and revert to the Issuer.
13 Meetings of Bondholders, Modification and Waiver
(a)

Meetings of Bondholders
The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Bondholders to consider
matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of
a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed. Such a
meeting may be convened by the Issuer or the Trustee and shall be convened by the
Issuer or the Trustee if requested in writing by (i) Bondholders holding not less than 10
per cent. in principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding or (ii) the Oslo
Stock Exchange, provided that a meeting called for by the Oslo Stock Exchange must be
for the purpose of considering the replacement of the Trustee. The quorum for any
meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons
holding or representing a clear majority in principal amount of the Bonds for the time
being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or
representing Bondholders whatever the principal amount of the Bonds so held or
represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals,
inter alia, (i) to modify the maturity of the Bonds, (ii) to reduce or cancel the Accreted
Principal Amount of the Bonds or any Instalment Amount or to reduce or cancel the
amount payable on redemption of the Bonds or to modify or cancel the Exchange
Rights, (iii) to increase the Exchange Price other than in accordance with these
Conditions, (iv) to change the currency of any payment in respect of the Bonds, (v) to
amend any term of the Transaction Documents relating to the Secured Property unless
in the opinion of the Trustee such amendment is of a formal, minor or technical nature,
is made to correct a manifest error, or is desirable to protect or perfect the Secured
Property, or (vi) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any
meeting of Bondholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, in
which case the necessary quorum will be one or more persons holding or representing
not less than three-quarters, or at any adjourned meeting not less than one-quarter, in
principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary
Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Bondholders (whether or not they were
present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed).

Prospekt KML-70733.doc

58

(b)

Modification and Waiver
The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Bondholders, to (i) any modification
of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, any trust deed supplemental to the Trust
Deed, the Agency Agreement, any agreement supplemental to the Agency Agreement,
the Bonds or these Conditions or any other Transaction Document which in the Trustee’s
opinion is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or
to comply with mandatory provisions of law, and (ii) any other modification to the Trust
Deed, any trust deed supplemental to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, any
agreement supplemental to the Agency Agreement, the Bonds or these Conditions or
any other Transaction Document (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any
waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the
Trust Deed, any trust deed supplemental to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, any
agreement supplemental to the Agency Agreement, the Bonds or these Conditions or
any other Transaction Document which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, not materially
prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders. The Trustee may, without the consent of
the Bondholders, determine any Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default (as
defined in the Trust Deed) should not be treated as such, provided that in the opinion of
the Trustee, the interests of Bondholders will not be materially prejudiced thereby. Any
such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and, if
the Trustee so requires, such modification shall be notified to the Bondholders promptly
in accordance with Condition 16.

(c)

Entitlement of the Trustee
In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those
referred to in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the
Bondholders as a class and, in particular but without limitation, shall not have regard to
the consequences of the exercise of its trusts, powers or discretions for individual
Bondholders resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or
otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory, and
the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Bondholder be entitled to
claim, from the Issuer or any other person any indemnification or payment in respect of
any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders.

14 Enforcement, Limited Recourse and Release of Security
(a)

Enforcement of Security
The security over the Secured Property shall become enforceable (i) if any payment in
respect of the Bonds is not made when due and payable, (ii) if the Issuer fails to comply
with its obligations set out in these Conditions in respect of any exercise of an Exchange
Right or a Share Settlement Option or (iii) upon the occurrence of any other Event of
Default.
If the security over the Secured Property becomes enforceable, the Trustee may at its
discretion and without notice and shall if so requested in writing by Bondholders holding
at least one-quarter in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed
by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) (subject in each case to
being indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction) enforce the security constituted by
the Transaction Documents. To do this, it may at its discretion take possession of and/or
realise the Subsea Shares and/or any other Secured Property and/or take action against
any person liable in respect of the Subsea Shares and/or any other Secured Property,
the Agency Agreement and/or the Securities Lending Agreements and/or the Pledge
Agreements in accordance with their terms and take any other action provided for in,
and in all cases subject to, the Transaction Documents, but without any liability as to

Prospekt KML-70733.doc

59

the consequences of such action and without having regard to the effect of such action
on individual Bondholders, and provided that the Trustee shall not be required to take
any action that would involve any personal liability or exposure without first being
indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction.
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Trustee shall apply all moneys received by it under the
Transaction Documents in connection with the realisation or enforcement of the Secured
Property on trust to apply them as follows:

(b)

(i)

first, in payment or satisfaction of the fees, costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities properly incurred by the Trustee or any receiver in preparing and
performing the trusts constituted by and its rights, powers, duties and authorities
under the Trust Deed and/or the other Transaction Documents (including holding
and enforcing the security constituted by the Trust Deed and including any taxes
required to be paid, the costs of realising any Secured Property and the
remuneration of the Trustee and any receiver appointed by it);

(ii)

secondly, in or towards payment or discharge or satisfaction pari passu of all
amounts due and obligations to the Bondholders in respect of the Bonds and
pursuant to the Trust Deed; and

(iii)

thirdly, in payment of any balance to the Issuer.

Limited Recourse and Shortfall
Upon enforcement in respect of the Secured Property, the net proceeds may be less
than the claims of the Trustee and the Bondholders.
If the net proceeds of realisation of, or enforcement with respect to, the Secured
Property are not sufficient to meet all obligations due in respect of the Bonds and any
payments then due to the Trustee and for the Issuer to meet its obligations in respect
thereof:
(1)

the obligations of the Issuer will be limited to such net proceeds;

(2)

the Issuer shall be under no obligation to pay any shortfall (if any) arising
therefrom;

(3)

all claims in respect of such shortfall shall be extinguished and no debt shall be
owed by the Issuer in respect thereof; and

(4)

the Trustee and the Bondholders shall have no further claim against the Issuer in
respect of such unpaid amounts and will accordingly not be able to petition for the
winding up of the Issuer as a consequence of such shortfall or take any other
action to recover any such shortfall.

The non-payment of any shortfall shall not constitute an Event of Default pursuant to
Condition 10.
(c)

Release of Security
The Transaction Documents contain provisions for the release from the security referred
to in Condition 2(a):
(i)

of Subsea Shares required to be delivered to a Bondholder on an exercise of
Exchange Rights or exercise by the Issuer of a Share Settlement Option, as the
case may be;

(ii)

of Subsea Shares from the EB VPS Account borrowed by the Stock Borrower
pursuant to the EB Securities Lending Agreement;
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(iii)

of Subsea Shares from the CB VPS Account borrowed by the Stock Borrower
pursuant to the CB Securities Lending Agreement;

(iv)

of Subsea Shares being the Redemption Settlement Shares and of cash from the
Cash Account and/or U.S. Treasury Securities comprising Secured Property in an
amount equal to, or to raise realisation proceeds to satisfy, the Cash Settlement
Amount required to be delivered to a Bondholder in respect of a Share Settlement
Option;

(v)

of amounts held by the Principal Paying and Exchange Agent under or pursuant to
the Agency Agreement to meet payments due in respect of the Bonds;

(vi)

of amounts to enable the Issuer to make payment of any Cash Settlement
Amount and/or Cash Alternative Amount and/or any amount payable on
redemption of the Bonds;

(vii)

of Subsea Shares that would otherwise have been required to be delivered to
Bondholders upon exercise of Exchange Rights in the absence of a Cash
Alternative Election, provided that the relevant Cash Settlement Amount shall
have been paid in full and provided that thereafter the number of Retained
Subsea Shares shall be not less than 100 per cent of the number of Subsea
Shares that would be required to be delivered on the exercise of Exchange Rights
in respect of all the outstanding Bonds (disregarding for this purpose any right of
the Issuer to make a Cash Alternative Election in respect thereof);

(viii) of Subsea Shares credited to the Siem VPS Account upon a Permitted Substitution
or a Permitted Share Withdrawal;
(ix)

of cash from the Cash Account upon a Permitted Cash Withdrawal;

(x)

of U.S. Treasury Securities the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and the
Control Agreement upon a Permitted U.S. Treasury Securities Withdrawal;

(xi)

of cash the subject of the U.S. Security Agreement and the Control Agreement
representing interest received in respect of U.S. Treasury Securities upon a
Permitted Coupon Withdrawal; and

(xii)

amounts in respect of any Dividends to be released to the Issuer pursuant to
Condition 2(b),

in each case subject to any conditions that may be required from time to time by the
Trustee and provided that Subsea Shares to be released from the security referred to in
Condition 2(a) pursuant to paragraphs (i), (iv) and (v) above will be released in the
following descending order of priority:
1.

Firstly, from the pledge in respect of the Siem Additional Pledged Property;

2.

Secondly, from the pledge in respect of the EB Pledged Property;

3.

Thirdly, from the pledge in respect of the CB Pledged Property;

4.

Fourthly, from the assignment by way of security in respect of the EB Securities
Lending Agreement so as to facilitate redelivery of Subsea Shares; and

5.

Fifthly, from the assignment by way of security in respect of the CB Securities
Lending Agreement so as to facilitate redelivery of Subsea Shares,

and so that no Subsea Shares shall be required to be re-delivered pursuant to a
Securities Lending Agreement unless there are insufficient Subsea Shares available
under the higher priority categories as set out above.
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15 Indemnification of the Trustee
The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility, including relieving it from taking proceedings unless indemnified and/or secured
to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer
and any entity related to the Issuer without accounting for any profit. The Trustee may rely
without liability to Bondholders on a report, confirmation or certificate or any advice of any
accountants, financial advisers or investment bank, whether or not addressed to it and
whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter
relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a
monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. The Trustee shall be obliged to accept and be
entitled to rely on any such report, confirmation or certificate or advice where the Issuer
procures delivery of the same pursuant to its obligation to do so under a condition hereof or
any provision of the Trust Deed and such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be
binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders in the absence of manifest error.
16 Notices
Notices to Bondholders shall be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in
London (which is expected to be the Financial Times) and, for so long as the Bonds are listed
on the Oslo Stock Exchange, on the Oslo Stock Exchange information system. Any such notice
shall be deemed to have been given on the date of the last such publication as provided
above. Any notice to be given pursuant to these Conditions shall be given by the Issuer,
unless the Issuer specifically requests that the Paying and Exchange Agent gives such notice
pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement.
17 Further Issues
The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders create and issue
further notes, bonds or debentures either having the same terms and conditions in all respects
as the outstanding notes, bonds or debentures of any series (including the Bonds) and so that
such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding notes,
bonds or debentures of any series (including the Bonds) or upon such terms as to interest,
exchange, premium, redemption and otherwise as the Issuer may determine at the time of
their issue. Any further notes, bonds or debentures forming a single series with the
outstanding notes, bonds or debentures of any series (including the Bonds) constituted by the
Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other notes, bonds or debentures
may, with the consent of the Trustee, be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust
Deed. The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the Bondholders
and the holders of notes, bonds or debentures of other series in certain circumstances where
the Trustee so decides.
18 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
19 Governing Law and Jurisdiction
(a)

Governing Law
The Trust Deed and the Bonds are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance
with, English law. The Agency Agreement is governed by and shall be construed in
accordance with Norwegian law.
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(b)

Jurisdiction
The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out
of or in connection with the Trust Deed or the Bonds and accordingly any legal action or
proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed or the Bonds
(“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. The Issuer has in the Trust Deed
irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts and has waived any objection to
Proceedings in such courts whether on the ground of venue or on the ground that the
Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is made for
the benefit of the Trustee and each of the Bondholders and shall not limit the right of
any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall
the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings
in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not).

(c)

Agent for Service of Process
The Issuer has irrevocably appointed Siem Capital UK Limited at its registered office for
the time being, currently at 3rd Floor, Charles II Street, London SW1Y 4AE as its agent
in England to receive service of process in any Proceedings in England. Nothing herein
or in the Trust Deed shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner
permitted by law.
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6.

DESCRIPTION OF SIEM INDUSTRIES INC.

6.1

General

Siem Industries Inc. is a diversified industrial holding company that operates through autonomous
subsidiaries and affiliates. The Company currently holds interests in several industrial areas
including the oil and gas services industry, ocean transport of refrigerated cargoes, ocean transport
of automobiles, Swedish industrial holdings in land-based industries and salt mining.
The Company’s major holdings are represented in the oil and gas service industry by Subsea 7 Inc.
and Siem Offshore Inc., in the shipping industry by STAR Reefers Inc. and Siem Car Carriers Inc.
and in the financial investment area by Siem Investments Inc., Deep Seas Insurance Ltd. and Siem
Capital AB.
The Company’s strategy is to focus on long-term growth rather than on short-term results. Siem
Industries Inc. has a history of active participation in the consolidation and restructuring of
different industries.
The Company is a limited liability company registered under the laws of Cayman Islands with
organisation number CR 1248.
6.2

History in brief

The Company was incorporated in October 1980 under the laws of the Cayman Islands under the
name Bahama Cruise Line Inc. The name was changed to Bermuda Star Line Inc. in 1986, to Norex
America Inc. in 1989, further to Norex Industries Inc. in 1996 and finally to Siem Industries Inc. in
1998.
6.3

Group Overview

SIEM GROUP CORPORATE STRUCTURE
SIEM INDUSTRIES INC.
(Cayman Islands)

TRANSOCEAN INC.
(Cayman Islands)
1,423,720 shares

STAR REEFERS INC.
(Cayman Islands)
71.6% interest

SUBSEA 7 INC.
(Cayman Islands)
45.1% interest

SIEM OFFSHORE INC.
(Cayman Islands)
38.2% interest

SIEM INVESTMENTS, INC.
(Cayman Islands)
99.9% interest

DEEP SEAS INSURANCE
LTD.
(Cayman Islands)
51.0% interest

SIEM EUROPE SARL
(Luxembourg)
100% interest

DEUSA INT'L GmbH
(German)
49% interest

SIEM CAPITAL UK LTD.
(U.K.)
100% interest

SIEM CAPITAL AB
(Sweden)
64% share, 50% voting interest

SIEM CAR CARRIERS INC.
(Cayman Islands)
88.1% interest

SIEM KAPITAL AS
(Norway)
100% interest

DSND BYGG ANS
(Norway)
88% interest

Siem Industries is the holding company of the group and does not conduct any operational
activities. The Company is not dependent on any of the other companies in the group to perform its
obligations under the Bonds.
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6.4

Major Industrial Holdings

6.4.1

Subsea 7

6.4.1.1

General

Subsea 7 was incorporated on 10 January 2002 under the name DSND Inc., and renamed Siem
Offshore Inc. pursuant to a resolution of the general meeting held on 9 July 2004. Subsea 7 was
further renamed from Siem Offshore Inc. to Subsea 7 Inc. at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 15 July 2005.
As a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, Subsea 7 is subject to Cayman Islands laws and
regulations with respect to corporate governance. In addition, certain aspects of Norwegian
securities law apply due to the fact that Subsea 7’s shares are listed on Oslo Børs.
Subsea 7’s registered office is at P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town,
Grand Cayman KY1–1104, CAYMAN ISLANDS.
Subsea 7’s principal place of business is at P.O. Box 10718, Harbour Place - 5th Floor, 103 South
Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1–1006, CAYMAN ISLANDS.
As of 11 July 2007, Siem Industries beneficially owned 66,394,145 shares in Subsea 7, equivalent
to approx 45.1% of the issued share capital.
6.4.1.2

Activities

Subsea 7 is a subsea contractor within the oil and gas industry. The company performs total
subsea field developments and provides design, engineering, construction, installation and
maintenance of facilities for the subsea production of oil and gas.
Subsea 7 operates 15 multi-purpose, highly specialised dynamically-positioned (DP) vessels
capable of deepwater pipe laying, deepwater subsea construction and diving and subsea surveys.
The ROV fleet totals more than 100 specialised vehicles. In addition, the company operates four
spool bases for welding of pipelines.
Subsea 7's business consists of seven business lines, which are interrelated and to a large degree
overlap on specific projects, as described below:
Deepwater Systems and Technology
This business segment includes the design, procurement, manufacturing, assembly and installation
of oil and gas production structures on the seabed within deep waters, typically in excess of 400
metres. The products include riser systems, including towers, steel catenary risers and flexible
risers, mooring systems, subsea production and control systems, umbilicals, towed bundle and
conventional flow line systems.
Towed Production System
By means of the controlled depth tow method, Subsea 7 is able to offer its customers onshore
constructions of multiple flow lines within a single outer carrier pipe terminated at each end by
structures designed to accommodate the bundle. Once launched from the onshore site, the bundle
is towed by tugs to its offshore location at a controlled water depth. On entry to the field, the
bundle is lowered to the seabed and manoeuvred into location. Subsea 7’s bundle yard is located in
Wick, Scotland with a length of 7,800 metres and an annual production capacity of 28,000 tonnes.
Subsea Construction & IRM
Subsea 7 delivers subsea engineering, installation, construction and IRM (Inspection, Repair and
Maintenance) for all upstream oil and gas applications. The deliveries and services are supported
by more than 2,500 qualified construction, IRM, and project management personnel, based around
the world, with expertise in EPIC contract and design issues.
The services include design, fabrication and installation of subsea manifolds, tie-in and testing of
pipelines systems, installation of subsea control systems, diving and survey services, hyperbaric
welding capability, online inspection and certification reporting together with well abandonment.
Pipelay services
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With a fleet of four dedicated dynamically-positioned reel-lay vessels and four onshore spool yards,
Subsea 7 has the capability of installing rigid pipelines of up to 16 inches in diameter in addition to
umbilicals and flexible pipelines products of up to 20 inches in diameter. Other products delivered
include subsea tie-in jumpers, fluid transfer lines, surface wellhead jumpers and dynamic risers.
Subsea 7’s pipe lay vessel, Skandi Navica has successfully installed the world’s first reeled steel
catenary risers in water depths of 1,300 metres and has installed rigid pipelines, mid-line tees and
pipeline end terminations in a world record breaking water depth of 1,870 metres.
Survey & Positioning Services
Subsea 7 provides specialist positioning and data acquisition expertise complemented by the
combined use of innovative technology and techniques to support Subsea 7’s own construction and
IRM activities as well as the activities of a variety of external clients.
The services include positioning services – both surface and sub-surface solutions, marine
construction support to pipelines, structures and field development, seabed mapping route and site
surveys, precision underwater meteorology, high accuracy spool piece measurements, pipeline
inspection by ROVs together with structural inspection by ROVs and divers.
ROV services
Subsea 7, through it predecessor companies has more than 25 years of experience in providing
ROV services. Its predecessor company was the first contractor to design, build and operate its
own vehicles in the 1980’s. The fleet of ROVs consists of 79 standard work class ROVs, mostly
designed and built in-house, capable of operating in water depths down to 5,000 metres, 26
observation class ROVs, three acoustic vehicles, including the Geosub Autonomous Underwater
Vehicle (AUV) for special applications down to 3,000 metres and two ROVs able to provide a stable
controllable platform for acoustic survey at high speed.
Remote technology
Subsea 7 has substantial activities within the area of advanced subsea technology and has been a
pioneer within the design and operation of innovative underwater intervention systems, tooling
packages and interfaces. Subsea 7’s capabilities in this area include concept development, detailed
design, building supervision, acceptance testing, offshore mobilisation and operation of equipment.
The focus is delivering measurable benefits to customers in terms of minimising costs, increased
safety, environmental awareness and greater efficiency. New systems currently being developed
include an electric work-class ROV, single mode fibre-optic multiplexers and a laser leak detection
sensor.
6.4.1.3

Board of Directors and Management

The Board of Subsea 7 has five shareholder-elected members.
Board of directors:
y
y
y
y
y

Kristian Siem (born 1949), Chairman of the Board
Michael Delouche (born 1957), Board Member
Arild Schultz (born 1944), Board Member
Mel Fitzgerald (born 1950), Board Member
Allen L. Stevens (born 1943), Board Member

Management:
y
y
y
y
6.4.2

Mel Fitzgerald (born 1950), Chief Executive Officer
David Cassie (born 1956), Executive Vice President – Commercial
John Evans (born 1963), Chief Operating Officer
Barry Mahon (born 1962), Chief Financial Officer
Siem Offshore Inc.

Siem Offshore is an industrial group within the marine sector of the global oil service business. The
company’s main activity is to own and operate various types of support vessels for the global oil
and gas industry, such as platform supply vessels (PSV), multi-purpose field and support vessels
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(MRSV), offshore construction support vessels (OSV) and anchor-handling, towing and support
vessels (AHTS), and various other types of construction and support vessels.
Siem Offshore Inc. is the parent company of the Siem Offshore Group. The company is primarily a
holding company for the other companies of the Siem Offshore group, but is also owning some
vessels directly.
Siem Offshore Inc. was incorporated on 12 October 2004 under the name Siem Supply Inc. Siem
Offshore is the result of a spin-off of the non-subsea related activities from Subsea 7 (formerly
Siem Offshore Inc.) resolved at a general meeting of the same on 15 July 2005. Prior to the spinoff, Siem Offshore was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Subsea 7. In connection with the spin-off,
Subsea 7 transferred all its non-subsea related assets and liabilities to Siem Offshore and
dividended out the shares in Siem Offshore to the shareholders of Subsea 7. The company was
renamed Siem Offshore Inc. as of 19 July 2005.
Siem Offshore’s registered office is at P.O. Box 309 GT, Ugland House, South Church Street,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, CAYMAN ISLANDS. The Company’s executive office is
located at 5th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY11006, CAYMAN ISLANDS.
As of 11 July 2007, Siem Industries owned 64,128,403 shares in Siem Offshore Inc., equivalent to
38,2 % of the share capital.
Siem Offshores main area of activity is the ownership and operation of various types of supply,
support and service vessels for the offshore oil and gas service industry. Siem Offshore directly or
indirectly owns and operates a fleet of 21 platform supply and construction support vessels. Siem
Offshore further operates a fleet of standby and supply vessels through its Brazilian subsidiary
Siem Consub S.A. The company has entered into contracts for the construction of 16 newbuilds,
among them 8 AHTS vessels from Kleven Verft AS with options for delivery of an additional 4
vessels. Further, the company has investments in the core drilling vessel “Joides Resolution”, the
well stimulation vessel “Big Orange”, and a majority shareholding in the company Siem WIS AS,
which is in the business of developing new technology for riserless intervention solutions.
6.4.2.1

Business objectives and strategy

Siem Offshore intends to pursue a strategy of continued consolidation and growth, with the aim of
becoming one of the leading owners and operators of supply and service vessels on a global basis.
Advanced fleet
Siem Offshore aims at meeting the market’s demand for modern and advanced service vessels for
the global offshore oil and gas industry. The considerable newbuilding activity undertaken by Siem
Offshore, including strengthening of the company’s fleet with the firm order of 8 AHTS newbuilds, is
part of this strategy.
M&A activity
The merger with Rovde Shipping AS completed in February 2006 and the acquisition of the majority
of the shares in Siem WIS AS and Meling & Co AS are all elements of Siem Offshore’s strategy for
further growth and development. Siem Offshore’s management will continue to actively pursue
investments and divestments opportunities which have the potential to provide sufficient financial
returns to the Siem Offshore’s shareholders. Siem Offshore will actively consider opportunities for
participation in industry consolidation, mergers and acquisitions, and will seek to position itself to
be part of such consolidation.
Professional and cost effective operations
Siem Offshore will maintain a strong focus on operating its fleet professionally and cost-effectively
and in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
Siem Offshore has, and will continue to have, a small team of dedicated staff focusing on core
activities such as marketing, chartering, technical supervision, finance, business development and
investor relations, and may outsource services within the areas of technical management,
construction supervision and certain administrative functions to well-qualified suppliers of such
services.
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6.4.2.2

Board of Directors and Management

The Board of Siem Offshore shall have from three to seven members. Currently the Board has six
members. The directors are generally elected for a period of two years. The directors are eligible
for re-election upon expiry of their term.
Members of the board of directors:
y
y
y
y
y
y

Kristian Siem (born 1949), Chairman of the Board
Michael Delouche (born 1957), Board member
Richard England (born 1931), Board member
Bjørn Johansen (born 1932), Board member
Agnar Knardal (born 1939), Board member
Ulf Sørdal (born 1960), Board member

Management and key employees:
y
y
y
y
y

Terje Sørensen (born 1964), Chief Executive Officer
Oddvar Strand (born 1953), Chief Operational Officer
Oskar Mykland (born 1966), Chief Financial Officer
Per Ivar Fagervoll (born 1962), Chartering Manager PSV/MRSV
Harald Arntsen (born 1957), Chartering Manager AHTS

6.4.3

STAR Reefers Inc.

6.4.3.1

General

STAR Reefers is a owner and operator of reefer vessels. STAR Reefers controls a modern fleet of 40
owned and chartered reefer vessels, including two newbuilds which were delivered during first half
of 2007.
At 6 June 2007, Siem Industries owned 6,272,534 shares in STAR Reefers, equivalent to 71.6 % of
the total issued share capital.
Members of the board of directors:
y
y
y
y
y

Kristian Siem, Chairman of the Board
Mike Delouche, board member
Ole Martin Siem, board member
Per Christian Haukenes, board member
Horst Schumburg, board member

Management:
y
y
y
y
y

Simon Stevens, CEO
Irek Kuligowski, SVP Operations
Kenneth Ross, SVP Chartering
Charles Bondi, Corporate controller
Terje Aschim, SVP Finance

6.4.3.2

Siem Car Carriers Inc.

Siem Car Carriers Inc. is the owner of three 2000-built car carriers, Dresden, Verona and Mosel
Ace, all with a carrying capacity of 4 300 cars and 400 high and heavy units. The vessels are all on
charter parties with a remaining duration of more than two years.
6.4.3.3

Siem Investments Inc.

Siem Investments Inc. was established to originate and /or participate in the acquisition,
reorganisation or restructuring of investment opportunities in particular businesses experiencing
distress situations.
Since the commencement of its activities in 1998, Siem Investments has accumulated a number of
investments which have since concluded successfully. The only remaining investment of
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significance is a 49 % interest in Deusa International GmbH, a German company involved in potash
mining.
During 2005, Deusa entered into contracts for the construction of a thermolysis plant which is
expected to become operational in 2007/2008. The thermolysis plant will receive municipal wastes
of a specified content and grade and incinerate these wastes at very high temperatures causing the
release of gases which can be used to generate power for the potash mining operations.
Siem Investments has agreed to provide project-financing to Deusa until the operational risks
associated with this process have been reduced and acceptable bank financing can be obtained.
6.4.3.4

Siem Capital AB

Siem Industries holds a 64 % interest in the share capital and 50% of the votes of Siem Capital
AB. The remaining interest is held by the previous managers of Siem Capital.
Siem Capital holds interests in several industrial companies including Emotron AB, a developer of
variable speed drives, softstarters and monitors for electrical motors, Boule Diagnostics
International AB, a developer of hematology diagnostic systems and Essntys AB, a research biotech
company.
6.4.3.5

Deep Seas Insurance Ltd.

Deep Seas Insurance is a Cayman Islands based captive insurance affiliate, which commenced
operations in early 2006. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company owned 51 % of the shares
of Deep Seas Insurance. The remaining 49 % of the shares are owned by Subsea 7.
Deep Seas Insurance provides a risk management function to companies within the Company’s
group by participating as co-insurer on marine insurances and as lead insurer on other risks on a
fully reinsured basis.
6.4.3.6

Transocean Inc.

As of the date of this Prospectus the Company owned 1 423 720 shares of Transocean. Transocean
is the world’s premier offshore contractor with the largest and most technologically advanced fleet
of offshore drilling units. Transocean is a publicly traded company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbol RIG.
6.5

Administrative, management and supervisory bodies

6.5.1

The Board of Directors

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board of Siem Industries Inc. shall have
from three to twenty-five members. Currently the Board has four members.
Kristian Siem (Chairman)
Kristian Siem (57) is the founder of the Group and has been Director and Chairman of the
Company since 1982. He is also the Chairman of STAR Reefers Inc., Siem Offshore Inc., Subsea 7
Inc. and Siem Capital AB. He also serves as a director of Transocean Inc. and North Atlantic
Smaller Companies Investment Trust PLC. Prior to joining the Group, he held several management
positions with the Fred. Olsen Group in the U.S. and Norway. He is a Norwegian citizen and
resident in Switzerland.
M.D. Moross (board member)
M.D Moross has been a Director of the Company since 1995 and is currently a private investor. He
was chairman and CEO of the Schlesinger Organisation based in Johannesburg until 1974 when he
joined the board of Rand Selection Group, the controlling shareholder of Anglo American
Corporation. In 1976 he formed AIM Management Group Inc., today one of the largest players in
the US Mutual Fund Industry. He further founded Whitehall Financial Group in 1982 which today
holds several strategic investment positions within the US banking and life insurance industry. He
is the father-in-law of Kristian Siem and a South African citizen.
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Barry W. Ridings (board member)
Barry W. Ridings has been a Director of the Company since 1993. He is a managing director of
Lazard Freres & Co, the vice chairman of U.S. Investment Banking for Lazard and the chairman of
LFCM Holdings which includes the operations of Lazard Capital Markets and Lazard Alternative
Investments. He is a US citizen, and lives in New York.
Ivar Siem (board member)
Ivar Siem was appointed a Director in May 2007 and previously served as a Director of the
Company from 1992 to 1998. He is CEO and chairman of the board of directors of Blue Dolphin
Energy Company and Drillmar, Inc. He is a brother of Kristian Siem and is a Norwegian citizen.
6.5.2

Management

Michael Delouche
Michael Delouche is the President and the Secretary of Siem Industries Inc. He is a director of
Subsea 7 Inc., STAR Reefers Inc. and Siem Offshore Inc. He is responsible for the financial and
corporate management function and is in charge of the Company's operations at the Company's
office in George Town, Cayman Islands. He holds a B.S. in Civil Engineering (Structures) and a
MBA. Mr. Delouche joined the Company in 1992 and is a US citizen.
Simon CG Stevens
Simon CG Stevens (54) is chief executive officer of STAR Reefers UK Limited and responsible for
advising on the Group's portfolio of bond and equity investments. He is a director of the Group's UK
subsidiary, Siem Capital UK Ltd. He holds degrees in Engineering and Business Administration and
diplomas in Humanities and Marketing. His background is within industry and the fund
management business. He has previously held various positions with Ocean Transport & Trading
PLC and Invesco Ltd. He is currently a non-executive director of Invesco City and Commercial
Investment Trust, Fundamental Data Ltd. and the Throgmorton Trust PLC. He is a British citizen.
6.5.3

Address of Board of Directors and Management

The members of the Board of Directors and the Management of the Company have, for the purpose
of their directorship and management function, business address at the Company’s executive office
in Harbour Place - 5th Floor, 103 South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1006,
CAYMAN ISLANDS.
6.6

Remuneration of directors and management

The Company recorded aggregate fees for the services of its directors and officers for fiscal years
2006 and 2005 were approximately USD 4,509,000 and USD 2,154,000 respectively. Directors are
entitled to a director’s fee of USD 18,000 per annum and reimbursements of expenses incurred on
behalf of the Company. Specific agreements for the services of certain other directors and officers
are as follows:
Management Services Agreement C ”MSA”), years 2005 – 2009
Following the expiration of the former MSA at the end of 2004, a new five year MSA was agreed
between the Company and Mr. Kristian Siem effective 1 January 2005. Many of the terms are
similar to the former MSA. Mr. Kristian Siem must devote a minimum of 50 % of his professional
time, skill and labor to perform his duties for and promote the interests of the Company. The
annual compensation consists of a base compensation in the amount of U.S$ 700,000 plus
additional compensation equal to 5 % of the audited net income in excess of U.S$ 4,000,000. The
fees payable under the MSA for the fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were U.S$ 4,252,000 and
U.S$ 1,842,000 respectively.
Management Services Agreement
Mr. Delouche is seconded to the Company under a separate management services agreement
which provides for reimbursement for certain expenses incurred by him. The reimbursement for
fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were approximately U.S$ 221,000 and U.S$ 206,000 respectively.
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6.7

Conflicts of Interest

The Company is not aware of any material conflict of interest between the members of its board
and management and the Company.
6.8

Share Capital

As at the date of this Prospectus, the authorised share capital of the Company is U.S.$ 30,500,000
divided into 100,000,000 Common Shares of a nominal value of U.S.$0.25 each, 5,000,000
Preference Shares of U.S.$1.00 nominal value and 50,000,000 Redeemable Preferred Shares of US
U.S.$ 0.01 par value. The issued share capital is U.S.$3,882,481.75 divided into 15,529,927
Common Shares, each with a nominal value of U.S.$ 0.25. No Preference Shares or Redeemable
Preferred Shares are currently issued.
6.9

Main Shareholders; Control

The following table sets forth certain information, as of 6 June 2007 with respect to the only
persons known to the Company who owned beneficially more than 10% of the Company's
15,529,927 issued and outstanding Common Shares and the number of Common Shares owned by
the other officers and directors of the Company, as a group:

Name of Beneficial Owners

Shares

Percentage of

or Identity of Group

Beneficially Owned

Common Shares

Sero Trust (1)

8,755,638

56.4%

Kristian Siem (2)

1,878,356

12.1%

101,671

0.7%

Other Officers and Directors as a Group

(1)

The Sero Trust, whose potential beneficiaries include the mother and certain of the brothers
of Mr. Kristian Siem, Chairman of the Company, is the beneficial owner of the Common Shares
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Elderberry Holdings Limited, which is the direct owner of
the Common Shares. The trustee for the Sero Trust holds voting and dispositive power over its
shareholding.

(2)

Mr. Siem directly owns 1,878,356 Common Shares, or approximately 12.1% of the Common
Shares. The Ores Trust is the beneficial owner of 1,352,432 Common Shares, or approximately
8.7% of the Common Shares, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Siem Holding Inc., which is
the direct owner of the Common Shares. Mr. Siem and his wife and children are potential
beneficiaries of the Ores Trust. Each of Mr. Siem and the trustee for the Ores Trust hold
separate voting and dispositive powers over their respective shareholdings.

7.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MATTERS FOR SUBSEA 7

7.1

General

Subsea 7 is a company limited by shares organised under the laws of the Cayman Islands.
Information regarding Subsea 7 and its shares is given in the table below:
Registered office and company registration

P.O.Box 309, Ugland House, South Church
Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1 –
1104, CAYMAN ISLANDS

Internet site

www.subsea7.com

Company registration number

CR-115108

VPS securities number

ISIN KYG8549P1081
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CUSIP identification number

G8549P 10 8

Ticker code Oslo Børs

SUB

Account manager

Nordea Bank Norge AS, Oslo, Norway

7.2

Current share capital

The authorised share capital of Subsea 7 is U.S.$ 2,000,000 divided into 200,000,000 common
shares of a nominal value of 0.01 each.
The issued share capital as at 6 June 2007 was US$ 1,473,534.00 divided into 147,353,400 shares
each with a nominal value of U.S.$0.01.
7.3

Authority to issue new shares

Subsea 7’s Articles of Association state that subject to provisions of law and of the Memorandum of
Association of the company, the unissued shares in Subsea 7 shall be at the disposal of the Board
which may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, at such
times and for such consideration, and upon such terms, as the Board shall determine.
The Articles of Association further state that no shares shall be issued to bearer and all shares shall
be issued fully paid.
7.4

Authority to acquire own shares

According to the Articles of Association, the Board has the opportunity, under certain conditions, to
purchase or otherwise acquire any of its own shares.
7.5

Share price development

Subsea 7’s shares were first listed for trading on Oslo Børs on 17 October 2002 and were quoted as
DSND Inc. and subsequently as Siem Offshore. Since 22 July 2005 the company has been quoted
on Oslo Børs as Subsea 7.
The graph below illustrates the share price development and the trading volume of Subsea 7’s
shares on the Oslo Børs over the last year.
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7.6

Ownership structure

As at 6 June 2007 Subsea 7 had 2,249 registered shareholders.
The following table lists the 20 largest holders of shares in Subsea 7 as at 6 June 2007 as
registered in the VPS:
Shareholder

No. of Shares

%

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC.

49,224,145

33.4%

UBS AG, LONDON BRANCH

17,038,689

11.6%

LEHMAN BROTHERS INTERNATL. EUROPE

11,220,000

7.6%

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK

6,452,168

4.4%

FIDELITY FUNDS-EUROP. GROWTH/SICAV

5,109,333

3.5%

CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES

4,645,693

3.2%

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK

3,531,884

2.4%

MELLON BANK AS AGENT FOR ABN AMRO

2,280,170

1.5%

SWEDBANK

2,259,242

1.5%

MP PENSJON

2,112,500

1.4%

MORGAN STANLEY AND CO. INTL. PLC

1,762,482

1.2%

UBS AG, LONDON BRANCH

1,702,211

1.2%

LBPB NOMINEES LIMITED

1,550,954

1.1%

NORDEA BANK DENMARK AS

1,455,058

1.0%

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK

1,180,000

0.8%

DNB NOR MARKETS, AKSJEHAND/ANALYSE

1,174,029

0.8%

UBS AG, LONDON BRANCH

1,041,200

0.7%

AVANSE NORGE (II)

989,631

0.7%

OKO OSUUSPANKKIEN KESKUSPANKKI

985,000

0.7%

VITAL FORSIKRING ASA

971,016

0.7%

Top 20 largest shareholdings

116,685,405

79.2%

Other

30,667,995

20.8%

Total

147,353,400

100.0%

The major shareholder of Subsea 7 is the Company which, including shares lent to others and
shares registered in nominee accounts, beneficially owns 45.1 per cent. of Subsea 7’s shares. To
the Company’s knowledge, no party directly or indirectly controls Subsea 7.
7.7

Shareholder and dividend policy

Subsea 7’s shares carry equal rights to dividend payments. The company has not paid any
dividends to the shareholders in the last three financial years.
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7.8

Restrictions, voting, trading etc.

The shares in Subsea 7 are freely transferable and there are no restrictions on trading in the
Subsea 7’s shares. The Board however, under certain conditions as set out in the Articles of
Association, may refuse to register a transfer of shares.
Each of Subsea 7’s shares represents one vote on a poll at a general meeting. However, the
Articles of Association establish a right to divide the share capital into different classes of shares
with varied rights attached to the shares.
7.9

Equity instruments

Subsea 7 has in place a share option scheme for the senior management.
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8.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The figures below have been extracted from the audited consolidated annual reports of the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005.
IFRS
31 Dec 2006

IFRS
31 Dec 2005

Revenue from continuing operations

286,958

205,522

Profit from continuing operations

100,592

36,156

-

-

89,031

26,837

853,682

675,730

85,309

103,079

Total assets

938,991

778,809

Equity, includes shareholders’ equity and minority interests

613,855

489,879

Non-current liabilities

259,330

227,955

In US$ thousands (unless otherwise stated)
Income Statement data

Loss from discontinued operations
Profit attributable to equity shareholders
Balance Sheet data
Non-current assets
Current assets

Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Per share data
Average number of shares issued (‘000)
Earnings per share (U.S.$)
Earnings per share, from continuing operations (U.S.$)
Average number of shares issued, diluted (‘000)

65,806

60,975

938,991

778,809

15,053

16,407

5.91

1.64

5.91

1.64

15,053

16,407

Earnings per share, diluted (U.S.$)

5.91

1.64

Earnings per share, diluted, from continuing operations (U.S.$)

5.91

1.64

Siem Industries is not aware of any significant changes in its financial or trading position or any
material adverse change in its prospects that has occurred after the financial statements of the
annual report of the period ending 31 December 2006.
The annual reports for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005, prepared in
accordance with IFRS, are included in Appendices 1 and 2. These contain balance sheets, income
statements, cash flow statements, the Company’s accounting policies, notes to the accounts and
auditor’s reports.
Siem Industries Inc.’s auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, independent registered auditors and
state authorised public accountants, members of Norsk Revisorforening, located in Kristiansand,
Norway. PricewaterhouseCoopers has been the auditor of Siem Industries since 1998 and has
issued unqualified opinions during the whole period.
9.

LEGAL AND TAX MATTERS

9.1

Material contractual disputes and legal proceedings

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which
are pending or threatened of which the issuer is aware), during the last twelve months which may
have or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the issuer and/or group’s financial
position or profitability.
9.2

Norwegian Tax Issues

9.2.1

General

The following is a summary of certain Norwegian tax considerations relevant to the acquisition of
Bonds, exchange of such Bonds into Subsea Shares and of the ownership and disposition of Bonds

Prospekt KML-70733.doc

75

and Subsea Shares in the Company by holders that are residents of Norway for purposes of
Norwegian taxation.
International investors who are not residents of Norway for tax purposes will normally not be liable
for any Norwegian tax unless their investment is linked to a permanent establishment or any
business conducted in Norway.
The summary is based on applicable Norwegian laws, rules and regulations as they exist as of the
date of this Prospectus. Such laws, rules and regulations are subject to change, possibly on a
retroactive basis. The summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax
considerations that may be relevant to the holders and does not address foreign tax laws. Each
holder should consult his or her own tax advisor to determine the particular tax consequences for
him or her and the applicability and effect of any Norwegian or foreign tax laws and possible
changes in such laws.
9.2.2
9.2.2.1

Norwegian taxation related to the Bonds
Taxation of interest

Norwegian tax legislation generally provides that Bondholders must include interest income in
taxable income in the year such interest accrues.
Interest income is subject to tax at the general tax rate of 28 per cent.
9.2.2.2

Taxation of capital gains upon the realisation of Bonds

Gains from a sale or other disposition of Bonds are taxable as general income at a rate of 28 per
cent. Losses are deductible against general income. A gain or loss is calculated for each Bond as
the difference between the consideration received and the tax basis of the Bond. The tax basis of
the Bond is determined as the issue price or acquisition cost.
Costs incurred in connection with the purchase and sale of Bonds may be deducted in the year of
realisation of the Bonds.
9.2.2.3

Tax on capital gains on exchange of shares

The exchange of the Bonds to Subsea Shares is considered a realisation of the Bonds for
Norwegian tax purposes. Capital gains on the disposal of the Bonds will be taxable as general
ordinary income, subject to the tax rate of 28 per cent. The calculation of the capital gain will be
made using the quoted stock price of Subsea 7 Inc. at the time the conversion takes place. From
the quoted stock price, the exchange price per share is deducted.
9.2.2.4

Net Wealth Tax

Corporate holders are exempt from Norwegian net wealth tax. For individual holders, Bonds will be
part of the holder’s capital and be subject to net wealth tax in Norway. The current marginal wealth
tax rate is 1.1 per cent. of taxable values.
Bonds are valued at their nominal value on 1 January in the assessment year.
9.2.2.5

Inheritance tax

The transfer of Bonds by inheritance or gift may involve a liability to pay inheritance or gift tax to
Norway if the deceased, at the time of death, or the donor, at the time of the gift, is a resident or
citizen of Norway, or if the Bonds are effectively connected with a business carried out through a
permanent establishment in Norway. However, in the case of inheritance tax, if the deceased was a
citizen but not a resident of Norway, Norwegian inheritance tax will not be levied if inheritance tax
or a similar tax is levied in the country where the deceased was resident.
The basis for the tax calculation is the nominal value of the Bonds, unless the assumed sales price
is lower.
9.2.2.6

Stamp duty

There is currently no Norwegian stamp duty or transfer tax on the transfer or issuance of Bonds.
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9.2.3
9.2.3.1

Norwegian Taxation related to the Subsea Shares
Net Wealth Tax

Corporate shareholders are exempt from Norwegian net wealth tax. For individual shareholders,
shares will be part of the shareholder’s capital and be subject to net wealth tax in Norway. The
current marginal wealth tax rate is 1.1 per cent. of taxable values.
Listed shares are valued at 80 per cent. of their quoted value on 1 January in the assessment year.
9.2.3.2

Taxation of Dividends

Dividends distributed to corporate shareholders from a limited liability company resident in the
Cayman Islands for tax purposes, are subject to tax at a flat rate of 28 per cent. as the Cayman
Islands is regarded as a low tax jurisdiction situated outside the EEA.
Dividends distributed to resident individual shareholders are taxable as ordinary income at a flat
rate of 28 per cent. to the extent the dividends exceed a tax-free allowance. The tax-free
allowance is computed separately for each share on the basis of the tax purchase price of the share
(adjusted for any RISK-amounts up to 1 January 2006) multiplied by a risk-free interest rate. The
risk-free interest rate shall be based on the average interest rate on 3-month treasury bills
(statskasseveksler) in the relevant year. Any unused allowance in any one year will be added to
the tax purchase price of the share by the computation of the allowance the following year, and
may also be carried forward and set off against future dividends received on, or against gains upon
the realisation of, the same share.
9.2.3.3

Taxation of capital gains upon the realisation of shares

As the Cayman Islands is regarded as a low tax jurisdiction outside the EEA, any capital gain on the
realisation of the Subsea Shares will be taxed at a rate of 28 per cent. Corresponding losses are
tax deductible.
Resident individual shareholders are subject to tax in Norway for capital gains upon the realisation
of shares, and have a corresponding right to deduct losses. This applies irrespective of how long
the shares have been owned by the individual shareholder and irrespective of how many shares
that are realised. Gains are taxable as ordinary income at a tax rate of 28 per cent. in the year of
realisation, and losses may be deducted from ordinary income in the year of realisation.
Capital gains or losses are calculated per share as the consideration received by the realisation less
the tax purchase price of the share. Any unused allowance on a share may be set off against gains
upon the realisation of the same share, but may not lead to or increase a deductible loss, i.e. any
unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon the realisation of a share will be annulled. Costs
incurred in connection with the purchase and realisation of shares may be deducted in the year of
realisation.
If shares acquired at different times are realised, the shares that were first acquired will be
deemed as first sold upon calculating taxable gain or loss (the “FIFO” principle).
9.2.3.4

Inheritance tax

The transfer of shares by inheritance or gift may involve a liability to pay inheritance or gift tax to
Norway if the deceased, at the time of death, or the donor, at the time of the gift, is a resident or
citizen of Norway, or if the shares are effectively connected with a business carried out through a
permanent establishment in Norway. However, in the case of inheritance tax, if the deceased was a
citizen but not a resident of Norway, Norwegian inheritance tax will not be levied if inheritance tax
or a similar tax is levied in the country where the deceased was resident.
In the case of listed shares, the basis for the tax calculation is the market value of the shares.
9.2.3.5

Duties on the Transfer of Shares

No stamp or similar duties are currently imposed in Norway on the transfer of shares, whether on
acquisition or disposal.
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9.2.4

Norwegian Controlled Foreign Corporation Taxation (NOKUS)

Shareholders resident in Norway for tax purposes controlling a foreign company resident in a low
tax jurisdiction may become subject to Norwegian Controlled Foreign Corporation Taxation
(NOKUS). A foreign company will be deemed as Norwegian controlled where Norwegian
shareholders directly or indirectly own or control at least 50 per cent. of the shares or the capital of
the foreign company at the commencement or end of the income year. If the Norwegian
shareholders become subject to NOKUS taxation, they are taxed in Norway on a current basis for
their proportionate share of the profits generated by the Company, calculated according to
Norwegian tax regulations, irrespective of whether such profits are distributed to the shareholders
or not.
10.
10.1

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE
General

The Manager entered into a Subscription Agreement dated 31 May 2007 with the Company. Upon
the terms and subject to the conditions contained therein, the Manager has agreed to subscribe for
the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the issue price of 100 per cent. of their principal
amount.
The Subscription Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances prior to the issue of the
Bonds.
The Company has agreed to pay to the Manager a combined management underwriting and selling
commission of 1.2 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds.
The Company has also agreed to reimburse the Manager for certain of its expenses incurred in
connection with the management of the issue of the Bonds.
Each of the Company (pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreement) and Subsea 7 Inc.
(pursuant to the terms of a Lock-Up Deed dated 31 May 2007) has undertaken that during the
period commencing on the date of the Subscription Agreement and ending 90 days from the
Closing Date, it will not, without the prior written consent of the Manager, (i) directly or indirectly,
issue, offer, pledge, sell, contract to issue or sell, issue or sell any option or contract to purchase,
purchase any option or contract to issue or sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase or
otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any Subsea Shares or Relevant Securities
(as defined below) or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Subsea
Shares or Relevant Securities; or (ii) enter into any swap or any other agreement or any
transaction that transfers, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any of the economic
consequences of ownership of Subsea Shares or Relevant Securities, whether any such swap or
transaction described in (i) or (ii) above is to be settled by delivery of Subsea Shares or Relevant
Securities or such other securities, in cash or otherwise. The foregoing sentence shall not apply to
(a) the issue of the Bonds, (b) the issue of the U.S.$175,000,000 Zero Coupon Secured Convertible
Notes due 2017 (the “Subsea Notes”) to be issued by Subsea 7 on 29 June 2007, (c) any Subsea
Shares issued pursuant to conversion of the Bonds, or the U.S.$300,000,000 2.80 per cent.
Convertible Bonds due 2011 of Subsea 7, (d) any Subsea Shares delivered pursuant to exchange of
the Siem Bonds, (e)the issue of Subsea Shares pursuant to any options, warrants or other rights
existing at the date of the Subscription Agreement and described in this Prospectus or (f) the issue
of Subsea Shares pursuant to any Subsea 7 employee share schemes existing at the date of the
Subscription Agreement and described in this Prospectus. “Relevant Securities” shall include any
participation certificates and any depositary or other receipt, instrument, rights or entitlement
representing Subsea Shares.
10.2

United States

The Bonds and the Subsea Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities
Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from,
or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Manager
has represented that it has not offered or sold, and agreed that it will not offer or sell, any Bonds
or any Subsea Shares within the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S
under the Securities Act. Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates, nor any persons acting on its or their
behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Bonds or any
Subsea Shares. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.
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10.3

United Kingdom

The Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that:
(i)

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause
to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within
the meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”))
received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Bonds in circumstances in which
section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Company and

(ii)

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United
Kingdom.

10.4

European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the
Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), the Manager has represented and
agreed that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is
implemented in that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”), it has not
made and will not make an offer of the Bonds to the public in that Relevant Member State prior to
the publication of a prospectus in relation to the Bonds which has been approved by the competent
authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant
Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, all in
accordance with the Prospectus Directive, except that it may, with effect from and including the
Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of the Bonds to the public in that Relevant Member
State (i) at any time to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial
markets or, if not so authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in
securities, (ii) to any legal entity which has two or more of (a) an average of at least 250
employees during the last financial year, (b) a total balance sheet of more than EUR 43,000,000,
and (c) an annual net turnover of more than EUR 50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or
consolidated accounts, (iii) to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (other than qualified
investor as defined in the Prospective Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the
manager or (iv) at any time in any other circumstances which do not require the publication by the
Company of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.
For the purposes of the preceding paragraph, the expression “an offer of Bonds to the public” in
relation to any Bonds in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by
any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Bonds to be offered so as to
enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Bonds, as the same may be varied in
that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State.
10.5

Cayman Islands

The Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that no invitation (whether directly or
indirectly) may be made to the public in the Cayman Islands to subscribe for the Bonds, unless the
Bonds are listed on the Cayman Islands Stock Exchange.
10.6

Switzerland

The Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that the Bonds will not be offered, directly or
indirectly, to the public in Switzerland and that the Prospectus will not constitute a public offering
prospectus as that term is understood pursuant to art. 652a or art. 1156 of the Swiss Federal Code
of Obligations.
11.
11.1

GENERAL INFORMATION - APPENDICES AND DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY
Listing

An application has been made to list the Bonds on Oslo Børs.
It is expected that the admission of the Notes for listing will be granted on or around 12 July 2007,
which is also the Issue date of the Bonds (Closing date).
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11.2

Approvals

The Board of Siem Industries Inc. resolved to issue the Bonds on 10 July 2007 pursuant to the
authority vested in the Board by the Articles of Association.
11.3

Expenses

The Company estimates the expenses associated with the issue and the listing of the Bonds,
including commission to the sole book runner and underwriter, to be approximately U.S.$
3,500,000.
11.4

ISIN and Common Code

The Bonds will be issued with NO0010372766 and Common Code: 030435958.
11.5

Yield

The yield on the Bonds to Final Maturity will be 0.95 per cent. The yield is calculated on the Closing
Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.
11.6

Voting on Bondholders’ meetings

Unless otherwise required by the issuer, the Chairman of the Board or bondholders representing
2 % of the outstanding bonds voting at a bondholders’ meeting will take place as a show of hands.
11.7

Address of the Paying, Transfer and Conversion Agent and Registrar

The Paying and Conversion Agent and the Registrar have the following address:
Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Verdipapirservice
Middeltunsgate 17
0362 Oslo
11.8

Appendices

Appendix 1: Annual Report 2006
Appendix 2: Annual Report 2005
Appendix 3: Articles of Association
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and all documents incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus will be available for physical inspection for the life of this Prospectus
at:
Siem Industries Inc.
P.O. Box 10718
Harbour Place - 5th Floor
103 South Church Street
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1006
CAYMAN ISLANDS
Telephone +1 344 949 1030
The documents will also be available for downloading
www.siemindustries.com for the life of this Prospectus.

from

the

Company’s

web

page

The Trust Deed may be obtained from the above address, on www.oslobors.no or from the Trustee
at the following address:
The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.
Fifth Floor
100 Wood Street
London EC2V 7EX
United Kingdom
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12.

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

In addition to the definitions listed below reference is made to the definitions included in Section 5
hereof “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”. Terms defined in Section 5 shall have the same
meaning when used otherwise in this Prospectus.
Board

The Board of Directors of Siem Industries Inc.

Bonds

The U.S.$ 275,000,000 Limited Recourse Secured Zero Coupon Siem
Industries Inc. Exchangeable Bond issue 2007/2017 or if the context so
requires, the individual denominations thereof of U.S.$100,000

Bondholders

Registered holders of Notes in VPS

Compensation
Committee

A committee of the Board supervising
including but not limited to the Plan

Company

Siem Industries Inc.

Directors

The Directors of Siem Industries Inc

DSND Inc.

The former name of Subsea 7 Inc., before it was named Siem Offshore
Inc.

EEA

European Economic Area , an economic area encompassing all the
members of the European Union and the European Free Trade Association
(EFTA), with the exception of Switzerland

FSMA

United Kingdom Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standard

Manager

Lehman Brothers International (Europe)

NGAAP

Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

NOK

Norwegian kroner, the lawful currency of the Kingdom of Norway

NOKUS

Norwegian Controlled Foreign Corporation Taxation

Norwegian Public
Companies Act

The Norwegian Public Companies Act of 13 June 1997 No 44

Norwegian Securities
Trading Act

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 19 June 1997 No 79

Subsea
Shares

Common shares issued by Subsea 7 Inc.

Shares

or

management

compensation

Oslo Børs

The Oslo Stock Exchange

Outstanding Bonds

All the Bonds issued other than (a) those which have been redeemed, (b)
those in respect of which Exchange Rights have been exercised and the
Issuer’s obligations in relation thereto have been duly performed, (c) those
in respect of which the date for redemption in accordance with the
Conditions has occurred and the redemption moneys have been duly paid
to the relevant Bondholder or on its behalf or to the Trustee or to the
Paying and Exchange Agent as provided in Clause 2 and remain available
for payment, (d) those which have become void or those in respect of
which claims have become prescribed under Condition 12, and (e) those
which have been purchased and cancelled as provided in Condition 7;
provided that for the purposes of (i) ascertaining the right to attend and
vote at any meeting of the Bondholders, (ii) the determination of how
many Bonds are outstanding for the purposes of Conditions 10, 13 and 14
and Schedule 1 and (iii) the exercise of any discretion, power or authority
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which the Trustee is required, expressly or impliedly, to exercise in or by
reference to the interests of the Bondholders, those Bonds (if any) which
are held by, or on behalf of, the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer and
not yet cancelled shall be deemed not to remain outstanding;
Prospectus

This Prospectus, dated 11 July 2007

Prospectus Directive

Directive 2003/71/EC

Relevant
State

Each Member State of the European
implemented the Prospectus Directive

Member

Economic

Area

which

has

Relevant
Implementation Date

The date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in the Relevant
Member State

Subscription
Agreement

The Subscription Agreement between the Company and the Manager
dated 31 May 2007
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Subsea 7

Subsea 7 Inc., or if the context so requires, the Subsea 7 Group.

Subsidiary

A company in which the Company directly or indirectly controls more than
50 per cent. of the voting securities or otherwise has the power to appoint
a majority of the Directors.

Trust Deed

The trust deed for the Notes to be entered into between the Company and
the Trustee on 12 July 2007

Trustee

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.

U.S.$

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

VPS

The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (“Verdipapirsentralen”)

Glossary
AUV

Autonomous Underwater Vehicle

Bare Boat Charter

Rental or lease of a vessel where the charterer hires vessel without crew
and pays all expenses, including crew costs, insurance, maintenance and
operating expenses

CDTM

Controlled depth tow method, a transportation method to the offshore
location developed by Subsea 7, which allows for onshore construction of a
bundle of flow lines within a single outer carrier pipe terminated at each
end by structures designed to accommodate the bundle

DP

Dynamic Positioning – active positioning of a stationary vessel or rig by
thrusters (as compared to anchoring)

DSV

Dive Support Vessel

FPSO

Floating Production Storage and Offloading – floating offshore oil and gas
production units

IODP

Integrated Ocean Drilling Programme, an international research
programme that explores the history and structure of the Earth as
recorded in seafloor sediments and rocks, started in 2003 and has a
planned duration until 2013. The IODP is an international nonprofit
corporation and its membership consists of scientific institutions involved
in deep sea drilling

IRM

Inspection, Repair and Maintenance

LTI-frequence

Loss Time Injury or Illness, defined as the number of working hours lost
due to injury or illness after the shift on which the injury occurred,
calculated per 200,000 man-hours

NQISO

Non Qualifying Stock Options

NWT

Net Weight Ton

Operator

Commercially responsible for operations

QISO

Qualifying Incentive Stock Options

Riser

A pipe which connects a rig or platform to a subsea wellhead or pipeline
during drilling or production operations

ROTV

Remotely Operated Towed Vehicle

ROV

Remotely Operated Vehicle
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SURF

Subsea Umbilical Riser and Flowline installation

Time charter

An arrangement whereby the shipowner lets, and the charterer hires the
vessel complete with crew for a voyage or a period of time. The charterer
pays port charges and for fuel. Time charter hire is customarily paid in
advance

Umbilical

Narrow, reinforced, flexible pipeline containing several different cores,
which are used to carry electrical power, chemicals and control fluids to
the wellhead or other subsea equipment

Prospekt KML-70733.doc

84

13.

CROSS REFERENCE GUIDE

Chapter 8 (financial information) is incorporated by reference to the annual reports for the years
ended 31 December 2006 and 2005 which are attached as appendices 1 and 2 to the Prospectus.
Nr.

11.

Reference
Annual
2006
FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE
ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND
LOSSES

to
Report

Reference
to
Annual
Report
2005

Page 13-16

Page 16-19

Page 13-16

Page 16-19

Page 18-19

Page 20-21

Page 13-16

Page 16-19

a.
11.1.

Historical Financial Information
Audited historical financial information covering
the latest 2 financial years (or such shorter
period that the issuer has been in operation),
and the audit report in respect of each year.
Such financial information must be prepared
according to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 s,
or if not applicable to a Member’s State
national accounting standards for issuers from
the Community. For third country issuers, such
financial information must be prepared
according to the international accounting
standards adopted pursuant to the procedure
of Article 3 of Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 or
to a third country’s national accounting
standards equivalent to these standards.
Otherwise, the following information must be
included in the registration document:
(a)

a prominent statement that the financial
information included in the registration
document has not been prepared in
accordance
with
the
international
accounting standards adopted pursuant to
the procedure of Article 3 of Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 and that there may
be material differences in the financial
information had Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 been applied to the historical
financial information

(b)

immediately
following
the
historical
financial
information
a
narrative
description of the differences between the
international
accounting
standards
adopted pursuant to the procedure of
Article 3 of Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002
and the accounting principles adopted by
the issuer in preparing its annual financial
statements.

The most recent year's historical financial
information must be presented and prepared in
a form consistent with that which will be
adopted in the issuer’s next published annual
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financial
statements
having
regard
to
accounting
standards
and
policies
and
legislation applicable to such annual financial
statements.
If the audited financial information is prepared
according to national accounting standards, the
financial information required under this
heading must include at least the following:
(a) the balance sheet;
(b) the income statement;
(c) the accounting policies and explanatory
notes.
The historical annual financial information must
be independently audited or reported on as to
whether or not, for the purposes of the
registration document, it gives a true and fair
view, in accordance with auditing standards
applicable in a Member State or an equivalent
standard. Otherwise, the following information
must be included in the registration document:

Page 12

Page 15

Page 13-15

Page 16-19

a) a prominent statement disclosing which
auditing standards have been applied;
b) an explanation of any significant departures
from International Standards on Auditing.
11.2.

Financial statements
If the issuer prepares both own and
consolidated financial statements, include at
least the consolidated financial statements in
the registration document.
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SIEM INDUSTRIES

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC.
2006 ANNUAL REPORT

THE COMPANY
Siem Industries Inc. is a diversified industrial holding company that
operates through autonomous affiliates. We currently hold interests in
several industrial areas including the oil and gas services industry, ocean
transport of refrigerated cargoes, ocean transport of automobiles and
financial investments.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS :
The strong market for our fields of operations continued during 2006 and we believe that the
market for our main area of operations, the oil and gas service sector, will remain strong for several
years. The Group’s committed capital expenditures in this sector are in excess of $2 billion which
places the Group in a strong position to exploit this market. Subsea 7 is building 3 large vessels at a
cost of $600 million in addition to upgrading of existing vessels and expanding its i-Tech division’s
fleet of ROVs (remote operated vehicles). Siem Offshore has increased its fleet by 21 vessels since it
was spun-off from Subsea 7 in mid-2005. Seventeen of these vessels are newbuilds, already delivered
or under construction at four different Norwegian shipyards, while the remaining four are
purchases of secondhand modern vessels. The Group is positioned with a fleet of the highest
standard to meet our objective to be the preferred supplier with our customers based on quality,
reliability and safety. At the same time, our organisation has developed and is equipped to handle
the growth and the many challenges of the offshore operations.

The nature of our business is long-term. The vessels and other operating tools have a 25-year life or
more. Client contracts are multi-year and the lead time through the planning phase of projects can
be several years. The orientation of our organisation is towards the right measures for the long-term
and to assure the ability to deliver a quality service on a timely basis. This does not always generate
the quickest reward, but we believe a more significant reward will be achieved over time and at
lower risk. We strive to execute operations with excellence and for our people to take pride in their
jobs and accomplishments.

Net income for 2006 was $89,031,000 and total assets at year-end were $938,991,000.
Shareholders’ equity continued to experience strong growth as the book value increased to $37.26
per share from $29.96 per share, or an increase of 24%.

There are more than 100 vessels in the Group and approximately 6,000 people, including seafarers.
When the remaining 24 vessels currently under construction are commissioned, the required
number of people in the Group will grow by more than 600. The availability of qualified personnel
has been affected by the high activity level in the industry, the equipment onboard the vessels is
becoming more sophisticated every day and the operations are conducted in deeper water and

harsh environments requiring professional, focused and motivated personnel. Therefore, the
successful recruiting and training of personnel is key to safe and reliable operation and it is our
duty and responsibility, as the Board and Management, to provide optimum working conditions
and to establish a good safety culture within the Group. We hope to preserve our good safety
record through our training programmes and focus on execution of operations.

I thank all our people for their contributions to a record year for the Company.

Kristian Siem, Chairman
11 June 2007

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION TO BUSINESS
The Company operates as a diversified industrial holding company with its major holdings in the oil and
gas service industry through its holdings in Subsea 7 Inc. and Siem Offshore Inc., in the shipping industry
through its holdings in STAR Reefers Inc. and Siem Car Carriers Inc. and in the financial investment area
through its holdings in Siem Investments Inc., Deep Seas Insurance Ltd. and Siem Capital AB.
Press releases and quarterly financial reports issued by the Company may be obtained from the
Company’s website at www.siemindustries.com.
DESCRIPTION OF MAJOR INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS
SUBSEA 7 INC.
At 31 December 2006, the Company beneficially owned 66,394,145 shares of Subsea 7 Inc. (OSE
Symbol: SUB), or approximately 45.1% of its issued and outstanding shares. The Company accounts for the
investment under the equity method of accounting.
Fiscal 2006 Discussion and Subsequent Events — In January 2006, the Company received 7,340,492 shares
of Subsea 7 following the conversion of its holdings of NOK140,130,000 8% Convertible Bonds at the
conversion rate of NOK19.09 per share. The Company added to its investment in Subsea 7 in March 2006
when it purchased 704,000 shares of Subsea 7 in the market at an average price of NOK81.3226 per share.
In June 2006, Subsea 7 completed a private placement for $300,000,000 of convertible bonds (the “2011
Convertible Bonds”). Terms of the bond facility provide for conversion into ordinary shares at a conversion
price of $26.3268 per share, the bonds bear interest at 2.80% p.a., maturity of the bonds in June 2011 and
redemption at various points throughout the term of the facility. The proceeds from the bond issue were
used to finance the upgrade of the company’s fleet and for other working capital purposes.
In conjunction with the preparation and issue of the 2011 Convertible Bonds, the Company agreed to
enter into a global master stock lending agreement with the bond facility underwriter to facilitate the
marketing of the 2011 Convertible Bonds. Terms of the agreement provide that the Company will lend up to
9,000,000 shares of its Subsea 7 shareholdings to the underwriter who will, in turn, lend these shares to
purchasers of the 2011 Convertible Bonds to engage in various investment activities. The Subsea 7 shares or
their equivalent must be returned to the Company at the conclusion of the bond facility. Also, the Company
is permitted under certain circumstances to request redelivery of the shares during the term of the facility.
The Company will receive a fee equal to 0.50% p.a. of the average daily market value of the number of shares
borrowed. At the end of fiscal 2006, 380,000 shares of Subsea 7 were borrowed and outstanding under the
terms of the agreement.
Subsea 7 conducts operations in all of the major offshore oil and gas areas worldwide. At the end of
2006, Subsea 7 employed in excess of 4,300 employees, controlled a fleet of 16 vessels, utilized more than 100
remotely-operated vehicles (ROVs) from advanced workclass systems to small observation class vehicles and
operated five pipeline construction yards. During the past two years, Subsea 7 has undertaken significant
capital expenditures to meet the requirements of the growing offshore business, including approximately
$600,000,000 for the following newbuild contracts: the Seven Oceans, a rigid-pipe pipelay and construction
vessel, scheduled for delivery in June 2007; the Seven Seas, a flexible-pipe pipelay and construction vessel with
the ability to J-lay rigid pipe, scheduled for delivery in the second quarter of 2008; and the Seven Atlantic, a
new dive support vessel featuring an advanced 24-man saturation diving system, scheduled for delivery in the
first quarter 2009.
In May 2007, Subsea 7 announced the pricing of its private placement of $175,000,000 of convertible
bonds due 2017 (the “2017 Convertible Bonds”). The 2017 Convertible Bonds will be convertible into
newly-issued ordinary shares of Subsea 7 and have a zero coupon, a yield-to-maturity of 0.95% and an
exchange premium of 35%. The Company will have an option to call the 2017 Convertible Bonds after 5
years at their accreted principal amount. Bondholders will have the right to require the Company to redeem
the 2017 Convertible Bonds at their accreted principal amount at the end of years 3, 5 and 7. The reference
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price for the 2017 Convertible Bonds was set at NOK126.2756 and the exchange rate to be used to
determine the number of shares underlying the bonds is NOK6.05/USD1.00. The total number of new
Subsea 7 ordinary shares to be issued if all 2017 Convertible Bonds are converted is 6,210,695 shares.
The 2017 Convertible Bonds are expected to settle on or about 29 June 2007. An application will be
made to list and trade the Bonds on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
The following financial highlights for Subsea 7 show results and amounts for fiscal years 2006 and 2005:
As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

Subsea 7 Financial Highlights (in thousands):

Financial Performance: Revenues
EBITDA
Net income

$ 1,670,358
$
264,920
$
137,618

$ 1,287,028
$ 166,093
$
41,233

Financial Position:

Assets
Liabilities

$ 1,272,215
$
740,279

$
$

Other notable:

Capital expenditures
Backlog

$
265,184
$ 3,748,000

$ 109,717
$ 1,355,000

880,930
592,252

For more information regarding Subsea 7, please visit Subsea 7’s website at www.subsea7.com.
At 6 June 2007, the Company beneficially owned 66,394,145 shares of Subsea 7 with a market value
of approximately $1,350,000,000 using a closing market price of NOK121.75 and an exchange rate of
NOK5.9880/$1.00.
SIEM OFFSHORE INC.
At 31 December 2006, the Company owned 64,128,403 shares of Siem Offshore Inc. (OSE Symbol:
SIOFF), or approximately 38.3% of its issued and outstanding shares. The Company accounts for the
investment under the equity method of accounting.
Siem Offshore originated from the spin-off of non-subsea assets by Subsea 7 which was effective at the
beginning of July 2005. Following the spin-off, the Company received 58,349,653 shares of Siem Offshore.
The shares of Siem Offshore were subsequently listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. Upon commencement of
its operations as an independent company, Siem Offshore owned 6 platform supply vessels (PSVs) of a VS
470 Mk II design that were under construction plus options for the construction of two more vessels of the
same design, a 50%-interest in Overseas Drilling Limited (“ODL”) which is owner of the JOIDES Resolution, a
41%-interest in KS Big Orange XVIII which is owner of the Big Orange XVIII, a subsidiary that owns and
operates 10 supply/crew vessels in Brazil and other activities related to software development projects in
Brazil.
Fiscal 2006 Discussion and Subsequent Events — Siem Offshore acquired 100% of Rovde Shipping AS, later
renamed Siem Rovde AS, in February 2006 by the issuance of 35,019,678 new shares to Siem Rovde’s
former shareholders. At the time of the acquisition, Siem Rovde owned vessel management operations, held
a 20%-interest and a 35%-interest in two modern, large-size platform supply vessels (“PSV”) of VS483 design
and UT745 design, respectively, and held full ownership in four small PSVs with standby and oil-recovery
capabilities operating in the North Sea.
In May 2006, Siem Offshore entered a share purchase agreement with Wellis AS for the right and
obligation to acquire a 60%-interest in Well Intervention Services AS, later renamed Siem WIS AS, in
scheduled transactions. In connection with the agreement, Siem Offshore issued 2,300,000 new shares to
Wellis and provided a capital infusion of NOK15,000,000 in May 2006 and a second capital infusion of
15,000,000 in January 2007. Siem WIS is involved in the development of riserless subsea intervention,
drilling and maintenance services.
Later in May 2006, Siem Offshore and OH Meling & Co. AS (“Meling”) reached an agreement whereby
Siem Offshore acquired a shipbuilding contract for a large-size PSV of MT6000 design and Siem Offshore
and OH Meling share ownership on a 51:49 basis in a vessel-owning company with one mid-size, 2004-built
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PSV of VS470 Mk II design and one shipbuilding contract for a large PSV of VS485 CD design. This
transaction represents an investment of approximately NOK500,000,000.
In August 2006, Siem Offshore purchased the large-size PSV of VS483 design from a partnership for
NOK183,000,000. Siem Offshore was a 20% owner in this partnership.
During 2006, Siem Offshore placed orders for the construction of 12 new vessels at a total contract
value of NOK4.8 billion, or approximately $760,000,000 based on year-end exchange rates. The orders
included the exercise of options for two additional mid-size PSVs of VS470 Mk II design, two constructions
vessels of MT6016 L design, two multi-purpose field and ROV support vessels of MT6017 Mk II design and
six large anchor-handling, towing and support vessels (“AHTS”) of VS491 CD design with options for six
additional AHTS newbuilds of the same design.
In addition to the vessel acquisitions and contracts for newbuilds, Siem Offshore sold two of its new
mid-size PSVs of VS470 Mk II design for a total NOK356,000,000 and three of the smaller standby vessels
for a total NOK60,000,000. Proceeds from the sales were used to finance the newbuild contracts for
specialized vessels.
In April 2007, Siem Offshore exercised the first option for two AHTS newbuilds for approximately
NOK1.1 billion and, in May 2007, acquired a newbuild contract for a mid-size PSV of MT6009 Mk II design
for approximately NOK219,000,000.
Including the newbuilding contracts and the recently exercised option for two additional AHTS, Siem
Offshore owns or has ownership interests in a fleet of 37 vessels engaged as PSVs, multi-purpose field and
ROV support vessels and offshore construction vessels (“MRSV” and “OCV”, respectively), AHTS, crew and
emergency rescue and recovery vessels (“ERRV”), scientific ocean drilling vessel (“SODV”) and wellintervention and support vessel (“WSV”).
During 2006, the Company increased its investment in Siem Offshore by the purchase of 4,410,750
shares in March 2006 at an average price of NOK4.20 per share and the purchase of 1,368,000 shares in
June 2006 at an average price of NOK4.50 per share, all purchases being made in market transactions.
In May 2007, Siem Offshore announced that it would conduct a 1:3 share rights issue whereby a
shareholder will receive subscription rights to enable the shareholder to purchase one new share for every
three shares that are owned. Following settlement of the issue at the subscription price of NOK13- per new
share, the number of issued and outstanding shares will increase by 55,972,966 shares to a total 223,891,866
shares. The proceeds will be used to secure the financing of the newbuilds currently under construction and
to position Siem Offshore for further growth and expansion. The subscription rights issued to Siem Offshore
shareholders will be tradeable and listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. It is expected that the new Siem
Offshore shares will be issued on or after 11 July 2007.
The Company has agreed to provide an underwriting guarantee for the full amount of the rights issue
and will receive a 1.50% guarantee fee.
The following financial highlights show the actual results and amounts for Siem Offshore for 2006 and,
for comparative purposes, the unaudited proforma results and amounts for 2005, details of which are
included in Siem Offshore’s 2006 Annual Report.
Actual and Proforma Results and Amounts for Siem Offshore

As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2006
Proforma 2005

(in thousands)

Financial Performance: Revenues
Net income (loss)

$
$

73,554
45,012

$
$

51,005
(4,059)

Financial Position:

$
$

349,985
207,870

$
$

142,325
58,610

Assets
Liabilities

For more information regarding Siem Offshore, please visit its website at www.siemoffshore.com.
At 6 June 2007, the Company owned 64,128,403 shares of Siem Offshore with a market value of
approximately $152,610,000 using a closing market price of NOK14.25 and an exchange rate of
NOK5.9880/$1.00.
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STAR REEFERS INC.
At 31 December 2006, the Company owned 6,272,534 shares of STAR Reefers Inc. (OSE Symbol: SRI),
or approximately 71.6% of its issued and outstanding shares. STAR’s financial statements are included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Fiscal 2006 Discussion and Subsequent Events — STAR Reefers Inc. (“STAR Reefers” or “STAR”) is one of
the world’s leading reefer owners and operators. At the end of 2006, STAR Reefers controlled a modern fleet
of 40 owned and chartered vessels, including the two newbuilds scheduled for delivery during first half of
2007, with a total capacity of 21.2 million cubic feet (“cbft”). The operations include the refrigerated marine
transportation of perishable commodities such as fruits and vegetables.
In February 2006, STAR set-up a new subsidiary in Gdynia, Poland and established an in-house ship
management function to manage certain of its vessels.
STAR received delivery of the STAR First in March 2006 and STAR Prima in December 2006. These
vessels are the first two in a series of four sister ships that STAR has taken on 10-year charters from a
Japanese owner. Each of these specialized vessels has a 617,000 cbft (“cubic foot”) capacity and slots for
almost 200 FEU containers (“forty-foot equivalent units”).
In June 2006, STAR declared its option to purchase four vessels that had been on bareboat charter to
STAR for several years. The purchase was completed in December 2006 with a payment price of
$29,800,000.
In March 2007, STAR entered into an agreement with a Japanese owner to charter a second series of
four sister ships under 10-year time charters. Each of these specialized vessels will be built in Japan, have a
615,000 cbft capacity and slots for almost 200 FEU containers and are scheduled for delivery between early2008 and early-2010.
The financial statements of STAR are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The
following financial highlights for STAR show its comparative results and amounts for 2006 and 2005.
As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

STAR Reefers Financial Highlights (in thousands)

Financial Performance: Operating revenues
EBITDA
Net income (loss)

$
$
$

171,743
58,938
37,666

$
$
$

154,007
45,851
31,242

Financial Position:

$
$

319,842
160,848

$
$

311,556
191,235

Assets
Liabilities

For more information regarding STAR Reefers, please visit its website at www.star-reefers.com.
At 6 June 2007, the Company owned 6,272,534 shares of STAR with a market value of approximately
$214,741,000 using a closing market price of NOK205.00 and an exchange rate of NOK5.9880/$1.00.
SIEM CAR CARRIERS INC. (“Car Carriers”)
At 31 December 2006, the Company owned approximately 88% of Siem Car Carriers Inc. Car Carriers
is the owner of three 2000-built sister ships engaged in the ocean-transportation of vehicles, each with a
carrying capacity of 4,300 cars and 400 high and heavy units.
Two of the vessels are under 5-year time charters, one of which is scheduled to expire on or about May
2010 and the second on or about August 2010. The third vessel had its term extended to May 2008
following the exercise of an option under the existing charter.
Car Carriers’ financial statements are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. On
a standalone basis, Car Carriers recorded net income of $6,900,000 and $6,670,000 in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The aggregate market value of the vessels has appreciated since the 2002 acquisition.
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INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ACTIVITIES
TRANSOCEAN INC. — At 31 December 2006, the Company owned 1,423,720 shares of Transocean, a
publicly-traded company (NYSE Symbol: RIG) and the world’s premier offshore contractor with the largest
and most technologically-advanced fleet of offshore drilling units. The ownership remained unchanged at 6
June 2007 and, at that time, the Transocean common stock had a market value of approximately
$141,005,000. The Company accounts for this investment as a long-term financial asset. For more
information on Transocean, please visit Transocean’s website at www.deepwater.com.
SIEM INVESTMENTS INC. — Siem Investments was established to originate and/or participate in the
acquisition, reorganization or restructuring of investment opportunities in particular businesses experiencing
distress situations.
Since the commencement of its activities, Siem Investments accumulated a number of investments
which have since concluded successfully. The only remaining investment of significance is a 49%-interest in
Deusa International GmbH, a German company involved in potash mining. Siem Investments acquired its
interest in 2004. The Company accounts for the investment in Deusa using the equity method.
During 2005, Deusa entered into contracts for the construction of a thermolysis plant which is expected
to become operational later in 2007 with full operation planned shortly thereafter. The thermolysis plant will
receive municipal wastes of a specified content and grade and incinerate these wastes at very high
temperatures causing the release of gases which can be used to generated power for the potash mining
operations
Siem Investments has agreed to provide project-financing to Deusa until the operational risks associated
with this process have been reduced and acceptable bank financing can be obtained.
SIEM CAPITAL AB — The Company has held a 64% interest in share capital and a 50% voting interest in
Siem Capital AB, a Swedish company, since February 1998 with the remaining 36% share capital and 50%
voting interest held by the previous managers of Siem Capital. The Company accounts for this investment
using the equity method.
Siem Capital holds interests in several industrial companies including: EFG European Furniture Group
AB (“EFG”), a manufacturer of office furniture in Europe; Emotron AB, a developer of variable speed drives,
softstarters and monitors for electrical motors; Boule Diagnostics International AB, a developer of
hematology diagnostic systems; and Essentys AB, a research biotech company. In April 2007, Siem Capital
and other owners sold their interests in EFG at a profit.
The Company received distributions from Siem Capital in the amounts of SEK123,500,000 in April
2005 and SEK10,000,000 in December 2005.
DEEP SEAS INSURANCE LTD. — Deep Seas Insurance (“DSI”), the Company’s 51%-owned Cayman Islands
captive insurance affiliate, commenced operations in early-2006. DSI provides a risk management function to
companies within the Company’s group by participating as co-insurer on marine insurances and as lead
insurer on other risks on a fully reinsured basis. Subsea 7 owns the remaining 49% interest in DSI. DSI’s
financial statements are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
NATURE OF TRADING MARKET
Quotes for the Company’s common shares, U.S. $0.25 par value per share (“Common Shares”), which is
the Company’s only issued and outstanding form of equity securities, are available from Pink Sheets LLC, a
centralized quotation service that collects and publishes market maker quotes for OTC securities, under the
symbol “SEMUF” at www.pinksheets.com. Previously, the Company's Common Shares were publicly-traded
on the American Stock Exchange commencing in 1987 and on the Oslo Stock Exchange commencing in
1997. The Company voluntarily delisted from the American Stock Exchange effective October 1998. The
Company was delisted by the Oslo Stock Exchange in November 1999 when it failed to satisfy a requirement
for a minimum number of shareholders to be registered on the VPS in Norway. The Company is not
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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There are approximately 86 holders of record and it is estimated that there are less than 1,000,000
Common Shares available for active trading, or approximately 6% of the outstanding shares. Daily trading, if
any, of Common Shares on the Pink Sheets is often numbered in hundreds of shares. The low liquidity of
the Company’s Common Shares has made the trading susceptible to volatile pricing.
In January 2005, the Company announced a tender offer to purchase up to 1,000,000 Common Shares.
The purpose of the tender offer was to provide an opportunity to interested shareholders to liquidate some
or all of their holdings without a potential disruption in price and without having to incur the usual
transaction costs associated with open-market sales. At closing of the tender offer in March, the Company
purchased and retired 26,752 Common Shares.
In October 2005, the Company agreed to an offer to exchange $17,000,000 and NOK85,000,000 face
amount of Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bonds held by the Company for 1,714,500 Common Shares. The
Company Common Shares were retired following settlement of the transaction.
At the end of the day on 6 June 2007, the best bid and ask prices were $62.00 (for 200 shares) and
$72.00 (for 200 shares), respectively, with the most recent sale at $72.00 per Common Share.
DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company's policy is to reinvest available funds into the business and, consequently, the Company
does not pay dividends on a regular basis. The Board of Directors declared an extraordinary cash dividend of
$0.07 per Common Share to shareholders which was paid 25 January 2006.
CONTROL
The following table sets forth certain information, as of 6 June 2007 with respect to the only persons
known to the Company who owned beneficially more than 10% of the Company's 15,529,927 issued and
outstanding Common Shares and the number of Common Shares owned by the other officers and directors
of the Company, as a group:
Name of Beneficial Owners
or Identity of Group

Shares
Beneficially Owned

8,755,638
1,878,356
101,671

Sero Trust (1)
Kristian Siem (2)
Other Officers and Directors as a Group

Percentage of
Common Shares

56.4%
12.1%
0.7%

(1) The Sero Trust, whose potential beneficiaries include the mother and certain of the brothers of Mr. Kristian Siem, Chairman of the
Company, is the beneficial owner of the Common Shares through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Elderberry Holdings Limited, which
is the direct owner of the Common Shares. The trustee for the Sero Trust holds voting and dispositive power over its shareholding.
(2) Mr. Siem directly owns 1,878,356 Common Shares, or approximately 12.1% of the Common Shares. The Ores Trust is the
beneficial owner of 1,352,432 Common Shares, or approximately 8.7% of the Common Shares, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Siem Holding Inc., which is the direct owner of the Common Shares. Mr. Siem and his wife and children are potential
beneficiaries of the Ores Trust. Each of Mr. Siem and the trustee for the Ores Trust hold separate voting and dispositive powers
over their respective shareholdings.

EXCHANGE CONTROLS AND OTHER LIMITATIONS AFFECTING SHAREHOLDERS
The Company may not carry on business in the Cayman Islands except in furtherance of its business
outside the Cayman Islands and is prohibited from inviting the public of the Cayman Islands to subscribe for
any of its common shares.
Neither the Company's Memorandum or Articles of Association nor Cayman Islands law impose any
limitations on the right of nonresident or foreign owners to hold or vote their common shares except in the
event of insanity of a holder. The laws of the Cayman Islands freely permit the import and export of capital
including, but not limited to, the payment of dividends to persons who do not reside in the Cayman Islands.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data has been derived from the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2006 and 2005 and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements of the Company (including the related notes) and “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere herein.
Years Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Total revenues (1)
Total expenses and other
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense

$ 286,958
(186,476)
100,482
(110)

$ 205,522
(169,034)
36,488
332

100,592
11,561

36,156
9,319

Net income
Minority interests
Net income attributed to Common Shares

$

89,031

$

26,837

Net income, basic and diluted,
per Common Share

$

5.91

$

1.64

FINANCIAL POSITION:
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Shareholders' equity

$ 19,503
$ 938,991
$ 230,495
$ 560,935

$ 42,104
$ 778,809
$ 230,586
$ 451,042

Wtd. avg. no. shares outstanding
Ending no. of shares outstanding

15,052
15,052

16,407
15,053

(1) Includes share of profit (loss) of associates of $78,885 and $13,217 for each of the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2005, respectively.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW
In January 2006, the Company received 7,340,492 shares of Subsea 7 following conversion of the
NOK140,130,000 Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bonds to increase its shareholding to 65,690,145 shares of
Subsea 7.
At the end of January 2006, the Company paid approximately $1,053,000 cash to Company
shareholders with respect to the dividends declared at the end of 2005 at the rate of $0.07 per Common
Share.
In March 2006, the Company purchased 4,410,750 shares of Siem Offshore in the market at an average
price of NOK4.20 per share which increased its shareholding to 62,760,403 shares of Siem Offshore.
Also in March 2006, the Company purchased 704,000 shares of Subsea 7 in the market at an average
price of NOK81.3226 per share which increased its shareholding to 66,394,145 shares of Subsea 7.
At the end of May 2006, the Company paid $3,500,000 and concluded a settlement and release
agreement for any and all claims by all parties arising from an event that occurred in 1990. This amount was
fully reserved following provisions made at the end of 2005.
In June 2006, the Company purchased 1,368,000 shares of Siem Offshore in the market at an average
price of NOK4.50 per share to increase its shareholding to 64,128,403 shares.
In June 2006, the Company provided an unsecured $17,000,000 loan to Siem Offshore with the
proceeds to be used to finance the vessel construction activity. Terms of the loan included an interest rate
based on 1-month LIBOR plus a 2.125% margin and a 0.10% arrangement fee. The loan was repaid in
December 2006.

7

In August 2006, the Company provided an unsecured NOK45,000,000 loan to Siem Offshore with the
proceeds to be used to finance a vessel acquisition. Terms of the loan included an interest rate based on 1month NIBOR plus a 1.625% margin and a 0.10% arrangement fee. The loan was repaid in December
2006.
During 2006, Siem Investments advanced a total of EUR15,494,000 to Deusa related to projectfinancing for the thermolysis plant construction and other capital expenditures.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FISCAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006 AND 2005
Operating revenues recorded during fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were $192,147,000 and $173,344,000,
respectively. The increase is attributed to continued growth of STAR’s operations and improvement in
freight rates.
The share of profit of associates recorded during fiscal years 2006 and 2005 was approximately
$78,885,000 and $13,217,000, respectively. The increase in the share of profit of associates for 2006 when
compared to 2005 is related to the increased volume of sales and improved operations of Subsea 7 and Siem
Offshore.
Interest income recorded during fiscal years 2006 and 2005 was approximately $3,628,000 and
$5,743,000, respectively. In general, interest income decreased from 2005 because of the reduction in
interest-bearing assets.
Net gains for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were approximately $9,377,000 and $10,508,000, respectively.
The net gains recorded during 2006 were related to the sales and mark-to-market of trading securities owned
by the Company. Major components of the net gains recorded during 2005 included approximately
$5,298,000 net gains related to the sales and mark-to-market of trading securities owned by the Company,
$2,045,000 related to the sale of a vessel by STAR and $2,286,000 related to the recovery from an
investment previously written-off.
Other revenues recorded during fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were approximately $2,921,000 and
$2,710,000, respectively. Significant other income items include dividend income and fees.
Operating expenses recorded during the fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were $109,006,000 and
$106,197,000, respectively. The increase is attributed to rising costs for crew, fuel and lube and supplies.
Depreciation and amortization expense for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were $18,787,000 and
$13,262,000, respectively. The increased depreciation expense during 2006 reflects a full year of depreciation
expense for vessels acquired by STAR in 2005 and depreciation expense related to the additional vessel
purchase in 2006.
Interest expense for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were approximately $13,899,000 and $8,212,000,
respectively. The increase in interest expense is attributed to a higher average level of borrowings during the
year and higher interest rates.
General and administrative expenses for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were approximately $50,547,000
and $30,772,000, respectively. General and administrative expenses during 2006 included $9,247,000
related to STAR, $33,512,000 related to the performance unit plan and $4,252,000 for management fee
expense. General and administrative expenses during 2005 included $9,295,000 related to STAR,
$4,700,000 provision to establish a reserve for the settlement of a claim and related legal fees, $13,180,000
related to the performance unit plan and $1,842,000 for management fee expense. The performance unit
plan is a long-term compensation incentive plan that provides benefits based on the difference between the
market value of the individual performance unit compared to the value of the unit on the date that the unit
was granted. The management fee expense is based on the level of net income and is determined in
accordance with provisions of a management service agreement.
Currency exchange gains (losses) for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were $6,562,000 and $(10,332,000),
respectively. The net currency exchange gains during 2006 result from the weakening of the USD to other
major currencies and the corresponding appreciation of the value of the Company’s non-USD denominated
investments.
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Income tax expense (benefit) for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were $(110,000) and $332,000, respectively.
Subsea 7 and Siem Offshore are the largest taxpayers in the consolidated entity; however, their significant tax
expenses are included in net equity income from unconsolidated associates and are not reflected separately in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY
The current ratios were 1.30 and 1.69 at 31 December 2006 and 2005, respectively. The interest-bearing
debt-to-total assets ratio were 0.25 and 0.30 at 31 December 2006 and 2005, respectively.
At the end of 2006, the Company had in excess of $100,000,000 in available drawing capacity under its
revolving credit facility and margin account.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In March 2007, the Company purchased and retired 25,050 Common Shares at an average price of $52
per Common Share.
In April 2007, the Company issued 502,485 new Common Shares and made a cash distribution in
exchange for outstanding liabilities due to participants of the 1987 Performance Unit Plan. The issuance of
new Common Shares will decrease performance unit liability and increase shareholders’ equity by
approximately $44,000,000.
In May 2007, the Company announced the pricing of its private placement of $275,000,000 of secured,
limited recourse, exchangeable bonds due 2017 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds will be exchangeable for ordinary
shares of Subsea 7 that are currently owned by the Company and have a zero coupon, a yield-to-maturity of
0.95% and an exchange premium of 35%. The Company will have an option to call the Bonds after 5 years
at their accreted principal amount. Bondholders will have the right to require the Company to redeem the
Bonds at their accreted principal amount at the end of years 3, 5 and 7. The reference price for the Subsea 7
bonds was set at NOK126.2756 and the exchange rate to be used to determine the number of shares
underlying the bonds is NOK6.05/USD1.00. The total number of Subsea 7 ordinary shares to be issued if all
Bonds are exchanged is 9,759,664 shares.
The Bonds are expected to settle on or about 12 July 2007. An application will be made to list and trade
the Bonds on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
Fifty percent of the gross proceeds of the Bonds will be invested in U.S. government treasury securities
during the life of the Bonds and the remaining proceeds will be used for future investments, investments in
associates, working capital and general corporate purposes. The security for the Bonds will initially consist of
the investments in U.S. government treasury securities and up to 18,100,000 ordinary shares of Subsea 7
that the Company currently owns.
The Company has entered into global master stock lending agreements (the “SLA”) with the facility
underwriter for the Company’s Bonds and the convertible bonds issued by Subsea 7. In summary, the
Company has agreed to lend up to 16,000,000 shares of its holdings in Subsea 7 ordinary shares to the
underwriter for a period of 3 years. The Subsea 7 ordinary shares or their equivalent must be returned to the
Company at the conclusion of the facilities provided, however, that the Company is permitted to request
redelivery of the shares during the term of the facilities under certain circumstances. The Company will
receive a 0.50% p.a. fee based on the average daily market value of the number of shares that have been
borrowed. The 16,000,000 ordinary shares of Subsea 7 made available under the SLA are included in the
18,100,000 ordinary shares of Subsea 7 that secure the Bonds. The stock lending agreement that originated
following the placement of convertible bonds by Subsea 7 in June 2006 is replaced by the SLA.
MARKET RISKS DISCLOSURES
The Company’s balance sheet includes a substantial amount of assets whose fair values are subject to
market risks. Due to the Company's significant level of investments in equity securities, fluctuations in equity
prices represent the largest market risk factor affecting the Company's financial position. The following
sections address the significant market risks associated with the Company's business activities.
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EQUITY PRICE RISK
Strategically, the Company strives to invest at reasonable prices in businesses possessing good economics
and competent management. The Company prefers to invest a meaningful amount in each investee and, as a
result, the Company's equity investments are concentrated in relatively few investees.
The Company's primary investment strategy is to invest in businesses in which it possesses experience on
a long-term basis. Thus, short-term price volatility with respect to its investments is understood and accepted
by the Company provided that the underlying business, economic and management qualities of the investees
remain favorable.
The carrying values of investments subject to equity price risks accounted for under the equity method
of accounting are based on costs adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of investee earnings. The
carrying values of investments which the Company has classified as available-for-sale securities are adjusted to
reflect market prices at the end of the period with the appreciation or depreciation in the investments
reflected as a component of other reserves. The carrying values of investments which the Company has
classified as trading securities are adjusted to reflect market prices at the end of the period with the
adjustment reflected as a gain or loss. Market prices are subject to fluctuation and, consequently, the amount
realized in the subsequent sale of an investment may significantly differ from the reported market value.
Fluctuation in the market price of a security may result from perceived changes in the underlying economic
characteristics of the investee, the relative price of alternative investments and general market conditions.
Furthermore, amounts realized in the sale of a particular security may be affected by the relative quantity of
the security being sold.
INVESTMENT CONCENTRATION RISK
The Company believes that it may have investment concentration risks with respect to its investments in
the oil and gas services industry. However, it believes that such risks are somewhat moderated because the oil
and gas service companies in which the Company has investments are positioned at different stages of the oil
and gas exploration and drilling cycle.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Investors are cautioned that certain statements contained in this document, as well as some statements
made by the Company in periodic press releases and some oral statements made by its management during
presentations about the Company, are "forward-looking" statements. Forward-looking statements include
statements which are predictive in nature, which depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, which
include words such as "expects", "anticipates", "intends", "plans", "believes", "estimates", or similar expressions.
In addition, any statements concerning future financial performance (including future revenues, earnings or
growth rates), ongoing business strategies or prospects, and possible future Company actions, which may be
provided by management, are also forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based on
current expectations and projections about future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions about the Company, economic and market factors and the industries in which the Company
conducts business, among other things. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and the
Company has no specific intention to update these statements.
Actual events and results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in forward-looking
statements due to a number of factors. The principal important risk factors that could cause the Company's
actual performance and future events and actions to differ materially from such forward-looking statements,
include, but are not limited to, changes in market prices of the Company's significant equity investees,
changes in income tax laws, and changes in general economic and market factors that affect the prices of
securities or the industries in which the Company and its associates conduct business.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The following persons are currently directors and executive officers of the Company:
DIRECTORS
Name

Kristian Siem
Barry W. Ridings
Ivar Siem
M.D. Moross

Position

Director and Chairman
Director (1,2)
Director
Director (1,2)

Director
Since

Present
Term Expires

1982
1993
2007
1995

2007
2007
2007
2009

(1) Member of Audit Committee.
(2) Member of Compensation Committee.

Directors are normally elected for terms of three years at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
Executive officers are appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the Board. Officer appointments are normally
confirmed at the Board meeting which promptly follows the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
At a meeting in George Town in May 2007, Mr. Ivar Siem was appointed Director and will be placed in
nomination for re-election at the next Annual General Meeting in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association. After the meeting, Mr. Michael Delouche, a Director since 2003 and whose term was
scheduled to expire in 2008, stepped down as a Director and will continue as President and Secretary.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Name

Michael Delouche

Office

President and Secretary

Officer Since

1991

Kristian Siem is chairman of Subsea 7 Inc., STAR Reefers Inc., Siem Offshore Inc. and Siem Capital AB
and a director on the boards of Transocean Inc. and North Atlantic Small Companies Investment Trust plc.
M.D. Moross is a private investor and the father-in-law of Kristian Siem.
Barry W. Ridings is a managing director and the vice chairman of U.S. Investment Banking for Lazard
Frères & Co. and is also chairman of LFCM Holdings which includes the operations of Lazard Capital
Markets and Lazard Alternative Investments.
Ivar Siem is chairman and chief executive office of Blue Dolphin Energy Company and chairman and
president of Drillmar, Inc. He is the brother of Kristian Siem.
Michael Delouche was appointed Controller in 1991, Secretary in 1994, Vice-President in 2002 and
President in 2003 and is a director on the boards of Subsea 7 Inc., STAR Reefers Inc. and Siem Offshore Inc.
COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company recorded aggregate fees for the services of its directors and officers for fiscal years 2006
and 2005 were approximately $4,509,000 and $2,154,000, respectively. Directors are entitled to a director’s
fee of $18,000 per annum and reimbursements of expenses incurred on behalf of the Company. Specific
agreements for the services of certain other directors and officers are as follows:
Management Services Agreement, Years 2005-2009 — Following the expiration of the former MSA at the end
of 2004, a new 5-year MSA was agreed between the Company and Mr. Siem effective January 1, 2005.
Many of the terms are similar to the former MSA. Mr. Siem must devote a minimum 50% of his
professional time, skill and labor to perform his duties for and promote the interests of the Company.
The annual compensation consists of a base compensation in the amount of $700,000 plus additional
compensation equal to 5% of the audited net income in excess of $4,000,000. The fees payable under
this MSA for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were $4,252,000 and $1,842,000, respectively.
Management Services Agreement — Mr. Delouche is seconded to the Company under a separate
management services agreement which provides for reimbursement for certain expenses incurred by
him. The reimbursements for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were approximately $221,000 and $206,000,
respectively.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AS
Postboks 447
NO-4664 Kristiansand
Telephone +47 02316
Telefax +47 23 16 10 00

To the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Siem Industries Inc.

Auditor’s Report for 2006
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Siem Industries Inc. at and for the year ended 31
December 2006, showing a profit of USD89,031,000. We have also audited the information in the Directors'
Report concerning the consolidated financial statements and the going-concern assumption. The Company’s
consolidated financial statements include the balance sheets, the statements of income and cash flows, the
statements of changes in equity and the accompanying notes, set out on pages 13 to 43. International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union have been applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s Board of Directors and Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and on other information according to the requirements of the Norwegian Act on
Auditing and Auditors.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the laws, regulations and auditing standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway, including standards on auditing adopted by The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants.
These auditing standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. To the extent required by law and auditing standards an audit also comprises a
review of the Management of the Company's financial affairs and its accounting and internal control systems. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion:
•

the consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the laws and
regulations and give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as of 31 December 2006 and
the results of its operations and its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year then ended, in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;

•

the information in the Directors' Report concerning the consolidated financial statements and the
going-concern assumption is consistent with the consolidated financial statements of the Company and
comply with the law and regulations.

Kristiansand, 11 June 2007
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Torstein S. Robstad
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.

Kontorer: Arendal Bergen Drammen Fredrikstad Førde Hamar Kristiansand Mo i Rana Molde Måløy Narvik Oslo Stavanger Stryn Tromsø Trondheim Tønsberg Ålesund
PricewaterhouseCoopers navnet refererer til individuelle medlemsfirmaer tilknyttet den verdensomspennende PricewaterhouseCoopers organisasjonen
Medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening | Foretaksregisteret: NO 987 009 713
www.pwc.no

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

For Years Ended 31 December
2006
2005

Notes

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
REVENUES:

Operating revenues
Share of profit (loss) of associates
Interest income
Gains (losses), net
Other
Total revenues

$ 192,147
78,885
3,628
9,377
2,921
286,958

$ 173,344
13,217
5,743
10,508
2,710
205,522

$

109,006
18,784
13,899
50,547
(6,562)
802
186,476
100,482
(110)
100,592
11,561
89,031

$

106,197
13,262
8,212
30,772
10,332
259
169,034
36,488
332
36,156
9,319
26,837

Earnings per Common Share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

5.91
5.91

$
$

1.64
1.64

Weighted avg. no. of Common Shares outstanding for period

15,052,492

10
5
12

OTHER EXPENSES:

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Currency exchange losses (gains), net
Other
Total other expenses
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income
Minority interests
Net income attributed to Common Shares

10,11
13
14,15,16,19
17,18

9

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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16,406,469

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Notes

(Dollars in thousands)

31 December
2006

31 December
2005

$

20,059
8,965
1,168
44,194
5,537
—
1,200
4,186
85,309
5,500
35,968
115,165
296,652
398,396
2,001
$ 938,991

$

$

$

ASSETS:

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, other
Accrued interest receivable
Trading securitites
Inventories
Notes, loans and other receivables
Due from associates and other related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Notes, loans and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments in associates
Vessels, property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total Assets

3

4
4
19

3
4
4
5
6
15

58,077
6,912
1,720
2,883
6,111
20,767
1,423
5,186
103,079
5,500
5,715
99,219
189,107
374,306
1,883
$ 778,809

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to associates and other related parties
Current maturities and short-term notes
Other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt and notes payable
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities and deferred credits
Total Liabilities
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred shares, $1.00 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized
Redeemable preferred shares, $0.01 par value,
50,000,000 shares authorized
Common shares, $0.25 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
15,052,492 shares issued and outstanding
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Other reserves
Total shareholders' equity
Minority interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

19
8
16
8
9
14,16

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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20

21

27,865
10
258
5,127
30,306
2,240
65,806
200,189
—
59,141
325,136

13,523
141
469
1,134
25,846
19,862
60,975
204,740
16
23,199
288,930

—

—

—

—

3,763
69,548
379,901
107,723
560,935
52,920
613,855
$ 938,991

3,763
64,405
290,870
92,004
451,042
38,837
489,879
$ 778,809

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in thousands, except number of shares)

Attributable to Common Shareholders
Paid-in
Retained
Common Shares
Number
Share Capital
Capital
Earnings

Other
Reserves

Minority
Interests

Balances at 31 December 2004
Reacquisition and
retirement of stock
Cash dividends ($0.07 per share)
Net income
Adjustments for issuances of shares
by associates to minority interests
at prices greater than book value
Subsidiaries issue shares to minority interests
Purchase shares from minority interests
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Currency translation adjustments
Share-based compensation

16,793,744

4,198

60,010

296,081

52,921

28,820

(1,741,252)
—
—

(435)
—
—

—
—
—

(30,995)
(1,053)
26,837

—
—
—

—
—
9,319

—
883
(185)

Balances at 31 December 2005
Net income
Adjustments for issuances of shares
by associates to minority interests
at prices greater than book value
Subsidiaries issue shares to minority interests
Sell shares in subsidiary
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Currency translation adjustments
Balances at 31 December 2006

15,052,492
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

4,395
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

38,867
142
74

$

3,763
—

$

64,405
—

$

290,870
89,031

$

92,004
—

—
—
—
$

38,837
11,561

—
—
—

—
—
—

5,143
—
—

—
—
—

(128)
—
—

1,023
1,009
490

—
—
15,052,492

—
—
3,763

—
—
69,548

—
—
379,901

15,946
(99)
$ 107,723

—
—
52,920

$

$

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

$

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For Years Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(Dollars in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income attributed to Common Shares
Adjustments to reconcile net income
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Undistributed share of loss (profit) of associates
Net losses (gains) on investments
Minority interests in net income
Deferred compensation for performance unit plan
Deferred income taxes
Currency exchange losses (gains)
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities net of effect of acquired companies:
(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable, other
Accrued interest receivable
Trading securities
Inventories
Due from associates
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to associates
Other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

89,031

$

26,837

23,506
(78,885)
(9,377)
11,561
33,512
(16)
(6,562)
—

16,937
(13,217)
(10,508)
9,319
13,180
(10)
10,332
74

(2,053)
552
(31,789)
574
223
1,000

(207)
1,311
22,024
(2,901)
(1,171)
1,593

14,342
(131)
(211)
3,993
(17,622)
31,648

1,157
129
(913)
(846)
8,034
81,154

(53,584)
25,684
(12,001)
(33,339)
—
2,255
(70,985)

(8,176)
31,811
18,329
(140,817)
19,598
258
(78,997)

$

—
61,128
(62,387)
—
1,009
147
(103)
1,422
(38,018)
58,077
20,059

$

(1,176)
83,000
(29,418)
(31,430)
—
(704)
20,272
(2,505)
19,924
38,153
58,077

$
$

13,963
78

$
$

9,125
212

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to notes receivable and other investments
Proceeds from repayment of notes receivable and other investments
Distributions from (investments in) associates
Purchases of vessels, shipping related assets and other
Disposal of vessels, shipping related assets and other
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Cash dividends paid to Company shareholders
Proceeds from long-term debt and notes payable
Repayment of long-term debt and notes payable
Repurchase of common stock
Contribution from minority interests of consolidated subsidiaries
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) GENERAL INFORMATION
Siem Industries Inc. was incorporated in October 1980 under the laws of the Cayman Islands as
Bahama Cruise Line, Inc. The name was changed to Bermuda Star Line, Inc. in 1986, to Norex America,
Inc. in 1989, to Norex Industries Inc. in 1996 and to Siem Industries Inc. in 1998. The “Company” or
“Siem Industries”, as used herein, refers to Siem Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries and associates unless the
context indicates otherwise.
The Company’s registered office address is P.O. Box 309, South Church Street, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
Quotes for the Company’s Common Shares are available from Pink Sheets LLC, a centralized quotation
service that collects and publishes quotes for over-the-counter securities by market makers, under the symbol
“SEMUF” at www.pinksheets.com .
The currency symbols “$” (or “USD”), “NOK” and “GBP” refer to United States dollars, Norwegian
kroner and British pounds representing the lawful currencies of the United States, Norway, and Great
Britain, respectively, and “EUR” refers to Euros.
At 31 December 2006, the Company held beneficial ownership in the following major investments:
66,394,145 shares, or 45.1%, of Subsea 7 Inc. (“Subsea 7”; OSE Symbol: “SUB”), a publicly-traded Cayman
Islands company and one of the world’s leading subsea engineering and construction contractors; 64,128,403
shares, or 38.2%, of Siem Offshore Inc. (“Siem Offshore”; OSE Symbol: “SIOFF”), a publicly-traded Cayman
Islands company that owns interests in 35 vessels operating in the oil and gas industry, which includes 15
vessels under construction at Norwegian yards, and 1 scientific offshore drilling vessel currently undergoing
conversion; 6,252,534 shares, or 71.6%, of STAR Reefers Inc. (“STAR”; OSE Symbol: “SRI”), a publiclytraded Cayman Islands company that controls a fleet of approximately 40 owned and chartered vessels
engaged in the refrigerated transportation of fruits and other perishable products; an 88% interest in Siem
Car Carriers, Inc. (“Car Carriers”), a Cayman Islands company and owner of three car carrier vessels; and
1,423,720 shares of Transocean Inc., a publicly-traded Cayman Islands company and the world’s
predominant deepwater drilling contractor. The Company also owned a 64%-interest in Siem Capital AB, a
49%-interest in Deusa International GmbH (“Deusa”), a German company, and a 51%-interest in Deep Seas
Insurance Limited, a captive insurance company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. At year-end, Siem
Capital held interests in several industrial companies including: EFG European Furniture Group AB, a
manufacturer of office furniture in Europe; Emotron AB, a developer of variable speed drives, softstarters
and monitors for electrical motors; Boule Diagnostics International AB, a developer of hematology diagnostic
systems; and Essentys AB, a research biotech company. Deusa’s operations include the mining of potash
which is used for fertilizer production, bischofite for the construction industry, magnesium chloride for deicing and other materials. Deusa is currently building a thermolysis process facility to produce energy for use
in its potash operations. Deep Seas Insurance commenced operations in early-2006 and provides a risk
management function to companies within the Siem Group of Companies by participating as co-insurer on
marine insurances and as lead insurer on other risks on a fully reinsured basis.
At 31 December 2006, Elderberry Holdings Limited (“Elderberry”) owned 8,755,638 shares, or
approximately 58.2% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s Common Stock. Elderberry is
owned by a trust, whose potential beneficiaries include the mother and certain of the brothers of Mr.
Kristian Siem, the Company’s Chairman. The Ores Trust beneficially owned 1,352,432 shares, or
approximately 9.0% of the Common Stock. Potential beneficiaries of the Ores Trust include members of Mr.
Siem’s immediate family. Mr. Siem personally owned 1,476,042 shares, or approximately 9.8% of the
Common Stock. Mr. Siem and the trustees for the trusts hold separate voting and dispositive powers over
their respective holdings.
Subsea 7, Siem Offshore, STAR and Car Carriers represent significant subsidiaries and associates of the
Company.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations by the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) under the assumption that the Company is a going-concern
and are presented in United States dollars. The consolidated financial statements are based on historical
costs, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and by adjustments of financial assets
and liabilities to fair value through profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the end of the fiscal year and the reported
amounts of income and expenses during the fiscal year. Estimates and assumptions made by management
include selecting useful lives of property and equipment, estimating provisions for uncollectible receivables,
determining the carrying value and possible impairment of long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets,
estimating income tax provision and performing other similar evaluations.
In 2005, the Company adopted IFRS for the preparation and presentation of its consolidated financial
statements. Prior to 2005, the Company prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“USGAAP”). The transition from USGAAP to
IFRS involved the restatement of retained earnings at 1 January 2004 and the restatement of the financial
statements for 2004 to provide comparative amounts for 2005.
STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED IFRS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The IASB and IFRIC have issued standards, interpretations and amendments to standards which are
effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2007.
IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and a complementary Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements – Capital Disclosures’”. IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about
financial instruments and the amendment to IAS 1 introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s
capital and how it manages capital. The Company believes that the main additional disclosures will be the
sensitivity analysis to market risk and the capital disclosures required by the amendment of IAS 1.
IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and proposes that entities adopt a management
approach to reporting financial performance and descriptive information about its reportable segments.
IFRIC 8 “Scope of IFRS 2”. This interpretation requires consideration of transactions involving the
issuance of equity instruments – where the identifiable consideration received is less than the fair value of the
equity instruments issued – to establish whether or not they fall under the scope of IFRS 2. It is anticipated
that this interpretation will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”. This interpretation requires an entity to assess whether an
embedded derivative should be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative when the
entity becomes party to such contract. Subsequent reassessment is prohibited unless certain conditions
prevail. It is anticipated that this interpretation will not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
IFRIC 10 “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment”. This interpretation addresses the interaction
between the requirements of IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” and the recognition of impairment losses on
goodwill under IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. Entities are prohibited from reversing an impairment loss
recognized in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity
instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. It is anticipated that this interpretation will not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRIC 11 “Group and Treasure Share Transactions”. This interpretation provides guidance on the
application of IFRS 2 in three specific sets of circumstances. It is anticipated that this interpretation will not
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have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the Company is prohibited
by Cayman Islands’ companies law from holding treasury stock.
IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements”. This interpretation provides guidance on the application of
existing IASB literature to service concession arrangements. It is anticipated that this interpretation will not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ASSOCIATES
Subsidiaries — Subsidiaries are entities over which the parent company generally controls more than 50% of
the entity’s issued and outstanding voting shares and has the ability to control its the operating and financial
policies. Details of the subsidiary’s financial statements are included within the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control is established. The subsidiary’s financial statements are deconsolidated
from the date that control is ended.
The purchase method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred or assumed as of
the date of the purchase and costs incurred that are attributed to such acquisition. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are measured at the respective fair values at the
date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the share of the fair value of identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair value of identifiable
net assets acquired, then the amount is recognized currently in the income statement.
Intercompany transactions and balances between consolidated companies are eliminated.
Noncontrolling, or minority, interests represent third party shareholders who may have influence but not
control over a company’s activities. The share of a company’s net assets at the end of a fiscal period and the
net income during a period that are attributed to third parties are recorded as minority interests payable and
minority interests expense, respectively. Disposals of shares to minority interests may result in gains or losses
that are recorded currently in the income statement and purchases of shares may result in goodwill.
Associates — Associates are entities over which the parent company generally controls between 20% to 50%
of the voting rights in the entity and has significant influence with, but not the ability to control, the entity’s
operating and financial policies. Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting and are initially recorded at cost. An investment in an associate may include goodwill arising
from the acquisition.
The parent company records its share of the associates post-acquisition net income (loss) as share in the
profit (loss) of associates in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in the
associate’s shareholder equity are recognized in the group’s equity reserves. Cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the group’s carrying amount of the investment. Unrealized gains or losses
between the group and an associate are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the associate.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Functional and Presentation Currency — The Company uses the USD as the functional and presentation
currency in the financial statements since the USD is the primary currency in the environment in which the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates operate.
Transactions and Balances — Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transactions. Currency exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities using the
currency rates prevailing on the last day of the fiscal period are recorded in the income statement.
Changes in the fair value of a monetary security that is classified as available-for-sale and is denominated in
a foreign currency are analyzed between changes arising from translation differences in the amortized cost of
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of such security. Translation differences are recognized
as currency exchange gains or losses in the income statement and other changes are recognized in equity.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are included as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at
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fair value through profit or loss are recognized as part of the fair value gain or loss and are recorded as
exchange gains or losses in the income statement. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
classified as available-for-sale are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
Subsidiaries — The Company translates the results and balances of its consolidated subsidiaries that have a
functional currency different from the USD as follows:
•
•
•

Assets and liabilities for each fiscal period are translated at the closing exchange rate on the date
of the balance sheet.
Income and expenses for each fiscal period are translated at the average exchange rate for the
period.
Resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments that are identified on the date of acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate on the reporting date.
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make good faith estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. The Company continually evaluates its estimates, including those related to
investments, materials and supplies obsolescence, property and equipment and other long-lived assets,
intangible assets and goodwill, bad debts, income taxes, financing operations and contingent liabilities as of
the date of the financial statements and the period then ended. The Company’s estimates are based on
historical experience and various assumptions, including expectations of future events, that are believed
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, certificates of deposit and all highly liquid investments
purchased with original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus accrued
interest, which approximates fair value.
The Company is required to maintain minimum cash balances or to pledge securities and/or cash
deposits as security for drawdowns under its revolving credit facilities. Pledged cash deposits and minimum
cash balances required by loan facilities are reported as restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet. The
restricted cash amounts were $5,500,000 at both 31 December 2006 and 2005.
ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Accounts and other receivables include trade receivables which are recognized initially at fair value and,
subsequently, at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade receivables is recorded when objective evidence indicates that the
Company may not be able to collect all amounts that are due in accordance with the originals terms of the
transaction. Such objective evidence includes default or delinquency of payments, significant financial
difficulties of the debtor and probability that the debtor may enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows as discounted at the effective rate of interest. The provision is recorded in the
income statement as a general and administrative expense.
INVENTORIES
The major components of inventory include bunkers and lubrication oil. These inventories are recorded
at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less applicable selling
expenses.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Company determines the classification of its financials assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates
the designation at each reporting date. The classifications are discussed below.
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss — Assets in this category are considered to be current
assets because they are held for trading purposes, such as listed equity securities, or are expected to be realized
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Notes, Loans and Other Receivables — These financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Notes, loans and other receivables having
maturities of less than 12 months after the reporting date are recorded as current assets in the balance sheet
and assets having maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date are recorded as noncurrent
assets.
Available-for-Sale Financial Assets — These financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that either are
designated for this category or are not designated in the other categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are
recorded as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet unless the Company intends to dispose of the investment
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Held-to-Maturity Financial Assets — These financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and maturities that the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to
maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recorded as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet if the assets
have maturities greater than 12 months from the reporting date and as current assets if the assets have
maturities less than 12 months from the reporting date.
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date which is the date on which the
Company has committed to purchase or sale the asset. Investments in financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Other investments in financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. In
subsequent periods, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets
are carried at fair value. Notes, loans and other receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the
income statement as gains or losses. Changes in the fair value of monetary securities that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency and classified as available-for-sale are analyzed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. The translation differences are recognized as currency exchange gains or
losses in the income statement and the other changes in the carrying amount are recognized in a separate
component of equity.
Fair values are based on current bid prices in the market for listed investments. Fair values for unlisted
investments or investments in which the market is not active are determined using valuations techniques
including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are similar in nature and
discounted cash flow analysis.
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether objective evidence exists that indicates a possible
impairment. Such evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the equity
security below its average cost or the security no longer pays in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreement. If such evidence exists, then the cumulative loss which is measured as the difference between the
carrying value and the current fair value is recorded as an impairment loss in the income statement.
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED IMPAIRMENT
Property and equipment consist primarily of vessels designed for the ocean-transport of refrigerated
goods (“reefer vessels” or “vessels”) and the ocean-transport of cars and high and heavy units (“car carriers”).
Vessels are related shipping assets are stated at historical cost, which includes costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, less accumulated depreciation. The carrying value of vessels and related shipping assets are based
on estimates, assumptions and judgments relative to capitalized costs, useful lives and residual values
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reflecting both historical experience and expectations of future industry conditions and operations. Depreciation
for vessels is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 15-30 years after allowing for
residual values. Equipment and other fixed asset costs less residual values are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of 3-5 years.
Buildings are depreciated over a useful life of 20 years. Remaining long-lived assets include furniture,
fixtures and cars that are carried at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 35 years.
Subsequent costs that may be included in the asset’s carrying value may include expenditures for renewals,
major modifications or betterments. These costs are capitalized as separate assets when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with these assets will result and the costs can be measured reliably. These costs of
these assets may be amortized over the adjusted remaining useful life of the related asset.
Following the disposal or retirement of property and equipment, the costs and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any resulting gains or losses are recorded in the
statements of operations.
The assets’ residual, or scrap, values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate. The
carrying values of assets are reviewed periodically for potential impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. This determination of
recoverability for property and equipment held for use is based on the estimated discounted future net cash
flows of the underlying asset and the difference is recorded as an impairment loss in the income statement.
The Company classifies property and equipment as held-for-sale when it has established a plan for the
disposal of certain assets. Assets held-for-sale are recorded as current assets at the lower of book value or net
realizable value.
Maintenance, major repairs and costs incurred to maintain the certification of assets and comply with
current regulations are charged to operating expense as incurred.
DEFERRED DRYDOCKING COSTS
Drydocking costs are costs incurred pursuant to a program of vessel classification and scheduled, periodic
drydockings of the vessels. The costs are accumulated and capitalized as a separate component of the vessels’
carrying values because such costs have a different pattern of benefits that require different rates of amortization
from the related vessel.
LOANS AND NOTES PAYABLE AND DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS
Loans and notes payable are recognized initially at fair value net of financing costs incurred to obtain the
financing. Financing costs, including debt arrangement fees, are deferred and amortized using the effective
interest method of amortization over the term of the underlying facility agreement. Loans and notes payable are
recorded as noncurrent liabilities for payments that extend more than 12 months from the reporting date.
Payments on loans and notes payable due less than 12 months from the reporting date are recorded as current
liabilities. The unamortized balance of deferred financing costs are recorded as a reduction of noncurrent loans
and notes payable. The amortization of deferred financing costs is recorded in the income statement as interest
expense.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired in business
acquisitions under the purchase method of accounting on the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of
associates is included in the investments in associates. The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at the
reporting unit level on an annual basis unless circumstances require an interim evaluation. The evaluation
compares the fair value of a reporting unit against the carrying value of the reporting unit. If the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then additional analyses would be undertaken to determine the
amount of the impairment. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
that are recorded in the income statement are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of a entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity sold.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION
Voyage revenues and expenses are recognized on the accrual basis. Revenues are generated from freight
billings, time charter and bareboat charter hires. The operating results of voyages in progress are estimated
and recorded pro-rata on a per day basis in the consolidated statements of operations. Probable losses on
voyages are provided for in full at the time such losses can be estimated. Time charter and bareboat charter
revenues are recorded over the term of the charter as service is provided. Operating costs and costs in
connection with freight-seeking activities are expensed as incurred.
Revenues generated by vessels deployed by Star Reefers are booked on a gross basis. Voyage expenses
such as fuel costs, port costs and other voyage-related expenses are deducted from gross revenue to reflect net
charter earnings. Revenue from vessels deployed in third party pools are recorded on a net time charter basis
because such vessels are operating either under a straight time charter or on pool-terms where STAR does not
have access to gross revenues or voyage expense data. The
Interest is recorded using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized when declared.
LEASES
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. All time charter contracts are considered to be operating leases
and, accordingly, charter hire is expensed as incurred.
The Company controls several vessels under bareboat charters and sale-leaseback agreements. All such
bareboat charters and sale-leaseback transactions are evaluated individually to determine whether the
arrangement should be classified as a finance lease. A vessel under a finance lease is depreciated on either a
straight-line basis over the vessel’s remaining economic useful life or on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. The method to be applied is determined by the criteria according to which the lease has been
assessed to be a finance lease. Depreciation of vessels under finance leases is recorded in depreciation and
amortization expense in the income statement.
All bareboat charters and sale-leaseback agreements were classified as operating leases at 31 December
2006. Furthermore, all other significant leases are operating leases.
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Share-Based Compensation
According to IFRS 2, all share-based payment transactions must be recognized in the financial
statements using a fair value measurement basis.
Performance Unit Plan — The parent company has maintained a Performance Unit Plan for its officers,
directors and others who contribute to the success of the Company since 1987. Compensation expense is
measured at the end of each period as the amount by which the fair value of the Company’s Common Stock
covering a grant of performance units exceeds the value specified under the plan and is charged to expense
over the periods that the recipient of the grant performs the related services. The Company has the option to
satisfy the redemption of the performance units in either cash or Common Shares.
Stock Option Plans — STAR Reefers established a stock option plan in 2001. Since its inception, a total of
380,000 options have been granted to its employees and directors. IFRS 2 only applies to those options
granted after November 2002 and not yet vested at 1 January 2005. Consequently, the fair value of 130,000
options granted in July 2004 that were not yet vested at 1 January 2005 was determined using the BlackScholes option pricing model. The option value represents the value of the services rendered in exchange for
the grant of the options. The option value is recorded as an expense in the income statement on a straightline basis over the vesting period of the underlying options and is credited to other reserves which is a
separate component of equity. Upon exercise of the options, the related accumulated compensation is
reclassified from other reserves and recorded as paid-in capital. There were no options outstanding at the end
of 2006.
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Pension Obligations
STAR Reefers maintains a defined benefit plan for its employees in Norway. The net present value of
the future obligations of the pension plan is determined using insurance accounting principles. Net pension
expenses are recorded as salary-related expenses in the income statement. The estimated net funds are
recorded as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet. The effect of changes in the estimates and differences
between estimated and actual return are recognized only when the accumulated effect exceeds 10% of the
larger of the pension fund assets and the pension fund obligation. The excess amount is amortized over the
remaining service life of the employees.
STAR Reefers maintains two defined contribution plans for its employees in the U.K. Yearly
contributions for the two plans are expensed as incurred.
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
The Company enters into certain derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and fuel bunker prices. Accordingly, the Company recognizes all
currency exchange contracts, interest rate swap contracts and bunker contracts in the financial statements
and measures such contracts at fair value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding them. None of the
derivative financial instruments qualify as hedging. Accordingly, all changes in the fair market value of
derivative financial instruments are recorded in net income for the current period.
The Company uses forward currency exchange contracts to reduce the exchange rate risk for specific
non-U.S. currency transactions. These contracts require the exchange of USD for non-U.S. currency at a
fixed rate with maturities that are generally less than 6 months. The carrying amounts of these contracts are
adjusted to their market values at each reporting date and recorded to income. The Company has entered
into forward contracts to sell USD and buy NOK to provide for administrative expenses in Oslo and to sell
USD and buy GBP to provide for administrative expenses in London. These contracts have been accounted
for as cash flow hedges.
Interest rate swaps are used to manage exposure to changes in interest rates by adjusting the proportion
of total debt that is subject to variable and fixed interest rates. The interest rate terms under the outstanding
bank loans provide for a variable, or floating, rate of interest based on LIBOR. Consequently, the Company
has entered into interest rate swap contracts and agreed to pay an amount equal to a specified fixed rate of
interest multiplied by the notional principal amount and to receive in return an amount equal to a specified
variable rate of interest multiplied by the same notional principal amount.
INCOME TAXES
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is exempt from income taxes in that
jurisdiction. For the two years ended 31 December 2006, there were no Cayman Islands income or profits
tax, withholding tax, capital gains tax, capital transfer tax, estate duty or inheritance tax payable by a Cayman
Islands company or its shareholders. The Company has received assurance from the Cayman Islands
government under the Tax Concessions Law (1995 Revision) that, in the event that any legislation is enacted
in the Cayman Islands imposing tax computed on profits or income, or computed on any capital assets, gain
or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, such tax shall not be applicable to
the Company or to any of its operations or to the shares, debentures or other obligations of the Company.
Therefore, there will be no Cayman Islands tax consequences affecting distributions under present law.
Income taxes have been provided based upon the tax laws and rates in the countries in which the
operations are conducted and income is earned. The income tax rates imposed by these taxing authorities
may vary substantially. Income for tax purposes may differ from income before taxes for financial accounting
purposes, particularly in those tax regimes that are revenue-based. There is no expected relationship between
the provision for income taxes and income before income taxes because the countries have different tax
regimes which vary not only with respect to the nominal rate, but also in terms of the availability of
deductions, credits and other benefits. Variations may also arise because income earned and taxed in any
particular country or countries may fluctuate from period to period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the anticipated future tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement
basis and the tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities and the operating losses carried forward using
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the applicable tax rates in effect at year-end. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is recorded when it
is more likely than not that some or all of the benefit from the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
NET EARNINGS, OR NET INCOME, PER COMMON SHARE
The Company reports both basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share.
Basic earnings per common share is determined by dividing net income (loss) available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per common share is determined by using the average market price per common share when
applying the treasury stock method to determine the number of common share equivalents which should be
added to the weighted average number of shares outstanding. For the Company, diluted earnings per
common share is the same as basic earnings per common share since there are no common share equivalents
because the Performance Units, which are potentially common share equivalents, are expected to be settled
in cash.
SEGMENT REPORTING
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment
is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.
RECLASSIFICATIONS
The Company has reclassified certain amounts in the prior period financial statements in order to
conform to the current year presentation. Such reclassification had no effect on the Company’s net income
(loss), financial position, total shareholders’ equity or cash flows.
(3) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
At 31 December, the following amounts are recorded at fair value through profit and loss:
(in thousands)

2006

Total cash and cash equivalents
Less: Restricted cash - noncurrent assets
Cash - current assets

$ 25,559
5,500
$ 20,059

2005

$ 63,577
5,500
$ 58,077

Terms in certain of the Company’s loan and revolving credit facilities require minimum cash balances or
the pledge of cash deposits. Minimum cash balances and pledged cash deposits represent a form of security
for long-term liabilities and are not available for unrestricted use. Accordingly, these balances are recorded as
noncurrent assets.
(4) FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
At 31 December, the following securities are recorded at fair value through profit and loss and are
classified as trading securities:
(in thousands)

2006

Trading securities:
Listed equity securities
Trading securities, net fair value

$ 44,194
$ 44,194

25

2005

$ 2,883
$ 2,883
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The activity in trading securities during the fiscal years ended 31 December is presented below:
(in thousands)

2006

Trading securities:
Balance, 1 January
Purchases
Proceeds from sales
Gains (losses), see Note 12
Currency exchange gains (losses), see Note 17
Trading securities, 31 December

$ 2,883
43,746
(11,957)
9,254
268
$ 44,194

2005

$ 20,663
6,206
(28,230)
5,298
(1,054)
$ 2,883

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets
At 31 December, the following securities are recorded at fair value with changes recorded as a separate
component of equity and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets:
No. of Shares
2006

(in thousands, except for no. of shares)

Available-for-sale securities:
Listed equity security - Transocean
Net cost of available-for-sale securities
Net unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Available-for-sale securities, net fair value

1,423,720

2006

2005

9,247
9,247

$ 9,247
9,247

105,918
$ 115,165

89,972
$ 99,219

$

Transocean — The Company’s investment in Transocean Inc. (NYSE Symbol: RIG) originated in 1994 as
an investment in an offshore rig owner and operator that, through a series of mergers, has evolved into a
shareholding in present-day Transocean.
The fair value of listed securities is estimated using quoted market prices of these or similar investments
when available.
Notes, Loans and Other Receivables
At 31 December, the following notes, loans and other receivables are recorded:
(in thousands)

2006

Held-to-maturity securities:
Listed security – Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bond Loan
Unlisted securities:
Notes receivable, interest rates ranging up 6.75% p.a.
Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities
Notes, Loans and Other Receivables:
Current
Noncurrent

$

—

2005

$ 20,767

35,968
$ 35,968

5,715
$ 26,482

$
—
$ 35,968

$ 20,767
$ 5,715

The activity in notes, loans and other receivables during the fiscal years ended 31 December is presented
below:
(in thousands)

2006

Notes, loans and other receivables:
Balance, 1 January
Additions
Proceeds from maturities, repayments and sales
Gains (losses), net
Currency exchange gains (losses), see Note 17
Notes, loans and other receivables, 31 December
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$ 26,482
53,584
(47,194)
300
2,796
$ 35,968

2005

$ 50,420
8,176
(31,811)
3,165
(3,468)
$ 26,482
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Subsea 7 (formerly, DSND) 8% Convertible Bond Loan (or, “Subsea 7 Bonds”) — In late October 2002, Subsea 7
announced a financial restructuring plan to refinance its short-term obligations. One component of the plan
was the issuance of bonds in the amount of NOK300,000,000 with the bonds bearing interest at 8% p.a.,
maturity in three years and conversion into new shares at the rate of NOK20 per share. The Company
acquired NOK219,610,000 of Subsea 7 Bonds at closing of the issue in January 2003 and an additional
NOK5,520,000 in December 2003.
Prior to the deconsolidation of Subsea 7’s financial statements from the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in December 2004, the Company eliminated its investments in Subsea 7 Bonds against
Subsea 7’s obligations under the Subsea 7 Bonds. Following the deconsolidation at the end of 2004, the
Company’s investment in Subsea 7 Bonds was presented without elimination.
Subsequent to the spin-off of Siem Offshore by Subsea 7 in August 2005, the conversion rate for the
Subsea 7 Bonds was adjusted from NOK20 per share to NOK19.09 per share.
In October 2005, the Company used NOK85,000,000 of Subsea 7 Bonds and $17,000,000 cash to
acquire 1,714,500 shares of Company Common Shares which were subsequently retired.
In January 2006, the Company converted NOK140,130,000 Subsea 7 Bonds and received 7,340,492
shares of Subsea 7.
Siem Investments Portfolio —Siem Investments has agreed to finance the construction of the thermolysis
process facility on behalf of Deusa, its 49%-owned associate. The estimated cost of the facility is expected to
be approximately EUR22,000,000 and the operations are expected to commence during the third quarter of
2007. Deusa will be paid by suppliers of municipal wastes with a given quality grade to take and incinerate
the wastes in its facility. The thermolysis process will release gas which will be used to generate energy to run
the thermolysis plant itself and for use in Deusa’s potash mining operations. The energy produced by the
thermolysis process is expected to reduce the amount of energy currently purchased from third party
providers which represents by far the largest single component of Deusa’s operating costs.
The net recorded value of the notes, loans and other similar receivables approximates the fair value of
such notes at 31 December 2006.
(5) INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ASSOCIATES
A summary of the equity in net income (losses) of and the investments in unconsolidated associates as of
and for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Summary of Unconsolidated Associates
(in thousands)
Equity in
Net Income (Loss)
Investments in

Year Ended

Associate

Percentage
Ownership

31 December 2006

Subsea 7
Siem Offshore
Siem Capital
Deusa

45.1%
38.3%
64.0%
49.0%

$ 61,685
17,537
1,156
(1,493)
$ 78,885

$ 241,325
46,898
4,429
4,000
$ 296,652

31 December 2005

Subsea 7
Siem Offshore (1)
Siem Capital
Deusa

41.8%
44.8%
64.0%
49.0%

$ 17,829
(919)
(2,437)
(1,256)
$ 13,217

$ 160,135
22,266
1,213
5,493
$ 189,107

(1) Subsea 7 Inc. transferred all of its non-subsea assets and activities into Siem Supply Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary, which was renamed Siem Offshore Inc. in July 2005. The new Siem Offshore was spun-off as a
separate company by Subsea 7 in August 2005.
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Siem Offshore and Subsea 7 — All references to companies in the following discussion will use the current
names for the companies that were adopted at the annual general meetings held for the respective companies
in July 2005.
In November and December 2004, Subsea 7 conducted two private placements and sold a total of
49,300,000 newly-issued shares, primarily for the purpose of financing the acquisition of the 50%-interest in
Subsea 7 Holding held by another party. The Company did not participate in the offerings and its interest
was reduced to 44.8%. Following the loss of control, the Company determined that Subsea 7’s financial
statements would be deconsolidated from the Company’ consolidated financial statements and the
investment in Subsea 7 would be recorded under the equity method of accounting effective at the end of
2004.
In early-January 2005, Subsea 7 formally completed the acquisition of the remaining 50%-interest in
Subsea 7 Holding at a price of $203,000,000 using the proceeds from the December 2004 private placement
of approximately $160,000,000, the excess funds arising from the restructuring of its loan facility which
generated approximately $33,000,000 and available cash. In mid-January 2005, Subsea 7 issued 2,458,549
new shares in connection with an offering that was conducted to provide Subsea 7 shareholders, who were
shareholders of record as of 17 November 2004 and who had not been invited to participate in the
December 2005 placement, to maintain their former shareholder interest relative to other shareholders at
such date.
The new shares issued by Subsea 7 pursuant to the private placements and offerings were sold to
unassociated third parties at prices higher than book value. As a result, the Company’s share of the book
value in Subsea 7 increased even though the number of Subsea 7 shares owned by the Company remained
constant. The Company accounted for its share of the increase in book value of Subsea 7 shares as an
increase in additional paid-in capital.
In June 2005, Subsea 7 determined that it would segregate its subsea assets and activities from its
non-subsea assets and activities. The non-subsea assets and activities were transferred to Siem Offshore, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Subsea 7.
At an Extraordinary General Meeting of Subsea 7 held in August 2005, the shareholders approved the
spin-off of Siem Offshore. This spin-off, considered effective 30 June 2005 for accounting purposes, was
carried out as the payment of a dividend in specie when Subsea 7 distributed all of the shares of Siem
Offshore to its shareholders by the issuance of one share of Siem Offshore for each share of Subsea 7 held by
the shareholders. Following the distribution, the shares of Siem Offshore were listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange. As a result of the distribution, the Company owned 58,349,653 shares of Siem Offshore, or
43.3%, with an allocated value of NOK4.14 per share.
Including the previously-mentioned issuance of 2,458,549 new shares by Subsea 7 in January 2005,
Subsea 7 issued a total of 9,691,582 shares related to the conversion of Subsea 7 Bonds and exercise of stock
options during 2005. In November 2005, Subsea 7 purchased and retired 107,800 shares.
In January 2006, the Subsea 7 Bonds matured and a total of 8,277,095 new shares were issued pursuant
to the bondholders’ exercise of conversion rights at NOK19.09 per share, including 7,340,492 new shares
that were issued to the Company. The Company purchased an additional 704,000 shares of Subsea 7 in
March 2006 in market transactions at an average price of NOK81.3226 per share.
In addition to the 8,277,095 shares issued by Subsea 7 following the conversion of bonds, Subsea 7
issued 285,749 new shares following the exercise of stock options during 2006. In June 2006, Subsea 7
purchased and retired 987,900 shares at NOK84 per share.
The investment in Subsea 7 includes goodwill of approximately $32,126,000. Following the
deconsolidation, the goodwill is no longer separately reported but is included in investments in associates.
There has been no impairment of the goodwill.
Siem Offshore — From the time that Siem Offshore became a separate-listed company in August 2005 to
the end of fiscal 2005, Siem Offshore purchased and retired 4,642,000 of its shares at an average price of
NOK4.20 in market transactions.
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Siem Offshore issued 35,019,678 new shares to acquire Rovde Shipping AS, later renamed Siem Rovde
AS, owner of vessel management operations, part interests in two modern, large-size PSVs and a 100%interest in four small PSVs with oil recovery capabilities, in February 2006.
In May 2006, Siem Offshore entered into an agreement with Wellis AS to acquire a 60% interest in
Well Intervention Solutions AS, later renamed Siem WIS AS, in scheduled equity injections. In connection
with the agreement, Siem Offshore issued 2,300,000 new shares to the other Siem WIS shareholders. Siem
WIS is involved in the development of riserless subsea intervention, drilling and maintenance services.
In June 2006, Siem Offshore purchased and retired 1,662,000 shares at an average price of NOK5.00
per share in market transactions and, in September 2006, Siem Offshore issued 1,650,000 new shares in
response to share subscriptions by key employees.
During 2006, the Company increased its holdings in Siem Offshore following the purchases of
4,410,750 shares at an average price of NOK4.20 per share during March 2006 and 1,368,000 shares at an
average price of NOK4.50 per share during June 2006, all in market transactions.
Siem Capital — The Company acquired a 50% voting interest and a 64% interest in share capital in Siem
Capital in February 1998. The remaining 50% voting interest and 36% share capital interest is held by the
other, non-associated owner of Siem Capital. Terms of the agreement provide that the Company will receive
the initial proceeds from the sale of Siem Capital’s investments for the purpose of reducing its investment in
share capital until such time that both parties hold a 50% interest; thereafter, the proceeds from additional
sales will be split evenly.
In April 2005, Siem Capital made a dividend distribution of SEK123,500,000, or approximately
$17,320,000, to the Company. In December 2005, Siem Capital made a second dividend distribution of
SEK10,000,000. The Company recorded the distributions as a reduction of its investment in Siem Capital.
Siem Capital’s ownership interests in its various investee companies range between 12% and 40% with
only two exceptions that are considered to be immaterial.
(6) VESSELS, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Summaries of the vessels and related shipping assets and property, equipment and other at 31 December
are presented below:

(in thousands)

Cost:
Balance, 1 January
Additions
Disposals
Translation adjustment
Cost, 31 December
Less: Accumulated depreciation:
Balance, 1 January
Depreciation, see Note 13
Disposals
Accum. depreciation, 31 December
Net book value, 31 December
Property, equipment and other, net
Deferred drydocking costs, see Note 7
Vessels, property and equipment, net

Vessels and
Related Assets

2006
Property, Equipment
and Other

Vessels and
Related Assets

2005
Property, Equipment
and Other

$

407,144
43,183
—
—
450,327

$

6,580
143
—
519
7,242

$

293,459
131,035
(17,350)
—
407,144

$

7,369
30
(101)
(718)
6,580

$

50,754
18,144
—
68,898
381,429
6,705
10,262
398,396

$

292
245
—
537
6,705

$

38,713
12,657
(616)
50,754
356,390
6,288
11,628
374,306

$

72
220
—
292
6,288

$

$

$

$

$

$

STAR —During 2005, STAR purchased 7 vessels, including 6 Polar-class vessels purchased en bloc, and
sold 1 vessel as part of the sale of a wholly-owned subsidiary. The vessel that was sold in 2005 was taken back
by STAR under a bareboat charter that is accounted for as an operating lease.
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In June 2006, STAR declared options to purchase four reefer vessels which had previously been on
bareboat charter to STAR for several years. The purchase was completed in December 2006. The vessel that
was sold in 2005 was taken back by STAR under a bareboat charter that is accounted for as an operating
lease.
The increase in the number of owned vessels and reduction of vessels under charter increased the
depreciation expense and reduced the charter expense during 2006.
(7) DEFERRED DRYDOCKING COSTS
A summary of the drydocking activity for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(in thousands)

Deferred drydocking costs:
Balance, 1 January
Additions
Disposals
Amortization
Deferred drydocking costs, 31 December

$ 11,628
3,356
—
(4,722)
$ 10,262

$

5,551
9,752
—
(3,675)
$ 11,628

The amortization of deferred drydocking costs is recorded as an operating expense.
(8) LONG-TERM DEBT
A summary of long-term debt and notes payable, net of unamortized discounts and premiums, at 31
December is presented below:
Interest
Rate

(in thousands)

2006

$50mm Revolver
Fortis Bank Facility
NOK36.5mm Loan
$75mm Syndicate
EUR5mm Loan
DBAB Margin
Other

LIBOR plus 1.125%
$ 31,000
LIBOR plus range of 1.375% to 1.625% 135,907
NIBOR plus 0.60%
4,351
LIBOR plus range of 0.95% to 1.10%
49,000
EURIBOR plus 1.15%
6,600
LIBOR plus 0.75%
4,314
—
231,172
Unamortized financing fees
(677)
Long-term debt and notes payable
$ 230,495
Long-term debt and notes payable:
Current
Noncurrent

$ 30,306
$200,189

2005

$

—
161,155
4,220
60,000
5,920
—
116
231,411
(825)
$ 230,586
$ 25,846
$204,740

The scheduled maturities of the face values of the Company’s debt and notes payable for each of the
years ended 31 December are presented below:
Years Ended
31 December

Maturities
(in thousands)

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012 and thereafter
Total
30

$ 30,306
39,311
29,929
101,929
26,353
2,667
$ 230,495
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Revolving Credit Facilities — A $50,000,000 revolving credit facility (the “$50mm Revolver”) was made
available to the Company by HSH Nordbank AG during the first quarter of 2005. Terms of the $50mm
Revolver provide for interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.125%, a commitment fee of 0.20% payable quarterly
on any undrawn portion of the facility, term period of five years and security in the form of a pledge of listed
equity securities. The Company received drawdowns of $48,000,000 and repaid $17,000,000 under this
facility in 2006.
STAR Credit Agreements — In February 2004, STAR refinanced its existing facilities using the proceeds of
a new syndicated secured term loan facility led by Fortis Bank for the amount of $127,600,000 (the “Fortis
Bank Facility”). STAR renegotiated the Fortis Bank Facility in December 2004 and secured lower margins on
the outstanding amounts. In addition, Fortis Bank agreed to take over the outstanding participations of
other banks in the syndicate.
In order to finance the acquisition of the 6 Polar-class vessels in 2005, Fortis Bank made increased the
borrowing capacity by $83,000,000 to $161,200,000 and Deutsche Bank AG joined with Fortis Bank on a
50:50 basis in the lending syndicate (the “Fortis Bank Facility”). Terms of this facility provide for interest
rates at LIBOR plus a margin ranging between 1.375% and 1.625%, depending on the leverage. The Fortis
Bank Facility is secured by the mortgages on 25 vessels, the assignments of earnings and insurances and the
pledging of shares in STAR’s wholly-owned shipowning subsidiary and cash accounts in favor of the lenders.
The facility agreement contains restrictive covenants which limit dividend payments and capital expenditures
and financial covenants concerning the market value of vessels, minimum liquidity and working capital.
In December 2006, STAR used cash and $5,000,000 of new borrowings to pay $29,800,000 to acquire
the four vessels whose purchase options had been exercised by STAR in June 2006. The $5,000,000 was
made available by Fortis Bank when it increased the size of the Fortis Bank Facility by the same amount.
STAR was in compliance with all covenants at the end of 2006.
The weighted average interest rates for the STAR credit facilities were 5.9% and 4.3% for 2006 and
2005, respectively. During 2006, STAR incurred additional debt of approximately $5,000,000 and repaid
approximately $30,248,000.
Car Carriers Agreement — Car Carriers refinanced its bank obligations in July 2004 using the proceeds of a
$75,000,000 term facility provided by Schiffshypothekenbank zu Lubeck AG and Deutsche Bank AG (the
“$75mm Syndicate”). Terms provide for interest rates of LIBOR plus a margin of 0.95% to 21 December
2006 and a margin of 0.80% thereafter, semiannual payments of principal and interest and a balloon
payment at maturity in 2011. Security for the $75mm Syndicate is in the form of first mortgages on the three
vessels and assignments of earnings and insurances. The underlying agreement contains restrictive covenants
which limit the payment of dividends and capital expenditures and financial covenants on the market value
of vessels, minimum liquidity and working capital. Car Carriers was in compliance with all covenants at the
end 2006.
The weighted average interest rates for the Car Carriers’ credit facilities were approximately 6.08% and
4.37% for 2006 and 2005, respectively. During 2006, STAR repaid $11,000,000 of debt.
Other Term Loan Agreements — In April 2001, DSND Bygg AS, a Norwegian company established for the
express purpose of constructing and owning an office building in Grimstad, Norway, entered into an
agreement for a NOK36,500,000 term loan to finance the cost of the building (the “NOK36.5mm Loan”).
The terms provide for a 20-year loan period and a fixed rate of interest of 7.45% p.a. for the first 5-years and,
commencing in August 2006, a floating rate of interest at NIBOR plus 0.60% p.a. thereafter with interest
and principal payable semiannually. Security for the loan is in the form of a first mortgage on the building
and assignments of earnings and insurance. The loan obligation has increased in value because of the
increase in the value of the NOK relative to the USD. Accordingly, the Company has recorded a currency
exchange loss to reflect the increase in the liability.
In September 2004, Siem Investments used a EUR5,000,000- loan (the “EUR5mm Loan”) provided by
DVB Bank AG to acquire a 49%-interest in Deusa International GmbH. Terms of the loan agreement
provide for interest rates of EURIBOR plus a margin of 1.15%, payments of interest at the end of selected
31

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATMENTS

interest periods ranging from 1 to 6 months, and a balloon payment at maturity in September 2008. Security
for the EUR5mm Loan is a pledge of the shares held in Deusa. The loan obligation has increased in value
because of the increase in the value of the EUR relative to the USD. Accordingly, the Company has recorded
a currency exchange loss to reflect the increase in the liability.
Taking into consideration the variable rate structure of the Company’s long-term debt, the fair value of
long-term debt approximates its carrying value.
(9) INCOME TAXES
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and, as such, is not subject to income taxes in that
jurisdiction. Income taxes have been provided based upon the tax laws and rates in the countries in which
operations are conducted and income is earned. There is no expected relationship between the provision for
or benefit from income taxes and income or loss before income taxes because the countries have taxation
regimes that vary not only with respect to nominal rate, but also in terms of the availability of deductions,
credits and other benefits. Variations also arise because income earned and taxed in any particular country or
countries may fluctuate from year to year.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit), in thousands

2006

Current
Deferred
Income tax expense (benefit)

$
$

5
(115)
(110)

2005

$
$

340
(8)
332

The Company records equity in the income (losses) of unconsolidated associates net of the income tax
expense incurred by the associate. In their respective income statements for 2006, Subsea 7 recorded income
before income taxes of $207,152,000 and related income tax expense of $69,534,000 and Siem Offshore
recorded income before income taxes of $45,747,000 and related income tax expense of $1,219,000. In their
respective income statements for 2005, Subsea 7 recorded income before income taxes of $89,891,000 and
related income tax expense of $44,687,000 and Siem Offshore recorded losses before income taxes of
$(1,160,000) and related income tax expense of $898,000.
(in thousands)

2006

Deferred tax liabilities (assets):
Fixed assets
Deferred capital gains
Drydock and other assets
Provisions and accruals
Temporary differences
Net operating loss carryforwards
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)

$

721
108
258
(75)
1,012
(27,515)
(26,503)
26,503
$
—

2005

(240)
123
276
(48)
111
(25,777)
(25,666)
25,682
$
16

Deferred taxes are recorded to recognize temporary differences existing between the tax bases of assets or
liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements using the applicable tax rates in effect at
year-end. The tax effect of temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities.
Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in future years.
Deferred tax liabilities generally represent items that have been taken as a tax deduction but have not yet
been recorded in the statement of operations. Valuation allowances have been provided to offset deferred tax
assets on net operating losses incurred during the year in certain jurisdictions where, in the opinion of
management, it is more likely than not that the financial statement benefits will not be realized.
A significant portion of the income tax detail presented in the tables above are attributed to STAR.
With respect to STAR, tax losses in Norway can be carried forward indefinitely.
As indicated above, the Company is not subject to income taxes in the Cayman Islands. Further, for the
2 years ended 31 December 2006, there was no Cayman Islands income or profits taxes, withholding taxes,
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capital gains taxes, capital transfer taxes, estate duties or inheritance taxes payable by a Cayman Islands
company or its shareholders. The Company has received assurances from the Cayman Islands government
that, in the event that any legislation is enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing taxes on profit or income,
taxes on capital assets, either gain or appreciation, or any taxes in the nature of estate duties or inheritance
taxes, such tax shall not be applicable to the Company or to any of its operations or to the shares or other
obligations of the Company. Consequently, under present law, there will be no Cayman Islands tax
consequences affecting distributions.
(10) OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Operating revenues consist of freight revenues on a time charter basis from voyage charters, time and
bareboat charters, pool arrangements, property rentals and other are presented below for the years ended 31
December:
Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(in thousands)

Operating revenues:
Net time charter revenues
Other
Operating revenues

$ 192,080
67
$ 192,147

$ 172,804
540
$ 173,344

Ship operating expenses are a component of operating expenses and include crew payroll, spares parts,
maintenance and repair, lube oil and consumables, and other related expenses. Operating expenses for the
years ended 31 December are presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:
Ship operating expenses
Insurance
Time charter expenses
Bareboat charter expenses
Drydock amortization, see Note 7
Operating expenses

$ 59,449
4,282
29,612
10,941
4,722
$ 109,006

$ 42,795
3,809
46,197
9,721
3,675
$ 106,197

(11) OPERATING LEASES
Charter-hire payments to third parties for certain contracted-in vessels are accounted for as operating
leases. The future minimum rental payments under the Company’s non-cancelable operating leases are
presented below:
Years Ended
31 December

Minimum Lease Payments
(in thousands)

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012 and thereafter
Total

$ 46,741
41,319
36,097
31,806
24,735
109,344
$ 290,042

The net present value of the minimum lease payments is $231,937,000 using a 6% discount rate.
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(12) GAINS (LOSSES) FROM INVESTMENTS AND SALES OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
A summary of the net gains (losses) related to the Company’s investments and the sales of property and
equipment for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(in thousands)

Gains (losses), net:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, see Note 4
Available-for-Sale - Notes, loans and other receivables, see Note 4
Recovery of previous write-off, see Note 4
Property, plant and equipment
Gains (losses), net

$

$

9,254
—
123
—
9,377

$

5,298
879
2,286
2,045
$ 10,508

(13) DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
A summary of the depreciation and amortization for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(in thousands)

Depreciation and amortization:
Depreciation, see Note 6
Amortization, other
Depreciation and amortization

$ 18,389
395
$ 18,784

$ 12,877
385
$ 13,262

(14) PERFORMANCE UNIT PLAN AND STOCK OPTION PLANS
A summary of the performance unit awards which have been granted and are currently outstanding is
presented below:

Name

Kristian Siem
M.D. Moross
Barry W. Ridings
Michael Delouche
Others

No. of Performance Units Awarded and Outstanding
Granted May 1995
Granted May 1996
Granted June 2005
at $3.00 per Unit
at $5.50 per Unit
at $48.21 per Unit

400,000
—
28,000
40,000
—

60,000
28,000
—
20,000
—

115,000
7,000
7,000
10,000
50,000

Performance units have been awarded pursuant to provisions of the Company's 1987 Performance Unit
Plan (the “1987 Plan”) and 2005 Performance Unit Plan (the “2005 Plan”), as amended, by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors.
The 1987 Plan provides that performance units shall be granted at a value no less than 110% of the average
closing market price of the Company's Common Shares for the 20 trading days preceding the date of the award.
The performance unit value of the grant, which is determined by multiplying the number of performance units
by the value per performance unit, is credited to the individual's performance unit account on the date of the
award. Grants of awards vest over a five-year award periods at 20% per year; however, all rights to the
performance unit account are forfeited if the individual's employment ceases before the end of the award period
with certain reasonable exceptions including the death, total disability or retirement after age 60 of the
individual.
Under the 1987 Plan, the amount of payment to the individual after the end of the award period is equal to
the number of vested performance units multiplied by the difference between the average closing market price of
the Common Shares and the value of the performance units awarded. The Company has the option to make the
payment in either cash or Common Shares; however, it is the Company’s intention to make cash payments.
The 1987 Plan expires in January 2007.
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In October 2004, the Board of Directors commenced a review of the 1987 Plan to determine whether
the termination date should be extended, whether a new plan of s similar type should be implemented or
whether a new long-term incentive program should be devised. The primary concerns with respect to the
1987 Plan include the absence of a listing on a stock exchange and the low liquidity of the shares. In
February 2005, the 2005 Plan was completed with many provisions similar to that in the 1987 Plan. The
2005 Plan provides that performance units shall be granted at a value no less than 110% of the net asset
value per Common Share based on the balance sheets prepared by the Company on a quarterly basis in
accordance with applicable law and prevailing generally accepted accounting principles. Net asset value for
purposes of the 2005 Plan means the amount that is determined after adjustments have been made to the
balance sheet to reflect the market values for the Company’s investments in securities issued by publiclytraded companies for which market prices are readily available. This approach was used because it
corresponds to methods used in similar situations where low liquidity or illiquid shares exist. The
performance unit value of the grant, which is determined by multiplying the number of performance units by
the value per performance unit, is credited to the individual's performance unit account on the date of the
award. Grants of awards vest over a five-year award periods at 20% per year; however, all rights to the
performance unit account are forfeited if the individual's employment ceases before the end of the award
period with certain reasonable exceptions including the death, total disability or retirement after age 60 of
the individual. The Company may elect to make payments in either cash or Common Shares. If the
Company makes payment in Common Shares and there is no liquid market for such shares, then the
Company is obligated either to provide a market for the Common Shares within 9 months of the new share
issue or to redeem or purchase the Common Shares for the cash amount that would have been paid had the
original payment been made in cash.
The 2005 Plan will expire on the earlier of the vesting of an aggregate 1,000,000 performance units by
the participants or 31 December 2014, which is the end of a 10-year period from the effective date of
agreement.
At the end of June 2005, the Compensation Committee granted 196,000 Performance Units at $48.21
per unit.
The Company records compensation expense with respect to the Plan. This expense is determined using
the number of units which have vested and the higher of the market value of Common Shares as traded on a
regulated exchange or 80% of the adjusted net asset value per Common Share at the end of the reporting
period. The Company recorded compensation expense, a component of general and administrative expenses,
in the amounts of $33,512,000 and $13,180,000 for fiscal years 2006 and 2005, respectively. The obligation
is recorded in other liabilities and deferred credits.
An aggregate 274,200 units granted under the 1987 Plan have been forfeited since being awarded in
1995 and 1996 and 7,000 units granted under the 2005 Plan have been forfeited.
STAR Option Program — In 2001, STAR launched a stock option program as part of its long-term
incentive plan. Options granted in 2001 vested 50% in February 2003 and 50% in February 2005. Options
granted in 2004 vested 50% after release of preliminary results for 2004 and 50% after release of preliminary
results for 2005. All vested options were exercised before expiration in November 2006.

Balance, 1 January 2005
Options exercised
Options cancelled
Balance, 31 December 2005
Options exercised
Balance, 31 December 2006

Granted May 2001
at $6.60 Strike Price

Option Share Program
Granted November 2001
at $7.20 Strike Price

Granted July 2004
at NOK84 Strike Price

106,500
(106,500)
—
—
—
—

33,000
(33,000)
—
—
—
—

130,000
(39,500)
(12,500)
78,000
(78,000)
—
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(15) PENSION PLANS
STAR maintains a defined benefit pension plan that covers 5 active and 7 retired employees in Norway
at the end of 2006. Benefits under the defined benefit pension plan are based primarily upon the
participant’s years of service and compensation at time of retirement (in thousands):
Weighted Average Assumptions

Discount rate
Expected return on funds
Expected increase in salaries
Expected pension regulation
Expected G-regulation/inflation
Social security tax
Components of Periodic Benefit Cost

Service cost
Interest cost
Return on plan assets
Social security tax
Recognized actuarial gains (losses)
Net periodic benefit cost

$

$

Status of Plan Funding

2006

2005

4.20%
5.30%
4.80%
0.50%
4.50%
14.10%

5.00%
6.00%
3.00%
2.50%
3.00%
14.10%

2006

2005

86
57
(90)
—
—
53

$

$

2006

Expected value of pension funds
Estimated pension benefit obligation
Pension funds (obligations)
Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses)
Social security tax
Net pension funds (obligations)

$
$

$

1,378
(959)
419
(223)
—
196

74
53
(83)
—
—
44
2005

$
$

$

1,403
(1,065)
338
(109)
—
229

In prior years, STAR prepaid pension premiums for tax purposes. The overfunding is recorded in other
assets because the excess amounts can be released to cover future premiums.
STAR Reefers UK maintains a defined contribution plan for its employees. Under this plan, STAR
London contributes a fixed percentage of the employee’s base salary. The percentage is dependent on the
number of years employed and the level of position within the company. Contributions are recorded as
general and administrative expenses when incurred and were approximately $288,000 and $261,000 for
2006 and 2005, respectively.
Certain information concerning pension assets and benefit obligations related to foreign subsidiaries has
not been presented since the information is not readily available and is immaterial.
(16) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company or any of its subsidiaries or associates may become involved in various legal proceedings
during the ordinary course of business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue for amounts related to these legal
matters if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount can be reasonably estimated. The
Company is not aware of any litigation which, in the opinion of management, is likely to have a material
adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cashflows other than as discussed.
Deusa received a grant in November 2002 in the amount of EUR4,823,000 from the local government
entity, Thüringer Aufbaubank (“TAB”), with the proceeds to be used for the development and expansion of
Deusa’s operations. Under certain conditions such as the termination of Deusa’s operations, the grant
becomes revocable and must be repaid by Deusa. Siem Investments has agreed to guarantee repayment of this
obligation in the event that the grant is revoked and Deusa is unable to pay its liability. The amount of the
grant that is subject to repayment declines over the course of a 5-year period and, at the end of 2006, only
20% of the grant guarantee, or EUR965,000, remains outstanding.
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During 2005, Deusa entered into contracts for the construction of a thermolysis plant which will
become operational during the third quarter of 2007. The thermolysis plant will receive municipal wastes of
a specified content and grade and incinerate these wastes at very high temperatures. The thermolysis process
will cause the release of gases which can be used in the potash mining operations and in a power plant for
the generation of electricity. The thermolysis plant will provide power, a major cost component in the potash
mining operations, to Deusa at a consistent level and determinable price, thus reducing Deusa’s exposure to
volatile energy prices. Furthermore, the suppliers of the municipal waste streams pay Deusa for the disposal
of wastes.
The estimated cost of the thermolysis plant is approximately EUR22,000,000-. After preliminary
discussions with banks concerning the financing of the plant construction, the Company’s subsidiary, Siem
Investments, offered to provide project-financing to Deusa until the operational risks associated with this
plant have been reduced and improved terms of a bank financing can be obtained. The loans to Deusa are
recorded as held-to-maturity securities in notes, loans and other receivables.
Following the sale of its interest in Albion Reefers Ltd. to STAR in July 2001, the seller retained an
obligation arising from its guarantees of certain charter rates to the owner of four vessels that were chartered
to Albion Reefers. The guarantee is a secondary guarantee that may be called upon if STAR is unable to
make the charter payments. In November 2002, the Company agreed to assume the secondary guarantee in
exchange for a payment of $3,850,000. In connection with this assumption, STAR and the Company
negotiated an extension of the charter terms at lower rates. The guarantees extended through 2009 for two of
the vessels and through 2010 for the other two vessels. At the time of the assumption by the Company, the
maximum amount of the guarantee was $27,000,000 with quarterly reductions in the guarantees made at
$187,500 per vessel. The $3,850,000 amount paid to the Company for the assumption was recorded as a
deferred credit with the intent that no portion will be recognized as income until it becomes probable that
no losses will be sustained in connection with the guarantee. Two of the vessels subject to this guarantee have
been purchased by STAR and the underlying charters cancelled. As a result of the elimination of exposure on
2 of the 4 vessels, the Company recorded $1,925,000 of the deferred credit as income in 2003. The
remaining $1,925,000 deferred credit is recorded in other liabilities and deferred credits.
In 1990, insurance underwriters paid $3,000,000 to an associate of the Company pursuant to a claim
submitted by the Company following the termination of a memorandum of agreement for the sale of a vessel.
Subsequent to their payment, the underwriters began to dispute the validity of the claim. The Company’s
defense and contention was that there was no basis for a dispute since all parties, including the underwriters
who had their own surveyors aboard the vessel, the shipmanagement company and two law firms who
advised on the actions, were aware or should have been aware of the facts and circumstances prior to the
acceptance and payment of the claim. After a period of several years during which time there was little
activity, the issue was revived by attorneys for the insurance underwriters and claims were pursued against the
Company and directors for the associate. After two judgments were delivered in favor of the Company, the
underwriters’ claim against the Company was dismissed by the Norwegian Supreme Court in 2004. The
claim against the directors, for which the Company had provided an indemnity, continued and, in December
2005, the Oslo District Court ruled in favor of the underwriters. The court concluded that the directors had
permitted the associate to reduce its capital without setting aside a reserve for claims and found the directors
liable for $4,200,000 plus interests and court costs. The judgment was appealed on the basis that the
reduction of capital was made because the directors for the associate did not believe there were any claims
existing at the time of the reduction that could be successfully asserted against the associate and thus require
a reserve.
Following the December 2005 ruling, the Company recorded a provision of $4,700,000 at the end of
2005. At the end of May 2006, the Company paid $3,500,000 and concluded a settlement and release
agreement for any and all claims by all parties.
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(17) CURRENCY EXCHANGE GAINS (LOSSES)
A summary of the components of currency exchange gains (losses) for the years ended 31 December is
presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2006
2005

(in thousands)

Currency exchange gains (losses):
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, see Note 4
Notes, loans and other receivables, see Note 4
Cash and cash equivalents, adjusted using period-ending exchange rates
Forward currency contracts not deemed to be hedges
Intercompany notes and other receivables
EUR5mm Loan
STAR, breakdown not provided
Other
Currency exchange gains (losses)

$

$

268
2,796
1,422
—
2,806
(680)
(24)
(26)
6,562

$

(1,054)
(3,468)
(2,505)
1,127
(4,232)
868
(810)
(258)
$ (10,332)

(18) DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
Foreign Exchange Risk — The nature of the operations conducted by the Company exposes the Company
to foreign exchange risk. This risk is primarily associated with compensation costs and purchases from
suppliers that are denominated in currencies other than the USD. Gains and losses on foreign exchange
derivative instruments which qualify as hedges for accounting purposes are deferred and recorded as other
reserves and recognized when the underlying foreign exchange exposure is realized. Gains and losses on
foreign exchange derivative instruments which do not qualify as hedges for accounting purposes are
recognized based on the change in the market value of the derivative instruments.
The Company has on occasion purchased foreign exchange contracts with contracts terms less than six
months to protect against the adverse effects of exchange rate fluctuations. These derivatives did not meet the
strict guidelines to qualify for hedge accounting and the gains and losses on both the derivatives and the
existing foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities were recorded as currency gains or losses in the
statements of operations. With respect to foreign exchange contracts outstanding in 2005, the Company
recorded aggregate currency gains (losses) of $1,127,000.
STAR operates in an industry in which a majority of its transactions are denominated in USD, whether
such activity involves revenues or operating expenses or assets or liabilities. STAR’s overhead expenses,
however, are denominated in either NOK or GBP. During 2006 and 2005, STAR hedged its exchange rate
exposure by entering into forward contracts on behalf of its Oslo and London offices.
STAR holds options to purchase vessels that are currently on time charter with the purchase option
price subject to adjustment according to the Japanese yen/USD rate of exchange. Management monitors
these risks and enters into hedge contracts from time to time to manage the exposure. STAR has entered into
forward contracts to hedge currency fluctuation exposures. The increase (decrease) in the market values of
the forward currency contracts outstanding at 31 December is as follows:
(in thousands)

Market value increase (decrease):
Sell USD / Buy NOK
Sell USD / Buy Japanese yen

Contract Amount
2006

$
500
$ 12,500

2006

$
$

17
(385)

2005

$
$

(21)
(369)

Interest Rate Risk — The Company’s use of debt exposes the Company to interest rate risk. Floating rate
debt, in which the interest rate can change from one interest period to the next in periods as short as one
month, exposes the Company to short-term changes in market interest rates. Fixed rate debt, in which the
interest rate is fixed over the life of the facility, exposes the Company to changes in market interest rates if
the Company should decide to refinance maturing debt with new debt.
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The Company may, from time to time, use interest rate swap agreements to manage the effect of interest
rate changes on future income. These derivatives are used as a hedge of underlying future interest payments
and are not used for speculative or trading purposes. The agreements involve the exchange of amounts based
on variable interest rates and amounts based on a fixed interest rate over the life of the agreement without an
exchange of the notional amount upon which the payments are based. The interest rate differential to be
paid or to be received on the swaps is recognized over the lives of the swaps as an adjustment to interest
expense.
The major risks in using interest rate derivatives include changes in interest rates that affect the value of
such instruments, potential increases in the interest expense of the Company due to market increases in
floating interest rates in the case of derivatives which exchange fixed interest rates for floating interest rates
and the creditworthiness of the counterparties in such transactions.
STAR’s loans are based on floating interest rates and STAR has therefore entered into swap agreements
for a portion of the mortgage debt in order to reduce its exposure to interest rate fluctuations. There were no
swap agreements outstanding at the end of fiscal 2006; however, the increase (decrease) in market values for
the swap agreements outstanding at 31 December 2005 is as follows:
Principal Amount
(in thousands)

$25,000

Swap Rate

Expiry
Date

4.911%

July 2006

2006

$

—

2005

$

(73)

STAR paid the fixed interest rate and received the floating interest rates based on 3-month LIBOR for
the $25,000,000 amount.
STAR wrote two interest rate caps in April 2002 of which one remained outstanding at the end of 2005
and expired in July 2006. The premium received for writing the cap was applied to reduce the fixed interest
rate paid under the swaps. The increase (decrease) in market values for the cap agreements outstanding at 31
December 2005 is as follows:
Cap Amount
(in thousands)

$25,000

Expiry
Date

Cap Rate

6.0%

July 2006

2006

$

—

2005

$

(6)

STAR was obligated under the contracts for all interest over 6% based on 3-month LIBOR.
The requirements necessary to classify the interest rate swaps and interest rate caps as hedges were not
satisfied; consequently, the gains (losses) were recorded in the consolidated statements of operations to reflect
the changes in fair, or market, values. Such fair values are determined by estimating the cost of interest rate
swaps to offset the outstanding swaps or the cost of reversing the caps.
Bunker Hedging — STAR’s management has been authorized by its board of directors to enter into bunker
hedge contracts. There were no such contracts outstanding at the end of 2006 or 2005.
(19) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Subsea 7 — Subsea 7 makes payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director fees and
reimbursements for advice on financings and corporate development and expenses for office, travel and
communication.
Siem Offshore — Following its spin-off and establishment as a separate, publicly-traded company in August
2005, Siem Offshore commenced payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director fees and
reimbursements for advice on financings and corporate development and expenses for office, travel and
communication.
In June 2006, the Company provided an unsecured $17,000,000 loan to Siem Offshore with the
proceeds to be used to finance the vessel construction activity. Terms of the loan included an interest rate
based on 1-month LIBOR plus a 2.125% margin and a 0.10% arrangement fee. The loan was repaid in
December 2006.
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In August 2006, the Company provided an unsecured NOK45,000,000 loan to Siem Offshore with the
proceeds to be used to finance a vessel acquisition. Terms of the loan included an interest rate based on 1month NIBOR plus a 1.625% margin and a 0.10% arrangement fee. The loan was repaid in December
2006.
STAR — In December 2004, the Company provided an unsecured short-term loan of $7,000,000 to
STAR to finance the purchase of a vessel. Terms of the loan provided for interest at LIBOR plus 1.375%
from drawdown, maturity at the end of March 2005 and an arrangement fee of $15,000. The loan was repaid
in early March 2005.
In August 2005, the Company provided a $21,100,000 loan to STAR with the proceeds used to partially
finance the acquisition of the 6 Polar-class reefer vessels. Terms of the loan included an interest rate based on
1-month LIBOR plus a 0.85% margin and an arrangement fee of 0.20%. Payments reduced the balance to
$6,224,000 at 31 December 2005. The remaining balance was repaid in January 2006.
In September 2005, the Company provided a $12,800,000 short-term credit facility to STAR. Terms of
the facility included an interest rate based on 1-month LIBOR plus a 0.75% margin and an arrangement fee
of $5,000. Total drawdowns of $12,000,000 were provided under the facility in September 2005 and the
outstanding loan was fully repaid in October 2005.
STAR makes payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director fees and reimbursements
for advice on financings and corporate development and expenses for office, travel and communication.
Other — In May 2005, the Compensation Committee approved a 5-year management service agreement
between Kristian Siem and the Company (the “2005 MSA”) to replace the 2000 MSA that expired at the end
of 2004. The 2005 MSA became effective 1 January 2005. The terms of the 2005 MSA are similar to the
previous agreement with the exception of compensation. The base compensation is now $700,000 and the
additional compensation is equal to 5% of the net income greater than $4,000,000 during each year of the
agreement. Under the previous agreement, the base compensation was $300,000 with additional
compensation payable in an amount equal to 5% of the net income greater than $2,000,000 during each
year of the agreement.
Total fees incurred by the Company under the management service agreement were $4,252,000 and
$1,842,000 for 2006 and 2005, respectively, and are recorded in general and administrative expenses.
The Company’s Chairman holds an option to purchase the property which houses the offices of Siem
Kapital AS, a wholly-owned subsidiary, located in Oslo, Norway. The option provides for a one-year option
period, which commences on the date that he is no longer an officer or director with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, during which time he can purchase the property at the price paid by Siem Kapital. This
option is subject to review by the Compensation Committee.
A summary of receivables and payables with associates and other related parties at 31 December is
presented below:
(in thousands)

2006

Due from associates and other related parties:
Subsea 7
Siem Offshore
Other
Total due from associates and other related parties
Due to associates and other related parties:
Kristian Siem
Total due to associates and other related parties
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2005

$

800
100
300
$ 1,200

$

800
100
523
$ 1,423

$ 5,127
$ 5,127

$ 1,134
$ 1,134
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(20) CAPITALIZATION AND CAPITAL ACCOUNTS
The Company purchases Common Shares from time to time from its shareholders who have offered to
sell such shares to the Company.
In early January 2005, the Company announced a tender offer to buyback up to 1,000,000 Common
Shares. The final expiration date, after a couple of extensions, was 21 March 2005. Upon conclusion of the
tender offer, the Company purchased and retired 26,752 Common Shares at a price of $17.50 per Common
Share.
In October 2005, a corporate shareholder with a representative on the Company’s Board of Directors
offered to exchange its 1,714,500 Common Shares for $17,000,000 and NOK85,000,000 face amount of
Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bonds held by the Company. The Company agreed to the exchange and obtained a
fair value opinion as required under corporate statues. At closing, the Company received and retired the
1,714,500 Common Shares and received and accepted the tender of resignation from the former corporate
shareholder’s representative serving on the Board of Directors.
In December 2005, the Board of Directors declared an extraordinary dividend of $0.07 per Common
Share payable on 25 January 2006 to shareholders of record as of 30 December 2005. In December 2004,
the Board of Directors declared an extraordinary dividend of $0.07 per Common Share payable on 27
January 2005 to shareholders of record as of 31 December 2004.
(21) OTHER RESERVES
The composition of other reserves is provided below:

(in thousands)

Balances, 1 January 2005
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Currency translation differences
Share-based compensation
Balances, 31 December 2005
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Currency translation differences
Share-based compensation
Balances, 31 December 2006

Other Reserves
Currency
Translation
Share-based
Adjustment
Compensation

Available-for-Sale
Securities

Total

51,105

1,762

54

52,921

38,867
—
—
89,972

—
142
—
1,904

—
—
74
128

38,867
142
74
92,004

15,946
—
—
$ 105,918

—
(99)
—
1,805

—
—
(128)
—

15,946
(99)
(128)
$ 107,723

$

$

(22) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In March 2007, the Company purchased and retired 25,050 Common Shares at an average price of $52
per Common Share.
In April 2007, the Company issued 502,485 new Common Shares and made a cash distribution in
exchange for outstanding liabilities due to participants of the 1987 Performance Unit Plan. The issuance of
new Common Shares will decrease performance unit liability and increase shareholders’ equity by
approximately $44,000,000.
In May 2007, Siem Offshore announced that it would conduct a 1:3 share rights issue whereby a
shareholder will receive subscription rights to enable the shareholder to purchase one new share for every
three shares that are owned. Following settlement of the issue at the subscription price of NOK13- per new
share, the number of issued and outstanding shares will increase by 55,972,966 shares to a total 223,891,866
shares. The proceeds will be used to secure the financing of the newbuilds currently under construction and
to position Siem Offshore for further growth and expansion. The subscription rights issued to Siem Offshore
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shareholders will be tradeable and listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. It is expected that the new Siem
Offshore shares will be issued on or after 11 July 2007. In connection with this rights issue, the Company has
agreed to provide an underwriting guarantee for the full amount of the rights issue and will receive a 1.50%
guarantee fee.
In May 2007, the Company announced the pricing of its private placement of $275,000,000 of secured,
limited recourse, exchangeable bonds due 2017 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds will be exchangeable for ordinary
shares of Subsea 7 that are currently owned by the Company and have a zero coupon, a yield-to-maturity of
0.95% and an exchange premium of 35%. The Company will have an option to call the Bonds after 5 years
at their accreted principal amount. Bondholders will have the right to require the Company to redeem the
Bonds at their accreted principal amount at the end of years 3, 5 and 7. The reference price for the Subsea 7
bonds was set at NOK126.2756 and the exchange rate to be used to determine the number of shares
underlying the bonds is NOK6.05/USD1.00. The total number of Subsea 7 ordinary shares to be issued if all
Bonds are exchanged is 9,759,664 shares.
The Bonds are expected to settle on or about 12 July 2007. An application will be made to list and trade
the Bonds on the Oslo Stock Exchange. Fifty percent of the gross proceeds of the Bonds will be invested in
U.S. government treasury securities during the life of the Bonds and the remaining proceeds will be used for
future investments, investments in associates, working capital and general corporate purposes. The security
for the Bonds will initially consist of the investments in U.S. government treasury securities and up to
18,100,000 ordinary shares of Subsea 7 that the Company currently owns.
Also in May 2007, Subsea 7 announced the pricing of its private placement of $175,000,000 of
convertible bonds due 2017 (the “2017 Convertible Bonds”). The 2017 Convertible Bonds will be
convertible into newly-issued ordinary shares of Subsea 7 and have a zero coupon, a yield-to-maturity of
0.95% and an exchange premium of 35%. The Company will have an option to call the 2017 Convertible
Bonds after 5 years at their accreted principal amount. Bondholders will have the right to require the
Company to redeem the 2017 Convertible Bonds at their accreted principal amount at the end of years 3, 5
and 7. The reference price for the 2017 Convertible Bonds was set at NOK126.2756 and the exchange rate
to be used to determine the number of shares underlying the bonds is NOK6.05/USD1.00. The total
number of new Subsea 7 ordinary shares to be issued if all 2017 Convertible Bonds are converted is
6,210,695 shares. The 2017 Convertible Bonds are expected to settle on or about 29 June 2007. An
application will be made to list and trade the Bonds on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
The Company has entered into global master stock lending agreements (the “SLA”) with the facility
underwriter for the Company’s Bonds and the convertible bonds issued by Subsea 7. In summary, the
Company has agreed to lend up to 16,000,000 shares of its holdings in Subsea 7 ordinary shares to the
underwriter for a period of 3 years. The Subsea 7 ordinary shares or their equivalent must be returned to the
Company at the conclusion of the facilities provided, however, that the Company is permitted to request
redelivery of the shares during the term of the facilities under certain circumstances. The Company will
receive a 0.50% p.a. fee based on the average daily market value of the number of shares that have been
borrowed. The 16,000,000 ordinary shares of Subsea 7 made available under the SLA are included in the
18,100,000 ordinary shares of Subsea 7 that secure the Bonds. The stock lending agreement that originated
following the placement of convertible bonds by Subsea 7 in June 2006 is replaced by the SLA.
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(23) SEGMENT INFORMATION
Primary Reporting Format – Business Segments. For purposes of business segment reporting, the Company
has segregated its operations into refrigerated ocean transportation of perishable products, car carrier ocean
transportation, other which includes investments in associates and unallocated.

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year 2006
Operating revenues
Share in profit of associates
Gains (losses), net
Other
Total revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amort.
Interest expense
Other
Income before income tax
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net income
Fiscal Year 2005
Operating revenues
Share in profit of associates
Gains (losses), net
Other
Total revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amort.
Interest expense
Other
Income before income tax
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net income

(in thousands)

Refrigerated
Ocean Transportation Car Carrier
of Perishables Ocean Transportation

$ 172,189
—
—

$ 19,891
—
—
—

(103,549)
(13,568)
—
—

(5,457)
(4,060)
—
—

$ 153,894
—
—

$ 18,910
—
—
—

(100,906)
(9,021)
—
—

(5,291)
(3,969)
—
—

Other

$

—
78,885
—
—

Unallocated

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
13,217
—
—

—
(1,156)
(13,899)
(44,787)

$

—
—
—
—

Refrigerated
Ocean Transportation Car Carrier
of Perishables Ocean Transportation

66
—
9,377
6,550

—
—
10,508
8,453
—
(147)
(8,212)
(41,363)

Other

Unallocated

Total

$ 192,146
78,885
9,377
6,550
286,958
(109,006)
(18,784)
(13,899)
(44,787)
100,482
110
$ 100,592
$ 173,344
13,217
10,508
8,453
205,522
(106,197)
(13,262)
(8,212)
(41,363)
36,488
(332)
$ 36,156

Total

Fiscal Year 2006
Assets
Liabilities

$ 319,642
$ 160,648

$ 90,182
$ 50,615

$ 296,652
$
—

$ 232,515
$ 113,873

$ 938,991
325,136

Capital expenditure

$ 29,983

$

$

$ 13,343

$ 43,326

Fiscal Year 2005
Assets
Liabilities

$ 305,332
$ 185,012

$ 95,042
$ 62,375

$ 189,107
$
—

$ 189,328
$ 41,543

$ 778,809
$ 288,930

Capital expenditure

$ 131,065

$

$

$

$ 100,592

—

—

—

—

—

Secondary Reporting Format – Geographical Segments. The Company business operations are worldwide
with constantly changing geographical markets. Therefore, a presentation is not included.
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THE COMPANY
Siem Industries Inc. is a diversified industrial holding company that
operates through autonomous affiliates. We currently hold interests in
several industrial areas including the oil and gas services industry, ocean
transport of refrigerated cargoes, ocean transport of automobiles, Swedish
industrial holdings in land-based industries and salt mining.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS :
Last June, I wrote to you about our expectations for high activity levels in the industries in which we operate.
The markets exceeded expectations for many of our activities during the past year. The high energy prices
have brought the oil and gas service industry to record levels. We expect the market conditions to remain
favourable for some time. The Group’s capital expenditures on newbuildings of vessels for the offshore
industry and purchases of vessels for Star Reefer amount to $885 million. Our organization worldwide has
grown to 6,000 people. We continue to emphasize safety and strive to deliver “best in class” products and
services and earn the position as a preferred supplier with our customers. We build for the long term.

Net income for 2005 was $26.8 million. The Company continued to experience strong growth in
shareholders’ equity as the book value increased to $29.96 per share from $24.60 per share, an increase of
22%.
Subsea 7 is one of the world’s leading subsea engineering and construction contractors with revenues of
$1.3 billion for 2005 and a backlog of $1.4 billion at the end of 2005. Subsea 7 has prepared for the
increasing requirements of the offshore market to operate in deepwater by entering into contracts for the
construction of two pipelay and construction vessels at a cost of approximately $200 million each. The Seven

Oceans will lay rigid pipe and is scheduled for delivery in the second quarter of 2007 and the Seven Seas will
lay flexible pipe and J-lay rigid pipe and is scheduled for delivery in the second quarter of 2008. In addition
to the newbuilds, Subsea 7 has made significant upgrades to two other vessels in the existing fleet, completed
the construction of a pipeline fabrication spoolbase in Angola and commenced the construction of five
heavy-duty workclass ROV systems with the first two systems delivered in March 2006. In May 2006, an
agreement for joint operation in the Far East was signed with Technip.
Siem Offshore placed orders to build eight offshore platform supply vessels (“PSVs”) and two multi-function
construction support vessels. Two of the PSVs have been delivered and are performing as expected. Further,
Siem Offshore acquired Rovde Shipping AS (now, Siem Rovde AS), signed an agreement to acquire a
controlling interest in a 2004-built PSV and shipbuilding contracts for two additional offshore service vessels
and acquired a controlling interest in a company that has developed a process for riserless subsea well
interventions. Siem Offshore’s total investment in vessels and newbuilds exceeds NOK2 billion ($300
million).
STAR Reefers is one of the world’s leading reefer owners and operators with 37 owned and operated vessels
with a total capacity of 19.3 million cubic feet. During the third quarter of 2005, STAR Reefers secured
access to quality tonnage with the acquisition of seven vessels, which included six Polar–class vessels. These
acquisitions follow STAR Reefers’ previous commitment to ensure a supply of quality tonnage by entering
into 10-year charters for four specialized reefer newbuilds, each with a capacity of 585,000 cubic feet. STAR

First, the first of these four newbuilds, was delivered in March 2006.

Competition from container vessels will continue as supply of new container vessels increases with new yard
deliveries. The current spot market rates for reefer vessels is very low and gives no contribution to older
vessels with high fuel consumption. Scrapping of reefer vessels is therefore expected to resume this year.
Siem Car Carriers remains profitable and its three car carrier vessels continue to perform well. Two of the
vessels have charters into mid-2010 and the third vessel has a charter to mid-2008.
Siem Industrikapital (“SIAB”) in Sweden has three remaining industries: EFG, Boule and Emotron.
Proceeds generated by the sale of an investment enabled SIAB to repay its debt and pay $18.6 million of
dividends to the Company in 2005.
Siem Investments’ two remaining investments of significance are Deusa International GmbH and
Transocean Inc. Deusa continues efforts to improve its potash mining operations. During 2005, Deusa
entered into contracts for the construction of a thermolysis plant with operations expected to commence at
the end of 2006 and full operations during the first quarter of 2007. Waste suppliers will pay Deusa to take
wastes which will be incinerated at very high temperatures. The incineration releases gases which can be used
by Deusa to provide power, a major cost component in the potash mining operations, at a consistent level
and determinable price and can be used by the power plant to generate electricity. Transocean benefits from
high activity in the oil and gas industry and enjoys record day-rates on long-term contracts. Our shareholding
in Transocean has a market value in excess of $100 million.

The outlook for our industries continues to be positive, particularly in the oil and gas sector where the
backlog of contracted revenue continues to rise. In this environment, management of people and execution
of operations is the main focus.

The Company bought back 1,714,500 of its own shares from Storebrand in October 2005. Mr. Rune Holen,
who represented Storebrand on our Board, resigned at that time. I thank Rune for his contributions to the
Company.

Kristian Siem, Chairman
9 June 2006

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION TO BUSINESS
The Company operates as a diversified industrial holding company with its major holdings in the oil and
gas service industry through its holdings in Subsea 7 Inc. and Siem Offshore Inc., in the shipping industry
through its holdings in STAR Reefers Inc. and Siem Car Carriers Inc. and in the financial investment area
through its holdings in Siem Investments Inc. (formerly, Siem Acquisition and Reorganisation Fund, Inc.)
and Siem Capital AB. Through its investment in Siem Capital, the Company owns a number of smaller,
strategic investments and investments in listed and unlisted senior secured notes and other notes receivables.
Press releases and quarterly financial reports issued by the Company may be obtained from the
Company’s website at www.siemindustries.com.
DESCRIPTION OF MAJOR INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS
At their respective Annual General Meetings conducted in July 2005, Subsea 7 Inc. changed its name to
“Subsea 7 Holding Inc.”, Siem Offshore Inc. changed its name to “Subsea 7 Inc.” to reflect the nature of its
primary business activities, and Siem Supply Inc. changed its name to “Siem Offshore Inc.” All references to
companies in the following discussion will use the new names.
SUBSEA 7 INC.
In October 2005, the Company used NOK85,000,000 of the Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bond Loans
(“8% Convertible Bonds”) and $17,000,000 cash to purchase and retire 1,714,500 Company Common
Shares.
At 31 December 2005, the Company owned 58,349,653 shares of Subsea 7 Inc. (OSE Symbol: SUB), or
approximately 41.8% of its issued and outstanding shares, and NOK140,130,000 face amount of 8%
Convertible Bond. The Company reports the investment in Subsea 7 using the equity method of accounting.
In January 2006, the Company received 7,340,492 shares of Subsea 7 following the conversion of its
NOK140,130,000 8% Convertible Bonds at the conversion rate of NOK19.09 per share. The Company
further increased its shareholding in March 2006 when it purchased 704,000 shares of Subsea 7 in the market
at an average price of NOK81.3226 per share.
Fiscal 2005 Discussion and Subsequent Events — In late-2004, Subsea 7 conducted private placements to
issue a total of 49,300,000 new shares. The proceeds from these placements were used to improve working
capital and to raise the funds necessary to purchase Halliburton Company’s 50%-interest in Subsea 7
Holding. Subsea 7 completed the purchase in early-January 2005 at a price of approximately $203,000,000. In
connection with the private placements, Subsea 7 conducted an offering for the purpose of providing
shareholders who were not invited to participate in the private placement with the opportunity to maintain
their relative shareholding in Subsea 7. The offering was completed in January 2005 and a total of 2,458,549
new shares issued.
In June 2005, Subsea 7 made the decision to segregate its subsea assets and activities from the other assets
and activities. Accordingly, the non-Subsea 7 assets and activities were transferred into Siem Offshore, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Subsea 7. At an Extraordinary General Meeting held in August 2005, Subsea 7’s
shareholders approved its plan to spin-off Siem Offshore. The spin-off, considered effective at the end of 30
June 2005, was treated as the payment of a dividend in specie whereby Subsea 7 distributed all of the shares
in Siem Offshore to its shareholders by the issuance of one share of Siem Offshore for each outstanding share
of Subsea 7.
At 31 May 2006, the Company owned 66,394,145 shares of Subsea 7 with a market value of
approximately $1,010,300,000 using a closing market price of NOK92.50 and an exchange rate of
NOK6.0790/$1.00.

1

The following financial highlights for Subsea 7 show the results and amounts for 2005 as compared to
the proforma results and amounts for 2004. The proforma amounts include the results for Subsea 7 Holding
as if it had been 100%-owned for all of 2004 rather than only 50%-owned and exclude the results for Siem
Offshore.
As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2005
Proforma 2004

Subsea 7 Financial Highlights (in thousands):

Financial Performance: Revenues
EBITDA
Net income

$ 1,287,028
$
166,093
$
45,204

$
$
$

812,808
63,377
(31,051)

Financial Position:

Assets
Liabilities

$
$

$
$

741,702
525,340

Other notable:

Capital expenditures
Backlog

$
102,628
$ 1,355,000

880,930
592,252

$
6,410
$ 1,206,000

At the end of 2005, Subsea 7 employed in excess of 3,700 employees, including 550 engineers and/or
project managers, controlled a fleet of 14 vessels, utilized more than 100 remotely-operated vehicles (ROVs)
and operated five pipeline construction yards. Subsea 7 operates in all of the major offshore oil and gas areas
worldwide.
Subsea 7 has undertaken significant capital expenditures to meet the requirements of the growing
offshore business. In June 2005, Subsea 7 entered into contracts to build a rigid-pipe pipelay and construction
vessel for delivery in the second quarter of 2007 at a cost of approximately $200 million. In February 2006,
Subsea 7 entered into contracts to build a flexible-pipe pipelay and construction vessel with the ability to J-lay
rigid pipe. Delivery is expected in the second quarter of 2008 at a cost of approximately $200 million. In
addition to the newbuildings, upgrades were made to two of Subsea 7’s existing vessels.
Other capital expenditures included the construction of a pipeline fabrication spoolbase in Angola which
commenced operations in August 2005 and the construction of five latest-generation heavy-construction
workclass ROV systems with the first two systems delivered in March 2006.
In May 2006, Subsea 7 conducted a private placement for $300 million of Convertible Notes due 2011
(the “2011 Convertible Notes”). The 2011 Convertible Notes bear interest at 2.80% p.a. and are convertible
into new shares of Subsea 7 at a rate of $26.33 per share.
The underwriter, Lehman Brothers International (Europe), requested that the Company support the
placement by entering into a securities lending agreement. The Company agreed to the request. Terms of the
securities lending agreement provide that the Company will lend up to 9,000,000 shares of its Subsea 7
shareholdings to the underwriter for the duration of the 2011 Convertible Notes. The agreement provides
that the Subsea 7 shares or their equivalent will be returned to the Company at the conclusion of the
convertible note facility and also permits the Company to recall the shares in certain circumstances where the
Company desires to vote these shares. The Company will receive a fee, payable monthly in arrears, that is
equal to of 0.50% p.a. of the average daily market value of the shares.

For more information regarding Subsea 7, please visit Subsea 7’s website at www.subsea7.com.
SIEM OFFSHORE INC.
At the time of Subsea 7’s spin-off of Siem Offshore, the new shares of Siem Offshore were allocated a
value of NOK4.14 per share representing a transfer of shareholders’ equity from Subsea 7 shares to Siem
Offshore shares. Following the spin-off, the Company received 58,349,653 shares of Siem Offshore.
Subsequent to the completion of the spin-off, the shares of Siem Offshore were listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange.
At 31 December 2005, the Company owned 58,349,653 shares of Siem Offshore Inc. (OSE Symbol:
SIOFF), or approximately 44.8% of its issued and outstanding shares. The Company reports the investment
in Siem Offshore using the equity method of accounting.
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In March 2006 the Company purchased 4,410,750 shares of Siem Offshore in the market at an average
price of NOK4.20 per share.
At 31 May 2006, the Company owned 62,760,403 shares of Siem Offshore with a market value of
approximately $53,100,000 using a closing market price of NOK5.15 and an exchange rate of
NOK6.0790/$1.00.
Fiscal 2005 Discussion and Subsequent Events — The following shows the actual results and amounts for
Siem Offshore for the 6 month period from the effective date of its spin-off by Subsea to the end of 2005 and
the unaudited proforma results and amounts for Siem Offshore for 2005 and 2004 as prepared by Siem
Offshore and included in its annual report to illustrate the effect of the spin-off. The proforma results and
amounts are for information purposes only and the underlying assumptions are discussed therein.
Actual and Proforma Results and Amounts for Siem Offshore

(in thousands)

Actual

As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
Proforma 2005
Proforma 2004

1 July to 31 December 2005

Financial Performance: Revenues
EBITDA
Net income (loss)

$
$
$

16,476
3,859
(2,057)

$
$
$

30,500
7,999
(5,091)

$
$
$

30,861
11,208
2,548

Financial Position:

$
$

92,951
38,471

$
$

92,951
38,471

$
$

90,759
19,923

Assets
Liabilities

Following the spin-off, Siem Offshore owned 6 platform supply vessels (PSVs) of a VS 470 Mk II design
that were under construction plus options for the construction of two more vessels of the same design, a
50%-interest in Overseas Drilling Limited (“ODL”) which is owner of the JOIDES Resolution, a 41%-interest
in KS Big Orange XVIII which is owner of the Big Orange XVIII, a subsidiary that owns and operates 10
supply/crew vessels in Brazil and other activities related to software development projects in Brazil.
In September 2005, Siem Offshore entered into an agreement to acquire Rovde Shipping AS. Rovde
Shipping owned 4 small PSV/AHTS (anchor-handling, towing and supply) vessels with standby and oilrecovery capabilities, two partly-owned modern large PSVs and a vessel management operation. The
conditions for the acquisition were completed in February 2006 and 35,019,678 new shares of Siem Offshore
paid to Rovde Shipping shareholders. The company was renamed Siem Rovde AS.
The first of the newbuild PSVs was delivered to Siem Offshore in October 2005 and commenced a 6month charter with 6 additional monthly options shortly thereafter.
In December 2005, ODL entered into a contract for the use of the JOIDES Resolution as a scientific
ocean-drilling for the Integrated Ocean Drilling Program’s Phase II. The operational phase of the contract
commences in 2007 and continues through the fourth quarter 2013 with 10 additional yearly options. The
estimated contract value for the operational phase through 2013 is approximately $140 million but can be
terminated at any time with a $3 million termination fee. Prior to the commencement of the operational
phase, the JOIDES Resolution will undergo a major conversion which will be paid by the charterer. Day rates
will apply during the conversion.
During 2005, Siem Offshore purchased 4,642,000 of its own shares in the market at an average cost of
NOK4.01 per share.
In February 2006, Siem Offshore declared the final option for 2 PSVs of VS 470 Mk II design for
approximately NOK285 million and entered into an contract to sell one of the other newbuild PSVs
scheduled for delivery at the end of 2006 for approximately NOK163 million.
In February and April 2006, Siem Offshore entered into separate contracts for the construction of 2
multi-functional field and ROV support vessels of a MT 6016 L design for a total of NOK680 million with
the first delivery scheduled in June 2007 and the second delivery in March 2008.
In May 2006, Siem Offshore entered into an agreement to acquire up to 60% of Well Intervention
Solutions AS (“WIS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wellis AS. WIS has developed a process to enable safer
and more efficient riserless subsea intervention, drilling and maintenance services from vessels.
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In May 2006, Siem Offshore purchased 1,662,000 of its own shares in the market at an average cost of
NOK5.00 per share.

For more information regarding Siem Offshore, please visit its website at www.siemoffshore.com .
STAR REEFERS INC.
At 31 December 2005, the Company owned 6,272,534 shares of STAR Reefers Inc. (OSE Symbol: SRI),
or approximately 72.3% of its issued and outstanding shares.
The Company acquired 20,000 newly-issued STAR shares in March 2005 when it paid $6.60 per share,
or an aggregate $132,000, to exercise share options that had been assigned to the Company by its Chairman,
Mr. Kristian. Siem. The 20,000 share options were part of a total 174,000 share options that were exercised.
At the time of the exercise, the market value of the 20,000 shares was in excess of $450,000.
At 31 May 2006, the Company owned 6,272,534 shares of STAR with a market value of
approximately $123,800,000 using a closing market price of NOK120.00 and an exchange rate of
NOK6.0790/$1.00.
Fiscal 2005 Discussion and Subsequent Events — STAR Reefers Inc. (“STAR Reefers” or “STAR”) is one of
the world’s leading reefer owners and operators. At the end of 2005, STAR Reefers controlled a modern fleet
of 36 owned and chartered vessels with a total capacity of 18.7 million cubic feet (“cbft”). The operations
include the refrigerated marine transportation of perishable commodities such as fruits and vegetables.
The financial statements of STAR are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The
following financial highlights for STAR show the standalone comparative results and amounts for 2005 and
2004.
As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2005
2004

STAR Reefers Financial Highlights (in thousands)

Financial Performance: Operating revenues
EBITDA
Net income (loss)

$
$
$

154,007
45,851
31,242

$
$
$

134,726
26,260
16,166

Financial Position:

$
$

311,556
191,235

$
$

204,421
116,929

Assets
Liabilities

STAR announced in March 2005 that it had agreed to time-charter two newbuild, specialized reefer
vessels. These vessels are in addition to the two vessel newbuildings announced in November 2004. Each of
the four vessels will have a capacity of 585,000 cbft and be chartered for a period of 10 years commencing
upon delivery. The first vessel, STAR First, was delivered in March 2006 and the fourth vessel will be delivered
in the second quarter of 2007.
STAR concluded the acquisition of six Polar-class vessels in third quarter of 2005. The 1992- and 1993built vessels, were previously on time charter to STAR. These time charters were terminated on delivery. The
$117,300,000 purchase price was paid using the proceeds of increased bank debt of approximately
$83,000,000 and the proceeds of a $21,100,000 short-term loan provided by the Company. The balance of
the purchase price was paid using internally-generated cash. The amount outstanding under the short-term
loan provided by the Company was reduced to $6,224,000 at the end of December 2005 and fully repaid in
January 2006.
At the end of September 2005, STAR completed the acquisition of a 1991-built specialized reefer vessel
for $14,200,000 using the proceeds of a $12,800,000 short-term credit facility provided by the Company and
internally-generated cash. Only $12,000,000 was drawn under the short-term credit facility and all
outstanding amounts were repaid in October 2005.
In December 2005, STAR sold a wholly-owned subsidiary, which was itself owner of a single vessel.
Following the sale, the vessel was bareboat-chartered back to STAR.

For more information regarding STAR Reefers, please visit its website at www.star-reefers.com .
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SIEM CAR CARRIERS INC. (“Car Carriers”)
At December 31 2005, the Company owned approximately 88% of Siem Car Carriers Inc. Car Carriers
is the owner of three 2000-built sister ships engaged in the ocean-transportion of vehicles, each with a
carrying capacity of 4,300 cars and 400 high and heavy units.
Car Carriers used proceeds from a $90,000,000 bank loan to finance the 2002 acquisition of the three
vessels. In July 2004, Car Carriers refinanced the outstanding $68,750,000 principal amount with a new
$75,000,000 facility. Car Carriers used the excess funds generated by the new facility and available cash to pay
a cash distribution of $9,250,000 to its shareholders. The Company’s share of the distribution was
$8,150,000.
Since the the loan refinancing in July 2004, Car Carriers has made payments and prepayment to reduce
the loan balance to $60,000,000 at the end of December 2005 and to $58,000,000 at the end of May 2006.
Two of the vessels are under 5-year time charters, one of which is scheduled to expire on or about May
2010 and the second on or about August 2010. The third vessel had its term extended to May 2008 following
the exercise of an option under the existing charter.
Car Carriers is included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. On a standalone basis, Car
Carriers recorded net income of $6,670,000 and $7,480,000 in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The aggregate
market value of the vessels has appreciated since the 2002 acquisition.
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ACTIVITIES
TRANSOCEAN INC. — Transocean, a publicly-traded company (NYSE Symbol: RIG), is the world’s premier
offshore contractor with the largest and most technologically-advanced fleet of offshore drilling units
operating worldwide.
At 31 December 2005, the Company owned 1,423,720 shares of Transocean. The ownership remained
unchanged at 31 May 2006 and the Transocean common stock had a market value of approximately
$115,800,000. For more information on Transocean, please visit Transocean’s website at
www.deepwater.com.
SIEM INVESTMENTS INC. — Siem Investments (formerly, Siem Acquisition and Reorganisation Fund, Inc.),
was established to originate and/or participate in the acquisition, reorganization or restructuring of
investment opportunities in particular businesses experiencing distress situations.
Since the commencement of its activities, Siem Investments has accumulated a number of investments
which concluded successfully. Due to the increasing attention paid to the Company’s other larger
investments, the activity has diminished and investments liquidated. The only remaining investment of
significance is a 49%-interest in Deusa International GmbH. Deusa, a German company involved in potash
mining, emerged from bankruptcy around year 2000 when the creditors requested that the Siem Investments
assist in the reclamation of Deusa’s operations. Siem Investments has been involved in an advisory capacity
for several years and acquired a 49%-interest in 2004 which is reported using the equity method.
During 2005, Deusa entered into contracts for the construction of a thermolysis plant which will become
operational at the end of 2006 with full operation planned during the first quarter of 2006. The thermolysis
plant will receive municipal wastes of a specified content and grade and incinerate these wastes at very high
temperatures. The thermolysis process will cause the release of gases which can be used in the potash mining
operations and in a power plant for the generation of electricity. The thermolysis plant will provide power, a
major cost component in the potash mining operations, to Deusa at a consistent level and determinable
price, thus reducing Deusa’s exposure to volatile energy prices. Furthermore, the suppliers of the municipal
wastes pay Deusa for the disposal of such wastes.
The cost of the thermolysis plant is approximately EUR20,000,000. Siem Investments provides projectfinancing to Deusa until the operational risks associated with this plant have been reduced and improved
terms of a bank financing can be obtained. At 31 December 2005, the amount of project-financing provided
to Deusa for the thermolysis plant construction was EUR3,300,000. During 2006, an additional
EUR7,593,000 has been provided as project financing.
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SIEM CAPITAL AB — In February 1998, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire a 64% interest
in share capital and a 50% voting interest in Siem Capital AB, a Swedish company, with the remaining 36%
share capital and 50% voting interest held by the previous managers of Siem Capital. Siem Capital holds
interests in several industrial companies including EFG European Furniture Group AB, a leading designer
and manufacturer of business office furniture in Europe, and Boule Diagnostics International AB, the
holding company for three separate biotechnology/medical technology businesses, Boule Medical AB, Boule
Diagnostics AB and Labdesign Boule Nordic AB.
In May 2004, Siem Industrikapital (SIAB), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Siem Capital AB, sold a major
shareholding. SIAB used the proceeds to reduce its debt from SEK203 million to SEK30 million and set
aside approximately SEK180 million for distribution to its shareholders. Siem Capital made distributions to
the Company of SEK123,500,000 in April 2005 and SEK10,000,000 in December 2005.
PRIVATBANKEN ASA — The Company acquired 4,999,999 shares of Privatbanken ASA in October 2000 at
a price of NOK10.50 per share, or $1.11 per share based on exchange rates at the time, or an aggregate
investment of $5,557,000
In mid-2004, Privatbanken listed its shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange. In early 2005, SEBanken AB
announced a voluntary offer to purchase all shares, warrants and convertible debt issued by Privatbanken.
The purchase offer was NOK17.00 per share, or approximately $2.71, on the day of the offer. In May 2005,
the Company purchased an additional 1,301,250 Privatbanken shares at NOK16.70 per share, or an
aggregate $3,470,000.
Shortly thereafter, SEBanken AB acquired greater than 90% of the shares which gave it the right to
require Privatbanken shareholders to accept the offer. The Company accepted the offer and received
$16,872,000 in September 2005 plus interest from the date that the offer became final.
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
NATURE OF TRADING MARKET
Quotes for the Company’s common shares, U.S. $0.25 par value per share (“Common Shares”), which is
the Company’s only issued and outstanding form of equity securities, are available from Pink Sheets LLC, a
centralized quotation service that collects and publishes market maker quotes for OTC securities, under the
symbol “SEMUF” at www.pinksheets.com. Previously, the Company's Common Shares were publicly-traded
on the American Stock Exchange commencing in 1987 and on the Oslo Stock Exchange commencing in
1997. The Company voluntarily delisted from the American Stock Exchange effective October 1998. The
Company was delisted by the Oslo Stock Exchange in November 1999 when it failed to satisfy a requirement
for a minimum number of shareholders to be registered on the VPS in Norway. The Company is not
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
There are approximately 85 holders of record and it is estimated that there are less than 1,000,000
Common Shares available for active trading, or approximately 6.6% of the outstanding shares. Daily trading,
if any, of Common Shares on the Pink Sheets is often numbered in hundreds of shares. The low liquidity of
the Company’s Common Shares has made the trading susceptible to volatile pricing.
In January 2005, the Company announced a tender offer to purchase up to 1,000,000 Common Shares.
The purpose of the tender offer was to provide an opportunity to interested shareholders to liquidate some or
all of their holdings without a potential disruption in price because of the number of shares tendered and
without having to incur the usual transaction costs associated with open-market sales. At closing of the tender
offer in March 2005 following a couple of extensions of the expiration date, the Company purchased and
retired 26,752 Common Shares at $17.50 per share.
On 12 January 2005, the last full trading day on the Pink Sheets LLC prior to the Company’s
announcement of the tender offer, the best bid and best ask prices per Common Share was $14.75 for 200
shares and $16.25 for 200 shares. Since the tender offer, the market prices of the Company’s largest
investments which operate in the oil and gas industry have moved steadily upward. Accordingly, the price for
Common Shares have also moved upward.
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At the end of the day on 31 May 2006, the best bid and ask prices were $50.25 and $54.50, respectively,
with the most recent sale at $51.50 per Common Share.
DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company's policy is to reinvest available funds into the business; consequently, the Company does
not pay dividends on a regular basis. The Board of Directors declared and paid extraordinary cash dividends
of $0.07 per Common Share to shareholders on each of 25 January 2006 and 27 January 2005.
CONTROL
The following table sets forth certain information, as of 9 June 2006 with respect to the only persons
known to the Company who owned beneficially more than 10% of the Company's Common Shares and the
number of Common Shares owned by officers and directors of the Company, as a group:
Name of Beneficial Owners
or Identity of Group

Shares
Beneficially Owned

Sero Trust (1)
Officers and Directors as a Group (2)

8,852,688
1,379,092

Percentage of
Common Shares

58.8%
9.2%

(1) The Sero Trust, whose potential beneficiaries include the mother and certain of the brothers of Mr. Kristian Siem, Chairman of the
Company, is the beneficial owner of the Common Shares through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Elderberry Holdings Limited, which
is the direct owner of the Common Shares. The trustee for the Sero Trust holds voting and dispositive power over its shareholding.
(2) Mr. Siem owns 1,378,992 Common Shares, or approximately 9.2% of the Common Shares. The Ores Trust is the beneficial
owner of 1,352,432 Common Shares, or approximately 9.0% of the Common Shares, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Siem
Holding Inc., which is the direct owner of the Common Shares. Mr. Siem and his wife and children are potential beneficiaries of
the Ores Trust. Each of Mr. Siem and the trustee for the Ores Trust hold separate voting and dispositive powers over their
respective shareholdings.

EXCHANGE CONTROLS AND OTHER LIMITATIONS AFFECTING SHAREHOLDERS
The Company may not carry on business in the Cayman Islands except in furtherance of its business
outside the Cayman Islands and is prohibited from inviting the public of the Cayman Islands to subscribe for
any of its common shares.
Neither the Company's Memorandum or Articles of Association nor Cayman Islands law impose any
limitations on the right of nonresident or foreign owners to hold or vote their common shares except in the
event of insanity of a holder. The laws of the Cayman Islands freely permit the import and export of capital
including, but not limited to, the payment of dividends to persons who do not reside in the Cayman Islands.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data has been derived from the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2005 and 2004 and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements of the Company (including the related notes) and “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere herein.
Years Ended 31 December
2005
2004

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Total revenues (1)
Total expenses and other
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense

$ 205,522
(169,034)
36,488
332

$ 218,925
(178,117)
40,808
134

36,156
9,319

40,674
3,161

Net income
Minority interests
Net income attributed to Common Shares

$

26,837

$

37,513

Net income, basic and diluted,
per Common Share

$

1.64

$

2.23

FINANCIAL POSITION:
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Shareholders' equity

$ 42,104
$ 778,809
$ 230,586
$ 451,042

$ 49,992
$ 659,101
$ 179,060
$ 413,210

Wtd. avg. no. shares outstanding
Ending no. of shares outstanding

16,407
15,053

16,794
16,794

(1) Includes equity in the income of unconsolidated affiliates of $13,217 and $12,077 for each of the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW
In early January 2005, Subsea 7 completed the acquisition of the 50%-interest in Subsea 7 Holding Inc.
from Halliburton Company at a price of $203,000,000 using the proceeds of a December 2004 private
placement of approximately $160,000,000, the excess funds arising from the restructuring of its loan facility
which generated approximately $33,000,000 and available cash.
The Company did not participate in the December private placement and its ownership interest was
reduced to 44.8%. Following the dilution of its interest and the subsequent loss of control, the Company
deconsolidated the Subsea 7 financial statements from the consolidated financial statements and commenced
to report the investment in Subsea 7 under the equity method of accounting effective 31 December 2004.
However, since the loss of control was not deemed to occur until the end of 2004, the Company included
Subsea 7’s income and expenses in its consolidated income statement for the full year.
At completion of the Company’s tender offer for its Common Shares in March 2005, the Company paid
an aggregate $468,160 to purchase and retire 26,752 Common Shares.
In March 2005, STAR completed the repayment of a $7,000,000 provided by the Company at the end of
December 2004, STAR to assist in financing the purchase of a 1993-built specialized-reefer vessel with a
capacity of approximately 526,000 cbft.
In April 2005, Siem Capital made a dividend distribution of SEK123,500,000, or approximately
$17,320,000, to the Company. The Company recorded the distribution as a reduction of its investment in
Siem Capital.
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In August 2005, Subsea 7 completed the spin-off Siem Offshore. The spin-off was treated as the payment
of a dividend in specie whereby Subsea 7 distributed all of the shares in Siem Offshore to its shareholders by
the issuance of one share of Siem Offshore for each share of Subsea 7. The new shares of Siem Offshore were
allocated a value of NOK4.14 per share representing a transfer of shareholders’ equity from the Subsea 7
shares to the Siem Offshore shares. The Company received 58,349,653 of the newly-issued shares of Siem
Offshore.
In the third quarter of 2005, STAR used the proceeds of a $21,100,000 loan provided by the Company
and $83,000,000 of increased bank debt to finance the purchase of six Polar-class vessels for $117,300,000.
STAR reduced the outstanding balance under the short-term loan to $6,224,000 by the end of December
2005 and all paid the remaining amounts in January 2006.
At the end of September 2005, STAR used the proceeds of a short-term credit facility provided by the
Company to complete the acquisition of a specialized reefer vessel for $14,200,000. The $12,000,000 loan
was repaid in October 2005.
In October 2005, the Company accepted an offer to pay $17,000,000 cash and deliver NOK85,000,000
face amount of Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bonds held by the Company in exchange for 1,714,500 Common
Shares. Upon completion of the exchange, the Company retired the Common Shares.
In December 2005, Siem Capital made a second dividend distribution of approximately SEK10,000,000.
The Company recorded the distribution as a reduction of its investment in Siem Capital.
At the end of December 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.07 per share
payable in cash to shareholders of record on December 30, 2005.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FISCAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005 AND 2004
Operating revenues recorded during fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were $173,344,000 and $176,036,000,
respectively. The net decrease is attributed to the deconsolidation of Subsea 7’s financial statements at the end
of 2004. Subsea 7’s operating revenues, as recorded in the consolidated income statements, were $-0- and
$21,554,000 for 2005 and 2004, respectively. The absence of Subsea 7 operating revenues was offset by the
continued growth of STAR’s operations and improvement in freight rates.
Interest income recorded during fiscal years 2005 and 2004 was approximately $5,743,000 and
$3,806,000, respectively. In general, interest income increased from 2004 because of the increasing rate
environment for its interest-bearing assets.
Net gains (losses) for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were approximately $10,508,000 and $24,705,000,
respectively. The level of trading and other securities was significantly diminished in 2005 when compared to
2004 as management devoted increasing attention to longer-term investments. Major components of the net
gains recorded during 2005 included approximately $5,298,000 net gains related to the sales and mark-tomarket of trading securities owned by the Company, $2,045,000 related to the sale of a vessel by STAR and
$2,286,000 related to the recovery from an investment previously written-off. Major components of the net
gains recorded during 2004 included approximately $12,147,000 related to Siem Investments’ investments in
notes issued by the companies involved in the oil and gas industry, $9,855,000 net gains related to the sales
and mark-to-market of trading equities held by the Company and $5,057,000 related to the sale of two vessels
by STAR.
Equity in the income (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates recorded during fiscal years 2005 and 2004 was
approximately $13,217,000 and $12,077,000, respectively. The major components of net equity income for
2005 included equity income of $16,910,000 in aggregate for the operations of Subsea 7, Siem Offshore and
their affiliates and an equity loss of $(2,437,000) for the investment in Siem Capital. The major components
of net equity income for 2004 included equity income of $3,010,000 in aggregate for the operations of
Subsea 7, Siem Offshore and their affiliates and equity income of $8,205,000 for the investment in Siem
Capital.
Other revenues recorded during fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were approximately $2,710,000 and
$2,301,000, respectively. Significant other income items include dividend income and fees.
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Operating expenses recorded during the fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were $106,197,000 and
$126,959,000, respectively. As noted in the discussion for operating revenues, the net decrease is attributed
to the deconsolidation of Subsea 7. Subsea 7’s operating expenses, as reported in the consolidated income
statements, were $-0- and $17,057,000 for 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Depreciation and amortization expense for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were $13,262,000 and
$15,274,000, respectively. Subsea 7’s depreciation and amortization expenses, as reported in the consolidated
income statements, were $-0- and $2,051,000 for 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Impairment of goodwill during 2004 was approximately $6,154,000. This impairment was related to
Subsea 7’s assessment of the goodwill related to its non-subsea activities in Brazil. Following the assessment, it
was determined that the goodwill should be written-off it in its entirety.
Interest expense for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were approximately $8,212,000 and $10,892,000,
respectively. Subsea 7’s depreciation and amortization expenses, as reported in the consolidated income
statements, were $-0- and $3,646,000 for 2005 and 2004, respectively. This reduction was offset by the
increasing interest rate environment.
General and administrative expenses for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were approximately $30,772,000 and
$21,334,000, respectively. General and administrative expenses during 2005 included $9,295,000, $-0- and
$142,000 related to STAR, Subsea 7 and Car Carriers, respectively. Other major components include a
provision to establish a reserve for the settlement of a probable probable claim and related legal fees,
$13,180,000 related to the performance unit plan and $1,842,000 for management fee expense. General and
administrative expenses during 2004 included $8,669,000, $2,899,000 and $250,000 related to STAR,
Subsea 7 and Car Carriers, respectively. Other major components include $4,619,000 related to the
performance unit plan and $2,209,000 for management fee expense. The performance unit plan is a longterm compensation incentive plan that provides benefits based on the difference between the market value of
the individual performance unit compared to the value of the unit on the date that the unit was granted. The
management fee expense is based on the level of net income and is determined in accordance with provisions
of a management service agreement.
Currency exchange gains (losses) for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were $(10,332,000) and $3,407,000,
respectively. The net currency exchange losses for 2005 reflect the depreciation of the Company’s non-USDdenominated investments.
Income tax expense (benefit) for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were $332,000 and $134,000, respectively.
Included within the income tax expense are withholding taxes ranging from 20-30% on dividends received
from the Company’s various equity investments and Norwegian tax expense (benefit) incurred with respect to
the Company’s activities in Norway. Subsea 7 and Siem Offshore are the largest taxpayers in the consolidated
entity; however, equity income from unconsolidated affiliates reflects only after-tax results for such
investments.
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY
The current ratios were 1.69 and 2.29 at 31 December 2005 and 2004, respectively. The interest-bearing
debt-to-total assets ratio were 0.30 and 0.27 at 31 December 2005 and 2004, respectively.
At the end of 2005, the Company had $80,000,000 in available drawing capacity under its various
revolvers.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2006, the Company received 7,340,492 shares of Subsea 7 following conversion of the
NOK140,130,000 Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bonds to increase its shareholding to 65,690,145 shares of
Subsea 7.
At the end of January 2006, the Company paid approximately $1,054,000 cash to Company
shareholders with respect to the dividends declared at the end of 2005 at the rate of $0.07 per Common
Share.
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In March 2006, the Company purchased 4,410,750 shares of Siem Offshore in the market at an average
price of NOK4.20 per share which increased its shareholding to 62,760,403 shares of Siem Offshore.
Also in March 2006, the Company purchased 704,000 shares of Subsea 7 in the market at an average
price of NOK81.3226 per share which increased its shareholding to 66,394,145 shares of Subsea 7.
In May 2006, Subsea 7 conducted a private placement for $300 million of Convertible Notes due 2011
(the “2011 Convertible Notes”). The 2011 Convertible Notes bear interest at 2.80% p.a. and are convertible
into new shares of Subsea 7 at a rate of $26.33 per share.
The Company agreed to support the placement of the 2011 Convertible Notes by entering into a
securities lending agreement with the underwriter, Lehman Brothers International (Europe). Terms of the
agreement provide that the Company will lend up to 9,000,000 shares of its Subsea 7 shareholdings to the
underwriter for the duration of the 2011 Convertible Notes, that the Subsea 7 shares or their equivalent will
be returned to the Company at the conclusion of the convertible note facility and that the Company is
permitted, in certain circumstances where the Company desires to vote these shares, to request redelivery of
the shares. The Company will receive a fee, payable monthly in arrears, that is equal to of 0.50% p.a. of the
average daily market value of the securities borrowed under this agreement.
At the end of May 2006, the Company concluded a settlement and release agreement, involving an
action originating in 1990, by the payment of $3,500,000.
By the end of May 2006, the Company’s subsidiary, Siem Investments, had loaned an additional
EUR7,593,000 to Deusa for the project financing of the thermolysis plant.
MARKET RISKS DISCLOSURES
The Company’s balance sheet includes a substantial amount of assets whose fair values are subject to
market risks. Due to the Company's significant level of investments in equity securities, fluctuations in equity
prices represent the largest market risk factor affecting the Company's financial position. The following
sections address the significant market risks associated with the Company's business activities.
EQUITY PRICE RISK
Strategically, the Company strives to invest at reasonable prices in businesses possessing good economics
and competent management. The Company prefers to invest a meaningful amount in each investee and, as a
result, the Company's equity investments are concentrated in relatively few investees.
The Company's primary investment strategy is to invest in businesses in which it possesses experience on
a long-term basis. Thus, short-term price volatility with respect to its investments is understood and accepted
by the Company provided that the underlying business, economic and management qualities of the investees
remain favorable.
The carrying values of investments subject to equity price risks accounted for under the equity method of
accounting are based on costs adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of investee earnings. The
carrying values of investments which the Company has classified as available-for-sale securities are adjusted to
reflect market prices at the end of the period with the appreciation or depreciation in the investments
reflected as a component of comprehensive income. The carrying values of investments which the Company
has classified as trading securities are adjusted to reflect market prices at the end of the period with the
adjustment reflected as a gain or loss. Market prices are subject to fluctuation and, consequently, the amount
realized in the subsequent sale of an investment may significantly differ from the reported market value.
Fluctuation in the market price of a security may result from perceived changes in the underlying economic
characteristics of the investee, the relative price of alternative investments and general market conditions.
Furthermore, amounts realized in the sale of a particular security may be affected by the relative quantity of
the security being sold.
INVESTMENT CONCENTRATION RISK
The Company believes that it may have investment concentration risks with respect to its investments in
the oil and gas services industry. However, it believes that such risks are somewhat moderated because the oil
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and gas service companies in which the Company has investments are positioned at different stages of the oil
and gas exploration and drilling cycle.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Investors are cautioned that certain statements contained in this document, as well as some statements
made by the Company in periodic press releases and some oral statements made by its management during
presentations about the Company, are "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of the United States’
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "Act"). Forward-looking statements include statements
which are predictive in nature, which depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, which include
words such as "expects", "anticipates", "intends", "plans", "believes", "estimates", or similar expressions. In
addition, any statements concerning future financial performance (including future revenues, earnings or
growth rates), ongoing business strategies or prospects, and possible future Company actions, which may be
provided by management, are also forward-looking statements as defined by the Act. Forward-looking
statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are subject to risks,
uncertainties, and assumptions about the Company, economic and market factors and the industries in
which the Company conducts business, among other things. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and the Company has no specific intention to update these statements.
Actual events and results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in forward-looking
statements due to a number of factors. The principal important risk factors that could cause the Company's
actual performance and future events and actions to differ materially from such forward-looking statements,
include, but are not limited to, changes in market prices of the Company's significant equity investees,
changes in income tax laws, and changes in general economic and market factors that affect the prices of
securities or the industries in which the Company and its affiliates conduct business.
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The following persons are currently directors and executive officers of the Company:
DIRECTORS
Name

M.D. Moross
Kristian Siem
Barry W. Ridings
Michael Delouche

Position

Director (1,2)
Director and Chairman
Director (1,2)
Director

Director
Since

Present
Term Expires

1995
1982
1993
2003

2006
2007
2007
2008

(1) Member of Audit Committee.
(2) Member of Compensation Committee.

Directors are normally elected for terms of three years at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
Executive officers are appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the Board. Officer appointments are normally
confirmed at the Board meeting which promptly follows the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
Mr. Rune Holen, a Director since 2000 and whose term was scheduled to expire in 2006, resigned as a
Director following the Company’s acquisition and retirement of 1,714,500 Common Shares from
Storebrand Livforsikring AS. Mr. Holen is a partner in a Storebrand-related company.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Name

Michael Delouche

Office

President and Secretary

Officer
Since

1991

Kristian Siem is Chairman of Subsea 7 Inc., STAR Reefers Inc., Siem Offshore Inc. and Siem Capital AB
and a director on the Boards of Transocean Inc. and North Atlantic Small Companies Investment Trust plc.
M.D. Moross is a private investor and the father-in-law of Kristian Siem.
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Barry W. Ridings is a Managing Director of Lazard Frères & Co. and a director on the Board of New
Valley Corporation.
Michael Delouche was an audit manager with KPMG Peat Marwick LLP prior to joining the Company. He
was appointed Controller in 1991, Secretary in 1994, Vice-President in 2002 and President in 2003 and is a
director on the Boards of Subsea 7 Inc., STAR Reefers Inc. and Siem Offshore Inc.
COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company recorded aggregate fees for the services of its directors and officers for fiscal years 2005
and 2004 were approximately $2,154,000 and $2,487,000, respectively. Directors are entitled to a director’s
fee of $18,000 per annum and reimbursements of expenses incurred on behalf of the Company. Specific
agreements for the services of certain other directors and officers are as follows:
Management Services Agreement, Years 2000-2004 — A 5-year management services agreement (the “MSA”)
between the Company and Mr. Siem commenced January 1, 2000. The MSA provided that Mr. Siem
must devote a minimum 50% of his professional time, skill and labor to perform his duties for and
promote the interests of Siem Industries. The annual compensation consists of a base compensation in
the amount of $300,000 plus additional compensation equal to 5% of the audited net income in excess
of $2,000,000. The fee payable under this MSA for fiscal 2004 was $2,209,000.
Management Services Agreement, Years 2005-2009 — Following the expiration of the former MSA at the end
of 2004, a new 5-year MSA was agreed between the Company and Mr. Siem effective January 1, 2005.
Many of the terms are similar to the former MSA. Mr. Siem must devote a minimum 50% of his
professional time, skill and labor to perform his duties for and promote the interests of the Company.
The annual compensation consists of a base compensation in the amount of $700,000 plus additional
compensation equal to 5% of the audited net income in excess of $4,000,000. The fee payable under this
MSA for fiscal 2005 was $1,842,000.
Management Services Agreement — Mr. Delouche is seconded to the Company under a separate
management services agreement which provides for reimbursement for certain expenses incurred by him.
The reimbursements for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were approximately $206,000 and $204,000,
respectively.
OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES FROM COMPANY
Performance units have been awarded pursuant to provisions of the Company's 1987 Performance Unit
Plan (the “1987 Plan”) and 2005 Performance Unit Plan (the “2005 Plan”), as amended, by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
The 1987 Plan provides that performance units shall be granted at a value no less than 110% of the
average closing market price of the Company's Common Shares for the 20 trading days preceding the date of
the award. The performance unit value of the grant, which is determined by multiplying the number of
performance units by the value per performance unit, is credited to the individual's performance unit account
on the date of the award. Grants of awards vest over a five-year award periods at 20% per year; however, all
rights to the performance unit account are forfeited if the individual's employment ceases before the end of
the award period with certain reasonable exceptions including the death, total disability or retirement after
age 60 of the individual.
Under the 1987 Plan, the amount of payment to the individual after the end of the award period is
equal to the number of vested performance units multiplied by the difference between the average closing
market price of the Common Shares and the value of the performance units awarded. The Company has the
option to make the payment in either cash or Common Shares.
The 1987 Plan will expire on the earlier of the vesting of an aggregate 1,600,000 performance units by
the participants or January 2007.
In October 2004, the Board of Directors commenced a review of the 1987 Plan to determine whether
the termination date should be extended, whether a new plan of s similar type should be implemented or
whether a new long-term incentive program should be devised. The primary concerns with respect to the
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1987 Plan include the absence of a listing on a stock exchange and the low liquidity of the shares. In February
2005, the 2005 Plan was completed with many provisions similar to that in the 1987 Plan. The 2005 Plan
provides that performance units shall be granted at a value no less than 110% of the net asset value per
Common Share based on the balance sheets prepared by the Company on a quarterly basis in accordance
with applicable law and prevailing generally accepted accounting principles. Net asset value for purposes of
the 2005 Plan means the amount that is determined after adjustments have been made to the balance sheet
to reflect the market values for the Company’s investments in securities issued by publicly-traded companies
for which market prices are readily available. This approach was used because it corresponds to methods used
in similar situations where low liquidity or illiquid shares exist. The performance unit value of the grant,
which is determined by multiplying the number of performance units by the value per performance unit, is
credited to the individual's performance unit account on the date of the award. Grants of awards vest over a
five-year award periods at 20% per year; however, all rights to the performance unit account are forfeited if
the individual's employment ceases before the end of the award period with certain reasonable exceptions
including the death, total disability or retirement after age 60 of the individual. The Company may elect to
make payments in either cash or Common Shares. If the Company makes payment in Common Shares and
there is no liquid market for such shares, then the Company is obligated either to provide a market for the
Common Shares within 9 months of the new share issue or to redeem or purchase the Common Shares for
the cash amount that would have been paid had the original payment been made in cash.
The 2005 Plan expires on the earlier of the vesting of an aggregate 1,000,000 performance units by the
participants or 31 December 2014, which is the end of a 10-year period from the effective date of agreement.
At the end of June 2005, the Compensation Committee granted 196,000 Performance Units at $48.21
per unit.
A summary of the performance unit awards which have been granted and are currently outstanding is
presented below:

Name

Kristian Siem
M.D. Moross
Barry W. Ridings
Michael Delouche
Others

No. of Performance Units Awarded and Outstanding
Granted May 1995
Granted May 1996
Granted June 2005
at $3.00 per Unit
at $5.50 per Unit
at $48.21 per Unit

400,000
—
28,000
40,000
—

60,000
28,000
—
20,000
—

115,000
7,000
7,000
10,000
50,000

An aggregate 274,200 performance units granted under the 1987 Plan have been forfeited and 7,000
performance units granted under the 2005 Plan have been forfeited.
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT IN CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS
Mr. Siem holds an option to purchase the property which houses the offices of Siem Kapital in Oslo,
Norway. The option provides for a one-year period, commencing on the date that he is no longer an officer or
director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, during which time he can purchase the property at the
price paid by Siem Kapital. This option is subject to review by the Compensation Committee.
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To the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of Siem Industries Inc

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS
Postboks 447
N-4664 Kristiansand
Telefon 02316
Telefaks 23 16 10 00

Auditor’s Report for 2005
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Siem Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”) at and for the year ended 31 December 2005 that shows a consolidated net income attributable to
Common Shares of USD26,837,000. We have also audited the information in the Directors' Report concerning the
financial statements and the going-concern assumption. The Company’s consolidated financial statements
include the balance sheet, the income statement, the statements of cash flow and changes in equity and the
accompanying notes as set out on pages 16 to 50. International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) based on
the revised standards and interpretations that are mandatory for accounting periods commencing 1 January 2005
have been applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors and Officers. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and on other information according to the requirements of the
Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors.
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations and auditing standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway, including standards on auditing adopted by The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants.
These auditing standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. To the extent required by law and auditing standards, an audit also comprises a
review of the management of the Company's financial affairs and its accounting and internal control systems. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion:
•

the consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the laws and
regulations and give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position at 31 December 2005 and the
results of its operations and its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year then ended, in accordance
with IFRS based on the revised standards and interpretations that are mandatory for accounting periods
commencing 1 January 2005;

•

the information in the Directors' Report concerning the consolidated financial statements and the goingconcern assumption are consistent with the financial statements and comply with the law and regulations.

Kristiansand, 9 June 2006
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Torstein S. Robstad
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only

Kontorer: Arendal Bergen Drammen Fredrikstad Førde Hamar Kristiansand Mo i Rana Molde Måløy Narvik Oslo Stavanger Stryn Tromsø Trondheim Tønsberg Ålesund
PricewaterhouseCoopers navnet refererer til individuelle medlemsfirmaer tilknyttet den verdensomspennende PricewaterhouseCoopers organisasjonen
Medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening | Foretaksregisteret: NO 987 009 713
www.pwc.no

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

IFRS

Notes

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
REVENUES:

Operating revenues
Interest income
Gains (losses), net
Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated affiliates
Other income
Total revenues and other income
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2005

US GAAP

For Years Ended 31 December
2004

2004

$ 173,344
5,743
10,508
13,217
2,710
205,522

$ 176,036
3,806
24,705
12,077
2,301
218,925

$ 171,299
3,806
24,877
16,089
2,427
218,498

$

106,197
13,262
—
8,212
30,772
10,332
259
169,034
36,488
332
36,156
9,319
26,837

$

126,959
15,274
6,154
10,892
21,334
(3,407)
911
178,117
40,808
134
40,674
3,161
37,513

$

130,825
15,931
6,744
8,665
14,391
(3,319)
968
174,205
44,293
134
44,159
3,980
40,179

Earnings per Common Share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

1.64
1.64

$
$

2.23
2.23

$
$

2.39
2.39

Weighted avg. no. of Common Shares outstanding for period

16,406,469

13
5

OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME):

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Currency exchange losses (gains), net
Other
Total other expenses (income)
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income
Minority interest expense
Net income attributed to Common Shares

11,12
14
8
15,16,17,20
18,19
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See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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16,793,860

16,793,860

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
IFRS

Notes

(Dollars in thousands)

31 December
2005

31 December
2004

US GAAP
31 December
2004

$

58,077
6,912
1,720
2,883
6,111
20,767
1,423
5,186
103,079
5,500
5,715
99,219
189,107
374,306
—
1,883
$ 778,809

$

38,153
6,705
3,031
20,663
3,210
9,903
252
6,779
88,696
5,500
40,517
60,352
193,570
267,594
—
2,872
$ 659,101

$

$

$

$

ASSETS:

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, other
Accrued interest receivable
Trading securitites
Inventories
Notes, loans and other receivables
Due from affiliates
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Notes, loans and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Vessels, property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total Assets

3

4
4
20

3
4
4
5
6
8
16

38,153
6,705
3,031
20,663
3,210
9,903
252
6,779
88,696
5,500
40,517
60,352
210,815
261,397
2,446
1,198
$ 670,921

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to affiliates
20
Current maturities and short-term notes
9
Other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
17
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt and notes payable
9
Deferred income taxes
10
Other liabilities and deferred credits
15,17
Total Liabilities
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred shares, $1.00 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized
Redeemable preferred shares, $0.01 par value,
50,000,000 shares authorized
Common shares, $0.25 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
15,052,492, 16,793,744 and 16,793,744 shares
issued and outstanding
21
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Other reserves
22
Total shareholders' equity
Minority interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

13,523
141
469
1,134
25,846
19,862
60,975
204,740
16
23,199
288,930

12,489
12
1,290
1,980
11,013
11,828
38,612
168,047
26
10,294
216,979

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,763
64,405
290,870
92,004
451,042
38,837
489,879
$ 778,809

4,198
60,010
296,081
52,921
413,210
28,820
442,030
$ 659,101

4,198
75,451
293,975
52,866
426,490
27,452
453,942
$ 670,921

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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12,489
12
1,382
1,980
11,013
11,828
38,704
168,047
26
10,294
217,071

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in thousands, except number of shares)

Attributable to Common Shareholders
Common Shares
Paid-in
Retained
Number
Share Capital
Capital
Earnings

Balances at 1 January 2004
16,794,144
Reacquisition and
retirement of stock
(400)
Cash dividends ($0.07 per share)
—
Net income
—
Subsidiary pays cash dividend to minority interests
—
Adjustments for issuance of shares
by subsidiary to minority interests
at prices greater than book value
—
Subsidiary issues shares to minority interests
—
Purchase shares from minority interests
—
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
—
Currency translation adjustments
—
Share-based compensation
—
Deconsolidation of Subsea 7, net
—
Balances at 31 December 2004
16,793,744
Reacquisition and
retirement of stock
(1,741,252)
Cash dividends ($0.07 per share)
—
Net income
—
Adjustments for issuance of shares
by subsidiary to minority interests
at prices greater than book value
—
Subsidiary issues shares to minority interests
—
Purchase shares from minority interests
—
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
—
Currency translation adjustments
—
Share-based compensation
—
Balances at 31 December 2005
15,052,492

$

$

4,198

$

12,578

$

259,748

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—

47,432
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
4,198

—
—
—
—
60,010

—
—
—
—
296,081

(435)
—
—

—
—
—

(30,995)
(1,053)
26,837

Other
Reserves

$

(4)
(1,176)
37,513
—

36,098

Minority
Interest

$

40,304

—
—
—
—

—
—
3,161
(1,100)

—
—
—

—
8,105
(6,535)

26,168
(9,399)
54
—
52,921

—
—
—
(15,115)
28,820

—
—
—

—
—
9,319

—
—
—

4,395
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
883
(185)

—
—
—
3,763

—
—
—
64,405

—
—
—
290,870

38,867
142
74
92,004

—
—
—
38,837

$

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

$

$

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)

2005

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income attributed to Common Shares
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Undistributed equity in loss (income) of unconsolidated affiliates
Net losses (gains) on investments
Impairment of goodwill
Minority interests in net income
Provisions for losses on time charters
Share-based compensation
Deferred compensation for performance unit plan
Deferred income taxes
Currency exchange losses (gains)
Changes in assets and liabilities net of effect of acquired companies:
(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable, other
Accrued interest receivable
Trading securities
Inventories
Due from affiliates
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to affiliates
Other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions to notes receivable and other investments
Proceeds from repayment of notes receivable and other investments
Distributions from (investments in) unconsolidated affiliates
Purchases of vessels, shipping related assets and other
Disposal of vessels, shipping related assets and other
Cash not included following deconsolidation of Siem Offshore
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Cash dividends paid to Company shareholders
Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders
Proceeds from long-term debt and notes payable
Repayment of long-term debt and notes payable
Repurchase of common stock
Contribution from minority interests of consolidated subsidiaries
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes
See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

IFRS
US GAAP
For Years Ended 31 December
2004
2004

26,837

$

37,513

$

40,179

16,937
(13,217)
(10,508)
—
9,319
—
74
13,180
(10)
10,332

18,448
(12,077)
(24,705)
6,154
3,161
(201)
—
4,619
(10)
(3,407)

15,931
(16,089)
(24,877)
6,744
3,980
(201)
—
4,619
(10)
(3,319)

(207)
1,311
22,024
(2,901)
(1,171)
1,593

(3,677)
2,854
6,831
757
1,523
1,390

(3,469)
2,854
6,830
757
1,523
1,390

1,157
129
(913)
(846)
8,034
81,154

962
(56)
(3,693)
1,651
2,222
40,259

(1,418)
(56)
(3,785)
1,651
2,222
35,456

(8,176)
31,811
18,329
(140,817)
19,598
—
—
258
(78,997)

(17,228)
52,299
(14,029)
(23,246)
25,794
(8,305)
8,212
7,624
31,121

(15,348)
52,591
(14,029)
(18,319)
26,667
(8,305)
8,212
4,070
35,539

$

(1,176)
—
83,000
(29,418)
(31,430)
—
(704)
20,272
(2,505)
19,924
38,153
58,077

(1,008)
(1,100)
39,533
(121,564)
(4)
9,626
(1,504)
(76,021)
378
(4,263)
42,416
$
38,153

(1,008)
(1,100)
39,533
(121,564)
(4)
9,626
(1,119)
(75,636)
378
(4,263)
42,416
$
38,153

$
$

9,125
212

$
$

$
$

12,704
200

12,450
218

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) GENERAL INFORMATION
Siem Industries Inc. was incorporated in October 1980 under the laws of the Cayman Islands as Bahama
Cruise Line, Inc. The name was changed to Bermuda Star Line, Inc. in 1986, to Norex America, Inc. in
1989, to Norex Industries Inc. in 1996 and to Siem Industries Inc. in 1998. The “Company” or “Siem
Industries”, as used herein, refers to Siem Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates unless the context
indicates otherwise.
The Company’s registered office address is P.O. Box 309GT, South Church Street, George Town, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands, BWI.
Quotes for the Company’s Common Shares are available from Pink Sheets LLC, a centralized quotation
service that collects and publishes quotes for over-the-counter securities by market makers, under the symbol
“SEMUF” at www.pinksheets.com .
The currency symbols “$” (or “USD”), “NOK” and “GBP” refer to United States dollars, Norwegian
kroner and British pounds representing the lawful currencies of the United States, Norway, and Great
Britain, respectively, and “EUR” refers to Euros.
At 31 December 2005, the Company owned the following major investments: 58,349,653 shares, or
41.8%, of Subsea 7 Inc. (“Subsea 7”; OSE Symbol: “SUB”), a publicly-traded Cayman Islands company and
one of the world’s leading subsea engineering and construction contractors, 58,349,653 shares, or 44.8%, of
Siem Offshore Inc. (“Siem Offshore”; OSE Symbol: “SIOFF”), a publicly-traded Cayman Islands company
that was spun-off from Subsea 7 with effect 1 July 2005 by the issuance of one new share of Siem Offshore for
each share of Subsea 7 held by its shareholders, the purpose of such transaction being to de-merge the nonsubsea assets and activities from Subsea 7 and to provide Siem Offshore with the opportunity to focus on
other shipping services for the oil and gas industry; 6,252,534 shares, or 73.0%, of STAR Reefers Inc.
(“STAR”; OSE Symbol: “SRI”), a publicly-traded Cayman Islands company and one of the major owners and
operators of refrigerated vessels transporting fruits, vegetables, meats and other consumables; an 88% interest
in Siem Car Carriers, Inc. (“Car Carriers”), a Cayman Islands company and owner of three car carrier vessels;
and 1,423,720 shares of Transocean Inc., a publicly-traded Cayman Islands company and the world’s
predominant premium deepwater drilling contractor. The Company also owned a 64% interest in Siem
Capital AB, the parent company of Siem Industrikapital AB (“Siem Industrikapital”), both Swedish
companies, and a 49%-interest in Deusa International GmbH (“Deusa”), a German company. Siem
Industrikapital holds interests in several industrial companies including EFG European Furniture Group AB,
a leading designer and manufacturer of business-to-business office furniture in Europe, and Boule Diagnostics
International AB, the holding company for three separate biotechnology/medical technology businesses,
Boule Medical AB, Boule Diagnostics AB and Labdesign Boule Nordic AB. Deusa’s operations include the
mining of potash which is used for fertilizer production, bischofite for the construction industry, magnesium
chloride for de-icing and other materials.
At 31 December 2005, Elderberry Holdings Limited (“Elderberry”) owned 8,852,688 shares, or
approximately 58.8% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s Common Stock. Elderberry is
owned by a trust, whose potential beneficiaries include the mother and certain of the brothers of Mr. Kristian
Siem, the Company’s Chairman. The Ores Trust beneficially owned 1,352,432 shares, or approximately 9.0%
of the Common Stock. Potential beneficiaries of the Ores Trust include members of Mr. Siem’s immediate
family. Mr. Siem personally owned 1,378,992 shares, or approximately 9.2% of the Common Stock. Mr.
Siem and the trustees for the trusts hold separate voting and dispositive powers over their respective holdings.
Subsea 7, Siem Offshore, STAR and Car Carriers represent significant subsidiaries of the Company.
(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) under the assumption that the Company is a going-concern and are
presented in United States dollars. The consolidated financial statements are based on historical costs, as
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modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and by adjustments of financial assets and
liabilities to fair value through profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the end of the fiscal year and the reported amounts of
income and expenses during the fiscal year. Estimates and assumptions made by management include
selecting useful lives of property and equipment, estimating provisions for uncollectible receivables,
determining the carrying value and possible impairment of long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets,
estimating income tax provision and performing other similar evaluations.
For fiscal years prior to and including 2004, the Company prepared its consolidated financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“USGAAP”). When it
became necessary for the Company’s subsidiaries listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange to prepare their
respective financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the Company determined that it would also adopt
IFRS to maintain consistency in reporting. The transition from USGAAP to IFRS involved the restatement
of retained earnings at 1 January 2004 and the restatement of the financial statements for 2004 to provide
comparative amounts for 2005.
INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED IFRS EFFECTIVE IN 2005
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that the
Group has adopted those new/revised standards mandatory for financial years beginning on or after 1
January 2005. The significant changes made as a result of the adoption of IFRS are detailed below:
IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payment”. The revised accounting policy for share-based payment transactions is
detailed in the accounting policies presented below. The main impact of IFRS 2 is the recognition of an
expense and a corresponding entry to equity for employee share options based on the fair value of the equity
instruments granted at the grant date.
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. IFRS 3 has
been applied for business combinations dated on or after 31 March 2004. Adoption of IFRS 3 and IAS 36
(revised) has resulted in the company being required, where goodwill is recognized on an acquisition, to test
for impairment at the cash generating unit level annually (unless an event occurs during the year which
requires goodwill to be tested more frequently) from 1 January 2005. These requirements have been applied
to the acquisition of Subsea 7 Holding Inc. on 31 December 2004.
Additionally, under IFRS 3, the identification of assets and liabilities in a business acquisition will
include intangible assets not previously recognized under NGAAP. The principal intangible assets that will
be recognized separately from goodwill on an acquisition will be customer contracts and relationships. These
intangible assets will be valued at the date of acquisition and amortized over their estimated economic lives.
In accordance with IAS 38, the useful lives of intangible assets are now assessed at the individual asset level as
having either a finite or indefinite life assessed on the basis of all the relevant factors. The revised accounting
policy for intangible assets is detailed in the accounting policies presented below.
IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”. The Group has adopted IFRS 32 and IFRS 39 from 1 January 2005 and the comparative
figures for 2004 have been restated to record the fair values of financial instruments and the respective
movements in the fair values during the year.
STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED IFRS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. This standard consolidates IAS 30 and the disclosure
requirements of IAS 32 relating to financial instruments. It is anticipated that this standard will not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRIC 4 “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease”. This interpretation contains guidance for
determining whether arrangements that do not take the legal form of a lease should nonetheless be
accounted as such in accordance with IAS 17 “Leases”. It is anticipated that this standard will not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES
Subsidiaries — Subsidiaries are entities over which the parent company generally controls more than 50% of
the entity’s issued and outstanding voting shares and has the ability to control its the operating and financial
policies. Details of the subsidiary’s financial statements are included within the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control is established. The subsidiary’s financial statements are deconsolidated
from the date that control is ended.
The purchase method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred or assumed as of
the date of the purchase and costs incurred that are attributed to such acquisition. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are measured at the respective fair values at the date
of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the share of the fair value of identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair value of identifiable
net assets acquired, then the amount is recognized currently in the income statement.
Intercompany transactions and balances between consolidated companies are eliminated.
Noncontrolling, or minority, interests represent third party shareholders who may have influence but not
control over a company’s activities. The share of a company’s net assets at the end of a fiscal period and the
net income during a period that are attributed to third parties are recorded as minority interests payable and
minority interests expense, respectively. Disposals of shares to minority interests may result in gains or losses
that are recorded currently in the income statement and purchases of shares may result in goodwill.
Affiliates — Affiliates are entities over which the parent company generally controls between 20% to 50% of
the voting rights in the entity and has significant influence with, but not the ability to control, the entity’s
operating and financial policies. Investments in affiliates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting and are initially recorded at cost. An investment in an affiliate may include goodwill arising from
the acquisition.
The parent company records its share of the affiliates post-acquisition net income or losses as equity in the
income or losses of the affiliate in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in the
affiliate’s shareholder equity are recognized in the parent company’s equity reserves. Cumulative postacquisition movements are adjusted against the parent’s carrying amount of the investment. Unrealized gains
or losses between the parent and its affiliate are eliminated to the extent of the parent’s interest in the
affiliate.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Functional and Presentation Currency — The Company uses the USD as the functional and presentation
currency in the financial statements since the USD is the primary currency in the environment in which the
Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates operate.
Transactions and Balances — Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transactions. Currency exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities using the
currency rates prevailing on the last day of the fiscal period are recorded in the income statement.
Changes in the fair value of a monetary security that is classified as available-for-sale and is denominated in
a foreign currency are analyzed between changes arising from translation differences in the amortized cost of
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of such security. Translation differences are recognized
as currency exchange gains or losses in the income statement and other changes are recognized in equity.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are included as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognized as part of the fair value gain or loss and are recorded as
exchange gains or losses in the income statement. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
classified as available-for-sale are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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Subsidiaries — The Company translates the results and balances of its consolidated subsidiaries that have a
functional currency different from the USD as follows:
•
•
•

Assets and liabilities for each fiscal period are translated at the closing exchange rate on the date
of the balance sheet.
Income and expenses for each fiscal period are translated at the average exchange rate for the
period.
Resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments that are identified on the date of acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate on the reporting date.
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make good faith estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. The Company continually evaluates its estimates, including those related to
investments, materials and supplies obsolescence, property and equipment and other long-lived assets,
intangible assets and goodwill, bad debts, income taxes, financing operations and contingent liabilities as of
the date of the financial statements and the period then ended. The Company’s estimates are based on
historical experience and various assumptions, including expectations of future events, that are believed
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, certificates of deposit and all highly liquid investments
purchased with original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus accrued
interest, which approximates fair value.
The Company is required to maintain minimum cash balances or to pledge securities and/or cash
deposits as security for drawdowns under its revolving credit facilities. Pledged cash deposits and minimum
cash balances required by loan facilities are reported as restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet. The
restricted cash amounts were $5,500,000 at both 31 December 2005 and 2004.
ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Accounts and other receivables include trade receivables which are recognized initially at fair value and,
subsequently, at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade receivables is recorded when objective evidence indicates that the
Company may not be able to collect all amounts that are due in accordance with the originals terms of the
transaction. Such objective evidence includes default or delinquency of payments, significant financial
difficulties of the debtor and probability that the debtor may enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows as discounted at the effective rate of interest. The provision is recorded in the
income statement as a general and administrative expense.
INVENTORIES
The major components of inventory include bunkers and lubrication oil. These inventories are recorded
at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less applicable selling
expenses.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Company determines the classification of its financials assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates
the designation at each reporting date. The classifications are discussed below.
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss — Assets in this category are considered to be current assets
because they are held for trading purposes, such as listed equity securities, or are expected to be realized
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Notes, Loans and Other Receivables — These financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Notes, loans and other receivables having
maturities of less than 12 months after the reporting date are recorded as current assets in the balance sheet
and assets having maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date are recorded as noncurrent
assets.
Available-for-Sale Financial Assets — These financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that either are
designated for this category or are not designated in the other categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are
recorded as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet unless the Company intends to dispose of the investment
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Held-to-Maturity Financial Assets — These financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and maturities that the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to
maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recorded as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet if the assets
have maturities greater than 12 months from the reporting date and as current assets if the assets have
maturities less than 12 months from the reporting date.
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date which is the date on which the
Company has committed to purchase or sale the asset. Investments in financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Other investments in financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. In
subsequent periods, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets
are carried at fair value. Notes, loans and other receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the
income statement as gains or losses. Changes in the fair value of monetary securities that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency and classified as available-for-sale are analyzed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. The translation differences are recognized as currency exchange gains or
losses in the income statement and the other changes in the carrying amount are recognized in a separate
component of equity.
Fair values are based on current bid prices in the market for listed investments. Fair values for unlisted
investments or investments in which the market is not active are determined using valuations techniques
including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are similar in nature and
discounted cash flow analysis.
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether objective evidence exists that indicates a possible
impairment. Such evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost or the security no longer pays in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement. If
such evidence exists, then the cumulative loss which is measured as the difference between the carrying value
and the current fair value is recorded as an impairment loss in the income statement.
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED IMPAIRMENT
Property and equipment consist primarily of vessels designed for the ocean-transport of refrigerated
goods (“reefer vessels” or “vessels”) and the ocean-transport of cars and high and heavy units (“car carriers”).
Vessels are related shipping assets are stated at historical cost, which includes costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, less accumulated depreciation. The carrying value of vessels and related shipping assets are based
on estimates, assumptions and judgments relative to capitalized costs, useful lives and residual values
24

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

reflecting both historical experience and expectations of future industry conditions and operations.
Depreciation for vessels is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 15-30 years after
allowing for residual values. Equipment and other fixed asset costs less residual values are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 3-5 years.
Buildings are depreciated over a useful life of 20 years. Remaining long-lived assets include furniture,
fixtures and cars that are carried at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life
of 3-5 years.
Subsequent costs that may be included in the asset’s carrying value may include expenditures for
renewals, major modifications or betterments. These costs are capitalized as separate assets when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with these assets will result and the costs can be measured reliably.
These costs of these assets may be amortized over the adjusted remaining useful life of the related asset.
Following the disposal or retirement of property and equipment, the costs and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any resulting gains or losses are recorded in the
statements of operations.
The assets’ residual, or scrap, values and useful lives are reviewed periodically and adjusted if appropriate.
The carrying values of assets are reviewed periodically for potential impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. This determination of
recoverability for property and equipment held for use is based on the estimated discounted future net cash
flows of the underlying asset and the difference is recorded as an impairment loss in the income statement.
The Company classifies property and equipment as held-for-sale when it has established a plan for the
disposal of certain assets. Assets held-for-sale are recorded as current assets at the lower of book value or net
realizable value.
Maintenance, major repairs and costs incurred to maintain the certification of assets and comply with
current regulations are charged to operating expense as incurred.
DEFERRED DRYDOCKING COSTS
Drydocking costs are costs incurred pursuant to a program of vessel classification and scheduled, periodic
drydockings of the vessels. The costs are accumulated and capitalized as a separate component of the vessels’
carrying values because such costs have a different pattern of benefits that require different rates of
amortization from the related vessel.
LOANS AND NOTES PAYABLE AND DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS
Loans and notes payable are recognized initially at fair value net of financing costs incurred to obtain the
financing. Financing costs, including debt arrangement fees, are deferred and amortized using the effective
interest method of amortization over the term of the underlying facility agreement. Loans and notes payable
are recorded as noncurrent liabilities for payments that extend more than 12 months from the reporting date.
Payments on loans and notes payable due less than 12 months from the reporting date are recorded as
current liabilities. The unamortized balance of deferred financing costs are recorded as a reduction of
noncurrent loans and notes payable. The amortization of deferred financing costs is recorded in the income
statement as interest expense.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired in business
acquisitions under the purchase method of accounting on the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions
of affiliates is included in the investments in affiliates. The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at
the reporting unit level on an annual basis unless circumstances require an interim evaluation. The
evaluation compares the fair value of a reporting subsidiary against the carrying value of the reporting unit. If
the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then additional analyses would be
undertaken to determine the amount of the impairment. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses that are recorded in the income statement are not reversed. Gains and
losses on the disposal of a entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity sold.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION
Voyage revenues and expenses are recognized on the accrual basis. Revenues are generated from freight
billings, time charter and bareboat charter hires. The operating results of voyages in progress are estimated
and recorded pro-rata on a per day basis in the consolidated statements of operations. Probable losses on
voyages are provided for in full at the time such losses can be estimated. Time charter and bareboat charter
revenues are recorded over the term of the charter as service is provided. Operating costs and costs in
connection with freight-seeking activities are expensed as incurred.
Revenues generated by vessels in the Star Reefers Pool are booked on a gross basis. Voyage expenses such
as fuel costs, port costs and other voyage-related expenses are deducted from gross revenue to reflect net
charter earnings. Revenue from vessels deployed in third party pools are recorded on a net time charter basis
because such vessels are operating either under a straight time charter or on pool-terms where STAR does not
have access to gross revenues or voyage expense data.
Interest and dividend income are recognized on the accrual method as earned.
LEASES
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. All time charter contracts are considered to be operating leases
and, accordingly, charter hire is expensed as incurred.
The Company controls several vessels under bareboat charters and sale-leaseback agreements. All such
bareboat charters and sale-leaseback transactions are evaluated individually to determine whether the
arrangement should be classified as a capital lease. A vessel under capital lease is depreciated on either a
straight-line basis over the vessel’s remaining economic useful life or on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. The method to be applied is determined by the criteria according to which the lease has been
assessed to be a capital lease. Depreciation of vessels under capital leases is recorded in depreciation and
amortization expense in the income statement.
All bareboat charters and sale-leaseback agreements were classified as operating leases at 31 December
2005. Furthermore, all other significant leases are operating leases.
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Share-Based Compensation
According to IFRS 2, all share-based payment transactions must be recognized in the financial statements
using a fair value measurement basis.
Performance Unit Plan — The parent company has maintained a Performance Unit Plan for its officers,
directors and others who contribute to the success of the Company since 1987. Compensation expense is
measured at the end of each period as the amount by which the fair value of the Company’s Common Stock
covering a grant of performance units exceeds the value specified under the plan and is charged to expense
over the periods that the recipient of the grant performs the related services. The Company has the option to
satisfy the redemption of the performance units in either cash or Common Shares.
Stock Option Plans — STAR Reefers established a stock option plan in 2001. Since its inception, a total of
380,000 options have been granted to its employees and directors. IFRS 2 only applies to those options
granted after November 2002 and not yet vested at 1 January 2005. Consequently, the fair value of 130,000
options granted in July 2004 that were not yet vested at 1 January 2005 was determined using the BlackScholes option pricing model. The option value represents the value of the services rendered in exchange for
the grant of the options. The option value is recorded as an expense in the income statement on a straightline basis over the vesting period of the underlying options and is credited to other reserves which is a
separate component of equity. Upon exercise of the options, the related accumulated compensation is
reclassified from other reserves and recorded as paid-in capital.
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Pension Obligations
STAR Reefers maintains a defined benefit plan for its employees in Norway. The net present value of the
future obligations of the pension plan is determined using insurance accounting principles. Net pension
expenses are recorded as salary-related expenses in the income statement. The estimated net funds are
recorded as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet. The effect of changes in the estimates and differences
between estimated and actual return are recognized only when the accumulated effect exceeds 10% of the
larger of the pension fund assets and the pension fund obligation. The excess amount is amortized over the
remaining service life of the employees.
STAR Reefers maintains two defined contribution plans for its employees in the U.K. Yearly
contributions for the two plans are expensed as incurred.
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
The Company enters into certain derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and fuel bunker prices. Accordingly, the Company recognizes all
currency exchange contracts, interest rate swap contracts and bunker contracts in the financial statements and
measures such contracts at fair value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding them. None of the
derivative financial instruments qualify as hedging. Accordingly, all changes in the fair market value of
derivative financial instruments are recorded in net income for the current period.
The Company uses forward currency exchange contracts to reduce the exchange rate risk for specific
non-U.S. currency transactions. These contracts require the exchange of USD for non-U.S. currency at a fixed
rate with maturities that are generally less than 6 months. The carrying amounts of these contracts are
adjusted to their market values at each reporting date and recorded to income. The Company has entered
into forward contracts to sell USD and buy NOK to provide for administrative expenses in Oslo and to sell
USD and buy GBP to provide for administrative expenses in London. These contracts have been accounted
for as cash flow hedges.
Interest rate swaps are used to manage exposure to changes in interest rates by adjusting the proportion
of total debt that is subject to variable and fixed interest rates. The interest rate terms under the outstanding
bank loans provide for a variable, or floating, rate of interest based on LIBOR. Consequently, the Company
has entered into interest rate swap contracts and agreed to pay an amount equal to a specified fixed rate of
interest multiplied by the notional principal amount and to receive in return an amount equal to a specified
variable rate of interest multiplied by the same notional principal amount.
INCOME TAXES
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is exempt from income taxes in that
jurisdiction. For the two years ended 31 December 2005, there was no Cayman Islands income or profits tax,
withholding tax, capital gains tax, capital transfer tax, estate duty or inheritance tax payable by a Cayman
Islands company or its shareholders. The Company has received assurance from the Cayman Islands
government under the Tax Concessions Law (1995 Revision) that, in the event that any legislation is enacted
in the Cayman Islands imposing tax computed on profits or income, or computed on any capital assets, gain
or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, such tax shall not be applicable to
the Company or to any of its operations or to the shares, debentures or other obligations of the Company.
Therefore, there will be no Cayman Islands tax consequences affecting distributions under present law.
Income taxes have been provided based upon the tax laws and rates in the countries in which the
operations are conducted and income is earned. The income tax rates imposed by these taxing authorities
may vary substantially. Income for tax purposes may differ from income before taxes for financial accounting
purposes, particularly in those tax regimes that are revenue-based. There is no expected relationship between
the provision for income taxes and income before income taxes because the countries have different tax
regimes which vary not only with respect to the nominal rate, but also in terms of the availability of
deductions, credits and other benefits. Variations may also arise because income earned and taxed in any
particular country or countries may fluctuate from period to period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the anticipated future tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement basis
and the tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities and the operating losses carried forward using the
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applicable tax rates in effect at year-end. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is recorded when it is
more likely than not that some or all of the benefit from the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
NET EARNINGS, OR NET INCOME, PER COMMON SHARE
The Company reports both basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share.
Basic earnings per common share is determined by dividing net income (loss) available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per common share is determined by using the average market price per common share when
applying the treasury stock method to determine the number of common share equivalents which should be
added to the weighted average number of shares outstanding. For the Company, diluted earnings per
common share is the same as basic earnings per common share since there are no common share equivalents
because the Performance Units, which are potentially common share equivalents, are expected to be settled in
cash.
RECLASSIFICATIONS
The Company has reclassified certain amounts in the prior period financial statements in order to
conform to the current year presentation. Such reclassification had no effect on the Company’s net income
(loss), financial position, total shareholders’ equity or cash flows.
(3) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
At 31 December 2005 and 2004, the following securities are recorded at fair value through profit and
loss and are classified as trading securities:
(in thousands)

2005

Total cash and cash equivalents
Less: Restricted cash - noncurrent assets
Cash - current assets

$ 63,577
5,500
$ 58,077

2004

$ 43,653
5,500
$ 38,153

Terms in certain of the Company’s loan and revolving credit facilities require minimum cash balances or
the pledge of cash deposits. Minimum cash balances and pledged cash deposits represent a form of security
for long-term liabilities and are not available for unrestricted use. Accordingly, these balances are recorded as
noncurrent assets.
(4) FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
At 31 December 2005 and 2004, the following securities are recorded at fair value through profit and
loss and are classified as trading securities:
(in thousands)

2005

Trading securities:
Listed equity securities
Trading securities, net fair value

$ 2,883
$ 2,883

2004

$ 20,663
$ 20,663

The activity in trading securities during the fiscal years ended 31 December is presented below:
(in thousands)

2005

Trading securities:
Balance, 1 January
Purchases
Proceeds from sales
Gains (losses)
Currency exchange gains (losses)
Trading securities, 31 December

$ 20,663
6,206
(28,230)
5,298
(1,054)
$ 2,883
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$ 16,082
3,231
(10,062)
9,855
1,557
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Available-for-Sale Financial Assets
At 31 December 2005 and 2004, the following securities are recorded at fair value with changes recorded
as a separate component of equity and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets:
No. of Shares
2005

(in thousands, except for no. of shares)

Available-for-sale securities:
Listed equity security - Transocean
Net cost of available-for-sale securities
Net unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Available-for-sale securities, net fair value

1,423,720

2005

2004

$ 9,247
9,247

$ 9,247
9,247

89,972
$ 99,219

51,105
$ 60,352

Transocean — The Company’s investment in Transocean Inc. (NYSE Symbol: RIG) originated in 1994 as
an investment in an offshore rig owner and operator that, through a series of mergers, has evolved into a
shareholding in present-day Transocean.
The fair value of listed securities is estimated using quoted market prices of these or similar investments
when available.
Notes, Loans and Other Receivables
At 31 December 2005 and 2004, the following notes, loans and other receivables are recorded:
(in thousands)

2005

2004

Available-for-sale securities:
Listed security, non-performing senior notes, 8.875% fixed interest rate
Held-to-maturity securities:
Listed security – Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bond Loan
Unlisted securities:
Notes receivable, interest rates ranging from 6.75% p.a. to 12.0% p.a.
Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities

20,767

37,193

5,715
$ 26,482

8,205
$ 50,420

Notes, Loans and Other Receivables:
Current
Noncurrent

$ 20,767
$ 5,715

$ 9,903
$ 40,517

$

—

$ 5,022

The activity in notes, loans and other receivables during the fiscal years ended 31 December is presented
below:
(in thousands)

2005

Notes, loans and other receivables:
Balance, 1 January
Additions
Deconsolidation of Subsea 7 and presentation of convertible bond loan
Proceeds from maturities, repayments and sales
Gains (losses), net
Impairments
Currency exchange gains (losses)
Notes, loans and other receivables, 31 December

$ 50,420
8,176
—
(31,811)
3,165
—
(3,468)
$ 26,482

2004

$ 35,235
18,314
37,193
(52,299)
15,598
(4,166)
545
$ 50,420

Subsea 7 (formerly, DSND) 8% Convertible Bond Loan (or, “Subsea 7 Bonds”) — In late October 2002, Subsea 7
announced a financial restructuring plan to refinance its short-term obligations. One component of the plan
was the issuance of bonds in the amount of NOK300,000,000 with the bonds bearing interest at 8% p.a.,
maturity in three years and conversion into new shares at the rate of NOK20 per share. The Company
acquired NOK219,610,000 of Subsea 7 Bonds at closing of the issue in January 2003 and an additional
NOK5,520,000 in December 2003.
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Prior to the deconsolidation of Subsea 7, the Company’s holdings of Subsea 7 Bonds were eliminated, or
offset, against Subsea 7’s obligations under the Subsea 7 Bonds. Following the deconsolidation at the end of
2004, the Company’s investment in Subsea 7 Bonds was presented without elimination.
Subsequent to the spin-off of Siem Offshore by Subsea 7 in August 2005, the conversion rate for the
Subsea 7 Bonds was adjusted from NOK20 per share to NOK19.09 per share.
In October 2005, the Company used NOK85,000,000 of Subsea 7 Bonds and $17,000,000 cash to
acquire 1,714,500 shares of Company Common Shares which were subsequently retired.
Siem Investments Portfolio —Siem Investments has invested in debt securities, both listed and unlisted
securities, that are issued by companies engaged in the shipping, energy services and financial services
industries. During periodic evaluations of the portfolio prior to 2004, Siem Investments had identified one of
its investments, an investment in senior note obligations issued by a company engaged in the oil and gas
industry, as troubled and had recorded impairments of $12,071,000 in aggregate. In June 2004, these senior
notes went into default and a joint provisional liquidator was appointed by a committee of note holders. The
improving oil and gas industry increased the value of the note issuer’s assets and the market responded by
bidding the value of the notes higher. Siem Investments reduced its exposure to this investment by selling
some of the notes in June 2004 and completed the exit from this investment by early-November 2004.
Proceeds from the sales were greater than the original cost resulting in a complete recovery of the
impairments previously recorded and the recognition of additional gains.
In July 2004, Siem Investments acquired notes issued by a company involved in the offshore supply
vessel industry. The notes became non-performing and the issuer began to prepare a pre-packaged bankruptcy
which provided for the conversion of the notes into newly-issued common shares. The market value of the
notes increased as the restructuring of the company progressed. Siem Investments completed the sale of the
notes at the end of January 2005 and recorded a gain on this investment.
The net recorded value of the notes, loans and other similar receivables approximates the fair value of
such notes at 31 December 2005.
(5) INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES
A summary of the equity in net income (losses) of and the investments in unconsolidated affiliates as of
and for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Summary of Unconsolidated Affiliates
(in thousands)
Equity in
Net Income (Loss)
Investments in

Year Ended

Affiliate

Percentage
Ownership

31 December 2005

Subsea 7
Siem Offshore (3)
Siem Capital
Deusa

41.8%
44.8%
64.0%
49.0%

$ 17,829
(919)
(2,437)
(1,256)
$ 13,217

$ 160,135
22,266
1,213
5,493
$ 189,107

31 December 2004

Subsea 7 (1)
Subsea 7 Holding (2)
Overseas Drilling Ltd.
Siem Capital
Deusa
Other

44.8%
50.0%
50.0%
64.0%
49.0%

$

$ 160,598
—
—
26,223
6,749
—
$ 193,570

—
(4,606)
7,616
8,205
512
350
$ 12,077

(1) Subsea 7 Inc. was Siem Offshore Inc. prior to its name change in July 2005.
(2) Subsea 7 Holding Inc. was Subsea 7 Inc. prior to its name change in July 2005 and is currently a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Subsea 7 Inc.

30

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(3) Subsea 7 Inc. transferred all of its non-subsea assets and activities into Siem Supply Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary, which was renamed Siem Offshore Inc. in July 2005. The new Siem Offshore was spun-off as a
separate company by Subsea 7 in August 2005.
Siem Offshore and Subsea 7 — All references to companies in the following discussion will use the new
names adopted at the respective annual general meetings held for the respective companies in July 2005.
In November and December 2004, Subsea 7 conducted two private placements and sold a total of
49,300,000 newly-issued shares, primarily for the purpose of financing the acquisition of Halliburton Co.’s
50%-interest in Subsea 7 Holding. The Company did not participate in the offerings and its interest was
reduced to 44.8%. Following the loss of control, the Company retained the ability to exercise significant
influence. Accordingly, the Company determined that the facts and circumstances related to the loss of
control no longer required the Company to include Subsea 7’s financial statements within its consolidated
financial statements and that the investment in Subsea 7 be reflected under the equity method of accounting.
Since the loss of control was not deemed to occur until the end of 2004, Subsea 7’s results of operations for
the full year have been recorded in the Company’s consolidated operations, including the equity income
(loss) recorded by Subsea 7 on its investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
In early-January 2005, Subsea 7 formally completed the acquisition of the 50%-interest in Subsea 7
Holding that was held by Halliburton Company at a price of $203,000,000 using the proceeds from the
December 2004 private placement of approximately $160,000,000, the excess funds arising from the
restructuring of its loan facility which generated approximately $33,000,000 and available cash. In midJanuary 2005, Subsea 7 issued 2,458,549 new shares in connection with an offering that was conducted to
provide Subsea 7 shareholders, who were shareholders of record as of 17 November 2004 and who were not
invited to participate in the December 2005 placement, to maintain their former shareholder interest relative
to other shareholders at such date.
The new shares issued by Subsea 7 pursuant to the private placements and offerings were sold to
unaffiliated third parties at prices higher than book value. As a result, the Company’s share of the book value
in Subsea 7 increased even though the number of Subsea 7 shares owned by the Company remained constant.
The Company accounted for its share of the increase in book value of Subsea 7 shares as an increase in
additional paid-in capital.
Following the Company’s deconsolidation of Subsea 7 at the end of 2004, the investments accounted for
under the equity method of accounting by Subsea 7 were no longer separately presented but the results from
such investment are included in the equity in the income from Subsea 7. The most significant of these
investments were Subsea 7 Holding and Overseas Drilling.
In June 2005, Subsea 7 determined that it would segregate its subsea assets and activities from its nonsubsea assets and activities. The non-subsea assets and activities were transferred to Siem Supply Inc., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Subsea 7.
At an Extraordinary General Meeting of Subsea 7 held in August 2005, the shareholders approved the
spin-off of Siem Offshore. This spin-off, considered effective 30 June 2005 for accounting purposes, was
carried out as the payment of a dividend in specie when Subsea 7 distributed all of the shares of Siem
Offshore to its shareholders by the issuance of one share of Siem Offshore for each share of Subsea 7 held by
the shareholders. Following the distribution, the shares of Siem Offshore were listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange. As a result of the distribution, the Company owned 58,349,653 shares of Siem Offshore, or
43.3%. During the period from the time that it became a separate-listed company to the end of fiscal 2005,
Siem Offshore purchased and retired 4,642,000 of its own shares and the Company’s ownership interest
increased to 44.8%.
The investment in Subsea 7 includes goodwill of approximately $32,126,000. This goodwill was recorded
in November 2002 following the conclusion of the Company’s mandatory offer to Subsea 7 shareholders to
purchase their holdings in Subsea 7 shares. The Company’s ownership interest significantly increased at the
time and the Subsea 7 financial statements were consolidated within the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. As a result of the deconsolidation, the goodwill is no longer separately reported but is included in
investments in affiliates. There has been no impairment of the goodwill.
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Overseas Drilling Ltd. — Overseas Drilling is a single-purpose joint venture that owns the vessel, Joides
Resolution. The vessel was contracted to the Ocean Drilling Program through January 2006.
Siem Capital — The Company acquired a 50% voting interest and a 64% interest in share capital in Siem
Capital in February 1998. The remaining 50% voting interest and 36% share capital interest is held by the
other, nonaffiliated owner of Siem Capital. Terms of the agreement provide that the Company will receive
the initial proceeds from the sale of Siem Capital’s investments for the purpose of reducing its investment in
share capital until such time that both parties hold a 50% interest; thereafter, the proceeds from additional
sales will be split evenly.
In April 2005, Siem Capital made a dividend distribution of SEK123,500,000, or approximately
$17,320,000, to the Company. In December 2005, Siem Capital made a second dividend distribution of
approximately SEK10,000,000. The Company recorded the distributions as a reduction of the investment in
Siem Capital.
Siem Capital’s ownership interests in its various investee companies range between 12% and 40% with
only two exceptions that are considered to be immaterial.
(6) VESSELS, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Summaries of the vessels and related shipping assets and property, equipment and other at 31 December
are presented below:

(in thousands)

Cost:
Balance, 1 January
Additions
Disposals
Translation adjustment
Cost, 31 December
Less: Accumulated depreciation:
Balance, 1 January
Depreciation, see Note 14
Disposals
Accum. depreciation, 31 December
Net book value, 31 December
Property, equipment and other, net
Deferred drydocking costs, see Note 7
Vessels, property and equipment, net

Vessels and
Related Assets

2005
Property, Equipment
and Other

Vessels and
Related Assets

2004
Property, Equipment
and Other

$

293,459
131,035
(17,350)
—
407,144

$

7,369
30
(101)
(718)
6,580

$

304,514
19,379
(30,434)
—
293,459

$

8,382
68
(921)
—
7,529

$

38,713
12,657
(616)
50,754
356,390
6,288
11,628
374,306

$

72
220
—
292
6,288

$

38,154
10,603
(10,044)
38,713
254,746
7,297
5,551
267,594

$

696
307
(771)
232
7,297

$

$

$

$

$

$

STAR — STAR increased the number of owned vessels from 17 at the end of 2004 to 23 at the end of
2005. During 2005, STAR purchased 7 vessels, including 6 Polar-class vessels purchased en bloc, and sold 1
vessel as part of the sale of a wholly-owned subsidiary. During 2004, STAR purchased 1 vessel and sold 2
vessels. Appraisals from two shipbrokers were averaged and indicated that the fair value for the fleet exceeded
its book value at the end of 2005 and no impairment is necessary.
Six of the vessels purchased during mid-2005 were on time charter to STAR at the time of the
acquisition. Following the purchase, the charters were cancelled. The vessel that was sold in 2005 was taken
back by STAR under a bareboat charter that is accounted for as an operating lease.
The increase in the number of owned vessels and reduction of vessels under charter increased the
depreciation expense and reduced the charter expense during 2005.
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(7) DEFERRED DRYDOCKING COSTS
A summary of the drydocking activity for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2005
2004

(in thousands)

Deferred drydocking costs:
Balance, 1 January
Additions
Disposals
Amortization
Deferred drydocking costs, 31 December

$

5,551
9,752
—
(3,675)
$ 11,628

$

$

5,066
3,799
(140)
(3,174)
5,551

The amortization of deferred drydocking costs is recorded as an operating expense.
(8) GOODWILL
The goodwill balance and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill at and for the periods ended 31
December are presented below:
(in thousands)

2005

Goodwill:
Balance, 1 January
Impairment of goodwill
Other:
Deconsolidation of Subsea 7, see Note 5
Other (primarily, translation adjustments)
Goodwill, 31 December

$

$

2004

—
—

$ 38,665
(6,154)

—
—
—

(32,126)
(385)
$
—

At the end of November 2002, the Company recorded goodwill when it acquired additional shares in
Subsea 7 and gained a controlling interest. The Company accounted for the acquisition using the purchase
method and included Subsea 7’s financial statements in the consolidated financial statements. The fair value
analysis was based on reporting unit cash flows, industry segment ratios and other relevant assumptions.
Although the Company believes that its analysis is reasonable, changes in industry conditions, geographic
exploration, drilling and production demands and other variables possibly affecting estimated cash flows of
the reporting units, comparable financial ratios and anticipated future performance can materially impact
future impairment analyses.
During 2004, Subsea 7 performed its periodic review of goodwill and recorded an impairment.
At the end of 2004, the Company deconsolidated the financial statements of Subsea 7 and goodwill is
recorded in the investments in affiliates.
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(9) LONG-TERM DEBT
A summary of long-term debt and notes payable, net of unamortized discounts and premiums, at 31
December is presented below:
Interest
Rate

(in thousands)

2005

$53mm Revolver
$30mm Revolver
$50mm Revolver
Fortis Bank Facility
NOK36.5mm Loan
$75mm Syndicate
EUR5mm Loan
Other

LIBOR plus 1.25%
$
—
LIBOR plus 0.25%
—
LIBOR plus 1.125%
—
LIBOR plus range of 1.375% to 1.625% 161,155
7.45%
4,220
LIBOR plus range of 0.95% to 1.10%
60,000
EURIBOR plus 1.15%
5,920
116
231,411
Unamortized financing fees
(825)
Long-term debt and notes payable
$ 230,586
Long-term debt and notes payable:
Current
Noncurrent

$ 25,846
$204,740

2004

$

—
—
—
92,422
4,855
75,000
6,783
519
179,579
(519)
$ 179,060
$ 11,013
$168,047

The scheduled maturities of the face values of the Company’s debt and notes payable for each of the
years ended 31 December are presented below:
Years Ended
31 December

Maturities
(in thousands)

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011 and thereafter
Total

$ 25,846
30,716
39,572
29,774
70,455
34,223
$ 230,586

Revolving Credit Facilities — A $53,000,000 revolving credit facility (the “$53mm Revolver”) was made
available by DnB NOR Bank ASA from April 1997 until the time that it was terminated in January 2005.
A new $50,000,000 revolving credit facility (the “$50mm Revolver”) was made available to the Company
by HSH Nordbank AG. Terms of the $50mm Revolver provide for interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.125%, a
commitment fee of 0.20% payable quarterly on any undrawn portion of the facility, term period of five years
and security in the form of a pledge of listed equity securities. There were no drawdowns under this facility in
2005.
The Company has been the beneficiary of a $30,000,000 revolving credit facility (the “$30mm Revolver”)
as made available by Nordea Bank S.A. since August 1998. Terms of the $30mm Revolver provide for interest
at LIBOR plus 0.25%, maturity in October 2006 and security in the form of a pledge of listed equity
securities. The weighted average interest rates for this revolver were 1.72% for 2004. During 2004, the
Company repaid $13,000,000. There were no drawdowns under this facility in 2005 or 2004.
STAR Credit Agreements — In February 2004, STAR refinanced its existing facilities using the proceeds of
a new syndicated secured term loan facility led by Fortis Bank for the amount of $127,600,000 (the “Fortis
Bank Facility”). Terms of this facility provided for interest rates at LIBOR plus a margin ranging between
1.375% and 1.625%, depending on the leverage. STAR renegotiated the Fortis Bank Facility in December
2004 and secured lower margins on the outstanding amounts. In addition, Fortis Bank agreed to take over
the outstanding participations of other banks in the syndicate.
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In order to finance the acquisition of the 6 Polar-class vessels, the Fortis Bank Facility was increased by
$83,000,000 to $161,200,000 and Deutsche Bank joined with Fortis Bank on a 50:50 basis in the lending
syndicate. The Fortis Bank Facility is secured by the mortgages on 22 vessels, the assignments of earnings and
insurances and the pledging of shares in STAR’s wholly-owned shipowning subsidiary and cash accounts in
favor of the lenders. The facility agreement contains restrictive covenants which limit dividend payments and
capital expenditures and financial covenants concerning the market value of vessels, minimum liquidity and
working capital. STAR was in compliance with all covenants at the end of 2005.
The weighted average interest rates for the STAR credit facilities were 4.3% and 4.1% for 2005 and
2004, respectively. During 2005, STAR incurred additional debt of approximately $83,001,000 and repaid
approximately $14,268,000.
Car Carriers Agreement — Car Carriers refinanced its bank obligations in July 2004 using the proceeds of a
$75,000,000 term facility provided by Schiffshypothekenbank zu Lubeck AG and Deutsche Bank AG (the
“$75mm Syndicate”). Terms provide for interest rates of LIBOR plus a margin ranging between 0.95% to
1.10%, semiannual payments of principal and interest and a balloon payment at maturity in 2011. Security
for the $75mm Syndicate is in the form of first mortgages on the three vessels and assignments of earnings
and insurances. The underlying agreement contains restrictive covenants which limit the payment of
dividends and capital expenditures and financial covenants on the market value of vessels, minimum liquidity
and working capital. Car Carriers expects to be in compliance with such covenants throughout 2005.
The weighted average interest rates for the Car Carriers’ credit facilities were approximately 4.37% and
3.87% for 2005 and 2004, respectively. During 2005, STAR prepaid $15,000,000 of debt.
At the time of the refinancing in July 2004, the outstanding balance under the $90mm Syndicate had
been reduced to $69,750,000. Car Carriers used the excess funds generated by the refinancing plus available
cash on hand to pay a $9,250,000 dividend to its shareholders.
Other Term Loan Agreements — In April 2001, DSND Bygg AS, a Norwegian company established for the
express purpose of constructing and owning an office building in Grimstad, Norway, entered into an
agreement for a NOK36,500,000 term loan to finance the cost of the building (the “NOK36.5mm Loan”).
The terms provide for a 20-year loan period and a fixed rate of interest of 7.45% p.a. with interest and
principal payable semiannually. Security for the loan is in the form of a first mortgage on the building and
assignments of earnings and insurance.
In September 2004, Siem Investments used a EUR5,000,000- loan (the “EUR5mm Loan”) provided by
DVB Bank AG to acquire a 49%-interest in Deusa International GmbH. Terms of the loan agreement
provide for interest rates of EURIBOR plus a margin of 1.15%, payments of interest at the end of selected
interest periods ranging from 1 to 6 months, and a balloon payment at maturity in September 2008. Security
for the EUR5mm Loan is a pledge of the shares held in Deusa.
Taking into consideration the variable rate structure of the Company’s long-term debt, the fair value of
long-term debt approximates its carrying value.
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(10) INCOME TAXES
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and, as such, is not subject to income taxes in that
jurisdiction. Income taxes have been provided based upon the tax laws and rates in the countries in which
operations are conducted and income is earned. There is no expected relationship between the provision for
or benefit from income taxes and income or loss before income taxes because the countries have taxation
regimes that vary not only with respect to nominal rate, but also in terms of the availability of deductions,
credits and other benefits. Variations also arise because income earned and taxed in any particular country or
countries may fluctuate from year to year.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit), in thousands

2005

Current
Deferred
Income tax expense (benefit)

$
$

340
(8)
332

2004

$
$

142
(8)
134

The Company records equity in the income (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates net of the income tax
expense incurred by the affiliate. In their respective income statements for 2005, Subsea 7 recorded income
before income taxes of $89,891,000 and related income tax expense of $44,687,000 and Siem Offshore
recorded losses before income taxes of $(1,160,000) and related income tax expense of $898,000.
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Assets), in thousands

2005

Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets
Deferred capital gains
Drydock and other assets
Deferred tax liabilities

$

Deferred tax assets:
Provisions and accruals
Fixed assets
Net operating loss carryforwards
Deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)

2004

—
123
276
399

$

(48)
(240)
(25,777)
(26,065)
(25,666)
25,682
$
16

$

$

596
406
157
1,159

(58)
—
(37,347)
(37,405)
(36,246)
36,272
$
26

Deferred taxes are recorded to recognize temporary differences existing between the tax bases of assets or
liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements using the applicable tax rates in effect at
year-end. The tax effect of temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities.
Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in future years.
Deferred tax liabilities generally represent items that have been taken as a tax deduction but have not yet been
recorded in the statement of operations. Valuation allowances have been provided to offset deferred tax assets
on net operating losses incurred during the year in certain jurisdictions where, in the opinion of
management, it is more likely than not that the financial statement benefits will not be realized.
A significant portion of the income tax detail presented in the tables above are attributed to STAR. With
respect to STAR, tax losses in Norway can be carried forward indefinitely.
As indicated above, the Company is not subject to income taxes in the Cayman Islands. Further, for the
3 years ended 31 December 2005, there was no Cayman Islands income or profits taxes, withholding taxes,
capital gains taxes, capital transfer taxes, estate duties or inheritance taxes payable by a Cayman Islands
company or its shareholders. The Company has received assurances from the Cayman Islands government
that, in the event that any legislation is enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing taxes on profit or income,
taxes on capital assets, either gain or appreciation, or any taxes in the nature of estate duties or inheritance
taxes, such tax shall not be applicable to the Company or to any of its operations or to the shares or other
obligations of the Company. Consequently, under present law, there will be no Cayman Islands tax
consequences affecting distributions.
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(11) OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Operating revenues consist of freight revenues on a time charter basis from voyage charters, time and
bareboat charters, pool arrangements and property rentals are presented below for the years ended 31
December:
Year Ended 31 December
2005
2004

(in thousands)

Operating revenues:
Net time charter revenues
Other
Operating revenues

$ 172,804
540
$ 173,344

$ 175,369
667
$ 176,036

Ship operating expenses are a component of operating expenses and include crew payroll, spares parts,
maintenance and repair, lube oil and consumables, and other related expenses. Operating expenses for the
years ended 31 December are presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2005
2004

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:
Ship operating expenses
Insurance
Time charter expenses
Bareboat charter expenses
Drydock amortization, see Note 7
Subsea 7’s operating expenses (1)
Operating expenses

$ 42,795
3,809
46,197
9,721
3,675
—
$ 106,197

$ 38,906
3,782
54,767
9,274
3,174
17,056
$ 126,959

(1) Subsea 7’s operating expenses for fiscal year 2004 were included in the consolidated financial statements prior to
its deconsolidation at the end of 2004. Details are not available and the amount is therefore shown as a single
line item.
The net time charter revenues earned and operating expenses incurred by Subsea 7 for fiscal 2004 have
been included in the consolidated financial statements up to the time of its deconsolidation at the end of
2004.
(12) OPERATING LEASES
Charter-hire payments to third parties for certain contracted-in vessels are accounted for as operating
leases. The future minimum rental payments under the Company’s non-cancelable operating leases are
presented below:
Years Ended
31 December

Minimum Lease Payments
(in thousands)

2006
2007
2008
2009
20010
2011 and thereafter
Total

$ 40,885
37,195
41,520
38,796
34,505
138,676
$ 331,577

The net present value of the minimum lease payments is $248,602,000 using a 6% discount rate.

37

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATMENTS

(13) GAINS (LOSSES) FROM INVESTMENTS AND SALES OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
A summary of the net gains (losses) related to the Company’s investments and the sales of property and
equipment for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2005
2004

(in thousands)

Gains (losses), net:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, see Note 4
Available-for-Sale - Notes, loans and other receivables, see Note 4
Impairments/write-offs, see Note 4
Recovery of previous write-off
Write-off accrued interest income on nonperforming loan
Property, plant and equipment
Other
Gains (losses), net

$

5,298
879
—
2,286
—
2,045
—
$ 10,508

$

9,855
15,598
(4,166)
—
(1,696)
5,057
57
$ 24,705

(14) DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
A summary of the depreciation and amortization for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2005
2004

(in thousands)

Depreciation and amortization:
Depreciation, see Note 6
Depreciation, Subsea 7
Amortization, other
Depreciation and amortization

$ 12,877
—
385
$ 13,262

$ 10,910
2,051
2,313
$ 15,274

The depreciation expense incurred by Subsea 7 prior to the time of its deconsolidation is reflected in the
amounts for 2004.
(15) PERFORMANCE UNIT PLAN AND STOCK OPTION PLANS
A summary of the performance unit awards which have been granted and are currently outstanding is
presented below:

Name

Kristian Siem
M.D. Moross
Barry W. Ridings
Michael Delouche
Others

No. of Performance Units Awarded and Outstanding
Granted May 1995
Granted May 1996
Granted June 2005
at $3.00 per Unit
at $5.50 per Unit
at $48.21 per Unit

400,000
—
28,000
40,000
—

60,000
28,000
—
20,000
—

115,000
7,000
7,000
10,000
50,000

Performance units have been awarded pursuant to provisions of the Company's 1987 Performance Unit
Plan (the “1987 Plan”) and 2005 Performance Unit Plan (the “2005 Plan”), as amended, by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
The 1987 Plan provides that performance units shall be granted at a value no less than 110% of the
average closing market price of the Company's Common Shares for the 20 trading days preceding the date of
the award. The performance unit value of the grant, which is determined by multiplying the number of
performance units by the value per performance unit, is credited to the individual's performance unit account
on the date of the award. Grants of awards vest over a five-year award periods at 20% per year; however, all
rights to the performance unit account are forfeited if the individual's employment ceases before the end of
the award period with certain reasonable exceptions including the death, total disability or retirement after
age 60 of the individual.
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Under the 1987 Plan, the amount of payment to the individual after the end of the award period is
equal to the number of vested performance units multiplied by the difference between the average closing
market price of the Common Shares and the value of the performance units awarded. The Company has the
option to make the payment in either cash or Common Shares; however, it is the Company’s intention to
make cash payments.
The 1987 Plan will expire on the earlier of the vesting of an aggregate 1,600,000 performance units by
the participants or January 2007.
In October 2004, the Board of Directors commenced a review of the 1987 Plan to determine whether
the termination date should be extended, whether a new plan of s similar type should be implemented or
whether a new long-term incentive program should be devised. The primary concerns with respect to the
1987 Plan include the absence of a listing on a stock exchange and the low liquidity of the shares. In February
2005, the 2005 Plan was completed with many provisions similar to that in the 1987 Plan. The 2005 Plan
provides that performance units shall be granted at a value no less than 110% of the net asset value per
Common Share based on the balance sheets prepared by the Company on a quarterly basis in accordance
with applicable law and prevailing generally accepted accounting principles. Net asset value for purposes of
the 2005 Plan means the amount that is determined after adjustments have been made to the balance sheet
to reflect the market values for the Company’s investments in securities issued by publicly-traded companies
for which market prices are readily available. This approach was used because it corresponds to methods used
in similar situations where low liquidity or illiquid shares exist. The performance unit value of the grant,
which is determined by multiplying the number of performance units by the value per performance unit, is
credited to the individual's performance unit account on the date of the award. Grants of awards vest over a
five-year award periods at 20% per year; however, all rights to the performance unit account are forfeited if
the individual's employment ceases before the end of the award period with certain reasonable exceptions
including the death, total disability or retirement after age 60 of the individual. The Company may elect to
make payments in either cash or Common Shares. If the Company makes payment in Common Shares and
there is no liquid market for such shares, then the Company is obligated either to provide a market for the
Common Shares within 9 months of the new share issue or to redeem or purchase the Common Shares for
the cash amount that would have been paid had the original payment been made in cash.
The 2005 Plan will expire on the earlier of the vesting of an aggregate 1,000,000 performance units by
the participants or 31 December 2014, which is the end of a 10-year period from the effective date of
agreement.
At the end of June 2005, the Compensation Committee granted 196,000 Performance Units at $48.21
per unit.
The Company records compensation expense with respect to the Plan. This expense is determined using
the number of units which have vested and the closing market price of Common Shares at the end of the
reporting period. The Company recorded compensation expense, a component of general and administrative
expenses, in the amounts of $13,180,000 and $4,619,000 for fiscal years 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
obligation is recorded in other liabilities and deferred credits.
An aggregate 274,200 units granted under the 1987 Plan have been forfeited since being awarded in
1995 and 1996 and 7,000 units granted under the 2005 Plan have been forfeited.
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STAR Option Program — In 2001, STAR launched a stock option program as part of its long-term
incentive plan. Options granted in 2001 vested 50% in February 2003 and 50% in February 2005. Options
granted in 2004 vested 50% after release of preliminary results for 2004 and 50% after release of preliminary
results for 2005. Vested options expire in November 2006.

Balance, 1 January 2004
New options granted
Options exercised
Options cancelled
Balance, 31 December 2004
Options exercised
Options cancelled
Balance, 31 December 2005

Granted May 2001
at $6.60 Strike Price

Option Share Program
Granted November 2001
at $7.20 Strike Price

150,000
—
(32,000)
(21,500)
106,500
(106,500)
—
—

100,000
—
(67,000)
—
33,000
(33,000)
—
—

Granted July 2004
at NOK84 Strike Price

—
130,000
—
—
130,000
(39,500)
(12,500)
78,000

The fair value of the separate options at date of grant has been calculated using the Black-Scholes optionpricing model and the option value expensed over the vesting period of the options.
STAR’s share price at 31 December 2005 was NOK149.
(16) PENSION PLANS
STAR maintains a defined benefit pension plan that covers employees in its Norwegian office. The
individuals covered by this plan included 9 employees and 6 retirees at the end of 2004 and 12 employees
and 6 retirees at the end of 2003. Siem Offshore also maintains a defined benefit plan for its Norwegian
office. Details of Siem Offshore’s plan are excluded from the 2004 presentation since the investment in Siem
Offshore is accounted for under the equity method of accounting rather than included in consolidation
effective at the end of 2004; however, Siem Offshore’s plan covered 8 employees and 10 retirees at the end of
2003. Benefits under the defined benefit pension plan are based primarily upon the participant’s years of
service and compensation at time of retirement (in thousands):
Weighted Average Assumptions

Discount rate
Expected return on funds
Expected increase in salaries
Expected pension regulation
Expected G-regulation/inflation
Social security tax
Components of Periodic Benefit Cost

Service cost
Interest cost
Return on plan assets
Social security tax
Recognized actuarial gains (losses)
Net periodic benefit cost

$

$

Status of Plan Funding

2005

2004

5.00%
6.00%
3.00%
2.50%
3.00%
14.10%

5.00%
6.00%
3.00%
2.50%
3.00%
14.10%

2005

2004

74
53
(83)
—
—
44

$

$

2005

Expected value of pension funds
Estimated pension benefit obligation
Pension funds (obligations)
Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses)
Social security tax
Net pension funds (obligations)

$
$

$
40

1,403
(1,065)
338
(109)
—
229

85
55
(88)
—
—
52
2004

$
$

$

1,503
(1,197)
306
3
—
309
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In prior years, STAR prepaid pension premiums for tax purposes. The overfunding is recorded in other
assets because the excess amounts can be released to cover future premiums.
STAR Reefers UK maintains a defined contribution plan for its employees. Under this plan, STAR
London contributes a fixed percentage of the employee’s base salary. The percentage is dependent on the
number of years employed and the level of position within the company. Contributions are recorded as
general and administrative expenses when incurred and were approximately $261,000 and $240,000 for 2005
and 2004, respectively.
Certain information concerning pension assets and benefit obligations related to foreign subsidiaries has
not been presented since the information is not readily available and is immaterial.
(17) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates may become involved in various legal proceedings
during the ordinary course of business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue for amounts related to these legal
matters if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount can be reasonably estimated. The
Company is not aware of any litigation which, in the opinion of management, is likely to have a material
adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cashflows other than as discussed.
Deusa received a grant in the amount of EUR4,823,000 from the local government entity, Thüringer
Aufbaubank (“TAB”), with the proceeds to be used for the development and expansion of Deusa’s
operations. Under certain conditions such as the termination of Deusa’s operations, the grant becomes
revocable and must be repaid by Deusa. Siem Investments has agreed to guarantee repayment of this
obligation in the event that the grant is revoked and Deusa is unable to pay its liability. The amount of the
grant that is subject to repayment declines over the course of a 5-year period.
During 2005, Deusa entered into contracts for the construction of a thermolysis plant which will become
operational at the end of 2006 with full operation planned during the first quarter of 2006. The thermolysis
plant will receive municipal wastes of a specified content and grade and incinerate these wastes at very high
temperatures. The thermolysis process will cause the release of gases which can be used in the potash mining
operations and in a power plant for the generation of electricity. The thermolysis plant will provide power, a
major cost component in the potash mining operations, to Deusa at a consistent level and determinable
price, thus reducing Deusa’s exposure to volatile energy prices. Furthermore, the suppliers of the municipal
waste streams pay Deusa for the disposal of wastes.
The cost of the thermolysis plant is approximately EUR20,000,000-. After preliminary discussions with
banks concerning the financing of the plant construction, the Company’s subsidiary, Siem Investments,
offered to provide project-financing to Deusa until the operational risks associated with this plant have been
reduced and improved terms of a bank financing can be obtained. At 31 December 2005, the amount of
project-financing provided to Deusa for the thermolysis plant construction was EUR3,300,000. The loans to
Deusa are recorded as held-to-maturity securities in notes, loans and other receivables.
Following the sale of its interest in Albion Reefers Ltd. to STAR in July 2001, the seller retained an
obligation arising from its guarantees of certain charter rates to the owner of four vessels that were chartered
to Albion Reefers. The guarantee is a secondary guarantee that may be called upon if STAR is unable to make
the charter payments. In November 2002, the Company agreed to assume the secondary guarantee in
exchange for a payment of $3,850,000. In connection with this assumption, STAR and the Company
negotiated an extension of the charter terms at lower rates. The guarantees extended through 2009 for two of
the vessels and through 2010 for the other two vessels. At the time of the assumption by the Company, the
maximum amount of the guarantee was $27,000,000 with quarterly reductions in the guarantees made at
$187,500 per vessel. The $3,850,000 amount paid to the Company for the assumption was recorded as a
deferred credit with the intent that no portion will be recognized as income until it becomes probable that no
losses will be sustained in connection with the guarantee. Two of the vessels subject to this guarantee have
been purchased by STAR and the underlying charters cancelled. As a result of the elimination of exposure on
2 of the 4 vessels, the Company recorded $1,925,000 of the deferred credit as income in 2003. The
remaining $1,925,000 deferred credit is recorded in other liabilities and deferred credits.
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In 1990, insurance underwriters paid $3,000,000 to an affiliate of the Company pursuant to a claim
submitted by the Company following the termination of a memorandum of agreement for the sale of a vessel.
Subsequent to their payment, the underwriters began to dispute the validity of the claim. The Company’s
defense and contention was that there was no basis for a dispute since all parties, including the underwriters
who had their own surveyors aboard the vessel, the shipmanagement company and two law firms who advised
on the actions, were aware or should have been aware of the facts and circumstances prior to the acceptance
and payment of the claim. After a period of several years during which time there was little activity, the issue
was revived by attorneys for the insurance underwriters and claims were pursued against the Company and
directors for the affiliate. After two judgments were delivered in favor of the Company, the underwriters’
claim against the Company was dismissed by the Norwegian Supreme Court in 2004. The claim against the
directors, for which the Company had provided an indemnity, continued and, in December 2005, the Oslo
District Court ruled in favor of the underwriters. The court concluded that the directors had permitted the
affiliate to reduce its capital without setting aside a reserve for claims and found the directors liable for
$4,200,000 plus interests and court costs. The judgment was appealed on the basis that the reduction of
capital was made because the directors for the affiliate did not believe there were any claims existing at the
time of the reduction that could be successfully asserted against the affiliate and thus require a reserve.
In March 2006, a preliminary agreement was reached for the payment of $3,500,000 inclusive of
interests and costs for the settlement and release of any and all claims by all parties to this action.
Following the December 2005 ruling, the Company recorded a provision of $4,700,000 at the end of
2005. Total reserves for settlement, litigation and other proceedings at 31 December 2005 was $5,700,000,
which included a $1,000,000 provision established at the end of 2004. The reserve is recorded in other
accrued costs and short-term liabilities and the related provisions are recorded as general and administrative
expenses.
(18) CURRENCY EXCHANGE GAINS (LOSSES)
A summary of the components of currency exchange gains (losses) for the years ended 31 December is
presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2005
2004

(in thousands)

Currency exchange gains (losses):
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, see Note 4
Notes, loans and other receivables, see Note 4
Cash and cash equivalents, adjusted using period-ending exchange rates
Forward currency contracts not deemed to be hedges
Intercompany notes and other receivables
EUR5mm Loan
STAR, breakdown not provided
Subsea 7, breakdown not provided
Other
Currency exchange gains (losses)

$

(1,054)
(3,468)
(2,505)
1,127
(4,232)
868
(810)
—
(258)
$ (10,332)

$

$

1,557
545
378
(2,036)
2,728
(547)
(59)
696
145
3,407

(19) DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
Foreign Exchange Risk — The nature of the operations conducted by the Company exposes the Company
to foreign exchange risk. This risk is primarily associated with compensation costs and purchases from
suppliers that are denominated in currencies other than the USD. Gains and losses on foreign exchange
derivative instruments which qualify as hedges for accounting purposes are deferred and recorded as other
comprehensive income and recognized when the underlying foreign exchange exposure is realized. Gains and
losses on foreign exchange derivative instruments which do not qualify as hedges for accounting purposes are
recognized based on the change in the market value of the derivative instruments.
The Company has on occasion purchased foreign exchange contracts with contracts terms less than six
months to protect against the adverse effects of exchange rate fluctuations. These derivatives did not meet the
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strict guidelines to qualify for hedge accounting and the gains and losses on both the derivatives and the
existing foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities were recorded as currency gains or losses in the
statements of operations. With respect to foreign exchange contracts outstanding in 2005 and 2004, the
Company recorded aggregate currency gains (losses) of $1,127,000 and $(2,036,000), respectively.
STAR operates in an industry in which a majority of its transactions are denominated in USD, whether
such activity involves revenues or operating expenses or assets or liabilities. STAR’s overhead expenses,
however, are denominated in either NOK or GBP. During 2005 and 2004, STAR hedged its exchange rate
exposure by entering into forward contracts on behalf of its Oslo and London offices.
STAR holds options to purchase vessels that are currently on time charter with the purchase option price
subject to adjustment according to the Japanese yen/USD rate of exchange. Management monitors these risks
and enters into hedge contracts from time to time to manage the exposure. During 2005, STAR entered into
forward contracts to hedge currency fluctuation exposures. The increase (decrease) in the market values of the
forward currency contracts outstanding at 31 December is as follows:
(in thousands)

Amount

Market value increase (decrease):
Sell USD / Buy NOK
Sell USD / Buy Japanese yen

$
500
$ 10,000

2005

$
$

(21)
(369)

2004

$
$

—
—

Interest Rate Risk — The Company’s use of debt exposes the Company to interest rate risk. Floating rate
debt, in which the interest rate can change from one interest period to the next in periods as short as one
month, exposes the Company to short-term changes in market interest rates. Fixed rate debt, in which the
interest rate is fixed over the life of the facility, exposes the Company to changes in market interest rates if the
Company should decide to refinance maturing debt with new debt.
The Company may, from time to time, use interest rate swap agreements to manage the effect of interest
rate changes on future income. These derivatives are used as a hedge of underlying future interest payments
and are not used for speculative or trading purposes. The agreements involve the exchange of amounts based
on variable interest rates and amounts based on a fixed interest rate over the life of the agreement without an
exchange of the notional amount upon which the payments are based. The interest rate differential to be paid
or to be received on the swaps is recognized over the lives of the swaps as an adjustment to interest expense.
The major risks in using interest rate derivatives include changes in interest rates that affect the value of
such instruments, potential increases in the interest expense of the Company due to market increases in
floating interest rates in the case of derivatives which exchange fixed interest rates for floating interest rates
and the creditworthiness of the counterparties in such transactions.
STAR’s loans are based on floating interest rates and STAR has therefore entered into swap agreements
for a portion of the mortgage debt in order to reduce its exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The increase
(decrease) in market values for the swap agreements outstanding at 31 December is as follows:
Principal Amount
(in thousands)

$25,000

Swap Rate

Expiry
Date

4.911%

July 2006

2005

$

(73)

2004

$

(775)

STAR pays the fixed interest rate and receives the floating interest rates based on 3-month LIBOR for the
$25,000,000 amount.
STAR wrote two interest rate caps in April 2002 of which one remains outstanding at the end of 2005.
The premium received for writing the cap was applied to reduce the fixed interest rate paid under the swaps.
The increase (decrease) in market values for the cap agreements outstanding at 31 December is as follows:
Cap Amount
(in thousands)

$25,000

Expiry
Date

Cap Rate

6.0%

July 2006

2005

$

(6)

STAR is obligated under the contracts for all interest over 6% based on 3-month LIBOR.

43

2004

$

(6)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATMENTS

The requirements necessary to classify the interest rate swaps and interest rate caps as hedges were not
satisfied; consequently, the gains (losses) were recorded in the consolidated statements of operations to reflect
the changes in fair, or market, values. Such fair values are determined by estimating the cost of interest rate
swaps to offset the outstanding swaps or the cost of reversing the caps.
Bunker Hedging — STAR’s management has been authorized by its board of directors to enter into bunker
hedge contracts. There were no such contracts outstanding at the end of 2005 or 2004.
(20) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Subsea 7 — Subsea 7 completed its financial restructuring in January 2003 following the issuance of the
NOK300,000,000 of Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bond Loan. The Company acquired NOK219,610,000 of the
Subsea 7 Bonds at closing and subsequently increased its holdings to NOK225,130,000 after it acquired an
additional NOK5,520,000 at par in December 2003. The Company used NOK85,000,000 of the Subsea 7
Bonds and $17,000,000 to purchase and retire 1,714,500 Common Shares from corporate shareholder of the
Company. At 31 December 2005, the Company held NOK140,130,000 of Subsea 7 Bonds.
The Company provided a short-term loan of $5,300,000 to Subsea 7 in January 2004 for working capital
purposes. Terms of the loan provided for interest at 3% p.a., maturity at end of six months from drawdown
and an arrangement fee of 0.5%. The maturity date was extended and the loan was fully repaid at the end of
July 2004.
The Company provided a second short-term loan of $3,000,000 to Subsea 7 in October 2004. Terms of
the loan provided for interest at 1-month LIBOR plus 2.50% and maturity at the end of December 2004.
The loan was repaid in mid-December 2004.
Subsea 7 refinanced its $200,000,000 syndicated loan facility, which had been reduced to $117,000,000,
with a new loan of $150,000,000 and a bonding/guarantee facility of $80,000,000. As part of the
refinancing, the lender requested that the Company provide a $10,000,000 Letter of Comfort. The Company
complied with the request and issued the letter which expired at the end of December 2005. Subsea 7 paid
the Company a $25,000 fee as consideration for the letter.
Subsea 7 makes payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director fees and reimbursements
for advice on financings and corporate development and expenses for office, travel and communication.
Siem Offshore — Following its spin-off and establishment as a separate, publicly-traded company in August
2005, Siem Offshore commenced payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director fees and
reimbursements for advice on financings and corporate development and expenses for office, travel and
communication.
STAR — In late December 2003, STAR exercised its option to purchase 100% of the shares of Caribbean
Shipping Ltd. owned by the Company. STAR used a combination of cash and a $2,500,000 seller’s credit to
satisfy the option price. Terms of the seller’s credit provided for maturity in April 2004, interest rates of 8%
p.a. for the period from issuance through January 31, 2004, 10% for the period February 1 to February 29,
2004 and 12% from March 31, 2004 until maturity.
In December 2004, STAR purchased the Regal Star, a 1993-built specialized reefer vessel, for
approximately $17,600,000. The Company provided a short-term loan of $7,000,000 to STAR to finance the
acquisition. Terms of the loan provided for interest at LIBOR plus 1.375% from drawdown, maturity at the
end of March 2005 and an arrangement fee of $15,000. The loan was repaid in early March 2005.
In August 2005, the Company provided a $21,100,000 loan to STAR with the proceeds used to partially
finance the acquisition of the 6 Polar-class reefer vessels. Terms of the loan included an interest rate based on
1-month LIBOR plus a 0.85% margin and an arrangement fee of 0.20%. Payments reduced the balance to
$6,224,000 at 31 December 2005. The remaining balance was repaid in January 2006.
In September 2005, the Company provided a $12,800,000 short-term credit facility to STAR. Terms of
the facility included an interest rate based on 1-month LIBOR plus a 0.75% margin and an arrangement fee
of $5,000. Total drawdowns of $12,000,000 were provided under the facility in September 2006 and the
outstanding loan was fully repaid in October 2006.
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STAR makes payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director fees and reimbursements
for advice on financings and corporate development and expenses for office, travel and communication.
Car Carriers — In January 2004, the Company provided a short-term loan of $6,800,000 to Car Carriers.
The proceeds of the loan were used to make prepayments to eliminate the guarantee provided by the
Company. Terms of the loan provided for interest at a rate of 3% p.a. and maturity in July 2005. The loan
was repaid in July 2004.
In July 2004, Car Carriers completed the refinancing of the $69,750,000 amount outstanding with a
new $75,000,000 facility. Car Carriers combined the excess funds generated by the new facility with available
cash to distribute a dividend of $9,250,000 to its shareholders. The Company’s share of the dividend was
$8,150,000.
In August 2004, Car Carriers made payments of $15,000 to each of Kristian Siem and the other
shareholder in Car Carriers for their roles in the creation of the company in 2002. Kristian Siem assigned his
payment to the Company.
Car Carriers reimburses the Company with respect to its advice on then refinancing completed in July
2004 and to its efforts to extend and or secure new charters at the expiration of the current charters. The
reimbursement amount for 2004 was approximately $100,000.
Other — A 5-year management service agreement between Kristian Siem and the Company became
effective 1 January 2000 (the “2000 MSA”). Terms of the agreement provided that Mr. Siem serve and devote
a minimum of 50% of his professional time to the furtherance of the Company’s interests. Under the 2000
MSA, Mr. Siem is paid two levels of compensation: base compensation and additional compensation. The
base compensation is $300,000 for each of the first three years and such greater amounts as may thereafter be
agreed by Mr. Siem and the Company. The additional compensation is equal to 5% of the net income greater
than $2,000,000 during each year of the agreement.
In May 2005, the Compensation Committee approved a new 5-year management service agreement
between Kristian Siem and the Company (the “2005 MSA”) to replace the 2000 MSA that expired at the end
of 2004. The 2005 MSA became effective 1 January 2005. The terms of the 2005 MSA are similar to the
previous agreement with the exception of compensation. The base compensation is now $700,000 and the
additional compensation is equal to 5% of the net income greater than $4,000,000 during each year of the
agreement.
Total fees incurred by the Company under the management service agreements were $1,842,000 and
$2,209,000 for 2005 and 2004, respectively, and are recorded in general and administrative expenses.
The Company’s Chairman holds an option to purchase the property which houses the offices of Siem
Kapital AS, a wholly-owned subsidiary, located in Oslo, Norway. The option provides for a one-year option
period, which commences on the date that he is no longer an officer or director with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, during which time he can purchase the property at the price paid by Siem Kapital. This
option is subject to review by the Compensation Committee.
A summary of receivables and payables with affiliates at 31 December is presented below:
(in thousands)

2005

Due from affiliates:
Subsea 7
Siem Offshore
Other
Total due from affiliates

$

Due to affiliates:
Kristian Siem
Total due to affiliates
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2004

800
100
523
$ 1,423

$

—
—
252
252

$

$ 1,134
$ 1,134

$ 1,980
$ 1,980

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATMENTS

(21) CAPITALIZATION AND CAPITAL ACCOUNTS
The Company purchases Common Shares from time to time from its shareholders who have offered to
sell such shares to the Company. In 2004, the Company purchased and retired 400 Common Shares at an
average cost of $11.25.
In early January 2005, the Company announced a tender offer to buyback up to 1,000,000 Common
Shares. The final expiration date, after a couple of extensions, was 21 March 2005. Upon conclusion of the
tender offer, the Company purchased and retired 26,752 Common Shares at a price of $17.50 per Common
Share.
In October 2005, a corporate shareholder with a representative on the Company’s Board of Directors
offered to exchange its 1,714,500 Common Shares for $17,000,000 and NOK85,000,000 face amount of
Subsea 7 8% Convertible Bonds held by the Company. The Company agreed to the exchange and obtained a
fair value opinion as required under corporate statues. At closing, the Company received and retired the
1,714,500 Common Shares and received and accepted the tender of resignation from the former corporate
shareholder’s representative serving on the Board of Directors.
In December 2005, the Board of Directors declared an extraordinary dividend of $0.07 per Common
Share payable on 25 January 2006 to shareholders of record as of 30 December 2005. In December 2004, the
Board of Directors declared an extraordinary dividend of $0.07 per Common Share payable on 27 January
2005 to shareholders of record as of 31 December 2004.
(22) OTHER RESERVES
The composition of other reserves is provided below:

(in thousands)

Balances, 1 January 2004
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Currency translation differences
Share-based compensation
Balances, 31 December 2004
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Currency translation differences
Share-based compensation
Balances, 31 December 2005

Other Reserves
Currency
Translation
Share-based
Adjustment
Compensation

Available-for-Sale
Securities

$

$

24,937

$

11,161

$

—

Total

$

36,098

26,168
—
—
51,105

—
(9,399)
—
1,762

—
—
54
54

26,168
(9,399)
54
52,921

38,867
—
—
89,972

—
142
—
1,904

—
—
74
128

38,867
142
74
92,004

$

$

$

(23) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2006, the Company received 7,340,492 shares of Subsea 7 following conversion of the
NOK140,130,000 Subsea 7 Convertible Bond to increase its shareholding to 65,690,145 shares of Subsea 7.
At the end of January 2006, the Company paid approximately $1,054,000 cash to Company
shareholders with respect to the dividends declared at the end of 2005 at the rate of $0.07 per Common
Share.
In March 2006, the Company purchased 4,410,750 shares of Siem Offshore in the market at an average
price of NOK4.20 per share which increased its shareholding to 62,760,403 shares of Siem Offshore.
Also in March 2006, the Company purchased 704,000 shares of Subsea 7 in the market at an average
price of NOK81.3226 per share which increased its shareholding to 66,394,145 shares of Subsea 7.
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In May 2006, Subsea 7 conducted a private placement for $300 million of Convertible Notes due 2011
(the “2011 Convertible Notes”). The 2011 Convertible Notes bear interest at 2.80% p.a. and are convertible
into new shares of Subsea 7 at a rate of $26.33 per share.
The Company agreed to support the placement by entering into a securities lending agreement with the
underwriter, Lehman Brothers International (Europe). Terms of the agreement provide that the Company
will lend up to 9,000,000 shares of its Subsea 7 shareholdings to the underwriter for the duration of the 2011
Convertible Notes, that the Subsea 7 shares or their equivalent will be returned to the Company at the
conclusion of the convertible note facility and that the Company is permitted, in certain circumstances where
the Company desires to vote these shares, to request redelivery of the shares. The Company will receive a fee,
payable monthly in arrears, that is equal to of 0.50% p.a. of the average daily market value of the securities.
At the end of May 2006, the Company concluded a settlement and release agreement, involving an
action originating in 1990, by the payment of $3,500,000.
Through the end of May 2006, the Company’s subsidiary, Siem Investments, had loaned an additional
EUR7,593,000 to Deusa for the project financing of the thermolysis plant.
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Reconciliation of Consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheets from US GAAP to IFRS

(Dollars in thousands)

Notes

US GAAP

For Year Ended 31 December 2004
Effect of Transition
to IFRS
Reclassifications

IFRS

REVENUES:

Operating revenues
Interest income
Gains (losses), net
Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated affiliates
Other income
Total revenues and other income

1

$

4
2

171,299
3,806
24,877
16,089
2,427
218,498

4,737

$

(172)
(4,012)
(4,184)

(126)
4,611

176,036
3,806
24,705
12,077
2,301
218,925

OTHER EXPENSES:

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Currency exchange gains (losses), net
Other
Total other expenses
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income
Minority interest expense
Net income attributed to Common Shares

1,3
4
5
6
1

7
$

(130,825)
(15,931)
(6,744)
(8,665)
(14,391)
3,319
(968)
(174,205)
44,293
(134)
44,159
(3,980)
40,179

1,673
657
590
(2,227)
(46)
(5)
57
699
(3,485)
(3,485)
819
(2,666)

2,193

(6,897)
93
(4,611)
0
0
0

$

(126,959)
(15,274)
(6,154)
(10,892)
(21,334)
3,407
(911)
(178,117)
40,808
(134)
40,674
(3,161)
37,513

ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, other
Accrued interest receivable
Trading securitites
Inventories
Notes, loans and other receivables
Due from affiliates
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Notes, loans and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Vessels, property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total Assets

$

8
3,4
9
9
$

38,153
6,705
3,031
20,663
3,210
9,903
252
6,779
88,696
5,500
40,517
60,352
210,815
261,397
2,446
1,198
670,921

$

0

0

(17,245)
6,197
(524)
(248)
(11,820)

(1,922)
1,922
0

$

38,153
6,705
3,031
20,663
3,210
9,903
252
6,779
88,696
5,500
40,517
60,352
193,570
267,594
0
2,872
659,101

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY:

Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to affiliates
Current maturities and short-term notes
Other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt and notes payable
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities and deferred credits
Shareholders' equity:
Common shares
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Other reserves
Total shareholders' equity
Minority interest
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

$
12

8

7
$

48

12,489
12
1,290
1,980
11,013
11,828
38,612
168,047
26
10,294
216,979

$

92

0

92

0

4,198
75,451
293,975
52,866
426,490
27,452
453,942
670,921

(15,441)
2,106
55
(13,280)
1,368
(11,912)
(11,820)

92

0
0
0
0

$

12,489
12
1,382
1,980
11,013
11,828
38,704
168,047
26
10,294
217,071
4,198
60,010
296,081
52,921
413,210
28,820
442,030
659,101

TRANSITION FROM US GAAP TO IFRS
Reconciliation of 31 December 2003/1 January 2004 Shareholders’ Equity from US GAAP to IFRS

(in thousands, except number of shares)
Balances at 31 December 2003, US GAAP
Deferral of previously expensed drydocking costs
Decompose drydocking from vessel costs
and revise salvage value
Share-based compensation
Pension obligation and funds
Financial statements marked-to-market
Remeasurement of convertible bond liability
Remeasurement of capitalized borrowing costs
Reversal of NGAAP to USGAAP reconciliation
Minority interests
Balances at 1 January 2004, IFRS
Share-based compensation
Reacquisition and
retirement of stock
Cash dividends ($0.07 per share)
Net income attributed to Common Shares
Adjustments for issuance of shares
by subsidiary to minority interests
at prices greater than book value
Unrealized appreciation
on available-for-sale securities
Currency translation adjustments
Balances at 31 December 2004, IFRS

Notes

Share
Capital
$ 4,198

Paid-in
Capital
$ 12,578

3
3
10
11
6
12
2
7
4,198

12,578

Retained
Earnings
$ 254,976
6,324
(1,414)
(46)
(471)
5
(2,127)
62
4,126
(1,687)
259,748

Availablefor-Sale
Securities
$ 24,937

Currency
Translation
Adjustment
$ 11,161

24,937

Share-Based
Compensation
$
—

11,161

—
54

(4)
(1,176)
37,513
47,432
26,168
$

4,198

$ 60,010

$ 296,081

$ 51,105

$

(9,399)
1,762

$

54

RECONCILIATION OF THE INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET FROM US GAAP TO IFRS
GENERAL
The consolidated financial statements for the Company for fiscal years up to and including 2004 were prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP). Commencing in 2005, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). Several of the Company’s major investments are companies listed on exchanges in the European Union and were
required to adopt IFRS with effect 1 January 2005. After consideration, it was determined that the Company should
adopt IFRS to establish consistency and standardize the accounting principles and practices used across Group companies
and to alleviate the problems associated with the consolidation of the Company’s subsidiaries where the individual
subsidiaries used their own countries’ accounting principles in the preparation of their respective financial statements.
Following the transition to IFRS, it is necessary for the Company to present the reconciliation of the consolidated
income statement and balance sheet from US GAAP to IFRS for the year ended 31 December 2004 and to present the
reconciliation of the opening balances of shareholders’ equity from US GAAP to IFRS at 1 January 2004.
The presentation of the reconciliation from US GAAP to IFRS includes the reversals of prior years’ adjustments that
were made to a subsidiary’s financial statements to reconcile those financial statements from non-US GAAP to US GAAP
and the recording of adjustments necessary to reconcile the financial statements from their original GAAP to IFRS.
NOTES
1. STAR reclassed overhead expenses relating to its ship pool operations from voyage expenses, which are netted
against vessel revenues, to general and administrative expenses. In addition, STAR reclassed external management
fees from ship operating expenses to general and administrative expenses.
2. One of Subsea 7’s subsidiaries recorded an impairment for fiscal 2003 after Subsea 7 had already released its
annual report. This created a timing difference because the Company recorded Subsea 7’s 50%-portion of the
$9.9 million impairment in fiscal 2003 and reversed Subsea 7’s entry which it recorded in fiscal 2004.
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3. In prior years, all major repairs and drydocking costs were expensed when incurred. Under IAS 16, major repairs
and drydocking costs which meet specific criteria for recognition as an asset are deferred and recorded in vessels,
property and equipment. Such costs are amortized over the period until the next drydocking.
4. Previously, vessel depreciation expense was based on the cost of the vessel less an estimated scrap value. In
accordance with IFRS, the depreciation expense is adjusted for changes in estimated scrap values on the reporting
date. The residual values were revised on 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004. In both cases, the scrap values
were higher than those previously used and this resulted in a lower depreciable base and, consequently, lower
depreciation expense. The reduction in accumulated depreciated has reduced the gains recorded on the sales of
vessels.
5. In prior years, the Company would record reconciling entries to reverse amortization of goodwill recorded by the
subsidiaries in accordance with their non-US GAAP. IFRS does not provide for the amortization of goodwill but
does require that goodwill be tested for impairment on a periodic basis.
6. Under IFRS, Subsea 7 is required to account for the cost of the conversion option embedded in its 8%
Convertible Bonds due in January 2006. The adjustment resulted in an increase in interest expense and a
corresponding increase in the convertible bond liability.
7. Adjustments to their respective income statements by the Company’s subsidiaries resulted in a change in minority
interest expense and related interest payable.
8. When the Company’s subsidiaries issue shares to third party shareholders at prices in excess of the subsidiaries’
book value, the Company makes adjustments to record the increase in the value of the Company’s investment
even though the Company was not actively engaged in a transaction. The increase is value is recorded as a separate
component of equity and as an increase in the investment of the appropriate subsidiary. The deconsolidation of
Subsea 7 at the end of 2004 and the re-measurement under IFRS reduced the increase in value.
9. STAR previously purchased two vessels and recorded the excess of the price over appraised values as goodwill.
Under IFRS, the excess amount is deferred and expensed over a fixed length of time.
10. IFRS requires that all share-based payments, such as shaer options, be recorded in the financial statements using a
fair value measurement basis. The expense is based on the fair value of the options on the date of the grant and
the vesting period of the underlying options.
11. Upon adoption of IFRS, STAR recorded all cumulative non-expensed actuarial changes in estimates for pension
liabilities to equity.
12. Previously, borrowing costs were capitalized and amortized based on nominal interest accrual. IFRS requires that
the capitalized borrowing costs be accounted for using the effective interest method and be aggregated with the
underlying loan liability.
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